S

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited

I e ) B (32 R%) B IR A S
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability

RASHSEMBIL ZBERAF
Stock Code B33 : 932

2019/2020 #

Annual Report %

H365

P

LEGEND

CS-4



Corporate Information

Financial Highlights

Information for Investors

Chairman’s Statement

Management Discussion and Analysis

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
Report of the Directors

Corporate Governance Report

Independent Auditor’s Report

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and

Other Comprehensive Income
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial Summary

Contents H g%

NEIER

S 5 W
BRI EOR
R

B iy B A
o T AR A T B R I
EREGWEE

AR WA

18 7 A% BT

o 1R i At A T R AR AR

SR A M B AR DL
RN Bl IS
HaBlaeig

R AR I R
A

24

28

43

68

76

78

80

81

84

300



CORPORATE INFORMATION
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

it 755 Bt 2

HIGHLIGHTS

B 22

For the year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=+—HIL4E

2020 2019
RO “E-hE
HK$°000 HK$’000
Tt THE T
(Restated)
(&)
Continuing operations FEREEEEHE
Revenue Wi i 318,130 332,205
Gross profit TH] 235,711 247,478
Loss for the year attributable to owners AN WA R A AF T4 1
of the Company (139,690) (4,344)
Loss per share attributable to owners of the EN/NEEIE: YN AR d o
Company (expressed in HK cents per share) (DA R s 1 31 7R )
From continuing and discontinued operations e B FrAE AR I O E SR
Basic HeA (5.91) (0.20)
Diluted fife v (5.91) (0.20)
From continuing operations R H R A A
Basic FEAR (2.14) (0.11)
Diluted fi (2.14) (0.11)
As at 31 March
R=H=+—H
2020 2019
TR R JUEE
HK$°000 HK$’000
Tt T#IT
Financial position 5 iR DL
Total assets 7 KR 438,857 792,430
Shareholders’ equity JBRMERE 142,713 161,968
Net assets value per share (HKS$) FERCE FERE (B o0) 0.06 0.08
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INFORMATION FOR INVESTORS

SHARE INFORMATION

Board lot size 4,000 shares

As at the last trading day of the financial year ended 31 March 2020:
2,554,911,200 shares

HK$983,640,812
HK$0.385

* Shares outstanding
* Market capitalisation

* Closing share price

KEY DATES

e Latest time for lodging transfer documents for ~ 4:30 pm, 11 August 2020
registration in order to qualify for attending
and voting at 2020 annual general meeting

* Closure of register of members 12-17 August 2020
for 2020 annual general meeting

* 2020 annual general meeting 17 August 2020

INVESTOR RELATION CONTACT

Address : Unit A, 12/F., Guangdong Investment Tower
148 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong

Telephone : (852) 3700 7300

Fax : (852) 3700 7301

E-mail : ir@shunten.com.hk

Website : www.shunten.com.hk

SHAREHOLDER ENQUIRIES

Any matters relating to your shareholding, e.g. transfer of shares, change of
name or address, lost share certificate and dividend warrants, should be sent in

writing to:

Tricor Investor Services Limited

Address : Level 54, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong
Telephone 1 (852) 2980 1333
Fax : (852) 2810 8185
E-mail : is-enquiries @hk.tricorglobal.com
Website : http://www.tricoris.com
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
E R

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Shunten
International (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”), I would like to announce the annual results of the
Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2020 (“FY2019/20”).

PERFORMANCE FOR THE YEAR

The total revenue from continuing operations of the Group for FY2019/20
reached approximately HK$318.1 million, representing an decrease of 4.2% as
compared to the financial year ended 31 March 2019 (“FY2018/19”). The core
health and beauty supplements and products business generated revenue of
approximately HK$294.9 million, whereas online businesses, including online
advertising agent business, online payment business and e-commerce
promotion business, generated revenue of approximately HK$23.2 million
during FY2019/20.

In 2019, the global and Hong Kong economic situations were affected due to
the softening global economic growth and elevated US-Mainland trade
tensions. The Hong Kong economy was worsened abruptly since the second
half of 2019, as the local social movements and the outbreak of novel
coronavirus dealt a heavy blow to market sentiment and consumption, in
particular, tourism-related and retail activities. In light of the declining retail
sales and negative growth as a result of the aforesaid factors, our management
decided to adjust our business strategy. On 27 March 2020, the Group
disposed of 70% interest of Empire Access Limited and its subsidiary (the
“Empire Access Group”) which is principally engaged in WeChat cross-
border payment business. Thereafter, Ultra Land Group Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, which is principally engaged in game
distribution, entered into the agreement to dispose of 69.75% interest of
IAHGames Hong Kong Limited (“IAHGames”) on 26 June 2020.

Consequently, the net loss attributable to owners of the Company significantly
increased from approximately HK$4.3 million in FY2018/19 to approximately
HK$139.7 million in FY2019/20. The increase in loss during FY2019/20 were
mainly attributed to (i) the impairment losses on interest in an associate,
intangible assets and goodwill; (ii) the increase of finance costs attributable to
convertible bonds and other borrowings; and (iii) the result from disposal of
subsidiaries with the gain on early settlement of promissory notes payable,
contingent consideration payable and convertible bonds. The impairment losses
and the fair value changes are non-cash items recorded in FY2019/20 and
have no material effect on the Group’s daily operations and cash flow.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

PROSPECTS

Having considered the uncertainties in future retail market and both our core
business and E-businesses are retail and consumer related, the Group has
consistently deployed a variety of measures to achieve higher return for our
shareholders. Following the disposal of Empire Access Group and IAHGames,
the Group will emphasise more on the health and beauty supplements and
products business, streamlining the Company’s existing business segments and
operations, and sharpen the Company’s strategic focus on its core business to
stable revenue to the Group. In addition, the disposals allow the Group to
realise its investment and retrieve its invested capital. Looking forward, the
management will continue to rigorously control costs and to look for potential
business opportunities that will broaden the Group’s sources of income and
enhance value to shareholder. Meanwhile, as our honorable mission, the Group

will undertake corporate social responsibility.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Employees are the prime assets for corporate growth. On behalf of the Board,
I would like to thank our employees and the management team for their
dedication to excellence in performing their work diligently, strong teamwork
and valuable contributions. I would also like to thank our shareholders and

stakeholders for their unwavering trust and steadfast support.

By order of the Board

Wang Xihua
Acting Chairman
Hong Kong

29 June 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o PHL G i B0 A

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the sales, marketing and distribution of
health and beauty supplements and products in Hong Kong and the PRC,
provision of online advertising agency business, online payment business,
e-commerce promotion business and game distribution business. During the
year ended 31 March 2020 (the “Reporting Period”), we had been facing a
very challenging year in Hong Kong which had been affected by the weaker
performance of global economy and social unrest in Hong Kong since June
2019 and also the outbreak of novel coronavirus (COVID-19) (“COVID-19”)
globally in first quarter of 2020. Market sentiment in local market has been
suppressed by the local political and global economic atmosphere. The short-
term projected outlook of Hong Kong economy is still subject to high
uncertainties including the developments of the aforementioned factors. In light
of the declining retail sales and negative growth as a result of the aforesaid
factors, our management decided to adjust our business strategy. On 27 March
2020, the Group disposed of 70% interest of Empire Access Limited and its
subsidiary (the “Empire Access Group”) which is principally engaged in
WeChat cross-border payment business. Thereafter, Ultra Land Group Limited,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the agreement to
dispose of 69.75% interest of IAHGames Hong Kong Limited (“TJAHGames”)
on 26 June 2020. The Group believes that such disposals would allow the
Company to focus on the health and beauty supplements and products
business, and will streamline the Company’s existing business segments and

operations, and sharpen the Company’s strategic focus on its core business.

For the Reporting Period, the Group recorded revenue from continuing
operations of approximately HK$318.1 million (2019: HK$332.2 million),
representing a decrease of approximately HK$14.1 million or 4.2% when
compared to the corresponding period last year. Revenue from the core
business, health and beauty supplements and products segment, contributed
approximately HK$294.9 million. Meanwhile, online businesses contributed
approximately HK$23.2 million to the revenue of the Group for the Reporting

Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The gross profit margin of the Group for the Reporting Period was
approximately 74.1% (2019: 74.5%),

approximately 0.4 percentage points when compared to the previous financial

representing a slight decrease of
year.

The Group recorded a significant increase in loss during the Reporting Period
when compared to the previous financial year which was mainly attributed to
(i) the impairment losses on interest in an associate, intangible assets and
goodwill; (ii) the increase of finance costs attributable to convertible bonds
and other borrowings; and (iii) the result from disposal of subsidiaries with the
gain on early settlement of promissory notes payable, contingent consideration
payable and convertible bonds. The impairment losses and the fair value
changes are non-cash items recorded in the Reporting Period and have no

material effect on the Group’s daily operations and cash flow.

Health and beauty supplements and products segment

Revenue of health and beauty supplements and products segment

As at 31 March 2020, the Group sold and distributed 75 (2019: 77) health
supplements and 12 (2019: 11) beauty supplements and products under its
55 (2019: 59) health supplements under the distribution
facilitator’s private label brands; and 17 (2019: 9) health supplements under

proprietary brands;

trading of goods.

The following table sets forth the breakdown of revenue by product categories
for the two years ended 31 March 2020:

o BELJE By AT

WA I AREEN BRI RYHT41% (F
— JUAF © 74.5%) > 95 1A B B4 B Rk #9041
H g

A G A 300 D B A5 M 1R b — ] S B4 R R
W 38 0> 6 T T R G — B A DAY
i~ METE A KR RN S 1 (i) T R
5 B FCAD A R A Rl B AS B 0 5 R (i) i B R
JRE§ 2 D 614 i R[] R T 4 AN A R LSRR - iR
JREAST AR A B P 40 OB 2 A i B o (B 4B B A
(EE T T W SRR R R BLGIH R > B
[ H F 605 b B 4 i Il e o R S

DR 12 S A Al b B2 fih 43 ¥
1R T FE 75 1l iy TR 7 11y 2 P8 WK
EA#?#?E H=+—H - REHE X738

TSE A F—JUAF 7730 A G R AR R EE S
1230 (2 —JUAF © 113K) LA & M 38 25 4l b L

FE 5 SSAR (ZF — JLAF -
K AR (R E b 5 B 173k (
nnfﬁngﬂg{%f@énn °©

595) 5 8 LA 1)
—E— U 9FK) i

TREIIEE “F RE S = 1“ H ik A

AF B 2 7 ity 9 0 2 16 i i A

For the year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=1—HIL4EE

2020 2019
TR TR “E QU
% of total % of total
HK$’000 revenue HK$°000 revenue
Al WA 15 AR A
Tt B4 TH#TT [ER:A
Categories |
Health supplements PR A 7E 255,024 86.5% 267,860 85.6%
Beauty supplements and products B3y Y 39,165 13.3% 43,985 14.1%
Others HoAte 699 0.2% 883 0.3%
Total HEE 294,888 100.0% 312,728 100.0%
Shunten International (Holdings) Limited JE i B4 B (¥ %) A BR 2 5] 9



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o PHL G i B0 A

The health and beauty supplements and products segment recorded a revenue
of approximately HK$294.9 million for the Reporting Period (2019: HK$312.7
million), representing a decrease of approximately HK$17.8 million or 5.7%

when compared to the previous year.

Due to the outbreak of COVID-19, the Hong Kong government has gradually
tightened quarantine restrictions, leading to a sharp fall in tourist arrivals since
early 2020. As a result, tourists spending dropped significantly. With growing
fears over the spread of COVID-19, local consumers are avoiding to go out for
shopping in order to minimise the risk of COVID-19 spreading in the
community. This severely impacted the health and beauty supplements and
products business line in Hong Kong, especially to our special designated
counters (“SDC”). Although we have expanded our product variety of private
label health supplements, which was promoted by the engagement of a brand
ambassador in Hong Kong, and benefited from increased utilisation of digital
marketing platform and building product popularity within the health
supplement market, the revenue attributable to health supplements decreased
by approximately HK$12.9 million or 4.8% to approximately HK$255.0
million (2019: HK$267.9 million).

For the Reporting Period, the top 4 best-selling products were Royal Medic
No.l Chinese Cs-4, RM Broken Ganoderma Spore, Melty Enzyme and Royal
Medic Pure Chicken Essence, which in aggregate contributed approximately

HK$109.6 million or 37.2% of the segment’s total revenue.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the top 4 best-selling products were Royal
Medic No.l1 Chinese Cs-4, RM Broken Ganoderma Spore, Melty Enzyme and
Health Proof Junior Milk CA+DHA PF, which in aggregate contributed
approximately HK$113.7 million or 36.4% of the segment’s total revenue.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Revenue by sales and distribution channels

The following table sets forth the breakdown of the health and beauty
supplements and products segment’s revenue by distribution channels for the
two years ended 31 March 2020:

o BELJE By AT

Wzt (%51 B R 4 51 K38 % %)
FRESIEE L FE A = B IR W4
JBE 52 9 2 2 ) 7 R A 5 A i B it 2 B
1 1 W4

For the year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=1T—HILEE

2020 2019
R e —EE
% of total % of total
HK$’000 revenue HK$’000 revenue
Al 48 W 25 i Ak

T#x ok T T [ER; \tb

Shelves in the distribution facilitator’s stores i & #2385 10 HL 5 &l 1Y

in Hong Kong Egl 155,406 52.7% 151,150 48.4%
SDCs located in the distribution facilitator’s 7 W 40 &5 14 3 I &l 19

stores in Hong Kong o Bl 48 7 HE A 119,612 40.6 % 141,047 45.1%
Other distribution channels (Note 1) ol 4y (B 5E1) 1,959 0.7% 1,719 0.5%
Hong Kong Brands and Products Expo FW LG 17,212 5.8% 18,205 5.8%
Others (Note 2) oAt (B 5E2) 699 0.2% 607 0.2%
Total st 294,888 100.0% 312,728 100.0%

Note 1: “Other distribution channels” mainly includes a distribution facilitator in the PRC, the
Wisdom Club, wholesalers, and Royal Medic Chinese Medicine Clinics.

Note 2: “Others” mainly represents service income.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had 18 (2019: 19) Royal Medic SDCs, 47
(2019: 44) Health Proof SDCs and 27 (2019: 28) H365 SDCs in distribution

facilitators’ stores in Hong Kong.

BEFREL < T HC A 23 B8 SR A ) T2 A6 A o I 2 3 B A B
B~ MR R A R e

WERE2 A ) 22 2 RS WA

W BDTAEZ A = —H > AL B
1 A s 1 Al R 18 (& — JUAE « 191H) 1
AL RIHE E ML ~ 4710 (T —JUAF « 4410) J3
B o P 4G A A B 27 (0 ( F— JUAF « 281 fi
365 45 il 48 7 M A7 o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o PHL G i B0 A

Revenue by geographical locations
100.0% of the revenue during the Reporting Period was contributed by the
Hong Kong market.

Over 99.0% of the revenue during the year ended 31 March 2019 was
contributed by the Hong Kong market, with very limited contribution from the
PRC market.

Results of health and beauty supplements and products segment
The following table sets forth the breakdown of the health and beauty
supplements and products segment’s gross profit and gross profit margin by

operating segments for the two years ended 31 March 2020:

Wz (T2 1B 8 #) 4)

5 1 H 19 100.0% 1 f5 34H B BT -

BEZ-NFE=ZHA=Z1+—HIHFEER99.0% L
FlEEAFETS > PETSNER A

FR -

TR A1 JE 5255 47 Je E iy 47 B8 S 4
TRBEIEE - FFE=H =+ — H WA E
JEE 2 4875 0 B O R Ak e 2 A B TR

H Fe BA A WA -

For the year ended 31 March
BRE=ZA=Z1+—HILEE

2020 2019
R TR ZF U
HK$°000 % HK$°000 %
T 0 % F# 0 %
Health supplements PR A 7

Proprietary brands BT 113,207 75.4% 100,939 78.8%
Private label brands EEE 73,710 82.1% 100,663 82.7%
Trading of goods B E 11,353 75.1% 12,352 68.3%
198,270 77.7% 213,954 79.9%

Beauty supplements and products S i JRE
Proprietary brands B 26,810 68.5% 31,447 71.5%
Others Ho A 516 73.8% 675 76.5%
Total Hast 225,596 76.5% 246,076 78.7%

Owing to the decrease in the segment turnover, the gross profit of the health
and beauty supplements and products segment for the Reporting Period was
approximately HK$225.6 million (2019: HK$246.1 million), representing a
decrease of 8.3% over the previous year. The gross profit margin of the health
and beauty supplements and products segment for the Reporting Period
decreased to 76.5% (2019: 78.7%). The decrease in gross profit margin was

mainly attributed to the change in sales composition.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The selling and distribution expenses principally consist of (i) advertising and
promotion expenses for advertisements through various channels including
traditional marketing media, digital marketing through bloggers and KOLs (key
opinion leaders) as well as engagement of artistes to endorse the Group’s
products as brand ambassadors; (ii) commission paid to sales promoters; and
(iii) exhibition expenses. The selling and distribution expenses decreased by
approximately HK$3.8 million or 5.6% to approximately HK$63.8 million for
the Reporting Period (2019: HK$67.6 million). Such decrease was in line with

the decrease in segment turnover during the Reporting Period.

The administrative expenses of the segment increased by approximately
HK$4.8 million or 3.9% to approximately HK$127.3 million for the Reporting
Period (2019: HK$122.5 million). The increment of administrative expenses of
this segment was primarily due to the increase in the number of SDCs, the
related rental expenses, the increase in the number of promoters and the

salaries increment over the last year.

As a result, the segment profit decreased by approximately HK$15.0 million to
approximately HK$42.1 million, representing a decrease of approximately
26.3% over the previous year (2019: HK$57.1 million).

Online advertising agency segment

2019 had been a very challenging year for the whole advertising agency
industry in Hong Kong. Our online advertising agency segment has been
facing tough market environment changes and more intensified after
COVID-19 outbreak worldwide. Most advertising projects are halted due to the
emergence of domestic social unrest since June 2019. For the Reporting
Period, the online advertising agency business segment recorded revenue of
approximately HK$13.6 million (2019: HK$11.5 million), representing an
increase of approximately HK$2.1 million or 18.3% over the previous year and
recorded a loss of approximately HK$47.5 million (2019: HK$6.8 million)
mainly due to the impairment loss of intangible assets and goodwill

recognised during the Reporting Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o PHL G i B0 A

On 24 June 2020,
Guangdong Huacheng Information Technology Co., Limited (f% ##E3k (5 5
B4 A RS F]) (“Huacheng”) in relation to the termination of the exclusive

rights to use the Hong Kong Station of gd.qq.com as an exclusive and sole

our Group received a notice of termination from

advertising agency in Hong Kong with effect from 1 July 2020. gd.qq.com is
a cross-border online advertising platform and our Group had been granted the
exclusive right to operate the website by Huacheng since December 2016.
Consequently, the impairment loss on intangible assets and the impairment
loss in goodwill of approximately HK$21.1 million and HK$31.2 million
respectively were recorded during the Reporting Period. The Group will
continue look for potential business opportunities that will broaden the

Group’s sources of income and enhance value to shareholders.

Online payment business segment

The prevailing challenging operating environment of the online payment
industry was affected due to the social unrest in Hong Kong and the evolving
COVID-19 epidemic all around the globe which resulted in sharp decrease in
the number of visitors from the PRC to Hong Kong since the third quarter of
2019. The epidemic has further adversely affected global economy and the
overall investment sentiment. The management of the Company believes that
the growth prospects of online payment business segment will be limited. On
27 March 2020, the Group completed a disposal of its 70% interest in Empire
Access Group which was principally engaged in WeChat Pay cross-border

payment business.

For the Reporting Period, the revenue attributable to the online payment
segment was approximately HK$0.7 million (2019: HK$0.5 million) and a loss
of approximately HK$2.7 million (2019: HK$2.4 million) was recorded.

Game distribution business segment

On 26 June 2020, the Group entered into an agreement to dispose of its
69.75% interest of IAHGames which is principally engaged in game
distribution business. The Board considered the financial performance of
IAHGames since the completion of the acquisition thereof in February 2018
(being loss-making for the two financial years ended 31 March 2019) and the
prevailing challenging operating environment due to the recent social unrest in
Hong Kong and the COVID-19 outbreak, and believed that its growth
prospects was limited. As mentioned previously, the Board therefore considers
that the disposal will allow the Company to focus on the health and beauty
supplements and products business, and will streamline the Company’s
existing business segments and operations, and sharpen the Company’s

strategic focus on its core business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Segment reporting
The particulars of segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities are set out in

note 38 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Equity-settled share-based payments

During the Reporting Period, the Group recognised a total expense of
approximately HK$7.1 million (2019: HK$37.0 million) in relation to the share
options granted by the Company.

Impairment losses

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded impairment losses on
intangible assets, goodwill and the interest in an associate, approximately of
HK$21.1 million, HK$35.4 million and HK$28.1 million respectively, which
mainly relate to our online businesses. An independent professional valuer was
engaged to perform impairment assessment on the interest in an associate,
intangible assets and goodwill. The Group recorded impairment losses of
goodwill and intangible assets from online advertising agency business of
approximately HK$31.2 million and HK$21.1 million respectively, due to the
expected deterioration of the future operating results following the notice
received by the Group in respect of the cancellation of the licensing
agreement for acting as exclusive and sole advertising agent in Hong Kong for
the operation of the online advertising agency business subsequent to the end
of the Reporting Period. In addition, impairment loss on interest in an
associate of approximately HKS$28.1 million was recorded during the
Reporting Period. The emergence of domestic social unrest since June 2019
and the COVID-19 epidemic since January 2020 had a significant impact on
tourist arrivals, which led to a significant decline in the operating performance
of the sales of jewellery and precious metal ornaments in the shop located at
Tsim Sha Tsui tourist area operated by the associate. The particulars of
impairment losses are set out in notes 19, 20 and 21 to the audited

consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Loss for the year

As a result of the foregoing factors, the Group’s loss amounted to
approximately HK$151.7 million during the Reporting Period (2019: HK$10.7
million). The Group’s loss attributable to the owners of the Company
amounted to approximately HK$139.7 million for the Reporting Period (2019:
approximately HK$4.3 million).

Disclaimer

Save for Royal Medic No.l Chinese Cs-4, none of the Group’s products is
registered under the Pharmacy and Poison Ordinance (Chapter 138 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) and the Chinese Medicine Ordinance (Chapter 549 of the Laws
of Hong Kong). Any claim made by those products has not been subject to
evaluation for such registration. Those products are not intended to diagnose,

treat or prevent any disease.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o PHL G i B0 A

INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

As at 31 March 2020, the intangible assets and goodwill of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$13.3 million (2019: HK$211.7 million) and
approximately HKS$26.6 million (2019: HKS$199.9 million) respectively.
Intangible assets include but not limited to licensing agreements with both
definite and indefinite useful lives, brand name, sales distribution and
customer relationship. Goodwill has arisen upon the Group’s acquisition. An
independent professional valuer was engaged to perform impairment
assessment on the goodwill. It was found that the recoverable amounts of cash
generating unit exceeded their respective carrying amounts. The particulars of
intangible assets and details of goodwill impairment testing, key assumptions
and the value of inputs used in the valuation are set out in notes 19 and 20 to

the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report respectively.

FINANCIAL POSITION AND LIQUIDITY

As at 31 March 2020, cash and bank balances of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$57.2 million (2019: HK$65.5 million) and the current ratio
(current assets divided by current liabilities) of the Group was 1.2 times as at
31 March 2020 (2019: 0.5 times). The Group’s gearing ratio, representing total
borrowings divided by total equity, was approximately 143.9% as at 31
March 2020 (2019: 157.8%). The decrease in gearing ratio was primarily due
to the partial redemption of and conversion of convertible bonds during the
Reporting Period. On 20 May 2019, the Company completed placing of new
shares under general mandate and raised approximately HK$10.0 million
(before expenses). Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
25 April 2019 and 20 May 2019 for details. In view of the Group’s current
level of cash and bank balances, funds generated internally from operations
and the unutilised banking facilities available, the Board is confident that the
Group will have sufficient resources to meet its financial needs for its
operations. As at 31 March 2020, the Group had unutilised general banking
facilities of approximately HK$1.1 million (2019: HK$4.2 million).

Convertible Bonds

On 12 October 2017, the Group issued convertible bonds in the aggregate
principal amount of HK$265.0 million (the “2017 Convertible Bonds”). The
net proceeds from the placing of the 2017 Convertible Bonds of
approximately HK$250.0 million have been fully utilised by the Group. On 11
October 2019, the Company redeemed the 2017 Convertible Bonds and paid
the outstanding interest accrued as a full and final settlement of 2017
Convertible Bonds.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On 13 February 2019, the Group completed the placing of convertible bonds
in the aggregate principal amount of HK$106.0 million (the “February 2019
Convertible Bonds”). HK$90.0 million out of the net proceeds of
approximately HK$103.2 million from the issue of the February 2019
Convertible Bonds had been fully utilised in the purchase of the same
principal amount of the 2017 Convertible Bonds and approximately HK$13.2
million was used as the Company’s general working capital. Meanwhile, the
said purchase of the 2017 Convertible Bonds was completed on 21 February
2019 and the 2017 Convertible Bonds in the aggregate principal amount of
HK$90.0 million were cancelled in accordance with the terms and conditions.
Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 22 January 2019, 13
February 2019 and 22 February 2019 for details relating to the February 2019
Convertible Bonds. During the Reporting Period, the holders of the February
2019 Convertible Bonds had fully exercised their conversion rights in respect
of the February 2019 Convertible Bonds in the principal amount of HK$106.0
million. As a result of the conversion, 365,517,237 conversion shares have
been issued in accordance with the terms and conditions of the February 2019
Convertible Bonds.

On 4 October 2019, the Group issued convertible bonds in the aggregate
principal amount of HK$180.0 million (the “October 2019 Convertible
Bonds”). The net proceeds from the placing of the October 2019 Convertible
Bonds amounted to approximately HK$178.1 million have been fully utilised
by the Group as planned and disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 16 September 2019. On 31 March 2020, 11 May 2020 and 17 June
2020, the Company partially redeemed the October 2019 Convertible Bonds in
the aggregate principal amount of HK$85.0 million, HK$23.0 million and
HK$8.0 million (the “Partial Redemption™), respectively. As at the date of this
announcement, no October 2019 Convertible Bond has been converted into
conversion shares. Immediately after completion of the Partial Redemption, the
October 2019 Convertible Bonds in the aggregate principal amount of
HK$64.0 million remain outstanding. Please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 16 September 2019, 17 September 2019, 4 October 2019, 31
March 2020, 11 May 2020 and 17 June 2020 for details relating to the
October 2019 Convertible Bonds.

The particulars of 2017 Convertible Bonds, February 2019 Convertible Bonds
and October 2019 Convertible Bonds are set out in note 33 to the audited

consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o PHL G i B0 A

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objectives in managing capital are to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to the shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The management reviews the capital structure by considering the cost
of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. In view of this,
the Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of new debt or the
redemption of existing debt as it sees fit and appropriate. The Group also
monitors capital on the basis of the net gearing ratio. The Group’s overall

strategy remains unchanged throughout the Reporting Period.

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION
As at 31 March 2020, the Group had 267 employees (2019: 309). For the

Reporting Period, staff costs including directors’ remuneration from continuing

operations was approximately HK$136.2 million (2019: HK$177.9 million).

REMUNERATION POLICY

The Group’s Directors and senior management receive compensation in the
form of salaries, benefits in kind and discretionary bonuses with reference to
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and the performance
of the Group. The Group also reimburses them for expenses, which are
necessarily and reasonably incurred for the provision of services to the Group
or executing their functions in relation to the operations of the Group. In
addition, the Company adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
Directors and eligible participants, the particulars of which are set out in note
44 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report. The
Group regularly reviews and determines the remuneration and compensation
package of the Group’s Directors and senior management, by reference to,
among other things, market level of salaries paid by comparable companies,
the respective responsibilities of the Group’s Directors and the performance of

the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OUTLOOK

Health and beauty supplements and products segment

In January 2020, an outbreak of a respiratory illness caused by a new strain of
coronavirus was identified. The disease has since spread rapidly across the
world, causing the World Health Organization to declare the outbreak of
COVID-19 on 12 March 2020. The unprecedented incidents and weak
customer sentiments severely impacted the local retail market, and the Group
took one of the proactive measures in allocating more resources on digital
marketing to maintain our product awareness of both the existing and new
portfolios of the Group. Digital marketing spending during the Reporting
Period, including but not limited to, the combination of online live programs
and offline events, also enhanced customer loyalty of product portfolios of the

Group.

Due to the unforeseen market situations, the Group will also adopt more
measures on cost control and strengthen our partnerships with distribution

channels for improving our performance.

The quality management accreditation for the existing food factory including
1SO22000 and HACCP obtained in March 2018 and January 2018 respectively
were renewed in the Reporting Period. The quality management accreditation
earmarked the sustainable commitment of the Group to uphold highest quality,
and the Group will keep on achieving high level standard in the forthcoming

year.

Collaboration with CUCAMed Company Limited

As it is the Group’s tradition of using its own research and development
resources to develop proprietary intellectual property products since its listing
on the Stock Exchange in 2013, we are collaborating closely with CUCAMed
Company Limited (“CUCAMed”) of The Chinese University of Hong Kong
(“CUHK?”) to create intellectual property products and commercialise our
health products chain. Under the tripartite relationship and with the aid of the
government sponsorship under the Innovation and Technology Fund (“ITF”),
the Hong Kong government and the Group jointly funded the research and the

Group controlled and owned the intellectual property.

During the Reporting Period, one ITF product focuses on dementia, “Brain
Chips” under the brand “LEGEND”, has been launched in December 2019. A
new ITF product is currently under development and planned to be launched
in the fourth quarter of 2020 or in 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o PHL G i B0 A

Moreover, the Group had research projects for the purpose of product
development and strengthening the competitiveness of current products. The
Group signed new contracts with CUHK in July 2019 and The Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology R and D Corporation Limited in May
2020 respectively. These projects focus on the development of new product

for topical use, and evaluation on functions of existing products.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS

Save as disclosed in notes 12(a), 39, 40 and 41 to the audited consolidated
financial statements and elsewhere in this annual report, there was no other
material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries, associated companies and

joint ventures during the Reporting Period.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save as disclosed in note 32 to the audited consolidated financial statements
in this annual report, the Group did not have material contingent liabilities as
at 31 March 2020.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

Save as disclosed in note 42 to the audited consolidated financial statements
in this annual report, the Group did not have significant capital commitment
as at 31 March 2020.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Presently, the Group does not have a hedging policy with respect to the
foreign exchange exposure. The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily
through sales and purchases, which give rise to receivables and payables and
cash balances that are denominated in foreign currencies, other than the
functional currency of the operations to which the transactions relate. The
currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily United States dollar (“US$”)
and Renminbi (“RMB”). In order to manage and minimise the foreign
currency risk, the management will continue to manage and monitor the
foreign currency exposure to ensure appropriate measures are implemented in

a timely and effective manner.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had secured bank loans and term loans of
approximately HK$35.6 million (2019: HK$39.1 million) and HK$33.0 million
(2019: Nil), respectively. The banking facilities and term loans are secured by
the Group’s leasehold land and buildings,
approximately HK$74.5 million as at 31 March 2020 (2019: HK$77.2

million).

having carrying amount of

20 Annual Report 2019/2020 £ #

BEAh > AR FIRAT DU B3R 2 F Y RORT SR IH
7 o o8 BT b B BT T o AR E O RIS %
—IJUFEEA BT AR T B R e A i RER
WEE B A RN R0 & 40 %% I H B R
BH 8% S0 E i B A BUAT S B DI RE o

Ek%%&&ﬁ

o A AT S AR B AL S5 BA S R 3R B 5T 12(2) ~ 39 ~ 40
Je a1 Be FLAbES A BTl g8 40 » RS IR > ME4EAT
] At BN 1~ T N R R A S R
I T s o

DR/ =R
%ﬁ@ﬁm%$ﬁA
R S
Kok A fE -

BEA R
I A A A T R R I 42 R 41
REFFEZAS R AR EIE AT E
KA

A I JE i

T IR 7 S 1 57 9 A9 4 o e 36 e BUSRE AR SR
VR o 2 e TR A 4 B PR T E A
DA W SR (R LA &85 0 e £ W DA S £ 8 5t (8D
P19 B A o JRE A i L I B < 45 0 T 0 o ML BSCA FAfL L
Brry Bt e oo ([Re]) R AR TAR
WD) o T BN S B PR AN I IR B o A AR
A B T B AN I o e R B IR A 8 PR U
B AR -

P R BT R 32 B B A1
=B ARG AT

&

ﬁé:i*?iiﬂ = AREE R A KA
SRATEE R AT BB 7 435,600,000 70 (Z %
—JL4E 1 39,100,000 75) 533,000,000 76 (%
—JUAE ) o EERATIE B KA AR

A 52 ] R B AR AR A Eﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁ“
FoFFEZHAZ— HAA74,500,0004 00 (—F
—JL4E 1 77,200,000 7C)



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM ISSUE OF
CONVERTIBLE BONDS

2017 Convertible Bonds

The net proceeds from the placing of the 2017 Convertible Bonds of
approximately HK$250.0 million have been fully utilised by the Group as the
general working capital of the Company and in acquisition by the Company
relating to (i) its principal business; and (ii) online or e-commerce technology
business including but not limited to the acquisition under the acquisition
agreement dated 30 June 2017 in relation to the WeChat cross-border payment

business.

February 2019 Convertible Bonds

HK$90.0 million out of the net proceeds of approximately HK$103.2 million
from the issue of the February 2019 Convertible Bonds had been fully utilised
in the purchase of the same principal amount of the 2017 Convertible Bonds
and approximately HK$13.2 million was used as the Company’s general

working capital.

October 2019 Convertible Bonds

The net proceeds from the placing of the October 2019 Convertible Bonds
amounted to approximately HK$178.1 million have been fully utilised by the
Group as follows: (i) approximately 50.0% of the net proceeds in the amount
of approximately HK$89.1 million were used to redeem the outstanding
principal amount of the 2017 Convertible Bonds, interest and other amounts
accrued thereunder of approximately HK$178.22 million; (ii) approximately
40.0% of the net proceeds in the amount of approximately HK$71.2 million
were used to enhance and further develop the formulating, marketing, sale and
distribution of health and beauty supplements and products in Hong Kong and
the PRC; and (iii) approximately 10.0% of the net proceeds in the amount of
approximately HK$17.8 million were used to replenish the Group’s general

working capital.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD
Save as the events as disclosed in note 48 to the audited consolidated
financial statements and elsewhere in this annual report, there is no significant

event occurring after the Reporting Period up to the date of this annual report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o PHL G i B0 A

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Based on the Group’s risk management system, the Group has examined all of
the possible risks and uncertainties that might affect the Group and considered

that the most important risks and uncertainties would include:

Regulatory risks

The health supplement industry in Hong Kong generally believes that changes
in regulatory policies and laws in respect of the monitoring and control of
food and health supplement products which include Chinese medicinal
ingredients may be proposed and implemented by the authorities concerned in
the coming years. Significant effect may impact on the future development of
health supplements as well as the food industry. If the Group fails to keep up
and comply with these changes, such factors would affect the Group’s

success.

The Group has closely monitored the regulatory changes, strengthened its
interpretation and analysis capability of regulatory policies and would adjust

strategies in advance to cope with the ever-changing operating environment.

Prolonged economic downturn

The Group’s health and beauty supplements and products business is closely
related to the economic conditions of Hong Kong. Slowing economic growth
or a recession may affect consumers’ preferences and spending which in turn
could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, operating results

and financial conditions.

In response to these challenges, the Group will closely monitor the changing
economic conditions and also actively implement effective measures to control
the administration and production costs. The Group will also continue to roll
out more new products and open up more distribution channels, and diversify

its business to improve the Group’s overall performance.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Failure to introduce successful new products

Owing to the rapid changing nature of the health and beauty supplements and
products markets in Hong Kong, if the Group fails to anticipate market trends
and develop new products to respond to such trends in a timely manner, it will
adversely affect its business in the long term. In addition to the Group’s own
product development and collaboration with external research partners, such as
with CUCAMed to promote and sell products developed by CUCAMed under
the brand “LEGEND?”, the Group is also actively looking for opportunities to
collaborate with different reputable universities to conduct researches for the
purpose of developing new products. Besides researches, the Group will also
continue to place strong emphasis on a multifaceted market strategy through

utilising various media and channels to promote its brands and products.

Operational risk
The Group’s online businesses is heavily dependent on the stable operation of
its IT

telecommunications networks, cloud servers as well as systems provided by

systems including system software, processing systems,
third parties. Such mission critical services are susceptible to risks attributable
to system outage, data loss or breach in security. Should such a situation
occur, payments made to the merchant shops may not be properly processed
and may expose the Group to liability to third parties. The Group will closely
monitor such risks, and regularly consider and implement measures such as
system/software updates and engage suitable and competent third party

vendors.

Industry and technological changes

The Group’s online businesses are characterised by rapid technological
changes, frequent and numerous product introductions and enhancements,
continually evolving industry security standards and rapidly changing
customers’ requirements. The success of the Group in these business segments
depends to a large extent upon the Group’s continued ability to offer its
online businesses within this environment and to meet changing market

requirements, including conformity with applicable standards.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wang Xihua, aged 53, is an executive Director, acting chairman, acting
chief executive officer and authorised representative of the Company. He
joined the Group on 24 October 2016. Since 1 April 2019, the duties of the
chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the Company have
been temporarily undertaken by Mr. Wang. On 25 February 2020, Mr. Wang
has been appointed as an authorised representative of the Company. Mr. Wang
has over 20 years of commercial experience in business development and
enterprise management in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) and 5 years
of teaching experience in the chemical engineering profession. Mr. Wang
graduated from the Faculty of Chemical Engineering at % 8 5% £ b
(Wuhan Institute of Iron and Steel, currently called Wuhan University of
Science and Technology) in 1989. In addition, Mr. Wang completed a
graduate program in business administration from the Guanghua School of
Management of Peking University in 2003. Mr. Wang is primarily responsible
for exploring investment opportunities to expand the business of the Group.
Mr. Wang was an executive director and non-executive director of Elife
Holdings Limited (formerly known as Sino Resources Group Limited) (“Elife
Holdings”) (Stock Code: 223), the shares of which are listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange, from 11 March 2013 to 31 January 2014 and
1 February 2014 to 22 September 2015, respectively. Mr. Wang was an
executive director of Fortis Mining (Hong Kong) Limited from 1 February
2014 to 23 May 2015, a Hong Kong subsidiary of Kazakhstan Potash
Corporation Limited, a company listed in the Australian Securities Exchange
Limited (ASX code: KPC).

Mr. Lai Wei Lam, William, aged 47, is an executive Director. He joined the
Company on 1 July 2017. He has solid commercial experience in international
and China business development and merge and acquisition before joining the
Company. Mr. Lai has a certificate in google android application development
awarded by Unisoft Education Centre in 2011. Mr. Lai is primarily

responsible for the e-commerce promotion business of the Group.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau, aged 34, is an independent non-executive
Director, the chairman of audit committee, a member of nomination committee
and remuneration committee of the Company. He joined the Company on
24 October 2016 and was appointed as the chairman of audit committee of the
Company on 6 December 2016. Mr. Leung is currently a director of Global
Business Development at TMF Group, a leading global services provider of
high-value business services to clients operating and investing globally. Before
joining TMF Group, he served as the financial controller of an international
investment management company focusing on the market of the Greater
China. Mr. Leung has worked for different international audit firms including
KPMG and PricewaterhouseCoopers over the past nine years from October
2008. Mr. Leung obtained Bachelor of Commerce (Accounting and Finance)
degree from Monash University in Australia in 2008 and has been a member
of the CPA Australia since 2011.

Mr. Tam Kin Yip, aged 46, is an independent non-executive Director, the
chairman of nomination committee and remuneration committee and a member
of audit committee of the Company. He joined the Company on 7 March
2017. Mr. Tam is a practicing Barrister-At-Law in Hong Kong and has over
17 years’ experience in litigation. From 3 March 2015 to 1 March 2016, Mr.
Tam served as an independent non-executive director of Zhuoxin International
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8266) whose shares are listed on the GEM of
the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Leung Man Loon, aged 42, is an independent non-executive Director, a
member of audit committee, nomination committee and remuneration
committee of the Company. He joined the Company on 11 September 2017.
He is currently employed as general manager of a company in catering
industry and is responsible for the managerial works and monitoring the
overall business. He worked with Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited in
business strategies and management. Mr. Leung has extensive experience
focusing in banking industries. Mr. Leung obtained a degree of Bachelor of
Arts in Finance Services from Edinburgh Napier University in United
Kingdom. Mr. Leung has been a Certified Financial PlannerCM (CFPCM)
since 2010 and designated a Fellow, Life Management Institute from Life

Office Management Association in the United States since 2006.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Cheng Tze Kit Larry, aged 64, is the chief investment officer of the
Group. Mr. Cheng joined the Group in March 2018. Mr. Cheng has over 28
years of experience in real estate development and mergers and acquisitions in
Hong Kong, Canada and the PRC. He holds a Bachelor of Science (Hons) in
Engineering and a Master of Business Administration. Mr. Cheng is a
Chartered Engineer of United Kingdom. Mr. Cheng was served as an
executive director, non-executive director and chief investment officer of

serval Hong Kong listed companies.

Mr. Chen Man Lung, aged 54, is the chief financial officer of the Group.
Mr. Chen joined the Group since April 2018. On 25 January 2019, he was
appointed as chief financial officer and he is responsible for overall financial
management of the Group. Mr. Chen has 26 years of finance and investment
related work experience. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chen held senior
management positions as executive director, independent non-executive
director, chief operation officer and chief financial officer of several Hong
He holds a

Bachelor of Arts degree in Sociology and a Master of Arts in Chinese Studies

Kong and overseas listed companies in various industries.

from The Hong Kong Baptist University and The Hong Kong University of

Science and Technology, respectively.

Mr. Wong Kui Tong, aged 39,

representative of the Company. Mr. Wong joined the Company in December

is the company secretary and authorised

2016. Mr. Wong has over 17 years of experience in accounting and financial
management. Mr. Wong is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators and
The Hong Kong Institute of Company Secretaries. Prior to joining the
Company, Mr. Wong held the position of finance manager and company
secretary in other listed company in Hong Kong from 2009 and 2010 to 2016
respectively and worked in PricewaterhouseCoopers from 2004 to 2009.
Mr. Wong obtained a bachelor of arts in accountancy degree and a master of

corporate governance degree from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Mr. Yan Tat Ming, aged 56, is the chief operating officer of the health and
beauty supplements and products segment of the Group. Mr. Yan joined the
Group in January 2012 as chief production officer and was subsequently
promoted to chief operation officer of the health and beauty supplements and
products segment of the Group in April 2020. He is primarily responsible for
overall management including sales, production and administration of the
health and beauty supplements and products segment of the Group. Mr. Yan
has more than 18 years of experience in the pharmaceutical industry. He is
experienced in the areas of production and quality assurance and familiar with
production with GMP standard. Mr. Yan obtained his bachelor’s degree in
pharmacy from Robert Gordon Institute of Technology, Aberdeen, United
Kingdom in 1991. He is registered as a pharmaceutical chemist and is a
member of the Royal Pharmaceutical Society of Great Britain since 1992. He
is also admitted as a pharmacist under the Pharmacy and Poisons Ordinance
(Chapter 138, the Laws of Hong Kong) in 1992. Mr. Yan was elected as the
committee member and deputy secretary-general of the Hong Kong Chinese

Prepared Medicine Traders Association in 2004 and 2006, respectively.

Ms. Wong Chui Lan, aged 48, is the general manager of the health and
beauty supplements and products segment of the Group. Ms. Wong is
responsible for sales department including the supervision of the sales
promoter team of the health and beauty supplements and products segment and
also acts as the person-in-charge of the customer services and member club
functions. She joined the Group in 2004 as a senior manager and was
subsequently promoted to the deputy general manager in 2010, sales controller
in 2011 and general manager in 2016. Ms. Wong possesses more than 14
years of working experience in the retail marketing specialising in selling and

distribution of PCM health supplements and beauty supplements and products.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
BE &

The Directors present the report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for
the year ended 31 March 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in the sale, marketing and distribution of
health and beauty supplements and products in Hong Kong and the PRC
provision of online advertising agency business, online payment business,
e-commerce promotion business and game distribution business. There was no
significant change in nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year
ended 31 March 2020.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A fair review of the business of the Company and a discussion and analysis of
the Group’s performance during the year ended 31 March 2020 as required by
the Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), including a discussion of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group and indication of likely future development of
the Group’s business, the material factors underlying its results and financial
position, are provided in the “Chairman’s Statement” from pages 6 to 7 and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” from pages 8 to 23, particulars of
important events affecting the Company that have occurred since the end of
the financial year ended 31 March 2020, if any, can also be found in the
abovementioned sections and the “Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements”, the outlook of the Company’s business is discussed throughout
this Annual Report including the “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report, all these sections form part of

this report of the Directors.

SUBSIDIARIES
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2020 are set
out in note 45 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual

report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
For the year ended 31 March 2020, the results and the state of affairs of the
Group are set out in the audited consolidated financial statements in this

annual report on pages 76 to 299.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2020 (2019: Nil) in accordance with the dividend policy of
the Company.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the Entitlement of the Attendance of 2020 AGM

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Wednesday, 12
August 2020 to Monday, 17 August 2020 (both dates inclusive), for the
purpose of determining the eligibility of shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) to attend and vote at the annual general meeting of the
Company to be held on Monday, 17 August 2020 (the “2020 AGM”), during
which no transfer of shares of the Company will be effected. In order to
qualify for attendance at the 2020 AGM,

accompanied by the relevant share certificates of the Company must be lodged

all completed transfer forms

with the Company’s branch share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited,
at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, not later
than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 11 August 2020.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the past 5
financial years is set out on page 300 of this annual report. This summary
does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements of the

Group in this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment and investment
properties of the Group during the year ended 31 March 2020 are set out in
notes 16 and 17 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual

report, respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2020 are set out in note 37(b) to the audited consolidated

financial statements in this annual report.

Particulars of share options of the Company (the “Share Option(s)”) and
details of movements in the Share Options during the year ended 31 March
2020 are set out in note 44 to the audited consolidated financial statements in

this annual report.
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CONVERTIBLE BONDS

2017 Convertible Bonds

On 12 October 2017, the Company issued convertible bonds in an aggregate
principal amount of HK$265.0 million which bear interest at 6% per annum
with maturity on 11 October 2019, which were convertible into (i) a total
number of 56,989,247 fully paid up shares of the Company (the “Share(s)”) at
an initial conversion price of HKD4.65 per Share commencing from
12 October 2017 to 11 October 2018; or (ii) a total number of 66,250,000
fully paid up Shares at an initial conversion price of HKD4.00 per Share
commencing from 12 October 2018 to 11 October 2019, pursuant to a placing
agreement of 24 April 2017 and five supplemental placing agreements entered

with a placing agent and the Company (the “2017 Convertible Bonds™).

On 22 March 2018, principal amount of HK$10.0 million of the 2017
Convertible Bonds were converted into 8,602,150 new Shares at conversion
price of $1.1625 (adjusted) per Share, and the Company redeemed the 2017
Convertible Bonds in the principal amounts of HK$90.0 million and
HK$165.0 million on 22 February 2020 and 11 October 2019, respectively.

The net proceeds from the issue of the 2017 Convertible Bonds were
approximately HK$250.0 million and was used by the Group in any potential
acquisitions by the Company relating to (i) its principal business or (ii) any
online and e-commerce technology business including but not limited to the
acquisition under the acquisition agreement of 30 June 2017 in relation to the
WeChat cross-border payment business and (iii) for general working capital of
the Company. Details of the 2017 Convertible Bonds are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 24 April 2017, 9 May 2017, 31 May
2017, 30 June 2017, 31 July 2017, 22 September 2017, 25 September 2017,
12 October 2017, 4 December 2017, 22 January 2019, 13 February 2019,
22 February 2019 and 16 September 2019, respectively, together with note 33
to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report,

respectively.
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February 2019 Convertible Bonds

On 13 February 2019, the Company issued unsecured redeemable convertible
bonds in an aggregate principal amount of HK$106.0 million which bear
interest at 5% per annum with maturity on 12 February 2021, which were
convertible into a total number of 365,517,237 fully paid up Shares at an
initial conversion price of HKDO0.29 per Share commencing from 13 February
2019 to 12 February 2021, pursuant to a placing agreement of 22 January
2019 entered with a placing agent and the Company (the “February 2019
Convertible Bonds”). During the year ended 31 March 2020, the full principal
amount of HK$106.0 million of the February 2019 Convertible Bonds was
converted into 365,517,237 new Shares at the conversion price of $0.29 per
Share. The net proceeds from the issue of February 2019 Convertible Bonds
were approximately HK$103.2 million, of which HK$90.0 million was applied
for redemption of a principal amount of HK90.0 million of the 2017
Convertible Bonds and HK$13.2 million was applied towards the Company’s
general working capital. For details of the February 2019 Convertible Bonds,
please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 22 January 2019,
13 February 2019 and 22 February 2019, respectively, together with note 33 to

the consolidate financial statements in this annual report.

October 2019 Convertible Bonds

The Company issued unsecured redeemable convertible bonds in an aggregate
principal amount of HK$180.0 million which bear interest at 10% per annum
with maturity on 3 October 2021, which were convertible into a total number
of 416,666,666 fully paid up Shares at an initial conversion price of
HKDO0.432 per Share commencing from 4 October 2020 to 3 October 2021,
pursuant to a placing agreement of 16 September 2019 entered with a placing
agent and the Company (the “October 2019 Convertible Bonds™). Principal
amounts of HK$85.0 million, HK$23.0 million and HK$8.0 million of the
October 2019 Convertible Bonds were redeemed by the Company on
31 March 2020, 11 May 2020 and 17 June 2020, respectively. As at
31 March 2020 and the date of this report, the outstanding principal amounts
of the October 2019 Convertible Bonds are HK$95.0 million and HK$64.0

million, respectively.
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The net proceeds from the issue of October 2019 Convertible Bonds amounted
to approximately HK$178.1 million of which (i) HK$89.1 million was used to
redeem the outstanding principal amount of the 2017 Convertible Bonds; (ii)
HK$71.12 million was used to enhance and further develop the formulation,
marketing, sale and distribution of health and beauty supplements and products
in Hong Kong and the PRC; and (iii) HK$17.8 million be sued to replenish
the Group’s general working capital during the year. For details of the
October 2019 Convertible Bonds, please refer to the announcements of the
Company 16 September 2019, 17 September 2019, 4 October 2019,
31 March 2020, 11 May 2020 and 17 June 2020, respectively, together with

note 33 to the consolidate financial statements in this annual report.

PLACING NEW SHARES

On 25 April 2019, the Company entered into a placing agreement with a
placing agent pursuant to which the placing agent agreed to place up to
58,000,000 new Shares at the placing price of HK$0.4275 per new Shares. On
20 May 2019, 23,391,813 new Shares were successfully placed by the placing
agent at the placing price of HK$0.4275 (the “Placing”), the net proceeds from
the Placing was amounted to approximately HK$10.0 million which be used
for general working capital of the Group. For details of the Placing, please
refer to the announcements of the Company dated 24 April 2019 and 20 May
2019, respectively, together with the note 37 to the consolidated financial

statements in this annual report.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, redeemed or
sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 March
2020 (2019: Nil).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of
association (the “Articles and Association”) and the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a

pro-rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

No equity-linked agreement was entered into during the year ended 31 March
2020, save as disclosed in the above respective paragraph “CONVERTIBLE
BONDS”, “PLACING NEW SHARES”, “SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE
OPTIONS” and others, if any, disclosed in this annual report.
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year ended 31 March 2020 are set out in the audited consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 80 and note 37(a) to the audited

consolidated financial statements in this annual report, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2020, the Company’s reserves available for distribution to the
Shareholders, calculated in accordance with the provisions of Cayman Islands’
legislation, amounted to approximately HK$1.5 million (2019: HK$139.7

million).

PARTICULARS OF BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2020
are set out in note 30 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this

annual report.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2020 and up to the date of this
annual report were:

Current Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Xihua (appointed as acting chairman and
acting chief executive officer on 1 April 2019)

Mr. Lai Wei Lam, William

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau

Mr. Tam Kin Yip

Mr. Leung Man Loon

Former Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Yan Tak*

Mr. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney (resigned on 25 February 2020)

Independent Non-executive Director
Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia (resigned on 13 December 2019)

* Mr. Chan Yan Tak resigned as chairman of the Board, an executive Director and the
chief executive officer of the Company effective from 1 April 2019 and he then
resigned all positions in the members of the Group with effect from 31 March 2020.

The biographical details of the current Directors are set out on pages 24 to 27
of this annual report.
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CHANGES OF BOARD COMPOSITION

Mr. Chan Yan Tak (“Mr. Chan”) resigned as chairman of the Board, an
executive Director, the chief executive officer and an authorised representative
of the Company with effect from 1 April 2019 and then be nominated as
Honorary Chairman on the same date. Mr. Chan then resigned all the position

in members of the Group with effect from 31 March 2020.

The Company is still in the course of identifying suitable candidate with
appropriate experience to fill the vacancy as the chairman of the Board and
the chief executive officer of the Company. The duties of the chairman of the
Board and the chief executive officer of the Company have temporarily been

undertaken by Mr. Wang Xihua, an executive Director since 1 April 2019.

Mr. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney resigned as an executive Director with effect from

25 February 2020 due to his new working arrangement.

Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia resigned as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 13 December 2019 due to her focus on other

commitment.

DIRECTORS’ ROTATION

Messrs. Leung Man Loon and Tam Kin Yip, being independent non-executive
Directors, will retire by rotation from the Board at the conclusion of the 2020
AGM and they, being eligible, offer themselves to be re-elected as Directors
by the Shareholders in the 2020 AGM in accordance with the Articles of

Association and the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS

The Company entered into service agreements with each of the executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors for a term of three years.
Their term of offices are also subject to retirement by rotation from the Board
and re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance

with the Articles of Association and the Listing Rules.
No Director being proposed for re-election at the 2020 AGM has a service

contract with the Company which is not determinable by the Company within

one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company received written confirmations of independence from all
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau,
Mr. Tam Kin Yip and Mr. Leung Man Loon, respectively for the year ended
31 March 2020 pursuant to the Listing Rules. The Board and the nomination
committee of the Company considered and agreed all the current independent
non-executive Directors are independent pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing

Rules, amended from time to time.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Directors shall be indemnified
against all losses and liabilities which they may incur in connection with their
duties. The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability

insurance coverage for the directors and officers of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
REMUNERATION AND FIVE INDIVIDUALS
WITH THE HIGHEST EMOLUMENT

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five individuals with the
highest emoluments disclosed on a named basis and/or by band respectively,
are set out in notes 9 to 10 to the audited consolidated financial statements in

this annual report, respectively.

Details of the remuneration of the senior management disclosed by band are
set out under the paragraph headed “Remuneration Committee” under section
headed “Board Committees” in Corporate Governance Report in this annual

report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2020, the interests of the Directors in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)) which (i) are required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); (ii) were
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO; or
(iii) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules

were as follows:
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Long positions in the shares of the Company

A T ey 2 5
Number of Shares Approximate
e B H Number of percentage of
underlying interest in the
shares held Company’s
Personal Corporate under equity issued share
Names of Director interests> interests derivatives! Total capital*
ARG A TR A A B8
SERR RN ) AT AR R4
WY A8 N\ 22 TSR BrgA! AME MERRE 4L
Mr. Wang Xihua ESLE e 8,000,000 8,000,000 0.31%
Mr. Lai Wei Lam, William AR 8,000,000 8,000,000 0.31%
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau LR YA 500,000 500,000 0.02%
Mr. Tam Kin Yip (2 S e 500,000 500,000 0.02%
Mr. Leung Man Loon EICHESE A 500,000 500,000 0.02%
Notes: P 5
1. This represents interests in Share Options held by the relevant Directors as a beneficial 1. *E‘EEﬁ%ﬁﬁgﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ}\*ﬁﬁfﬁgﬂ%%ﬁﬁ%
owner to subscribe for the relevant underlying shares granted by the Company under ﬁmfi'ﬂ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%%%*g B0y - FLRE MO A 4R
the share option scheme of the Company, details of which are set out in to the section e b SCTIEAR e 0 et | — 5
under “SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS” above in this annual report.
2. These Shares were held by the relevant Directors as beneficial owner. 2. U P 5 o A B R O T SR A AR AT -
* The percentage has been adjusted, if any, based on the total number of shares of the * HAOLBEREARAFN - FE=H =+—H

Company in issue as at 31 March 2020 (i.e. 2,554,911,200 shares).

Save as disclosed above and the interests as disclosed under the section
headed “DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND
DEBENTURES” below, as at 31 March 2020, none of the Directors or the
chief executive of the Company had any interest or short positions in any
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which (i)
are required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO); or (ii) were recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
352 of the SFO; or (iii) were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2020, the number of outstanding Share Options granted by the
Company under the share option scheme adopted on 24 September 2013 (the
“Share Option Scheme”) for the Directors to subscribe for the shares of the
Company, as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code is set out in the sections headed “SHARE
CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS” and in the note 44 to the audited
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the year ended 31 March
2020 was the Company, its subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries or its holding
companies a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors, their spouse
and children under the age of 18, to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body

corporate.

CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code, amended from time to time. All
the Directors have confirmed they have complied with the required standards
set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2020.
Employees of the Company, who are likely to be in possession of unpublished
inside information, have been requested to comply with provisions of the
Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIALS INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 43 to the audited consolidated financial statements
in this annual report and under the section headed “CONNECTED
TRANSACTION AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS”, if any, in this
report, no Director or any entities connected with the Director had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or
contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company,
or any of its subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries or its holding companies was
a party subsisted at the end of the year or at anytime during the year ended
31 March 2020.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS

As at 31 March 2020, according to the register of interests kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO, the interest of the persons, other than
the Directors or the chief executive of the Company, in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company which were notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and
entered in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of

the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company were as follows:

Long positions in the shares of the Company

B Yy E
REBZFAEZ A = —H o RN RS
e HA £ 15 01 565 33610 BT 45 47 WE 4 & wi il » DA R A
+ (B AN T EETBA B RRIN RARA T
FGE 75 S AR T e 03 vl AT MR 8 s o B 0 M 401 5
XV EBE2 K 35330 O M€ A8 23 w1 Sk A8 BT DA KR
P38 5 T B 0 19 55 336 M T Bk A AR 2 F) T 5 A7
it e BT e AN F MR

A ) B Z 58
Approximate
percentage of
interest in the
Company’s
Number of issued share
Names of shareholder Capacity Nature of interest Shares Total capital*
A\ O3
AT A I RE R
B4 AR g0 RE 25 P2 ety B H AEE RERRE M
Chan Yan Tak' Interested of controlled Ordinary Shares 733,568,000 733,568,000 28.71%
corporation
o 2 ZPE L B RE AR - 78
Able Island' Beneficial owner Ordinary Shares 723,242,000 723,242,000 28.31%
Ha A A - 78
Leung Lisa? Interested of controlled Ordinary Shares 205,821,793 205,821,793 8.06%
corporation
2 T RE A - 78
Prosper Rich Investments Beneficial owner Ordinary Shares 205,821,793 205,821,793 8.06%
Limited?
Ha A A - 78
Notes: [ &E
1. This represents the Shares held by Able Island Group Limited (“Able Island”), a 1. & H1 Able Tsland Group Limited ([ Able Island)) #5745

company wholly-owned by Mr. Chan Yan Tak, therefore, he is deemed to be interested
in (i) 723,242,000 Shares held by Able Island; and (ii) 10,326,000 Shares held by
another company wholly-owned by Mr. Chan under the SFO. Mr. Chan Yan Tak
resigned as chairman of the Board, an executive Director, the chief executive officer
and an authorised representative of the Company with effect from 1 April 2019 and

then resigned as director of all members of the Group effect from 31 March 2020.
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2. Information was obtained from the website of the Stock Exchange
(http://www.hkexnews.hk/di/di.htm).

* The percentage has been adjusted, if any, based on the total number of Shares as at 31
March 2020 (i.e. 2,554,911,200 Shares).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, the Company had not been
notified by any persons (other than the Directors or the chief executive of the
Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO.

COMPETING INTEREST

For the year ended 31 March 2020, save as disclosed, the Directors were not
aware of any business or interest of the Directors, the controlling Shareholder
and their respective close associates that compete or may compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group and any other conflict of

interest which any such person has or may have with the Group.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION
Chan Yan Tak together with Able
Island, entered into a deed of non-competition dated 24 September 2013

Substantial Shareholders, namely Mr.
(“Deed of Non-Competition”) in favour of the Company (for itself and as
trustee for each of its subsidiaries), details of which may refer to the section
headed “Non-Competition Undertakings” in the prospectus of the Company
dated 30 September 2013. Each of Mr. Chan Yan Tak together with Able
Island, being Substantial Shareholders as at 31 March 2020, confirmed that
none of them is engaged in, or interested in any business (other than the
Group) which, directly or indirectly, competes or may compete with the
business of the Group during the year ended 31 March 2020. The independent
non-executive Directors also reviewed the status of compliance and the written

confirmation from each of the substantial Shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, during the year ended 31 March 2020 and up
to the date of this annual report, there is sufficient public float of the

Company’s securities as required under the Listing Rules.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the aggregate sales attributable to the
Group’s five largest customers and the largest customer taken together
accounted for approximately 52.4% and 47.9% of the Group’s total sales for

year, respectively.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the aggregate purchases attributable to the
Group’s five largest suppliers and the largest supplier taken together accounted
for approximately 44.2% and 10.1% of the Group’s total purchases for the

year, respectively.

As far as the Directors are aware, neither the Directors, their close associates,
nor those Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial

interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company was entered into or
existed during the year ended 31 March 2020.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND RELATED
PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2020, there was no transaction which need to
be disclosed as connected transaction or continuing connected transaction in

accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

Details of the related party transactions of the Group are set out in note 43 to

the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

STAFF

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had approximately 267 employees. Salaries
of employees and directors are determined with reference to their duties and
responsibilities in the Group and are maintained at competitive levels and
bonus are fixed on a discretionary basis. Other employee benefits include
provident fund, insurance, medical cover, subsidized educational and training

programmes as well as the Share Option Scheme.

PENSION SCHEMES

The pension schemes of the Group are primary in form of contributions to
Hong Kong’s Mandatory Provident Fund and the PRC statutory public welfare
fund respectively. Details are set out in note 15 to the audited consolidated

financial statement in this annual report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to applicable laws,
rules and regulations in particular, those have significant impact on the Group.
The Board review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements on a regular basis. Any
changes in the applicable laws, rules and regulations are brought to the

attention of relevant employees and relevant operation units from time to time.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2020, to the best of the Company’s
knowledge, the Company has complied with the requirements under the
memorandum of association and articles of association of the Company, the
Listing Rules, the SFO, Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and other law
applicable to the Company. Details of the Company’s compliance with the
code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report contained in the Listing Rules are provided in the

“Corporate Governance Report” from pages 43 to 67 of this annual report.

To protect the privacy of its employees and clients of its products and to
safeguard the interests of its employees, the Group has complied with the
requirements of the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance, the Employment
Ordinance, the Minimum Wage Ordinance and ordinances relating to
disability, sex, family status, race discrimination and occupational safety

through established internal policies and/or procedures.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
Details of a significant event occurring after the reporting date are set out in

note 48 to the audited consolidated financial statement in this annual report.
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AUDITOR

Elite Partners CPA Limited (“Elite Partners”), being the auditor of the
Company, will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment
in the 2020 AGM. A resolution for the re-appointment of Elite Partners as
auditor of the Company will be proposed at the 2020 AGM.

On behalf of the Board
Shunten International (Holdings) Limited

Wang Xihua
Acting chairman
Hong Kong, 29 June 2020
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company recognises the importance of good corporate governance to the
Company’s growth and has devoted considerable efforts to identifying and
formulating corporate governance practices appropriate to the Company’s
needs. The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (amended from time to time, the “Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). As far as the Code is concerned, during the year ended 31
March 2020 and up to the date of this annual report, the Company has
complied with all the Code provisions as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules except the deviation from the Code provision A.2.1, which
stipulates that the roles of chairman of the Board and chief executive officer
of the Company (“CEO”) should be separated, details of the deviation is
elaborated below under the paragraph headed “Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer”.

The Company has complied with the memorandum of association and the
Articles of Association, the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
Securities and Future Ordinance and the Listing Rules as well as other laws

applicable to the Company.

The Board has conducted an annual review of its corporate governance duties
in accordance with the Code, and considered that the Company’s (i) policies
and practices on corporate governance; (ii) the training and the continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior management of the
Companys; (iii) policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements; (iv) the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any)
applicable to employees and the Directors; and (v) the compliance with the
Code and disclosure in this report, are adequate and appropriate for the
Company in light of its current corporate strategy. The Company did and will
review of its corporate governance duties in light of the changing legal and

regulatory requirements as well as the Code from time to time.
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THE BOARD

Board Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises five (5) Directors, all with
professional backgrounds and/or extensive expertise for the direction and
oversight of the Group’s strategic priorities and public responsibilities. During
the year ended 31 March 2020 and up to the date of this report, the

composition of the Board comprises the following Directors:

Current Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Xihua
(appointed as acting chairman and acting CEO
on 1 April 2019)

Mr. Lai Wei Lam, William

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau

Mr. Tam Kin Yip

Mr. Leung Man Loon

Former Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Yan Tak (the “Mr. Chan”)*

Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia (resigned on 13 December 2019)
Mr. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney (resigned on 25 February 2020)

* Mr. Chan resigned as chairman of the Board, an executive Director, the CEO effective
from 1 April 2019 and he then resigned all positions in the members of Group with
effect from 31 March 2020.

The composition, experience, balance of skills, qualifications and diversity on
the Board are regularly reviewed by nomination committee of the Company to
ensure that the Board retains a core of members with longstanding and deep
knowledge of the Group alongside new Directors who bring fresh perspectives

and diverse experience to the Board.
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The biographical details of all the current Directors are set out under the
section headed “BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT” in this annual report, which demonstrate a diversity of
skills, expertise, experience and qualifications of the Board members. A list of
Directors identifying their roles, functions and titles is available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(www.shunten.com.hk). The names of all the Directors did and be disclosed in

all corporate communications of the Company.

Save as disclosed above and other information disclosed in this annual report,
if any, there is no financial, business, family or other material and/or relevant

relationship between the Board members.

Directors’ Rotation and Re-election

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, at least one-third of the Directors for
the time being shall retire by rotation from the Board at the conclusion of
each of annual general meeting of the Company as well as each Director shall
be subject to retirement at the annual general meetings of the Company at
least once every three year under the Articles of Association and the Listing
Rules. The Directors to retire in every year shall be those who have been the
longest in office since their last re-election in the annual general meeting of
the Company. Any Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy to the Board
during the year is subject to retirement at the first general meeting of the
Company to be held after his/her appointment by the Board and then re-
election by the Shareholders at the same meeting in accordance with the

Listing Rules and the Articles of Association.

Messrs. Leung Man Loon and Tam Kin Yip, being independent non-executive
Directors, will retire by rotation from the Board at the conclusion of the
annual general meeting of the Company to be held on 17 August 2020 (the
“2020 AGM”) and they, being eligible, offer themselves to be re-elected as
Directors by the Shareholders in the 2020 AGM in accordance with Article
84(1) of the Articles of Association and the Listing Rules.
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Change of Board Composition

Mr. Wang Xihua, an executive Director, acts as acting chairman of the Board
and the acting CEO of the Company since 1 April 2019. The Company is still
in the process of identifying a suitable candidate with appropriate experiences,

qualifications and knowledges to lead the Company.

The Board believes that the balance of power and authority had not been
impaired by such arrangement as the Board comprises experienced and high

caliber individuals.

Ms.

Director with effect from 13 December 2019 due to her focus on other

Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia resigned as an independent non-executive
commitment.

Mr. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney resigned as an executive Director with effect from

25 February 2020 due to his new working arrangement.

Service Agreements with the Company

The Company entered into service agreements with each of the Directors for a
term of three years, respectively. Their terms of office are also subject to (1)
retirement by rotation from the Board at least once every three years at the
conclusion of annual general meeting; (2) at least one-third of the Directors
for the time being shall retire by rotation from the Board at the conclusion of
each annual general meeting; and (3) Director(s) appointed by the Board to fill
a casual vacancy during the year shall hold office until the conclusion of the
first general meeting of the Company to be held and then be re-appointed by
the Shareholders at the same meeting in accordance with the Articles of

Association and/or the Listing Rules.

For any independent non-executive Director who has served the Company for
more than nine years, his/her further appointment will be subject to a separate
resolution to be approved by the Shareholders at the annual general meeting
and the papers to the Shareholders accompanying that resolution will include
the reasons why the Board believes he/she is still independent and should be
re-elected under the Listing Rules. The respective appointment dates of all
independent non-executive Directors (all have served the Company less than

nine years) are set out below:

Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau was appointed on 24 October 2016.
Mr. Tam Kin Yip was appointed on 7 March 2017.
Mr. Leung Man Loon was appointed on 11 September 2017.
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Directors’ Responsibilities and Delegation

The overall management of the Company’s business is vested in the Board.
The Board has delegated the day-to-day management, administration and
operation of the Company’s business to the senior management of the
Company and the delegated functions and work tasks have been formalised
and periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has to be obtained from the
Board prior to any significant transactions, arrangements and/or contracts
entered into by the senior management of the Company and the Group. The
Board focuses its attention on matters affecting the Company’s overall
strategic policies, corporate governance, finances and the Shareholders,
including financial statements, dividend policy, significant changes in
accounting policy, annual operating budget, certain material contracts,
strategies for future growth, major financing arrangements and major
investments, corporate governance functions, risk management system, treasury
policies and fare structures. The Board has the full support of its senior

management to discharge its responsibilities.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman of the Board and
chief executive officer should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. During the year ended 31 March 2020, Mr. Wang Xihua has
been both the acting Chairman and the acting CEO since 1 April 2019.

Mr. Wang Xihua, the acting Chairman of the Board and the acting CEO of
the Company, is responsible for providing leadership to the Board in terms of
establishing policies and business directions. He ensures that the Board
discharges its responsibilities effectively and all key issues are discussed by
the Board timely. Mr. Wang is also responsible for the overall operation and
the executive responsibilities of the Group and the full implementation of the
directions and policies established by the Board. Although Mr. Wang serving
as both the Chairman and CEO of the Company is a deviation from A.2.1 of
the code provisions, given Mr. Wang’s extensive experience in the business of
the Group, it is more efficient for Mr. Wang to perform both roles. It is also
more favorable to the development and management of the Group’s business.
Moreover, all other members of the Board have the experience and expertise
to ensure balance of power and authority so that the power is not concentrated
in any one individual. The Board is in the process of identifying a suitable
candidates with appropriate experience to act as the Chairman and will make

announcement thereon in due course in accordance with the Listing Rules.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors take an active role in Board meetings
and committees of the Board, contribute to the development of strategies and
policies and make sound judgement in various aspects. They take lead when
potential conflicts of interest arise. Independent board committee of the
Company comprising all independent non-executive Directors will be formed
to advise the independent Shareholders on those connected transactions to be
approved by the independent Shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting
of the Company in accordance with the Listing Rules. The independent non-
executive Directors are also members of various Board Committees and devote

sufficient amount of time and attention to the affairs of the Company.

Directors’ Induction and Development

The Company provides a comprehensive, formal and tailored induction
programme for newly appointed Directors to enhance their knowledge and
understanding of the key areas of business operations and practices of the
Group as well as the general and specific responsibilities and duties of
Directors under the Articles of Association, the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands, the Listing Rules and relevant applicable regulatory

requirements in Cayman Islands and Hong Kong.

An induction programme covering the roles of a Director from group
structure, Board procedures, business management and operation of the
Company, duties under the Listing Rules, the SFO, as well as the essence of
corporate governance and the trends in these areas, have therefore arranged for

all newly appointed Directors from the time to time.
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Continuous professional development and training of Directors is an ongoing
process to ensure the continued enhancement of their skills and knowledge.
The company secretary regularly circulates information and materials related to
roles, functions and duties of listed company directors, business research and
development, updated rules and regulations, economic, environmental and
social topics to develop and refresh knowledge and skills of the Directors. All
Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses provided by

external bodies at the Company’s expense. During the year ended 31 March

A8 56 8 IR

PR gt R R RIE IR A B a AR » B 78
O BT R A R B RE ROk o 2 R T E ) R
BT AR E M 0 BRRE R - BT
L% ~ R A RS RO L B~ BT K
A AT IR 10 R SR ek DA R B S
Vi B AR o A ) S A B T A0 S I Y
SRR AR B IR BT AR DR o R
TERCREZJ =+ HALFE - BRI

2020, the record of the trainings of the Directors, on named basis, is set out in &k ¥4 it 44 FEHEHL 51 it T 3% -
the table below:
Training on
corporate
governance,
regulatory
development
and other
relevant topics
B
BERRK
At B
Directors g2 T B
Executive Directors HATHF
Mr. Wang Xihua SR e v
Mr. Lai Wei Lam, William AR MRS v
Independent Non-executive Directors W B AT H
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau BB e v
Mr. Tam Kin Yip i f S v/
Mr. Leung Man Loon PCH A v
Former Directors UEEREE
Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia AEE S Lt v/
(resigned on 13 December 2019) (R ZFE—=NF+ZH+=HREHE)
Mr. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney e e A v/

(resigned on 25 February 2020)

(A H A I HEEHT)

All Directors are required to provide the Company with their training records
on an annual basis, and such records are maintained by the company secretary
of the Company for regular review by the nomination committee of the
Company. The training records of the Directors were reviewed by the

nomination committee of the Company in June 2020.
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Board and Board Committees Proceedings

The Directors attend quarterly Board meetings and meets at other times as and
when required. All Directors have full and timely access to relevant
information of the Company and may take independent professional advice at
the Company’s expense, if necessary, in accordance with the approved

procedures.

Notice to regular Board meeting is served to all Directors at least 14 days
before the meeting. For other Board and committees of the Board (“Board

Committee(s)”) meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.

The draft agendas for Board and Board Committees meetings are prepared by
the company secretary of the Company and approved by the chairman of the
Board and Board Committees. Directors are advised to inform the chairman of
the Board and Board Committees or the company secretary not less than one
week before the relevant Board and Board Committees meeting if they wish to
include a matter in the agenda of the meeting. The agendas together with
Board and Board Committees papers are sent at least three days before the
intended date of the Board and Board Committees meeting. To facilitate the
decision-making process, the Directors and Committee members are free to
have access to the management for enquiries and to obtain further information
and have unrestricted access to the advice and services of the company

secretary when required.

The chairman of the Board has encouraged all Directors to make full and
active contributions to the Board’s affairs and take the lead to ensure that the
Board acts in the best interest of the Company and the Shareholder as a
whole. He has promoted a culture of openness and debate by facilitating the
effective contribution of independent non-executive Directors and ensuring
constructive relations between executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors. Accordingly, the Board operates in a functional manner

with clearly defined objectives, strategies and responsibilities.

All Directors are required to comply with their duty to act in the best interests
of the Company and have particular regard to the interest of the Shareholders
as a whole. Amongst others, all Directors are required to declare the nature
and extent of their interests, if any, in any transaction, arrangement, contract
or other proposal to be considered by the Board at Board meetings. Unless
specifically permitted by the Articles of Association, a Director cannot cast a
vote on any contract, transaction, arrangement or any other proposal in which

he/she has or any of his/her close associates is materially interested.
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Monthly financial and operational information is provided to the Directors by
the company secretary to discharge their duties and acknowledge the
development of the Company from time to time. Other regular and ad hoc
reports are also prepared for the Board and Board Committees, to ensure that
the Directors and member of the Board Committees are supplied with all the

requested information in a timely and appropriate manner.

Directors’ Attendance Records at Meetings

The individual attendance record of each Director at meetings of the Board as
well as the annual general meeting of the Company during the year ended 31
March 2020 is as follows:
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Attendance/Number
of meetings during

the Directors’ tenure of office

ALY R SRR
Annual
general meeting Board
JBe SR 45 R HEY
Number of Meeting(s) R 1 24
Executive Directors HIT#HF
Mr. Wang Xihua ESE e 1/1 24/24
Mr. Lai Wei Lam, William AR MR 1/1 24/24
Independent Non-executive Directors By BT HEF
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau BB e A 1/1 24/24
Mr. Tam Kin Yip R S /1 23/24
Mr. Leung Man Loon RS /1 24/24
Former Directors AR R
Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia AEER L+t
(resigned on 13 December 2019) (P ZFE—NAF+ZH+=HEHE) 1/1 13/13
Mr. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney ZeikE e A
(resigned on 25 February 2020) (R — 2B A H A4 H ) 1/1 17/17

Directors are expected to devote sufficient time and attention in performing
their duties and responsibilities towards the Company. The high attendance
record at the Board meetings and Board committees meetings for the year
ended 31 March 2020, which was reviewed by the nomination committee of
the Company in June 2020, demonstrated the Directors’ strong commitment to

the Company.

L JEAT FB AR T RS R S R 2R A 5
O KB MEF FE=H =+ —HIk
FEERGTRNETTRZBGERNFE LR
(A ZF ZF AN EARFRY Z R GHN) 3
71 T AR N A R R

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited JE i B4 B (¥ %) A BR 2 ) 51



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
18 56 B ih Hol

The minutes of Board and Board committees meetings are currently prepared
by the company secretary with details of the matters considered by the Board
and Board committees and decisions reached, including any concerns raised by
the Director(s) and members of Board committees or dissenting views
expressed (if any). The draft minutes are circulated to all members of the
Board and Board committees for their comment within a reasonable time after

the meeting.

Statutory Confirmations

The Company has received written annual confirmations of independence from
all independent non-executive Directors for the year ended 31 March 2020 in
accordance with rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, amended from time to time.
The nomination committee of the Company has assessed their independence
and concluded that all the independent non-executive Directors are
independent within the definition of the Listing Rules and continues to

consider each of them is independent.

According to the Code, each Director should ensures that he/she can give
sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company and make
contribution to the development of the Company’s strategy and policies
through independent, constructive and informed comments. The chairman of
the Board held a meeting with the non-executive Directors without the other

executive Director during the year.

Regarding disclosure of the number and nature of offices held by the
Directors in public companies or organisations and other significant
commitments as well as their identity and the time involved (the
“Commitments”) to the Company, all Directors have agreed to confirm/
update their Commitments to the Company in a timely manner and confirm
his/her other directorships, major appointments and interests to the Company

twice a year.

Directors’ Insurance

Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance has been arranged for all Directors,
including company securities, employment practices, regulatory crisis event,
investigation, litigation, tax liabilities and public relation, etc.. The Company
has conducted an annual review of the Company’s Directors’ and Officers’
liability insurance policy with reference to recent trends in the insurance
market and other relevant factors. The review compared the amount of

coverage against other similar policies purchase by other companies.
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Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings the “Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers” (“Model Code”) as
set out in the Appendix 10 of Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transactions in the securities of the Company. Upon the
Company’s specific enquiry, each Director has confirmed that they have fully
complied with the Model Code under the Listing Rules, and there is no event
of non-compliance. Employees of the Company, who are likely to be in
possession of unpublished inside information of the Company, have been

requested to comply with the provisions of the Model Code.

COMPANY SECRETARY

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the company secretary,
who is responsible for ensuring that the Board procedures are followed and for
facilitating information flows and communications among the Directors as well
as with the Shareholders and management. Mr. Wong Kui Tong is currently
the company secretary of the Company. Please refer to the section
“BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT?” for details of Mr. Wong’s professional qualifications.

BOARD COMMITTEES

As an integral part of good corporate governance, the Board has established a
total of three Board committees, namely, the audit committee, the
remuneration committee and the nomination committee, to oversee particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs. Each of these Board committees is governed
by its respective terms of reference (amended from time to time) which are
available on the both websites of the Company (www.shunten.com.hk) and the

Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk).

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their
duties and are able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate

circumstances, at the Company’s expense, to perform their responsibilities.

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company (“Audit Committee”) has been
established by the Board, it comprises a minimum of three members, at least
one of whom is an independent non-executive Director with appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise as required under the Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. The majority
of the Audit Committee members should be independent non-executive
Directors. The Audit Committee should be chaired by an independent non-

executive Director in compliance with the Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.
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The Audit Committee currently consists of three (3) members, they are all
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau
(chairman), Mr. Tam Kin Yip and Mr. Leung Man Loon. None of the
members of the Audit Committee is or was a former partner of the

Company’s existing external auditor.

Duties of Audit Committee

The primary duties of the Audit Committee, among other things, are to make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal
of the external auditor; review the financial statements and material advice (if
any) in respect of financial reporting system; and oversee internal control

system and risk management system of the Company.

Work Performed by Audit Committee
During the financial year ended 31 March 2020, the Audit Committee held

three (3) meetings. The attendance of each member at meetings is as follows:
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Hi R s

Name of members =R EA B B AR P9 R

Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau (Chairman) BRI (L) 3/3

Mr. Tam Kin Yip {2 S e 3/3

Mr. Leung Man Loon e SR 3/3
Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia AEE R Lt

(resigned on 13 December 2019) (R ZFE—JLFE A+ ZH = HFEHF) 2/2

In accordance with its terms of reference, the Audit Committee performed,
inter alia, the following work during the year ended 31 March 2020 and up to
the date of this report:

1. reviewed, approved and recommended the draft audited financial
statements and unaudited financial statements, the interim and final
dividend (if any) and the draft results announcements of the Company,
including any changes in accounting policies and practices; major
judgmental areas; compliance with accounting and auditing standards;
and compliance with the listing requirements on the Listing Rules and
legal requirements in relation to financial reporting prior to

recommending them to the Board for approval.
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2. reviewed, approved and recommended the report in relation to the
evaluation of the adequacy and effectiveness and of the internal control
system and the risk management system of the Group and the relevant

report prior to recommending them to the Board for approval.

3. reviewed, assessed and commented relationship with the external auditor
and independence and the level of support and co-operation given by the
Group’s management.

4. reviewed, approved and recommended the re-appointment and
remuneration of the external auditor.

5. reviewed, assessed and commented the adequacy of resources,

qualifications and experience of the staff of the Group’s accounting and

financial reporting function and their training programmes and budget.

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Company (“Remuneration Committee”)
has been established by the Board, it should chaired by an independent non-
executive Director and comprising a majority of independent non-executive

Directors in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules.

The Remuneration Committee currently consists of three (3) members, they are
all independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Tam Kin Yip (chairman),

Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau and Mr. Leung Man Loon.

Duties of Remuneration Committee

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the overall remuneration policy and
structure relating to all the Directors and senior management of the Group;
review performance based remuneration; and ensure none of the Directors
determine their own remuneration. The Remuneration Committee also makes
recommendation to the Board with respect to share option granted and to be
granted to Director and/or senior management of the Group under the share
option scheme of the Company. When the remuneration package of an

individual Director is under review, such Director will abstain from voting.
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Work Performed by Remuneration Committee
During the financial year ended 31 March 2020, the Remuneration Committee

held three (3) meetings. The attendance of each member is as follows:

WHWT -

Attendance/
No. of meetings during
the members tenure
of office
W R,
Name of members B k4 B B AR 9T P9 R
Mr. Tam Kin Yip (Chairman) RS A () 3/3
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau BRI e 3/3
Mr. Leung Man Loon PR 3/3

Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia A GEE Lt
(resigned on 13 December 2019) (R ZF—=NF+ZH+=HREHE) 2/2

WETETTEZA b HIREE R E EAR
HHI s AR R B & Bl EAT
(R 48) AR IAF -

In accordance with its terms of reference, the Remuneration Committee
performed, inter alia, the following work during the year ended 31 March

2020 and up to the date of this report:

B )~ WP B B R A A e AR
L Y 387 T R B B

1. reviewed, commented and/or approved the policy and structure for the 1.
remuneration of Directors and senior management of the Group.
2. reviewed, commented and approved the procedures for fixing the 2. BB~ W S A E 1 B A A AR T

remuneration packages.

SH A KB N T ~ HER AL R
T A R~ AT KR TR e,
SR AL S AR B R N AL & > Sl LR (i A

3. reviewed and made recommendation on the remuneration packages with 3.
reference to comparable companies, time commitment, responsibilities
and employment conditions of the respective Directors and the senior

management of the Group and/or other matters.

4. reviewed, approved and recommended the respective Directors’ service 4. )~ o A A EE IR A A .
agreement.
5. consider and approve the salary increment and bonus arrangement, if any, 5. 7 G DA HE T N A AR T v A T

F I R A€ SL % BE (A7)

for certain Directors and senior management of the Group.

6. reviewed, approved and recommended the payment to the Directors, if B~ o R R R R AT R I
any, in relation to the retirement and resignation of the Directors. H AT (A o
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Details of the Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2020 are
set out in note 9 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual
report. In addition, pursuant to the Code provision B.1.5, the annual
remuneration of the senior management of the Group by bands for the year
ended 31 March 2020 is set out below:

A8 56 8 IR

BEZE-ZESA = —H I EEE RS
AT A R AR AR IR A S A A S I R R B 59
BEAh > ARPESF R CBAS » BE S R E S
HZ=+—HIRFERE > RS0 2 REH S HRE
PG 2 A7 B R A

Number of individuals

Remuneration to the senior management by bands v A P 2 T A AR N
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 5 7t %2 3,500,000 %% 7T 2
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 # JT %2 4,500,000 % 7T 1
HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 5,500,001 5 7t %% 6,000,000 %5 JC 1
HK$12,500,001 to HK$13,000,000 12,500,001 #5 76 %5 13,000,000 #5 JC 1

Nomination Committee

The nomination committee of the Company (“Nomination Committee”) has
been established by the Board, it should be chaired by the chairman of the
Board or an independent non-executive Director and comprises a majority of
independent non-executive Directors in compliance with Rules A.5.1 and A.5.2
under the Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

The Nomination Committee currently consists of three (3) members, they are
all independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Tam Kin Yip (chairman),

Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau and Mr. Leung Man Loon.

Duties of Nomination Committee

The primary function of the Nomination Committee is to make
recommendations to the Board regarding appointment of Directors and
candidates to fill vacancies on the Board and to assess the independence of the

each independent non-executive Director.
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The Company has adopted a board diversity policy, amend from time to time,

(“Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve diversity of Board

members. The objective of the Diversity Policy stated that selection of

candidates be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not

limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,

professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service, the summary

of which are set out below:

()

(b)

(©)

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development, the
Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential
element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and its

sustainable development.

In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has been
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional

experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

All Board appointments did and would be based on meritocracy, and
candidates did and would be considered against objective criteria,

having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Work Performed by Nomination Committee

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Nomination Committee held one

(1) meetings. The attendance of each member is as follows:

AN T BB S E L L HOR (R
([ZRALBUR ] > SR G NE L T
LTk o Z 0L BOR & 76 0 B R 15 38 A\ 4% —
RN Z e AL G 2 S > BRI ER - 4F
iy~ SO BB EH S MR - SERE - BRE
R S B AT > HAR S 0

(a)

(b)

(©)

RSO R R R AR R E
g W H 4 2 oAb B SR B Bows B AR
T e AT FR AR SR A B BT R o

TE SE # 8 R R > B e | Uy
EREFGREZ Tt - B EARRE
Al A SO KBRS R - H3E
REBR - HLHE ~ Ak SR AL o

A T RAL Y C o DU AME A 5 TR
A > Sl O R 2 B B IR DL & B A T
PR R E R 2 n AR

#5Z% RGP AT LA
WEZETREA ZH—HIREE - 22 %8
TR T — ()R Gk - 48R %R sk

B

Attendance/
No. of meetings during
the members tenure
of office
s ks
Name of members BB 4 B BT 9 e Ik
Mr. Tam Kin Yip (Chairman) AR () 1/1
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau PRy e 1/1
Mr. Leung Man Loon BCHEEA /1

Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia A BE B At
(resigned on 13 December 2019) (P ZFE—JLF A= H 1 = HEHE) 1/1
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In accordance with its terms of reference, the Nomination Committee
performed the following, inter alia, work during the year ended 31 March
2020 and up to the date of this report:

1. reviewed, assessed and commented,

inter alia, the policy for the

nomination of Directors.
2. assessed the independence of each independent non-executive Director.
3. sourced and recommended individuals suitably qualified,

if any, to

become Board members.
4. approved and recommended to the changes in the Board composition.

5. identified and recommended those Directors to be retired by rotation from
the Board and then be re-elected as Directors in the annual general
meeting of the Company in accordance with the Articles of Association

and the Listing Rules.

6. reviewed and assessed the structure, size and composition of the Board
and analysis the diversity of the Board with reference with the

Diversity Policy.

Nomination Policy
The Company adopted the policy for nomination of Directors (including the
nomination procedures and criteria for selection and recommendation of

candidates for directorship) in accordance with the Code.

Selection Criteria
The factors listed below would be used as reference by the Nomination

Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate:
. reputation for integrity;

. accomplishment, experiences and/or knowledge in the principal business

of our group;
. commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest; and

. diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender, age (18

years or above), cultural and educational background, ethnicity,

professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
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These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive and
decisive. The Nomination Committee has the discretion to nominate any

person, as it considers appropriate.

Nomination Procedures

1. The secretary of the Nomination Committee shall call a meeting of the
Nomination Committee, and invite nominations of candidates from
Board members, if any, for consideration by the Nomination Committee
prior to its meeting. The Nomination Committee may also put forward

candidates who are not nominated by Board members.

2. For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations for the Board’s consideration and approval. For
proposing candidates to stand for election at a general meeting, the
Nomination Committee shall make nominations to the Board for its

consideration and recommendation.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the accounts of
the Company and of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020. The
accounts are prepared on a going concern basis and give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 March 2020,
and of the Group’s loss and cash flow for the year then ended. In preparing
the accounts for the year ended 31 March 2020, the Directors have selected
appropriate accounting policies and, apart from those new and amended
accounting policies as disclosed in the notes to the accounts for the year
ended 31 March 2020, have applied them consistently with previous financial
periods. Judgments and estimates have been made that are prudent and
reasonable. The reporting responsibilities of the external auditor are set out on

pages 68 to 75 of this annual report.
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Internal Control System and Risk Management System

The Board is responsible for maintaining and reviewing the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal controls and risk management,
(the “System”), which are designed to meet the Group’s particular needs and
to minimise the risks to which the Group is exposed, and are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risks to achieve business objective and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against misstatements or
losses. The Group’s internal control framework covers (i) the setting of
objectives, budgets and targets; (ii) the establishment of regular reporting of
financial information, in particular, the tracking of deviations between actual
performances and budgets/ targets; (iii) the delegation of authority; (iv) the
establishment of clear lines of accountability; and (v) review and evaluation of
the Systems.

On behalf of the Board, the Audit Committee has reviewed the report
prepared by external independent professional firm in respect of the adequacy
and effectiveness of the System of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2020, including the reliability of financial reporting, effectiveness and
efficiency of operations, compliance with applicable laws and regulations,
effectiveness of risk management functions and the adequacy of resources,
staff qualifications and experience, training programmes of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function and budget. This is achieved
primarily through approving the scope of the annual internal audit plan,
reviewing the findings of internal audit work, the annual and interim financial
statements, and the nature, scope of work, and report of the external
independent professional firm. Base on the results of the annual review by the
audit committee, the Board considered that the Systems are effective and
adequate. There is no significant change in the nature and extent of risks and
the Company’s ability to respond to changes in its business and the external

environment since the last annual review.
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Process Used to Identify, Evaluate and Manage Risks

The Board monitors the Group’s business risks, operating risk management
and internal controls. An external audit has been conducted to carry out the
internal audit functions to ensure proper compliance with the internal control
systems and risk management system to identify the potential risks which may
arise in the operation and financial of the Group’s business for implementation
of appropriate measures and policies on a continuing basis. The scope of
review and the audit programme of external audit company, which are
formulated based on a risk assessment approach and focuses on areas with
relatively higher perceived risks, are approved by the Audit Committee at the
end of the preceding financial year in conjunction with the management. The
external audit company executes their functions based on a yearly plan and
prepares reports for their assignments. These reports are submitted to the
management, the Board and the Audit Committee for review on a regular
basis. Such reports are also circulated to the external auditor on an annual

basis.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

The Board has approved and adopted an Inside Information Disclosure Policy
(the “Disclosure Policy”) for the Company for monitoring inside information
to ensure compliance with the Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures

Ordinance.

The Disclosure Policy sets out the obligations, guidelines and procedures for
handling and dissemination of inside information to all Directors, senior
management and relevant employees. These guidelines and procedures to
ensure that the inside information of the Company is to be disseminated to the
public in equal and timely manner in accordance with the applicable laws and
regulations. The inside information should remain confidential until the
disclosure of such information is appropriately approved, and the
dissemination of such information is efficiently and consistently made.
Disclosure must be made in a manner that the public can have an equal,
timely and effective access to the information available through the websites
of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company

(www.shunten.com.hk).
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company’s annual general meeting is one of the principal channels of
communication with its Shareholders. The Board and the management are
committed to use of annual general meetings of the Company as a forum to
meet with the Shareholders and to hear their views and answer their concerns
about the Group and its business. The chairman of the Board, and each Board
Committee’s chairman or his alternate did and would attend annual general
meetings of the Company along with the external auditor to answer

Shareholders’ concerns.

All Shareholders are encouraged to attend annual general meeting and exercise
their right to vote. Shareholders who are unable to attend annual general
meeting can appoint proxies to attend and vote at annual general meeting.
Completion and return of the form of proxy will not prevent Shareholders
from attending and voting in person at the annual general meeting if

Shareholders so wish.

The Company did and would send the notice of the annual general meeting to
Shareholders at least 20 clear business days before the annual general
meeting. The Company did and would send meeting notice to Shareholders
not less than 10 clear business days before any extraordinary general meetings

of the Company.

Shareholders are invited to raise concerns on the business of the Company.
Apart from usual business at the annual general meeting, the Board did and
would general mandates for the repurchase of shares and the issue of shares of

the Company at each annual general meeting.

Further details of business to be conducted at the annual general meeting did
and would be set out in the circular to the Shareholders to be sent together
with annual report and posted on the websites of the Company
(www.shunten.com.hk) and the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk). All
resolutions be passed by way of a poll conducted and verified by the
Company’s branch share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, as an
independent scrutineer. The poll results of each of the proposed resolutions to
the Shareholders be published on the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk)
and the Company’s websites (www.shunten.com.hk) in due time after annual

general meeting and extraordinary general meeting of the Company held.
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R EE R
SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS Ji% 3 BE
Dividend Policy JBe BB SR

The distribution of any dividend by the Company is subject to the discretion A7 ] 40 VRAT A BB Z8 i 36 - &y 1§ e > 16
of the Board, which normally did/will take into account of the following FHEME % &, % EUTFTHE :

factors:

. The financial results of the Company; . ARSI S A

. Interests of the Shareholders; . i MR

. General business conditions and strategies; . — MR R S R
. The capital requirements of the Group; . AL EART K

. Contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends by the Company to  * AR ) ) J B sl B B 2 ) 1] AR 4w UR A

the Shareholders or by the subsidiaries to the Company, if any; B4 & RS () s
. Taxation considerations; . BB H BN E
. Possible effects on creditworthiness of the Company; . B AME AT RERE A R
. Statutory and regulatory restrictions; and . BE KBRS K&
. Any other factors the Board may deem relevant. . 4G AR A A B AR A AR R R o

There is no assurance that any particular dividend amount, or any dividend at /S {7 78 7% 2¢ B IR B U A5 AT AT 45 2 A% 8. 4 A sk
all, will be declared and paid in the future. fEAT B -
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Procedures for making enquiries to the Board

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to the

Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer agent, namely,

Tricor Investor Services Limited, whose contact details are as follows:

Tricor Investor Services Limited

Address

Telephone
Fax
E-mail
Website

Attention

Level 54, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

(852) 2980 1333

(852) 2810 8185

is-enquiries @hk.tricorglobal.com
http://www.tricoris.com

Board of Directors/Company Secretary

Shareholders and the investor community are welcome to send their enquiries

to the Board and the company secretary as follows:

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited

Address

Telephone
Fax
E-mail
Website

Unit A, 12/F.

Guangdong Investment Tower
148 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

(852) 3700 7300

(852) 3700 7301
ir@shunten.com.hk

www.shunten.com.hk

Shareholders may at any time make a request for the Company’s information

to the extent such information is publicly available.
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Procedures for convening extraordinary general meeting on
requisition

One or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition,
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the
right, by written requisition to the Board or the secretary of the Company (the
“Requisition”) to require an extraordinary general meeting of the Company to
be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in the

Requisition.
The Requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the secretary of the
Company at the principal place of business in Hong Kong and registered

office of the Company in Cayman Islands as follows:

Principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong

Address Unit A, 12/F., Guangdong Investment Tower
148 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

Attention Board of Director/Company Secretary

Registered office of the Company in Cayman Islands

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited

Address Cricket Square Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681 Grand Cayman
KYI1-1111 Cayman Island

Attention Board of Director/Company Secretary

Procedures for Shareholders to put forward proposals at
general meetings

Shareholders who wish to put forward proposals for the Company’s
consideration at the general meetings can send their proposals to the company

secretary at the principal place of business in Hong Kong as specified above.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

In order to develop and maintain a continuing investors’ relationship
programme to enable Shareholders and investors better understand the Group’s
business, the Company has established various channels of communication

with the Shareholders and the investor community:

1. Shareholders can raise any comments on the performance and suggestion
on future directions of the Company to the chairman at the annual

general meeting.

2. The Company may arrange press and analysts’ conferences in relation
to the results announcements, at which the chairman of the Board and/
or the Directors are available to answer enquiries regarding the Group’s

operational and financial performances.

3. The Company’s website at www.shunten.com.hk contains important
corporate information, annual and interim reports, as well as
announcements and circulars issued by the Company to enable the
Shareholders and the investor community to have timely access to

updated information about the Group.

4. The Board has established a Shareholders’ communication policy and

reviews it on a regular basis to ensure its effectiveness.

5. The Company has uploaded its memorandum and articles of association
of the Company on the Company’s website at www.shunten.com.hk

and the Stock Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

The Company engages Elite Partners CPA Limited (“Elite Partners”) as its
external auditor. In order to maintain Elite Partners’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with
applicable standards, the Audit Committee reviewed all audit services to be
provided by Elite Partners and discussed with Elite Partners the nature and

scope of their audit and reporting obligations every year.

The Audit Committee also reviewed and approved the engagement of Elite
Partners to provide any non-audit services for compliance with relevant legal
requirements. During the year ended 31 March 2020, audit services fees
payable to Elite Partners amounted to HK$1,000,000 (2019: HK$945,000) and
non-audit services fee and HK$430,000, respectively (2019: HK$422,000).
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elite
< partners

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
(HOLDINGS) LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OF SHUNTEN INTERNATIONAL

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Shunten International
(Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out
on pages 76 to 299, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2020, consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of

significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2020, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance

with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of
the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”),

responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit

and we have fulfilled our other ethical

evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for

our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

B3 57 % SR e A

I3 o 7wl 3 JH

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were  BiSE #5515 EUR MR PETAM W BL2E 1087 > 5B A BA
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of  Hi%i A MR EMN TR ASHEENFIH - BLHH
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of T TE FAMEE 5T HEHE 45 & WA B b 2L 8 FLIRE
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion  HEFTHEEINY o FRAMAS @ #73 L6 5 I $2 41 B0 1) 3%

thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 5o

Key audit matters

CE e

How the matter was addressed in our audit

T A i 2 o Ao B B o I

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets

T T S TR S Y DA

We identified the impairment of goodwill and intangible assets
arising from historical acquisitions as a key audit matter due to
the complexity and significant judgements involved in the
assessment.

R A P AR 099 B B T R > A 50 A0 1 oA O
F14 Y AT ) (L R T R R A e o o

Determining whether goodwill and intangible assets are
impaired required management’s estimation of the value-in-use
of the cash generating units (“CGUs”) to which goodwill and
intangible assets have been allocated and the Group engages an
independent professionally qualified valuer to perform such
valuation. In estimating the value-in-use of CGUs, key
assumptions used by management included the estimate of
forecast revenue, budgeted gross margins and discount rates
adopted in future cash flow forecasts.

TR 7 TR B TG W R A A (T S LT A A R R B
W TE Y B AR AL (T B 4 A WLAL ) Y T B AE
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Our procedures in relation to the impairment of goodwill and

intangible assets included:

FAM A 7o e ST R R T LA

¢ Understanding how the management perform impairment
assessment including the preparation of cash flow forecast and
assumptions estimation;

o TR IR AT WA REAL 2 7 A LA A B U TE R B
B A T

¢ Evaluating the independent professionally qualified valuer’s
competence, capabilities and objectivity;

o WPHER S HES G EZRET - B B

e Evaluating the appropriateness of the key assumptions in the cash
flow forecast, including growth rate, gross profit margin and
inflation, by discussing with the management with reference to
their expectations for market development and comparing with
the most recent financial performance available;

o FPEB GRS EE R B E T R RE - B
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Key audit matters

e

How the matter was addressed in our audit

F A g Ao B o I

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets (Continued)

T X ST S P (A

The carrying amount of goodwill and intangible assets were
HK$26,570,000 (with accumulated impairment of
HK$35,375,000) and HK$13,293,000 (with accumulated
impairment of HK$21,064,000) as at 31 March 2020
respectively. Details of intangible assets and goodwill are
disclosed in Notes 19 and 20 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

TR ZFFE S = H o PR R Y IR TE (E 2
%$26,570,000%5 7C (2 18 {E35,375,000%5 7C) 1 13,293,000 #
JC (R FHBI{E21,064,000% TT) o A7 B M6 T2 25 2 % v B R 1
3 7 8 0 B A TS AR R A B T 19 5220 ©

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

R W B Ak 2 L A

We identified impairment assessment of trade receivables as a
key audit matter due to the significance of trade receivables to
the Group’s consolidated financial position and the involvement
of significant judgments and management estimates in
evaluating the expected credit losses (“ECL”) of the Group’s
trade receivables at the end of the reporting period.

T A I SRR K 2 T (LT A il ) 2 ) Gt o w0 R TR R R
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As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s net trade receivables
amounting to HK$46,670,000, which represented approximately
10.63% of total assets of the Group.

RERDFAEZH S —H s B IR ST R 5
46,670,000 7T > fli LR AL E £ 4910.63% -
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* Evaluating the historical accuracy of the forecasted future cash
flows by comparing them to the actual results in the current year
and understanding the cases for significant variances; and

o TAETE IR AR B 4 U AR R YERETE - 70k S i BUAR AR T
HIEFRERUET R W TR ERER MR &

e Assessing the appropriateness of the discount rate used on
discount cash flow and assessing the impact on the value in use.
o WA BB 4 v T 2 T B A 2 TN T R

I
R o

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment of trade

receivables included:

FAM AL B A HR R 2 Wl (L A 2 R R LA

¢ Understanding key controls on how the management estimates

the loss allowance for trade receivables;

o T PR L A SR O R A 2 R R A

e Testing the integrity of information used by management to
develop the provision matrix, including trade receivables ageing
analysis as at 31 March 2020, on a sample basis, by comparing
individual items in the analysis with the relevant sales
agreements, sales invoices and other supporting documents;

o VR B SR R T T AR o A R e TR SRR AR
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Key audit matters

e
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

FAM i o Ao B o I

Impairment assessment of trade receivables (Continued)

B e MR ik 2 ik AL A (A8)

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements,
the management of the Group estimates the amount of lifetime
ECL of trade receivables based on provision matrix through
grouping of various debtors that have similar loss patterns, after
considering internal credit ratings of trade debtors, ageing,
repayment history and/or past due status of respective trade
receivables. Estimated loss rates are based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors and
are adjusted for forward-looking information. In addition, trade
receivables that are credit-impaired are assessed for ECL
individually. The loss allowance amount of the credit-impaired
trade receivables is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows with the consideration of expected future
credit losses.

AN A BB R MR 4 DR o SRR A R A R I
Rk A AR T AR IR U RCER K B0 E IR R
IR AR - AR R R BT AR A A
B AN - I SO R 2 22 0 T A A5 s 1R A o At
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As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group’s lifetime ECL (non-credit impaired) on trade
receivables as at 31 March 2020 which assessed based on
provision matrix amounted to HK$1,357,000.
WG A MR R M AR 0 BEMN _F _FEZA
b H R TR A 1 A A R R A 2 A 0 TE W B 4R
(045 BME) 7% 1,357,000%5 € °

¢ Challenging management’s basis and judgement in determining

credit loss allowance on trade receivables as at 31 March 2020,
including their identification of credit-impaired trade receivables,
the reasonableness of management’s grouping of the remaining
trade debtors into different categories in the provision matrix,
and the basis of estimated loss rates applied in each category in
the provision matrix (with reference to historical default rates
and forward-looking information);
BEEMIE M E —F RS = HIBUR R (E B
TR < 2R TRl - B A5 LR B B (B 2 R WA R K
O]~ A L T AR A B A E B R SR AR [ KR
AT IR o LA R A5 4 A I A BT I A e 1 R 2 e
(25 WAL AR AT IS 2R

Evaluating the disclosures regarding the impairment assessment
of trade receivables in notes 4, 5 and 23 to the consolidated
financial statements; and

PR AR A B HRR M 514 ~ 5 523 T A BB i IR K 2 B T A
2R K

Testing subsequent settlements of trade receivables, on a sample
basis, by inspecting supporting documents in relation to cash
receipt from trade debtors subsequent to the end of the current
reporting period.
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information included in the annual report, other than the

consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise

appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We

have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to

cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their

responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

72 Annual Report 2019/2020 4£ #

B B U 85 A B L B R e o DA
b a5 B

R A S AR o AL B TR 4
WA 2EE S (B EIESRG BB R R B A
4 A R A% o

RAE RS BRI E R AW E ARG L
B TR AN B 5% 4 AL A5 B R AL A ) B

& o

FMEER A B RE AR RO TER
FAbfE B > FEROB D B AL B
B R BT A A TR R R T TR
17 DUAT TE B HE A 50 0T A7 A B K S R A
BT DL -

= o

M

s

Ll
i

SR RM T EATIO AR R IAM R AL E R
FEAE R R SR B oM s % H - 7Eke
D> AR A AEATH o

30l % 6 B e R i i AL

S RO PR R AR Y G
o ) R 7 v 2 ) A 9 48 R R R SR
UM~ UG S R > MR b AR
S5 S 3 1 A SRS A7 7 el 7 G B R T 2 2
F1% T R G R R AL T 114 R0 SR o R R

TE B AR MBS R I > R AT B
FEACERIRE S > AT DU T PR B R AR AL
BABN I > LR R A B gt
BRIFEFEATN BEMERSE LA > S0
A TR BT 5

WAL B D I R R AT B
WA EAE

A T Y B



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept

liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on

the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We

also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the

override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by

the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to

cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether
the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group

audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify

during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied

with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,

related safeguards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be

expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s

report is Leung Man Kin, with Practising Certificate number P07174.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certitied Public Accountants
Hong Kong

29 June 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Ao 7 TR A B Lt 4 vl W i

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — & " FAFE = = — H ILF &

2020 2019
TR R JUEE
Note HK$°000 HK$’000
B 5 T THETT
(Restated)
(K& HE 1))

CONTINUING OPERATIONS: R AU R
REVENUE W2k 6 318,130 332,205
Cost of revenue Wi 5 R A (82,419) (84,727)
GROSS PROFIT EH - 235,711 247,478
Other revenue and other net income H At 2 e At g A R A 7 19,106 8,113
Selling and distribution expenses S K8 B L (63,842) (67,553)
Administrative expenses AT 3¢ (189,726) (209,811)
Share of profit of an associate A W 7 2 ) s A 21 1,954 3,400
Equity-settled share-based payments DA JCHEE &5 0 LAy S A+ 2 B 32 (7,100) (37,007)
Fair value change of an investment property WG N5 H) 17 (4,630) 752
Fair value change of contingent consideration B Z& ME Wit A8 2 /A 11 5 )

receivable 25 1,735 —
Fair value change of contingent consideration B #& FE A5 - A 23 1 (i 5 )

payables 32 55,336 23,049
Fair value change of promissory notes payable M A 7K bi, B 48 20 °F- (52 ) 34(a) 9,966 7,007
Fair value change of convertible bonds ] 4 A S T (5 33(a) 7,742 47,768
Impairment loss on interest in an associate — [ 5 7 > ) BE 4 2 el s 1R 21 (28,071) —
Impairment loss on intangible assets Y G A 2 Wl (E e 1R 19 (21,064) —
Impairment loss on goodwill [GE FREAEN i 20 (35,375) —
(LOSS)/PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS g k), H Al (18,258) 23,196
Finance costs il AR 8(c) (37,223) (20,968)
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION R BEAT Ol 48) A 8 (55,481) 2,228
Taxation B IE 11 (1,509) (10,223)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FROM FRRURB S Z AE i 1R

CONTINUING OPERATIONS (56,990) (7,995)
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS: LA IR AR 3
Loss for the year from discontinued operations £ #% 1k 8 %% 27 2 4F A k5 12 12 (94,677) (2,716)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR AN 4R (151,667) (10,711)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ Hon 2w e 2z, O 48

(LOSS)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently 7@“%1&?% W EHGZ

to profit or loss: JHH
Exchange differences on translation of Tﬁ%%ﬁ&l‘@%?{% A5 % 3 I 110 TEE 3,

financial statements of foreign operations EH 792 (329)
Release of translation reserve upon T B 2 AR S IR A R 4 G

deregistration of subsidiaries Tt fhi — (151)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ CRNENES & Al T

(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 792 (480)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS AR P 4 THI A 1R A A

FOR THE YEAR (150,875) (11,191)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Ao 7 TR A B LAt 42 vl WY i

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — % “FAE = = — H IL4F &
2020 2019
SROBE SBE
Note HK$°000 HK$’000
B 5 T THETT
(Restated)
(K& 5)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company: A/ & #E A A\ JEA) 5 18
— from continuing operations — R R AR T (50,505) (2,396)
— from discontinued operations — K H B£8R TS (89,185) (1,948)
Loss for the year attributable to owners of AN B A N AL A A 1R
the Company (139,690) (4,344)
Loss attributable to non-controlling interests: JE 5 5 #f 25 HEAh 5 48 :
— from continuing operations — R H RS (6,486) (5,599)
— from discontinued operations — KA B K I EE T (5,491) (768)
Loss for the year attributable to non-controlling  JF ¥4 I 1 % JRE Ak 4F- (A Js $5
interests (11,977) (6,367)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to: DL N - TR Ay 2 i s 18 4R -
Owners of the Company EN/NIEIE SN (139,288) (4,804)
Non-controlling interests I ¥ A 4 (11,587) (6,387)
(150,875) (11,191)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to Aoy w] HEA N REAY 42 H i 1R
owners of the Company: ik B
— from continuing operations — KA R RS T (50,103) (2,856)
— from discontinued operations — R BB (89,185) (1,948)
(139,288) (4,804)
Loss per share attributable to owners of the XA & #EH A\ MEAG fﬁm@ﬂﬁfgiﬁ
Company for the year (expressed in HK (LR FR) ¢
cents per share):
From continuing and discontinued REFEROKILREEE
operations
— basic — RA 14(a) (5.91) (0.20)
— diluted — 14(b) (5.91) (0.20)
From continuing operations KA FEER S
— basic — JAR 14(a) (2.14) (0.11)
— diluted — 14(b) (2.14) 0.11)

The notes on pages 84 to 299 form an integral part of these financial

statements.

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited JE i B4 B (¥ %) A BR 2 5]
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

f o U BIR D e

As at 31 March 2020 A ~F “FF=H =+—H

2020 2019
TR R “E N
Note HK$°000 HK$’000
fh 3 Tt THE T
Non-current assets I B & A
Property, plant and equipment o ~ Wm Bt 16 83,459 91,764
Investment property Yk 17 3,500 8,130
Right-of-use assets o7 R 18 3,668 —
Interest in an associate A — TRV 2 8 ) I 4R 21 47,283 73,400
Intangible assets I A 19 13,293 211,702
Goodwill i 20 26,570 199,879
Prepayments and deposits TAAT I 4 23 2,139 5,369
179,912 590,244
Current assets B A
Inventories ety 22 31,390 29,065
Trade and other receivables JRE W B 3 B HE At R Wi 3k T 23 68,271 107,519
Promissory notes receivable JRE i 7 L SR A 24 35,687 —
Contingent consideration receivable SR E NS 25 1,735 —
Cash and cash equivalents Bla e Bla % EY 26(a) 57,157 65,497
Tax recoverable GIRCQER:ERI:| 3,759 105
197,999 202,186
Assets associated with disposal group classified 78 FHEHENHEHEGMH
as held for sale A B & 12(b) 60,946 —
Total current assets B A 258,945 202,186
Current liabilities A
Trade and other payables JARE AR R A e L Al BB AT 3 T 27 42,589 77,604
Bank and other borrowings BRAT B HAh £ 3k 30 96,088 39,056
Lease liabilities LS &6 31 3,513 —
Contract liabilities GEHAE 28 617 1,675
Convertible bonds a2 1 33 — 262,001
Contingent consideration payables SR AT A 32 — 37,878
Promissory notes payable JREAST 7R 58, SR % 34 — 9,966
Refund liabilities [ER SR 35 1,258 1,394
Tax payable JRE A4St o ZEL 2,418 6,058
146,483 435,632
Liabilities associated with disposal group ST ELEN L EAAN
classified as held for sale #H BE A 1 12(b) 61,883 —
Total current liabilities S R=R skl 208,366 435,632

78 Annual Report 2019/2020 4£ #



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
i W5 IR D R

As at 31 March 2020 A —F —FF = =+—H

2020 2019
TR R “E N
Note HK$°000 HK$’000
iisa T THE T
Net current assets/(liabilities) FREE (AR 50,579 (233,446)
Total assets less current liabilities BT A YR B A 230,491 356,798
Non-current liabilities IV By £ i
Convertible bonds Al B s R 33 94,999 —
Contingent consideration payables SR A AR 32 — 47,692
Promissory notes payable ﬁ{iﬁ%ﬁmfﬂ% 34 — 37,543
Other borrowings HoAth 18 3% 30 = 26,500
Lease liabilities & A & 31 217 —
Amounts due to non-controlling interests WEH FEH3E I HE 7 3K I 29 60 1,227
Deferred tax liabilities A S B TE 4 36 2,402 36,316
97,678 149,278
Net assets & e 132,813 207,520
EQUITY HE 25
Equity attributable to owners of the Company A/l #E A A REAL A 45
Share capital Jie A 37(b) 6,388 5,308
Reserves Tt i 136,325 156,660
142,713 161,968
Non-controlling interests I P B W 25 (9,900) 45,552
TOTAL EQUITY R 25 48 132,813 207,520

The consolidated financial statements on pages 76 to 299 were approved and

authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 June 2020 and are

signed on its behalf by:

Wang Xihua
SR

Director

EH

The notes on pages 84 to 299 form an integral part of these financial

statements.

HT6ZE 299 H WM& A MBS MR =& R FNH
T U H RS S TR > 3 T

R REE

Lai Wei Lam, William

T AR

Director

e

5584 25 200 B Y B 5 AR BABS e R ) — 4 o

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited JE i B4 B (¥ %) A BR 2 5] 79



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
A 7 B i 58 ) %

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — & " FAFE = = — H ILF &

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARATHEH AL
Convertible
Share bonds Non-
Share Share Merger  Statutory  Translation option equity Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests Equity
JIBCHE BB R Fm
Bk R AGRS mERE ROTRG Bl MEaBH EER il [E .
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000
T T T T T T T T T T T
(note 37 (note 37 (note 37 (note 37 (note 37 (note 37
(©)) (o)(iii)) (©)iv)) (©)(v)) (©)(vi) (0)(vii))
(W&E37 (W37 (MaE3T  (MGEsT  (MRksT (Bt
(e)(i)) (c)ii)) (e)(iv)) () (e)(vi)) (c)(vil))
At31 March 2018 REE-NEZH=4—H 5308 161,116 (10) 462 n) 29,290 - (81.103) 114791 51,94 166,735
Impact on initial application of R A BB R
HKFRS 9 FORMLE - - - - - - - (842) (842) - (842)
Impact on initial application of T YCHE P S i A
HKFRS 15 FISHm P - - - - - - - 24 24 - 24
Adjusted balance at 1 April 2018 REF—AENA—R
AL 5308 161,116 (10) 462 n) 29,290 - @BL72D) 14173 51,944 166,117
Changes in equity for 2019: RN
Loss for the year A - - - - - - - (4,344) (4,344) 6367 (10711)
Other comprehensive loss: K2 EER
Exchange differences on translation ORI E gk el
of financial statements of foreign [E 55
operations — — — — (309) — — — (309) (20) (329)
Release of translation reserve upon U6 R A
deregistration of subsidiaries e — — — — (151) — — — (151) — (151)
Total comprehensive loss for the year 4 4 i 6 R 404 - - - - (460) - - (4,344) (4,804) 6387 (11,191)
Equity-settled share-based payments DA HERS LA 03 S 2 T X - - - - - 37,007 - - 37,007 - 37,007
Share options lapsed BRI - - — — — (21,920 — 21,920 — — —
Recognition of equity component of TR A E R A
convertible bonds, net of related TR B 5 A
transaction costs — — — — — — 15,592 — 15,592 — 15,592
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 41(c)) & — M & A7 (41 () — — — — — - - - - ) )
At31 March 2019 REF-AEZR=4-H 5308 161,116 (10) 462 (130) 4“3m 15,592 (64.145) 161,968 45552 207,520
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NE=A=1—H 5,308 161,116 (10) 462 (732) 4437 15,592 (64,145) 161,968 45,552 207,520
Tmpact on initial application of B YHE I S i
HKFRS 16 1635 B = = = = - - - (55) (55) (10) (65)
Adjusted balance at 1 April 2019 —ERA—H
WEELR 5,308 161,116 (10) 462 (732) 44377 15,592 (64,200) 161913 45,542 207455
Changes in equity for 2020: CROREEGRE
Loss for the year R - - - - - - —  (1396%0)  (139690)  (11977)  (151,667)
Other comprehensive loss: T2 HEE
Exchange differences on translation ST MR
of financial statements of foreign e 58 %1
operations = = = = 402 = = = 402 390 792
Total comprehensive loss for the year 4l 4 6 A4 = = = = 402 = —  (139690) (139288 (11,587)  (150875)
Equity-settled share-based payments  BACHESS ST DA MR 3 2 B 5 = = = = = 7,100 = = 7,100 — 7,100
Share options lapsed CRBMIRIE — — — — — (31,261) — 31,261 — — —
Shares issued upon exercise of share 7 B RCHE it 3 - AR 75
options under the share options BAT I (HEE37(0) i)
scheme (note 37(b)(ii)) 108 15420 = = = (3,917) = = 11,611 = 11,611
Recognition of equity component of FREYGE ST
convertible bonds, net of related TBRHIE 5 Bk
transaction costs = = = = = = 9,364 = 9,364 = 9,364
Shares issued upon conversion of TR G 38 AT
convertible bonds (note 37(b)iii)) (B RE37(b) i) 94 106,766 = = = = (15,592) = 92,088 = 92,088
Redemption of convertible bonds I 4 B8 (BEE33(c)
(note 33(c)) = = = = = = (4422) (5431) (9,853) = (9,853)
Shares issued upon completion of TR SR TERB TR
placing (note 37(b)(i)) (3700 58 9,942 — — — — — — 10,000 — 10,000
Transaction costs attributable to issue FL B I BT A L AR 2
of new ordinary shares from placing 2S5 B (W EE37(b)()
(note 37(b)(i)) = (222) = = = = = = (222) = (222)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 12()) ity — MM 2 & (M3 12() - - - - - - - - — (43855) (43859
At 31 March 2020 REE-FE=ZA=1—H 6,388 293,022 (10) 462 (330 16,299 4942 (178,060) 142,713 (9,900) 132,813

80 Annual Report 2019/2020 4£ #




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
A Bl R R

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — % “FAE = = — H IL4F &

2020 2019
TR R “E N
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 51 T#o T#IT
(Restated)
(R 1))
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RO R
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRBLAT Ok548) % F
From continuing operations EREES bt (55,481) 2,228
From discontinued operations L QENRN R ¥ (94,490) (2,721)
Adjustments for: AT £ TE T VE AR R
Finance costs il A 37,276 20,968
Write-down of inventories A7 & 22(b) 3,157 1,950
Reversal of write-down of inventories O AT B ) 22(b) (1,647) (1,854)
Share of profit of an associate RE A B2 2 ) s ) 21 (1,954) (3,400)
Depreciation on property, plant and W~ B KA
equipment 16 8,361 8,785
Depreciation of right-of-use assets o1 YR W AT B 18 6,276 —
Amortisation of intangible assets 40 TV S 6 19 5,032 7,203
Impairment loss on intangible assets TV (R 4R 19 21,064 —
Impairment loss on goodwill 7R B 1 M 18 45,567 —
Impairment loss on interest in an associate i — [T o 2 ) 4 HE 4 (1
s 45 21 28,071 —
Impairment loss on property, plant and W~ W K eE 1R
equipment 16 677 —
Impairment loss on deposits AE O 5 18 23 1,000 —
Impairment loss on trade receivables TR oS O R 1 A 1R 33,070 1,875
Reversal of trade receivables B AT B 2 8 [ (646) —
Bank interest income SRATF Bl A 7 8) (20)
Net loss/(gain) on disposal of subsidiaries BB A R s R
(Wit ) 73 A8 66,344 (4,090)
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and Y R BGRAR 1
equipment e 18 1 A 2,019 1,256
Gain arising from termination of leases % FFH R A U AR 35) —
Fair value change of an investment property gL/ B NS EIEE -3 17 4,630 (752)
Fair value change of contingent consideration SR A AT (H 52 )
receivable 25 (1,735) —
Fair value change of convertible bonds CIELY 4= /N k] 33(a) (7,742) (47,768)
Fair value change of contingent consideration FUR AT AT H )
payables 32 (55,336) (23,049)
Fair value change of promissory notes JREAS 7R B, B4R 0 1 52 1)
payable 34(a) (9,966) (7,007)
Equity-settled share-based payments DA HE 45 3 DA B A S A 2
B 3¢ 8(a) 7,100 37,007
Waiver of other payables A o L A B A I 7 (15) —
Gain on early settlement of promissory notes $ L G5 AR AR 7R S8 SR 1Y
payable Wi 4 7 (13,419) —
Gain on early settlement of convertible P RLES A AT A 5 19 i A
bonds 7 (3,748) —
23,422 (9,389)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
AR BB T R

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — & " FAFE = = — H ILF &

2020 2019
TR ORA “E N
Note HK$°000 HK$’000
By 5E T TH#IT
(Restated)
(K 51])
Changes in working capital R G A s

Increase in inventories 1E &N (4,377) (3,477)

Increase in trade and other receivables JREE WA R LAt B WA T 348 (43,300) (30,650)

Increase in trade and other payables JRE AT R K 5 Al I A 3 T 1 37,629 23,366

(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities HH AR (B (555) 1,067

(Decrease)/increase in refund liabilities WA ), (136) 387

Decrease in amounts due to non-controlling JREAE I 2 e HE £ X TE Bk D

interests (1,140) (19)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations KA, (AR B8 EHENEL 4 11,543 (18,715)
Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded TR A W R 8B 105 296
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid O 3A R A8 (14,153) (4,248)
The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) B iE A 3E A RILAIE ([ E )

Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) refunded 2R ([ ARAL]) = 35
PRC EIT paid O 4 B A ZE T A = (289)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING JRIA 58 78 2 75 1 B 4 v

ACTIVITIES (2,505) (22,921)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BREWH

Purchase of property, plant and equipment W Y2~ WUE Bt 16 (3,211) (6,030)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and B YIE ~ BRI I A 0 A5

equipment #IE = 96

Direct costs attributable to the purchase of W B el R O B A L RS

right-of-use assets 9) —

Partial consideration paid for investment in B AT IERE Z T AT

an associate A8 (9,000) (55,000)

Bank interest received B SR 17 F B 8 20

Consideration received for disposal of B ) A W) Y 2 AR -

subsidiaries, net of cash disposed e EH 4 4,152 31,007

Transaction costs paid for disposal of B B 2 WD LA AR B AR

subsidiaries (173) 921)

Net cash outflow from business EHA I Bl A

combinations, net of cash acquired fOBR TS B 4 39 — (38,069)

Net cash outflow from acquisition of assets 975 3 ACIE — [ B0 g > ) i I

through acquisition of a subsidiary B 2 B R AR 40 — (7,465)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING FH T B 35 1) 1) B 4 v

ACTIVITIES (8,233) (76,362)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
5 Bl W W

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — % “FAE = = — H IL4F &

2020 2019
CRTRE ZE L
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
fa T Tl
(Restated)
(R )
FINANCING ACTIVITIES il 5 55 )
Repayment of bank borrowings 872 ERAT I K (3,410) (3,102)
Proceeds from new bank borrowings I ERAT A 3T 15 = 14,000
Proceeds from other new borrowings H At £ 2k B A5 73,000 21,000
Repayment of lease liabilities R E A E (6,219) —
Interest paid BT FE (25,526) (18,817)
Repayment of other borrowings 3R A 5 3 (40,000) —
Repayment of promissory notes payable I 3 TR A 7 B0, ZE AR (10,000) (20,000)
Payment for early redemption of convertible % L T 44 A 5 A ) K
bonds (21,000) —
Proceeds from issuance of convertible bonds, BEAT W] 4R R AR R B A5
net of transaction costs FIBR 28 S A 178,055 103,184
Repurchase of convertible bonds 5 [ WY £ — (90,000)
Redemption of convertible bonds I [ T R I A (165,000) —
Proceeds from shares issued by placing, net 75 388 B AT IR0 1Y B
of transaction costs AIE > FUBR3E 5 AR 9,778 —
Proceeds from shares issued under share R A% 3 R 5 ) A T 1 0 T A5
options scheme KIH 11,611 —
NET CASH GENERATED FROM 2 Rl B B4 v A
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 1,289 6,265
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH Bl B B4 55 A Wi o A
EQUIVALENTS (9,449) (93,018)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes IV 2% 58 ) (1) 5% 22 839 (437)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT ER B A KRB EEY
BEGINNING OF YEAR 65,458 158,913
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AR A B A R B S
AT END OF YEAR 56,848 65,458
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents: Bl 4 B4 S EH W 4 #r
Cash and cash equivalents Bl R &S EY 26(b) 56,176 65,458
Cash and cash equivalents included in FEAGR S Z R AR A A
disposal group classified as held for sale A B E KB EEEY 12(b) 672 —
56,848 65,458

The notes on pages 84 to 299 form an integral part of these financial

statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rk 7 S 2% R B

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — & " FAFE = = — H ILF &

1.

84

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated and domiciled in the Cayman Islands under the Companies
Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability on 5
December 2011. The address of its registered office is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands. The Company has established a principal place of business in
Hong Kong at Unit A, 12/F, Guangdong Investment Tower, 148
Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong and has been registered as a non-
Hong Kong company under the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance on 5
April 2012. The Company’s issued shares have been listed on the GEM
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
since 11 October 2013. On 20 November 2015, the listing of the shares
of the Company has been transferred from the GEM to the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (the “Transfer of Listing”).

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in the
sale, marketing and distribution of health and beauty supplements and
products in Hong Kong and the PRC, provision of online advertising
agency business, online payment business, e-commerce promotion

business and game distribution business.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

f T S 955 A B ek

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — % “FAE = = — H IL4F &

2. EEFFBUR

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(@)

(b)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also comply
with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”). Significant accounting policies

adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs which
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 3 provides information on
any changes in accounting policies resulting from the initial
application of these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting periods

reflected in these financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2020 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries and the

Group’s interest in an associate.

Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the
Group are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”), rounded to the nearest thousand except for
per share data. HK$ is the Company’s functional and the Group’s

presentation currency.

(a)

(b)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(Continued)

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except for investment

property,
consideration payables, promissory notes payable designated at

contingent consideration receivable, contingent
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) and convertible
bonds designated at FVTPL which are stated at their fair value as

explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Disposal group held for sale are stated at the lower of carrying

amount and fair value less costs to sell (note 2(cc)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.

Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future

periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs
that have a significant effect on the financial statements and key

sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 5.
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2. EEEFHBOR ()

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(o)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power, only substantive rights

(held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances, transactions and cash flows and any unrealised profits
arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full in
preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same
way as unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is no

evidence of impairment.

(o)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(o)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Continued)
Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not
attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in respect
of which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the
holders of those interests which would result in the Group as a
whole having a contractual obligation in respect of those interests
that meets the definition of a financial liability. For each
business combination, the Group can elect to measure any non-
controlling interests either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interest’s proportional share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable

assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately from
equity attributable to the owners of the Company. Non-
controlling interests in the results of the Group are presented on
the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit or loss
and total comprehensive income for the year between non-
controlling interests and the owners of the Company. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners
of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
Loans from holders of non-controlling interests and other
contractual obligations towards these holders are presented as
financial liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial

position.
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2. EEFFBUR (4)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(o)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Continued)
Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not
result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the amounts of
controlling and non- controlling interests within consolidated
equity to reflect the change in the relative interests, but no
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is

recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted for
as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial
asset or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an

investment in an associate or joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment
in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see note
2(1)(ii)), unless the investment is classified as held for sale (or

included in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale).

(o)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(d)

Associate

An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company has
significant influence, but not control or joint control, over its
management, including participation in the financial and
operating policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the equity method, unless
it is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group
that is classified as held for sale). Under the equity method, the
investment is initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of
the Group’s share of the acquisition-date fair values of the
investee’s identifiable net assets over the cost of the investment
(if any). The cost of the investment includes purchase price,
other costs directly attributable to the acquisition of the
investment, and any direct investment into the associate that
forms part of the Group’s equity investment. Thereafter, the
investment is adjusted for the post acquisition change in the
Group’s share of the investee’s net assets and any impairment
loss relating to the investment (see note 2(l)(ii)). Any
acquisition-date excess over cost, the Group’s share of the post-
acquisition, post-tax results of the investees and any impairment
losses for the year are recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, whereas the Group’s share of the post-
acquisition post-tax items of the investees’ other comprehensive
income is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or

loss and other comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the
associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and recognition
of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the investee. For this purpose, the
Group’s interest is the carrying amount of the investment under
the equity method together with the Group’s long-term interests
that in substance form part of the Group’s net investment in the

associate.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(d)

(e)

Associate (Continued)

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between
the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interest in the investee, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred, in

which case they are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, retained interest is not remeasured. Instead,
the investment continues to be accounted for under the equity
method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have significant
influence over an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of
the entire interest in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that
former investee at the date when significant influence is lost is
recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair

value on initial recognition of a financial asset.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally

recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

2. EEFFBUR (4)
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2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(e) Business combinations (Continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the

liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes

and HKAS 19 Employee Benetits respectively;

. liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace
share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are

measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based

Payment at the acquisition date;

. assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held

for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in

accordance with that standard; and

. lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments (as defined in
HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were new leases at
the acquisition date, except for leases for which (a) the
lease term ends within 12 months of the acquisition date;
or (b) the underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use
assets are recognised and measured at the same amount as
the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable

or unfavourable terms of the lease when compared with

market terms.
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2. EREHEHBUR (M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e)

Business combinations (Continued)
Goodwill

consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling

is measured as the excess of the sum of the

interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net
amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain

purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured either at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets or at fair value. The choice of measurement basis is made
on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-

controlling interests are measured at their fair value.

Where the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement
(including the contingent consideration payables and promissory
notes payable designated at FVTPL), the contingent consideration
is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part
of the consideration transferred in a business combination.
Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that
qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments
that arise from additional information obtained during the
“measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year from the
acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the

acquisition date.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e)

()

Business combinations (Continued)

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration that
do not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on
how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is
classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured to fair value at
subsequent reporting dates, with the corresponding gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to
fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group
obtains control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is
recognised in profit or loss or other comprehensive income, as
appropriate. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior
to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in
other comprehensive income and measured under HKFRS 9
would be accounted for on the same basis as would be required
if the Group had disposed directly of the previously held equity
interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete
by the end of the reporting period in which the combination
occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for
which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts
are adjusted retrospectively during the measurement period (see
above), and additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to
reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances
that existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would have
affected the amounts recognised at that date.

Acquisition of a subsidiary not constituting a
business

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that do
not constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises the
individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed by
allocating the purchase price first to investment property which is
subsequently measured under fair value model and the financial
assets and financial liabilities at the respective fair values, the
remaining balance of the purchase price is then allocated to the
other identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of their
relative fair values at the date of purchase. Such a transaction

does not give rise to goodwill or bargain purchase gain.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — % “FAE = = — H IL4F &

2. EREHEHBUR (M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(€3]

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated

impairment losses, if any.

Ownership interests in leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to the

relative fair values at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as
an operating lease is presented as “right-of-use assets” (upon
application of HKFRS 16) or “prepaid lease payments” (before
application of HKFRS 16) in the consolidated statement of
financial position. When the consideration cannot be allocated
reliably between non-lease building element and undivided
interest in the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are

classified as property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate

accounted for on a prospective basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
(g) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
The property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, at the

following rates per annum:

Leasehold land and buildings Over the shorter of the terms

or 50 years

Leasehold improvements 20%-33% per annum or over

the lease term, if shorter

Plant and machinery 30%—33% per annum

Furniture, fixtures and 20%—33% per annum
equipment

Motor vehicles 20%-30% per annum

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant
and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised

in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE

2. EEFFBUR (4)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(h)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation. Investment properties include land held
for undetermined future use, which is regarded as held for capital

appreciation purpose.

Effective from 1 April 2019, investment properties also include
leased properties which are being recognised as right-of-use
assets upon application of HKFRS 16 and subleased by the

Group under operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at fair value, adjusted to

exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the period

in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal.
Effective 1 April 2019, a leased property which is recognised as
a right-of-use asset upon application of HKFRS 16 is
derecognised if the Group as intermediate lessor classifies the
sublease as a finance lease. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the

property is derecognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
(i) Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life
and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at

cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

The following intangible assets with finite useful lives are
amortised from the date they are available for use and their
estimated useful lives are as follows:

—  Product development rights 7 years
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

f T S 955 A B ek

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — % “FAE = = — H IL4F &

2. EREHEHBUR (M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

@

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)
Internally-generated intangible assets — research and
development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in

the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development
activities (or from the development phase of an internal project)
is recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been

demonstrated:

— the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset

so that it will be available for use or sale;

— the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell
it;

— the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

— how the intangible asset will generate probable future

economic benefits;

— the availability of adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or sell

the intangible asset; and

— the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable

to the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated
intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the
date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria
listed above. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can
be recognised, development expenditure is recognised in profit or

loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible
assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible

assets that are acquired separately.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(@

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)
Intangible assets acquired in business combinations
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as

their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with finite useful lives are reported at cost
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired
separately. Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any

subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

. Customer relationship
Customer relationship acquired in a business combination
are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Customer relationship has a finite useful life and are
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation
is calculated using the straight-line method of 5 years over

the expected life of the customer relationship.

. Brand name
Brand name acquired in a business combination are
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Brand
name has a finite useful life and are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using
the straight-line method of 5 years over the expected life

of the brand name.

. Sales distribution channel
Sales distribution channel acquired in a business
combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Sales distribution channel has a finite useful life and
are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method
of 5 years over the expected life of the sales distribution

channel.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EREHEHBUR (M)
(CONTINUED)
(i) Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued) () MIBEE (BB (F8)
Intangible assets acquired in business combinations TR ETEFOF P T W 2 ETE B
(Continued) (#4)
. Licensing agreements . 77 5] FE Iy g

Licensing agreements acquired in the business
combinations represent (i) the licensing agreement with
finite useful life in respect of the rights to deal with gd.qq.
com as the exclusive and sole advertising agency in Hong
Kong for the operation of the online advertising agency
business and (ii) the licensing agreement with indefinite
life for authorising the Group to be one of the online
payment service providers in Hong Kong for the operation

of online payment business.

The licensing agreement with finite useful life acquired in
a business combination is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date and is subsequently carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using
the straight-line method over the expected life of the

licensing agreement.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group
reviewed the estimated useful lives of intangible assets and
changed the useful lives of the licensing agreement in
respect of the rights to deal with gd.qq.com as the
exclusive and sole advertising agency in Hong Kong for
the operation of the online advertising agency business
from 6 years to 15 years following the extension of the
contracted period stipulated in a supplemental agreement.
The effect of such changes in accounting estimates is set
out in note 19.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(@

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)
Intangible assets acquired in business combinations
(Continued)
. Licensing agreements (Continued)
The licensing agreement with indefinite life acquired in a
business combination is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date and is subsequently carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. Since the licensing
agreement is automatically renewed without any cost to be
incurred, the management considered that the Group has
control over the intangible assets with indefinite life and
has no foreseeable limit to the period over which the
Group can use to generate net cash flows. As a result, this
licensing agreement is considered by the management of
the Group as having an indefinite useful life because they
are expected to contribute to net cash inflows indefinitely.
The licensing agreement with indefinite life will not be
amortised until their useful lives are determined to be
finite. Instead they will be tested for impairment annually
and whenever there is an indication that they may be

impaired.

Club membership

Club membership with indefinite useful life is stated at cost less
any impairment losses. Impairment is reviewed annually or when
there is any indication that the club membership has suffered an

impairment loss.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than

its estimated recoverable amount.

Derecognition of intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in

profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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2. EEFFBUR (4)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

@

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business less

accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination, which represent the lowest level at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not

larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently whenever there is indication that the
unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a
reporting period, the cash- generating unit (or group of cash-
generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group

of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of the
cash-generating unit within the group of cash-generating units, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination
of the amount of profit or loss on disposal. When the Group
disposes of an operation within the cash-generating unit (or a
cash-generating unit within a group of cash-generating units), the
amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on the basis of the
relative values of the operation (or the cash-generating unit)
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit (or the

group of cash-generating units) retained.
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2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
(k) Leases

Definition of a lease (upon application of HKFRS 16 in

accordance with transitions in note 3(b))

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the

right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time

in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application, the Group
assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the
definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be

reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are

subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in

accordance with transitions in note 3(b))

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and

the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Non-lease components are separated from lease component on the

basis of their relative stand-alone prices.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of offices that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. It also applies the recognition exemption for lease of
low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases

of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line

basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(k)

Leases (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

— the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

— any lease payments made at or before the commencement

date, less any lease incentives received;

— any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

— an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions

of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any

remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the
lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end of
the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and

the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the
definition of investment property or inventory as a separate line

item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) and initially measured at fair
value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included in the cost

of right-of-use assets.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(k)

Leases (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present
value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest

rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

— fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less

any lease incentives receivable; and

— amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual

value guarantees.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)

whenever:

—  the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case
the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the

date of reassessment.

— the lease payments change due to changes in market rental
rates following a market rent review/expected payment
under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the
related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the

revised lease payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the

consolidated statement of financial position.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EREHEHBUR (M)
(CONTINUED)
(k) Leases (Continued) (k) HME (&)
Lease modifications HEBEH
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease I FE AR A5 A LA e o A S
if: HEB YR — R B BT &
FI L
—  the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding — EEuvamig i sk 2
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and TR EENERER KT
TS 5 &
— the consideration for the leases increases by an amount — T 5 48 o A < B 1
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase 10 R L A Y A U A
in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that Jy RO E A ] 2 I
stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the T 35 B0 5 A4 1 8 1 A Ao 28
particular contract. ") R R A A o
For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate BN RE R — B ST g5
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease B A ek - TETH B A
term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease A AL AR E SE R B
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the B - 8 AR Y A B R
modification. 16 BICAR 1) L S SO AT 9T B DA TR

AT AL

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities and A A2 (o) 408 34 3 A R 605 ) R O AT
lease incentives from lessor by making corresponding adjustments AHIE TR WA R A Rk AL
to the relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract UNGOEER=E -3 SO S i
contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or M o EAEMAEN AR HEM
non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in JRER S A — {1 B 2 IR At A B B IR
the modified contract to each lease component on the basis of the T A AR 20 IR A 4R [ g AR 9R A
relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the T AE BB 4 4 R 308 ST AE A 2 JE AR
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components. B A L A 1 AR SR 4B B R
B A T A AR 20 e 2 A S A
RS o
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(k)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (prior to 1 April 2019)

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership

to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the
Group at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if
lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The
corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the
consolidated statement of financial position as a finance lease

obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and
reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate
of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance
expenses are recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless they
are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they
are capitalised in accordance with the Group’s general policy on
borrowing costs. Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in

the periods in which they are incurred.

Operating lease payments, including the cost of acquiring land
held under operating leases, are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. Contingent rentals arising
under operating leases are recognised as an expense in the period

in which they are incurred.

Lease incentives relating to operating leases are considered as
integral part of lease payments, the aggregate benefit of
incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a
straight-line basis, except where another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits

from the leased asset are consumed.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE

2. EEFFBUR (4)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets

@

Credit losses from financial instruments

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
loss (“ECL”) on the financial assets measured at amortised
cost (including cash and cash equivalents, trade and other

receivables and promissory notes receivable).

Financial assets measured at fair value are not subject to
the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Credit losses are measured as the present value of all
expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the
cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to

receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the
following discount rates where the effect of discounting is

material:

— fixed-rate financial assets and trade and other
receivables: effective interest rate determined at

initial recognition or an approximation thereof; and

— variable-rate financial assets: current effective

interest rate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

U]

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

@

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)
Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is
the maximum contractual period over which the Group is
exposed to credit risk.
In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort. This includes information
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of

future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from possible default events within the 12

months after the reporting date; and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected to
result from all possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which the ECL model
applies.
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2. EREHEHBUR (M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

@

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)
Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these
financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and an
assessment of both the current and forecast general

economic conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a
loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk of the financial
instrument since initial recognition, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument assessed at the
reporting date with that assessed at the date of initial
recognition. In making this reassessment, the Group
considers that a default event occurs when (i) the borrower
is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in
full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as
realising security (if any is held); or (ii) the financial asset
is 90 days past due. The Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or

effort.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

@

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)
Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased

significantly since initial recognition:

—  failure to make payments of principal or interest on

their contractually due dates;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in a
financial instrument’s external or internal credit

rating (if available);

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the

operating results of the debtor; and

— existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have a
significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to

meet its obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the
assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective
basis. When the assessment is performed on a collective
basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics, such as past due status

and credit risk ratings.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

@

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)
Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is
recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss.
The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for all
financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to

their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with note
2(z)(b)(i) is calculated based on the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-
impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based
on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less
loss allowance) of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a
financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is
credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of

the financial asset have occurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)
Basis of calculation of interest income (Continued)
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes

the following observable events:

— significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments;

— it becoming probable that the borrower will enter into

bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an adverse

effect on the debtor; or

— the disappearance of an active market for a security

because of financial difficulties of the issuer.
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2. EEEFHBOR ()

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

@

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)
Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written
off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no
realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case
when the Group determines that the debtor does not have
assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient

cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in

profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.
Impairment of non-financial assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period to identify indications
that the following assets may be impaired or, except in the
case of goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised
no longer exists or may have decreased:

— property, plant and equipment;

—  right-of-use assets;

— intangible assets;

— goodwill;

— interest in an associate; and

— investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s

statement of financial position.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

U]

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, intangible
assets that are not yet available for use and intangible
assets that have indefinite useful lives, the recoverable
amount is estimated annually whether or not there is any

indication of impairment.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Where
an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the recoverable
amount is determined for the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e., a cash-

generating unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
whenever the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-
generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in
respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to
the cash-generating unit (or group of units) and then, to
reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit
(or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that the
carrying amount of an asset will not be reduced below its
individual fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable)

or value in use (if determinable).
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — % “FAE = = — H IL4F &

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)
Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment
loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the

year in which the reversals are recognised.

Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required to prepare
an interim financial report in compliance with HKAS 34,
Interim Financial Reporting, in respect of the first six
months of the financial year. At the end of the interim
period, the Group applies the same impairment testing,
recognition, and reversal criteria as it would at the end of

the financial year (see notes 2(1)(i) and (ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in
respect of goodwill carried at cost are not reversed in a
subsequent period. This is the case even if no loss, or a
smaller loss, would have been recognised had the
impairment been assessed only at the end of the financial

year to which the interim period relates.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(m)

(m)

Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in the ordinary
course of business, in the process of production for such sale or
in the form of materials or supplies to be consumed in the

production process or in the rendering of services.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable

value.

Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out method and
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location

and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the

estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which the
related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of
inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories
are recognised as an expense in the period the write-down or loss
occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down of
inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of
inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the

reversal occurs.

Trade and other receivables and promissory notes
receivable

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration is
unconditional if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue has been
recognised before the Group has an unconditional right to receive

consideration, the amount is presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective

interest method less allowance for credit losses (see note 2(1)(i)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

f B S 955 it A B ek

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — % “FAE = = — H IL4F &

2. EREHEBOR (M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(0)

(p)

(q

Right-of-return assets

A right-of-return asset represents the Group’s right to recover the
goods expected to be returned by customers. The asset is
measured at the former carrying amount of the goods to be
returned, less any expected costs to recover the goods, including
any potential decreases in the value of the returned goods. The
Group updates the measurement of the asset recorded for any
revisions to its expected level of returns, as well as any

additional decreases in the value of the returned goods.

Refund liabilities

A refund liability is the obligation to refund some or all of the
consideration received (or receivable) from the customer and is
measured at the amount the Group ultimately expects it will have
to return to the customer. The Group updates its estimates of
refund liabilities (and the corresponding change in the transaction

price) at the end of each reporting period.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue
(see note 2(z)). A contract liability would also be recognised if
the Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration
before the Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a
corresponding receivable would also be recognised (see note

2(n)).

For a single contract with the customer, a net contract liability is
presented. For multiple contracts, contract liabilities of unrelated

contracts are not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing component,
the contract balance includes interest accrued under the effective

interest method (see note 2(z)).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(r)

(s)

®

(u)

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair value
less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense is
recognised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for

borrowing costs (see note 2(bb)).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and
are subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at

cost.

Promissory notes payable measured at amortised

costs

Promissory notes payable measured at amortised costs are
initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently stated at
amortised cost, using effective interest method. The related

interest expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management are also included as a component of cash and
cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows. Cash and cash equivalent are assessed for expected

credit losses in accordance with the policy set out in note 2(1)(i).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. EREHEBOR (M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(v)
)

(i)

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds designated at FVTPL

Convertible bonds include a conversion option that will or
may not be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed
amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed
number of the Company’s ordinary shares and accordingly
the conversion option does not meet the definition of an
equity instrument. Further, the convertible bonds include
early redemption options exercisable by the Company or
the bondholders.

With these embedded derivatives that are not considered
related to the host debt component, management decided to
designate the convertible bonds as a whole as at financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss on initial
recognition. At the end of subsequent reporting periods,
the convertible bonds are measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised directly in profit or loss
in the period in which they arise. Transaction costs
relating to the issuance of the convertible bonds is charged

to profit or loss.

Convertible bonds containing liability and equity
components

The component parts of the convertible bonds issued by
the Group are classified separately as financial liabilities
and equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument. A conversion option that
will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash
or another financial asset for a fixed number of the
instruments

Company’s own equity is an equity

instrument.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Convertible bonds (Continued)

v)

(i)

Convertible bonds containing liability and equity
components (Continued)

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability
component is estimated by measuring the fair value of
similar liability that does not have an associated equity

component.

The conversion option classified as equity is determined
by deducting the amount of the liability component from
the fair value of the compound instrument as a whole. This
is recognised and included in equity (convertible bonds
equity reserve), net of income tax effects, and is not
subsequently remeasured. In addition, the conversion
option classified as equity will remain in equity until the
conversion option is exercised, in which case, the balance
recognised in equity will be transferred to share capital.
Where the conversion option remains unexercised at the
maturity date of the convertible bonds, the balance
recognised in equity will be transferred to retained
earnings. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss

upon conversion or expiration of the conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
bonds are allocated to the liability and equity components
in proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds.
Transaction costs relating to the equity component are
charged directly to equity. Transaction costs relating to the
liability component are included in the carrying amount of
the liability portion and amortised over the period of the

convertible bonds using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. EEEFHBOR ()

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
(w) Employee benefits

)

(ii)

Short-term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be

material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

Equity-settled share-based payments

Share options granted to eligible employees

The fair value of share options granted to employees is
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in share option reserve within equity. The fair
value is measured at grant date using the binomial lattice
model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon
which the options were granted. Where the employees
have to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the share options, the total
estimated fair value of the share options is spread over the
vesting period, taking into account the probability that the

options will vest.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Employee benefits (Continued)

(w)

(i)

(iii)

Equity-settled share-based payments (Continued)

Share options granted to eligible employees (Continued)

During the vesting period, the number of share options
expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to
the cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is
charged/credited to the profit or loss for the year of the
review, unless the original employee expenses qualify for
recognition as an asset, with a corresponding adjustment to
the share option reserve. On vesting date, the amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual
number of share options that vest (with a corresponding
adjustment to the share option reserve) except where
forfeiture is only due to not achieving vesting conditions
that relate to the market price of the Company’s shares.
When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
share premium. When the share options are forfeited after
the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognised in share option
reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when
the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of these
benefits and when it recognises restructuring costs
involving the payment of termination benefits.
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2. EREHEBOR (M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(x)

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive

income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for
the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in

respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and
taxable temporary differences respectively, being the differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax

assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that will arise
from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences,
provided that those differences relate to the same taxation
authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse
either in the same period as the expected reversal of the
deductible temporary differences or in periods into which a tax
loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or
forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses
and credits, that is, those differences are taken into account if
they relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable
entity, and are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in

which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(x)

Income tax (Continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences arising from goodwill
not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit
(provided they are not part of a business combination), and
temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to
the extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the Group
controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the
case of deductible differences, unless it is probable that they will

reverse in the future.

Where investment property is carried at their fair value in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 2(h), the
amount of deferred tax recognised is measured using the tax rates
that would apply on sale of those assets at their carrying value at
the reporting date unless the property is depreciable and is held
within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
property over time, rather than through sale. In all other cases,
the amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the
expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying
amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred

tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such
reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that

sufficient taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the related

dividends is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE

2. EEEFHBOR ()

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(x)

Income tax (Continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements
therein, are presented separately from each other and are not
offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities,
and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the
Company or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following

additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Company

or the Group intends either to settle on a net basis, or to

realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they

relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation

authority on either:

—  the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realise the current tax assets
and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis or

realise and settle simultaneously.

(x)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

@

(i)

Contingent liabilities assumed in business combinations

Contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination
which are present obligations at the date of acquisition are
initially recognised at fair value, provided the fair value
can be reliably measured. After their initial recognition at
fair value, such contingent liabilities are recognised at the
higher of the amount initially recognised, less accumulated
amortisation where appropriate, and the amount that would
be determined in accordance with note 2(y)(ii). Contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination that cannot
be reliably fair valued or were not present obligations at
the date of acquisition are disclosed in accordance with
note 2(y)(ii).

Other provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group or the Company
has a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of
a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of
money is material, provisions are stated at the present

value of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of an outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of

an outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. EREHEBOR (M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(z) Revenue recognition

(a)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods

or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable
consideration is estimated at contract inception and
constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty

with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than
one year, revenue is measured at the present value of the
amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate that
would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group a significant financial benefit for more
than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer
and the transfer of the promised goods or services is one
year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the
effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(2)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

)

Sales of health and beauty supplements and products

Revenue from the sales of health and beauty
supplements and products is recognised at the point
in time when control of the asset is transferred to
the customer, generally on delivery of the goods.
Revenue is recognised after value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade

discounts and net of sales return.

Some contracts for the sale of health and beauty
supplements and products provide customers with
rights of return and volume rebates. The rights of
return and volume rebates give rise to variable

consideration.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE

2. EEEFHBOR ()

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(z) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a) Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(i) Sales of health and beauty supplements and products
(Continued)

(a)

Rights of return

For contracts which provide a customer with
a right to return the goods within a specified
period, the expected value method is used to
estimate the goods that will not be returned
because this method best predicts the amount
of variable consideration to which the Group
will be entitled. The requirements in HKFRS
15 on constraining estimates of variable
consideration are applied in order to
determine the amount of variable
consideration that can be included in the
transaction price. For goods that are expected
to be returned, instead of revenue, a refund
liability is recognised. A right-of-return asset
(and the corresponding adjustment to cost of
sales) is also recognised for the right to

recover products from a customer.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(z) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a) Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

@)

(i1)

Sales of health and beauty supplements and products
(Continued)

(b)

Volume rebates

Retrospective volume rebates may be
provided to certain customers once the
quantity of products purchased during the
period exceeds a threshold specified in the
contract. Rebates are offset against amounts
payable by the customer. To estimate the
variable consideration for the expected future
rebates, the most likely amount method is
used for contracts with a single-volume
threshold and the expected value method for
contracts with more than one volume
threshold. The selected method that best
predicts the amount of variable consideration
is primarily driven by the number of volume
The

requirements on constraining estimates of

thresholds contained in the contract.

variable consideration are applied and a
refund liability for the expected future rebates

is recognised.

Provision of Chinese medical consultation services
Revenue from rendering of Chinese medical
consultation services is recognised when the services

are delivered to the customers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao 7 Y 20 R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE

2. EEEFHBOR ()

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
(z) Revenue recognition (Continued)
(a) Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(iii)

i)

(V)

Income from online advertising agency business

Income from online advertising agency business is
recognised when the advertisements are delivered

through the online platform.

Income from online payment business
Income from online payment business is recognised
on a trade date basis when the relevant transactions

are executed.

Income from e-commerce promotion business

E-commerce income primarily comprised of
commission income and revenue from merchandise
sales. Commission income are recognised for
transactions where the Group is not the primary
obligor, is not subject to inventory risk, and does
not have latitude in establishing prices and selecting
suppliers. Commission income are recognised on a
net basis which is based on a fixed percentage of
the sales amount. Revenue from merchandise sales
and related costs are recognised on a gross basis

when the Group acts as a principal.

Commission income and revenue from merchandise
sales are recognised when the customer has taken
possession and accepted the products. If the
products are a partial fulfilment of a contract
covering other goods and/or services, then the
amount of revenue recognised is an appropriate
proportion of the total transaction price under the
contract, allocated between all the goods and
services promised under the contract on a relative

stand- alone selling price basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(z) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a) Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(vi)

Income from game distribution business

Income from game distribution business is
recognised at the point in time when control of the
asset is transferred to the customer, generally on
delivery of the goods. Revenue is recognised after
value added tax or other sales taxes and is after
deduction of any trade discounts and net of sales

return.

(b)  Other revenue

)

(ii)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under the
effective interest method using the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset. For financial
assets measured at amortised cost that are not
credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is applied
to the gross carrying amount of the asset. For
credit-impaired financial assets, the effective interest
rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross
carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the asset
(see note 2(1)(i)).

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments
over the periods covered by the lease term, except
where an alternative basis is more representative of
the pattern of benefits to be derived from the use of
the leased asset. Lease incentives granted are
recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the

aggregate net lease payments receivable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao 7 Y 20 R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — % “FAE = = — H IL4F &

2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2, FEFIBUR ()
(CONTINUED)

(aa) Translation of foreign currencies

(aa) AN

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in

profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. The
transaction date is the date on which the Company initially
recognises such non- monetary assets or liabilities. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are
stated at fair value are translated using the foreign exchange

rates ruling at the dates the fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement of
financial position items are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the closing foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the
reporting period. The resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated

separately in equity in the translation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in an associate that
includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest
becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to

the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(aa)

(bb)

Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation that does not result in the Group
losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of
accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For
all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates that
do not result in the Group losing significant influence), the
proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is

reclassified to profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale
are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing

costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a
qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the asset is
being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities
that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale
are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or
ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or

complete.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(cc) Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued

operations

@

Non-current assets held for sale

A non-current asset (or disposal group) is classified as
held for sale if it is highly probable that its carrying
amount will be recovered through a sale transaction rather
than through continuing use and the asset (or disposal
group) is available for sale in its present condition. A
disposal group is a group of assets to be disposed of
together as a group in a single transaction, and liabilities
directly associated with those assets that will be
transferred in the transaction.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving
loss of control of a subsidiary, all the assets and liabilities
of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the
above criteria for classification as held for sale are met,
regardless of whether the Group will retain a non-
controlling interest in the subsidiary after the sale.

Immediately before classification as held for sale, the
measurement of the non-current assets (and all individual
assets and liabilities in a disposal group) is brought up-to-
date in accordance with the accounting policies before the
classification. Then, on initial classification as held for sale
and until disposal, the non-current assets (except for
certain assets as explained below), or disposal groups, are
recognised at the lower of their carrying amount and fair
value less costs to sell. The principal exceptions to this
measurement policy so far as the financial statements of
the Group and the Company are concerned are deferred tax
assets, assets arising from employee benefits, financial
assets (other than investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures) and investment properties. These assets,
even if held for sale, would continue to be measured in
accordance with the policies set out elsewhere in note 2.

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale,
and on subsequent remeasurement while held for sale, are
recognised in profit or loss. As long as a non-current asset
is classified as held for sale, or is included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale, the non-current
asset is not depreciated or amortised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(cc) Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued

operations (Continued)

(ii)

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s
business, the operations and cash flows of which can be
clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and which
represents a separate major line of business or
geographical area of operations, or is part of a single
coordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of
business or geographical area of operations, or is a

subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon
disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be
classified as held for sale, if earlier. It also occurs if the

operation is abandoned.

Where an operation is classified as discontinued, a single
amount is presented on the face of the statement of profit

or loss, which comprises:

—  the post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued

operation; and

— the post-tax gain or loss recognised on the
measurement to fair value less costs to sell, or on
the disposal, of the assets or disposal group(s)

constituting the discontinued operation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
(dd) Related parties

(a)

(®)

A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is

related to the Group if that person:

®

(ii)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the

Group or the Group’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies:

®

(ii)

(iii)

@iv)

(v)

The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and

fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member

of a group of which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third

party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the

other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an

entity related to the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
(dd) Related parties (Continued)

(ee)

(b) (Continued)
(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a

person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence

over the entity or is a member of the key

management personnel of the entity (or of a parent

of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is

a part, provides key management personnel services

to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by,

that person in their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s chief
operating decision maker (“CODM”) for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the

Group’s various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes, the
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these

criteria.

Annual Report 2019/2020 4 #

2.

EREFHBOR ()

(dd) BTy (48)

(ee)

by ()
(vi) EHE A (a) o A\

il 2 % 3 [ ) o

T (a) () BT AN 3
LEEDNS 2 Ed T
TR (SGZ TR
Fl) EEAE G E -

(vii)

BEM - o 95 2 A
o 22 7 S 2
— ) 1 A 4 A
S A AR
AR T -

(viii)

8N 4 20 8 2 TR0 T S % 4 B
Bl A B R B R
MR R BE A -

==

43 e

S 43 0 S A5 2 T 5 4% 4
A BORR > 1 U 1) A S
TR A R ([ AR PR
1) SR AEAY BB R b > LR
S T 5 JE S A 88 8 g AT
O G

TEJA B L > B R IR i C
BOuATRENE  BRIFEAED
HS B A SR B K B o HLAE i
MR~ R TP e - %P M
T~ g FE i BCAR RGBS F)  35 LA
T B A BR BTV LA U ol o o AR
R0 I R ] ) A8 7 3 6 A A L
P& BRI BRI ] R AR -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

f T S 955 A B ek

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

(@)

Overview

The HKICPA has issued a number of new HKFRSs and
amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective for the current
accounting period of the Group. Of these, the following

developments are relevant to the Group’s financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment

Amendments to HKAS 28

Annual Improvement 2015—
2017 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRS 9

HKFRS 16

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

The adoption of the above new standard,

or Settlement

Long-term Interests in
Associates and Joint
Ventures

Amendments to HKFRS 3,
HKFRS 11, HKAS 12 and
HKAS 23

Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation

Leases

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

amendments,

(b)

improvement and interpretation to existing HKFRSs do not have
a material impact on the Group, except for HKFRS 16 “Leases”

as set out below.

HKFRS 16 “Leases” — Impact of adoption

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time in the
current year. HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17 Leases (“HKAS
17”), and the related interpretations.
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3.

142

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

(b)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” — Impact of adoption
(Continued)

Definition of a lease
The Group has applied the definition of a lease in accordance
with the requirements set out in HKFRS 16 in assessing whether

a contract contains a lease to all contracts at transition.

As a lessee
The Group has applied HKFRS 16 retrospectively with the
cumulative effect recognised at the date of initial application, 1
April 2019.

As at 1 April 2019, the Group recognised additional lease
liabilities and measured right-of-use assets at the carrying
amounts as if HKFRS 16 had been applied since commencement
dates, but discounted using the incremental borrowing rates of the
relevant group entities at the date of initial application by
applying HKFRS 16.C8(b)(i) transition. Any difference at the
date of initial application is recognised in the opening
accumulated losses and comparative information has not been

restated.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 3. BERPGT BRG] B vk B 5 it

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING I (4)

STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

(b) HKFRS 16 “Leases” — Impact of adoption (b) 7 v B 5 i 5 ¥ I 2B 16 5% [ A
(Continued) B 1— R e ()
As a lessee (Continued) 1EZ AN (%)
When applying the modified retrospective approach under B A0 U A AR A T S R E T
HKFRS 16 at transition, the Group applied the following 55 1695 I IS OB 31 7 1 Ry > AR
practical expedients to leases previously classified as operating o AR R R R e R R SE 1798
leases under HKAS 17, on lease-by-lease basis, to the extent NHEAEBEHEZHE > WZEM
relevant to the respective lease contracts: B2 fEX B E S A

TN =

i) relied on the assessment of whether leases are onerous by i) 10V 38 1 R A v & w1 e R A 37
applying HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and SETHHE - R AERBRE
Contingent Assets as an alternative of impairment review; T AR O ) 0 R AT &

A E R A

ii)  elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease i) AR d ERER A
liabilities for leases with lease term ends within 12 months R FT 1248 J oA &5 R R AR
of the date of initial application; Tl R {68 T 2 AR AR L

iii)  excluded initial direct costs from measuring the right-of-use iii) T KRE A B SR R
assets at the date of initial application; R RN FE AR B A

iv)  applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with iv) R REALLAR I BR A A AR U
a similar remaining terms for similar class of underlying AR B A Y AL R A A U 0
assets in similar economic environment. Specifically, T BT 45 B JH B — R B o
discount rates for leases of properties in Hong Kong and HEmE > & &by
the PRC were determined on a portfolio basis; and B 2 NG B3 T 4 40 4 L

g 5 K

V) used hindsight based on facts and circumstances as at date V) ARBE 7 B U B0 o
of initial application in determining the lease term for the BN B 4% i AR AR LA
Group’s leases with extension and termination options. AU S B R RE R R

AL

When recognising the lease liabilities for leases previously EOHLR R o 5 R '] 2 T

classified as operating leases, the Group has applied incremental PR R BT - AS 4R [ T A B AR

borrowing rates of the relevant group entities at the date of V90 B A ) e R ) 1B A

initial application. The weighted average incremental borrowing Fil e o 8 2 JIARE T 24 1 S £ 3OR|

rate applied is 5.13%. R F5.13% °
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

(b)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” — Impact of adoption
(Continued)

The lease liabilities as at 1 April 2019 reconciled to the

operating lease commitments as at 31 March 2019 is as follows:

3. WERFrET B #2805 5T 7 o 0 5
o Y Q) (48

(b) AWM B HEEEE 1698l
B |— RANBE (5
BB A — H LS &
WoF—JESH S HES

FHLE R S SR AN R
HK$°000
TH#IT
Operating lease commitments disclosed as at AZE-NFEZA =1 B BEMN
31 March 2019 KB ERE 13,389
Weighted average incremental borrowing rate as at A FE—JUE A — B f T
1 April 2019 H B R R 5.13%
Discounted operating lease commitments as at i ZFE—JUAEDT ] — H R RS BLAR S
1 April 2019 T A& 8,416
Less: Commitments relating to short-term leases Tk B A B R R R AE R
and those leases with a remaining lease term R TE=H=+—H
ending on or before 31 March 2020 BY 2T A TR FEL S AR B 1 AR (336)
Lease liabilities as at 1 April 2019 AR JUEI A — B LR 8,080
Of which are: Horp AL g
Current lease liabilities MBI E A A 6,994
Non-current lease liabilities FE R E A E A 1,086
8,080
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 3. BERRT e RRAERT 75 v B s

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING o e I (%)

STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

(b) HKFRS 16 “Leases” — Impact of adoption (b) 7 v B 5 i 5 ¥ I 2B 16 5% [ A
(Continued) B 1— R e ()
The carrying amount of right-of-use assets for own use as at 1 AZE—JUE A —H B AR
April 2019 comprises the following: 1 MR TET (B AL S DA R 450

Right-of-use assets

o R RE
HK$’000
TH T
The carrying amount of right-of-use assets, related to 81 & —JL4F U H — H & & i
operating leases recognised upon application of R HE RS 16 SR R HERR 2
HKFRS 16 as at 1 April 2019 comprises the KM EARZ M AREEE
followings: R ER A NS TE
Land and building R 7,950
Furniture, fixture and equipment TR ~ 7 e 8 Sk 65
8,015
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” — Impact of adoption

(b)

(Continued)

The following adjustments were made to the amounts recognised

in the consolidated statement of financial position at 1 April

2019. Line items that were not affected by the changes have not

o Y Q) (48

W P T B 8806 T 7 8 S 955 ik

(b) 7 v BV 2 it 17 1 ) 3 16 3 [ AL
B1— RAEE (4D
E¥ TR — 2 A A M
R VL 7 B 2 A AT et 51

8o REHI Y

LI HE AT O

been included. RN -
Carrying
amounts
previously Carrying
reported at amounts under
31 March HKFRS 16 at
2019 Adjustments 1 April 2019
WU
WH—H
SEHi AR
A E— AR A5 i E L)
=A=+—H EA Y
Bz MR i R T (B
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T s T T s T T s T
Non-current assets JER B &
Right-of-use assets 1 7 M R — 8,015 8,015
Current liabilities WA
Lease liabilities s e=Ri — (6,994) (6,994)
Net current liabilities It B £ A (233,446) (6,994) (240,440)
Total assets less current A8 DO AR
liabilities 356,798 1,021 357,819
Non-current liabilities E S REE i
Lease liabilities A — (1,086) (1,086)
Net assets jogz X 207,520 (65) 207,455
Equity RE#S
Reserves fit fhi 156,660 (55) 156,605
Non-controlling interests I FE A 45 45,552 (10) 45,542
Total equity HERE 25 207,520 (65) 207,455
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 4.
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES

(a)

Financial instruments by categories

f T S 955 A B ek

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — % “FAE = = — H IL4F &

(a)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

As at 31 March 2020

Financial assets

Financial assets
at fair value
through profit

S 255 J B A P % A ok R

S5 TR 43 58
AT TS L 09 A Y R T
LURNE

REFZEF=H=A1—H
5 & E

Financial assets
at amortised

or loss costs Total
LA TH 2 4 8 B AR
A B ABRHY
SRl A 15 A Hask
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
T#T T#T T
Financial assets included in AT e R Tk e A
“trade and other receivables” WAk T 1 B — 49,185 49,185
Promissory notes receivable JRE s K b, ER AR — 35,687 35,687
Contingent consideration o SR T i AX f
receivable 1,735 = 1,735
Cash and cash equivalents Bl K Bl a8 — 57,157 57,157
1,735 142,029 143,764
Financial liabilities H B A
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost Total
HHR 8 AR
AR
M aE st
HK$°000 HK$°000
T#T Tt
Financial liabilities included in “trade and A TREAST AR R B L A JRE AT 3
other payables” TH | i B A1 42,589 42,589
Bank and other borrowings SRAT S HAbE 3K 96,088 96,088
Convertible bonds A 4 s R 94,999 94,999
Amounts due to non-controlling interests JREASF I F22 RO HE 45 3k T 60 60
233,736 233,736
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(a) Financial instruments by categories (Continued)

As at 31 March 2019
Financial assets

4. S R A B % B A I R

(%)

(a)

Financial assets

at amortised

485 TR A J8 (4)
REF—HAEZH=1—H
A B

costs Total
22 4 8 AR
M1 A 75 HaET
HK$’000 HK$’000
THTT THETT
Financial assets included in “trade and other AT e R R B At 1 i
receivables” I Y RS 78,992 78,992
Cash and cash equivalents Bl Bl &5 EY 65,497 65,497
144,489 144,489
Financial liabilities M A
Financial
liabilities at
fair value Financial
through profit liabilities at
or loss  amortised cost Total
N TEFEA 22 41 5% A
B 45 1 B A BRI B
A fiE A i HET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt e TitE TitE
Financial liabilities included in  #FA [ HEAS MR S H At FEAT
“trade and other payables” HCE | RS B — 77,604 77,604
Contingent consideration payables ¥ & i £+ {t & 85,570 — 85,570
Promissory notes payable JREASH AR b0, S 9,966 37,543 47,509
Bank and other borrowings SRAT B H A A 3K — 65,556 65,556
Convertible bonds CESidex 172,742 89,259 262,001
Amounts due to non-controlling AT I # A 45 B H
interests — 1,227 1,227
268,278 271,189 539,467
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management and policies

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are

credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and currency risk

arising from financial instruments. The Group’s exposure to these

risks and the financial risk management policies and practices

used by the Group to manage these risks are described below.

U

Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial

loss to the Group.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
receivables and deposits. The Group’s exposure to credit
risk arising from cash and cash equivalents is limited
because the counterparties are banks with high credit

rating assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

Trade receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly
by the individual characteristics of each customer rather
than the industry or country in which the customers
operate and therefore significant concentrations of credit
risk primarily arise when the Group has significant
exposure to individual customers. At the end of the
reporting period, 79% (2019: 50%) and 83% (2019: 53%)
of the total trade receivables was due from the Group’s
largest customer and the five largest customers

respectively.
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4.

150

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b)
@)

Financial risk management and policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit over a certain amount. These
evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay, and take
into account information specific to the customer as well
as pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates. The normal settlement terms of trade
receivables arising from online payment business are one
day after trade date. Trade receivables arising from
businesses other than online payment business are
normally due within 0-90 days from the date of billing.

The Group does not obtain collateral from customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated
using a provision matrix within lifetime ECL (not credit-
impaired). As the Group’s historical credit loss experience
does not indicate significantly different loss patterns for
different customer segments, the loss allowance based on
past due status is not further distinguished between the

Group’s different customer bases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao 7 Y 20 R W

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE

4. SR b A B % B A I B

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

@

CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) (%)
(b) Financial risk management and policies (Continued) (b)  BA X LB A5 B M SR (4
Credit risk (Continued) G fFEME ()
Trade receivables (Continued) JEN IR (4)
The following tables provide information about the T RN - FE—LE &
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade FoFREZA =T —HABE
receivables as at 31 March 2019 and 2020: A A A5 5 JE B w1 DA R RE
IS MR A TR AR B R 1R
i
As at 31 March 2020 N R RE=ZH=+—H
Expected  Gross carrying
loss rate amount Loss allowance
T e 1R R AR T hes 18 8 A
HK$°000 HK$°000
T-# 0 T
Current (not past due) HVHA (e HA) 0.13% 41,169 54
1-30 days past due w1 EI30 K 0.00% 484 —
31-60 days past due w318 60K 0.50% 404 2
61-90 days past due w61 290K 0.69 % 288 2
More than 90 days past due 7@ #4890 K 22.86% 5,682 1,299
48,027 1,357
As at 31 March 2019 RER-WE=ZA=+—H
Expected Gross carrying
loss rate amount Loss allowance
T 1R AR T Jis TR 3 A
HK$°000 HK$°000
T#5T T#IT
Current (not past due) B (A 0.00% 58,479 —
1-30 days past due w230 K 1.82% 9,432 172
31-60 days past due w315 60K 8.12% 1,909 155
61-90 days past due 61590 K 8.18% 2,494 204
More than 90 days past due %l B/ #190°K 40.76% 5,761 2,348
78,075 2,879

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience

over the prior year. These rates are adjusted to reflect

differences between economic conditions during the period

over which the historic data has been collected, current

conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions

over the expected lives of the receivables.

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited JE i B4 B (¥ %) A BR 2 )
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 4,
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) (%)
(b) Financial risk management and policies (Continued) (b) A% R R

@

Credit risk (Continued)

Movements in the loss allowance account in respect of

trade receivables during the years ended 31 March 2019

and 2020 are as follows:

S 55 J B A P % A ik R

B BUR (380)

() R )
BE_F-NER_FTF
SH = IR A B

SR A 14 Ml F 93 £ R 1 2 ) A

T
HK$’000
T#IT
Balance at 31 March 2018 under HKAS 39  #R45 & s & it e HI 55 39 4%
AR NEZH =T H 2% 162
Impact on initial application of HKFRS 9 H) 25 IR 1) 4 1 B 5 R o ME R 2 9 9%
B 842
Adjusted balance at 1 April 2018 A ZF— N A — H 2 SRR S R 1,004
Impairment losses recognised during the year 4 [N TfER2 2 il (H 5 48 1,875
Balance at 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 A _F—NLFE=H=+—H K
TEJUE T — H 2 AR 2,879
Impairment losses during the year GRNR I i 33,070
Reversal of impairment losses recognised in % 2 il 4F B T 58 2 U6k (EL Jes 14 488 [m]
prior years (646)
Disposal of subsidiaries B i Jeg 2 ) (3,944)
Reclassification as held for sale G R R (i (30,002)
Balance at 31 March 2020 MEFZFE = =+ — H 2 1,357
Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s AR A AR B A ) B R &

exposure of credit risk arising from trade and other

receivables are set out in note 23.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b)
@)

(i)

Financial risk management and policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Deposits

For deposits, including utility, trade and other deposits,
credit checks are part of the normal operating process and
stringent monitoring procedures are in place to deal with
overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amounts of deposits at the end of each
reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses
are made for irrecoverable amounts.

The Group measures loss allowance for deposits using
lifetime ECLs for each debtor individually with significant
As at 31 March 2020, based on historical
settlement record and risk of default for each debtor and

balances.

forward-looking information (including the economic
environment), loss allowance of HK$1,000,000 in respect
of a deposit was recognised during the year ended 31
March 2020 (2019: Nil).

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including the
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands, subject to
approval of the board of directors (the “Board”). The
Group’s primary cash requirements have been for the
payments for purchases and operating expenses. The Group
finances its working capital requirements mainly through
funds generated from operations, and external bank and
other borrowings.

The following tables set out the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the
Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on rates current at the end of the reporting period)
and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay.

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited JE i B4 B (¥ %) A BR 2 )
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BRI AR BB &
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(b)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 4. BB L B A B R B A B R
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) (%)
Financial risk management and policies (Continued) (b)  H 7 L B A P R BOR (48)
(ii)  Liquidity risk (Continued) (i) WG EE (AE)
As at 31 March 2020 WROE T = —H
More than ~ More than Total
1 year but 2 years but contractual
Within less than less than More than  undiscounted Carrying
On demand 1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years cash flows amount
HE—FH BRRER AHANE
FEk &R SREE PRI HBLE BefRAH e
HK$000  HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
T#gx Tz T T T T T
Financial liabilities included in “trade and AT HERHRH R MAER
other payables” FOR BT £ - 42,589 - — - 42,589 42,589
Bank and other borrowings A7 R A 3 69,588 28,875 = = = 98,463 96,088
Liability component of convertible bonds 454 8 R & i 1) ] 4t
measured at amortised cost fERA — 4,750 104,500 - - 109,250 94999
Amounts due to non-controlling interests AT 4 75 I 45 508 - - 60 - - 60 60
69,588 76,214 104,560 = = 250,362 233,736

Annual Report 2019/2020 4 #



4.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

4. SR b A B % B A I B

Al g Al ==
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) (%)
(b) Financial risk management and policies (Continued) (b) Bl B A B R BOR (48)
(ii)  Liquidity risk (Continued) (i) TG ()
As at 31 March 2019 B oE—NFE=ZH=+—H
More than Total
More than 2 years but contractual
Within 1 year but less less than  undiscounted Carrying
On demand 1 year  than 2 years 5 years cash flows amount
BHRMH
BHE—F  BRWE He s
HEZ Sk —fER HOREE HORIE FiE ) T i
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TH#T TiT T Tt TH#T TiT
Financial liabilities included in AT THEAH IR 3 A A |
“trade and other payables” 1 B 75 & 4 — 77,604 — 77,604 71,604
Contingent consideration payables SIRMER AR — 37,878 47,692 — 85,570 85,570
Promissory notes payable measured at & {8 A R A9 HE AR SR 0R
amortised cost — — — 49,974 49,974 37,543
Promissory notes payable designated at 4 & % /A T-{H wt A5 £ 19 fE £
FVTPL RIS — 10,116 — — 10,116 9,966
Bank and other borrowings SRAT B HAb 3K 39,095 752 28,875 — 68,722 65,595
Liability component of convertible B A R 0 R4 A
bonds measured at amortised cost AR — 5,300 111,300 — 116,600 89,259
Convertible bonds designated at IR AT (B R AR & 1 AT
FVTPL 5% — 170,262 — — 170,262 172,742
Amounts due to non-controlling B A5 3 2 W 4 FOH
interests — — 1,227 — 1,227 1,227
39,095 301,912 189,094 49,974 580,075 539,506
(iiif)  Interest rate risk i) F R S
(1) Interest rate profile 1) F & B
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or 1) 5 Ja gt Ay — T 4 il T
future cash flows of a financial instrument will B 1A TES AR B 4
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. i 219 B T 4 R R i

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk

in relation to fixed rate promissory notes receivable

(note 24), other borrowings (note 30), convertible

bonds (note 33) and promissory notes payable (note

34). The management considered that the interest

rate

instruments are insignificant.

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited JE i B4 B (¥ %) A BR 2 )
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 4.
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management and policies (Continued)
(iii)  Interest rate risk (Continued)
(1) Interest rate profile (Continued)
The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk in relation to variable rate cash at bank (note
26(a)) and variable rate bank borrowings (note 30).

The following table details the interest rate profile

S0 % R B 45 PR R B A B R
(%)
(b) B %5 B A5 B M BOSR (48
(i) F I ()
) FIFBEN (4E)
AL F IR R F B ERAT B
4 ([t 5E26(a)) K& IF B
SR AT 1 2K (52 30)
Tifh B0 4 O 22 ) S AL B o

of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities with T R R A A AR E R
variable interest rates at the end of the reporting WHH W B R
period: WK R 2P
2020 2019
SRORE CF A
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#L THs T
Variable interest rates: e S
Financial assets W
Cash at bank SRAT B 57,041 65,406
57,041 65,406
Financial liabilities iup =R
Bank borrowings and overdrafts SRATHE R B X 36,588 39,056
36,588 39,056
Net A 20,453 26,350
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 4. T R B AR PR R B K 4 R

CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) (%)

(b) Financial risk management and policies (Continued) (b) Bl B A B R BOR (48)

(iii)  Interest rate risk (Continued) (i) F I ()
(ii)  Sensitivity analysis (i) HERE T

At 31 March 2020, if interest rates had been 100 W E _EHE =N
basis point higher with all other variables held N il = R Sl ok
constant, the Group’s loss after tax would have 10011 5 B - 75 o A H
decreased by HK$179,000 (2019: HK$225,000). A5 2 (RS B2 1 DL

T AEEMN R
571 Bk 72 179,000 ¢
(& — JLA 1 225,000

L) o
At 31 March 2020, if interest rate had been 100 W EEFE A
basis point lower with all other variables held =—H - fHfRE T
constant, the Group’s loss after tax would have 1001 % 25 > 72 fir & H
increased by HK$179,000 (2019: HK$225,000). i 5 2 AR AN 52 1) DL

T > AR B R BR BRI
571 4 4111179,000 4 JT
(=& — JUAE 1 225,000

W) o
The decrease/increase in the loss after tax for the BE R JLER-E
years ended 31 March 2019 and 2020 results mainly e ey e el = |
from higher/lower interest income from cash at bank AEBERBLE 48
and lower/higher interest expense on bank B B A SRAT B
borrowings. Other components of equity would not A E A S
be significantly affected by the changes in interest DA K SRAT i sk i RS B
rates. SCWD N TS o F

ST R B A 1 2
(RGN 2

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the exposure bl R G AT B R

to cash flow interest rate risk arising from floating S BACK AR 4L MR

rate non-derivative instruments held by the Group at H9VE B FEATAE TR BT E

the end of the reporting period. A= 1 B 4 U R 2R
B
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management and policies (Continued)

(iv)  Currency risk

@

Exposure to currency risk

Presently, the Group does not have a hedging policy
with respect to the foreign exchange exposure. The
Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
sales and purchases which give rise to receivables,
payables and cash balances that are denominated in
a foreign currency, i.e. a currency other than the
functional currency of the operations to which the
transactions relate. The currencies giving rise to this
risk are primarily United States dollars (“USD”),
Renminbi (“RMB”) and HKS.

In order to manage and minimise the foreign
currency risk, the management will continue to
manage and monitor the foreign currency exposure
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented in

a timely and effective manner.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE

S 255 J B A P % A ok R

4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b)

(iv)  Currency risk (Continued)

@

Exposure to currency risk (Continued)

4.

Financial risk management and policies (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s exposure at

the end of the reporting period to currency risk

arising from recognised assets or liabilities that are

denominated in a currency other than the functional

currency of the entity to which they relate. For

presentation purposes, the amounts of the exposure

are shown in Hong Kong dollars, translated using

the spot rate at the year end date.

(%)

(b)

S 78 I A B % R (D)
(v) TR ()
() ARZLEWE ()
DES 2RSS Sit0

SIS 3 LA BEAR ) 2
BRLSMEREHEN D
e B R BT
P B L g T 7R 52
B e BRSNS - B
SHUBITRES] > A%
ARG H I R B 2 4
o

Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Fi &z BB (DB TEHRR)
2020 2019
e Jme: 202 “E-NE

LIN ) RMB HK$ LN RMB HKS$

%7 N iy e NI e

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$000 HKS$’000

T T Tl T TikT Tt

Cash and cash equivalents e LB E&%EY 106 203 4,390 1,344 373 2,186
Financial assets included in AT RO B A e i

“trade and other receivables” R B 328 5 = 5913 5,496 —
Financial liabilities included in AT ATHE A AR sk R A A

“trade and other payables” IR ] B R (316) (50 = (6,115) (1,338) —

Net exposure arising from CHERR A R AR
recognised assets and liabilities R 7 A 118 158 4,390 1,142 4,531 2,186
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 4. S R A B % B A I R
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) (%)
(b) Financial risk management and policies (Continued) (b) B %5 B A5 B M BOSR (48
(iv)  Currency risk (Continued) (iv) B b ()
(ii)  Sensitivity analysis (i) IR SE T
The following table indicates the instantaneous TRIE AL EEE
change in the Group’s loss after tax and K NER ZERE
accumulated losses for the years ended 31 March ZHA=t—HIEFER
2019 and 2020 that would arise if foreign exchange R VS il
rates to which the Group has significant exposure at JEA A F R o AR
the end of the reporting period had changed at that =R AV 2 A1 e R = 4
date, assuming all other risk variables remained TE% H B4 8l i 2 A
constant. In this respect, it is assumed that the Z W8 W) (R R AT A
pegged rate between the Hong Kong dollars and the H A B R A R
United States dollars would be materially unaffected ) o g E o R
by any changes in movement in value of the United WE T L 35 JT 2 W] 2 e
States dollars against other currencies. e 3 AN 8 [ 25 56 b, HoAth
1 W 2 A B ) AT A
R ATEE PN A
2020 2019
SRR “E N
Increase/(decrease)  Decrease/(increase) Increase/(decrease) Decrease/(increase)
in foreign in loss after tax and in foreign  in loss after tax and

exchange rates

accumulated losses

exchange rates

accumulated losses

Bt 1% i 42 &% W% % i 1R 2%

btk 2R Rtk R SIS I 25t H

LIt/ (R WA/ () BTt/ (R W/ ()

HK$°000 HK$°000

T#t Tk

RMB N 5% 7 5% 226

(5%) (7 (5%) (226)

HK$ HEYH 5% 215 5% 109

(5%) @15) 5%) (109)
Results of the analysis as presented in the above LRSI B B A
table represent an aggregation of the instantaneous RIAEETE &
effects on each of the group entities’ profit/loss e A 19 45 S PR B AR

after tax and equity measured in the respective
functional currencies, translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rate ruling at the end of the

reporting period for presentation purposes.
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4. SR b A B % B A I B

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b)

(o)

Financial risk management and policies (Continued)
(iv)  Currency risk (Continued)
(ii)  Sensitivity analysis (Continued)
The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in
foreign exchange rates had been applied to re-
measure those financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk at the end of the reporting period. The analysis

is performed on the same basis for 2019.

Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to ensure that
entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to the stakeholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The management
reviews the capital structure by considering the cost of capital
and the risks associated with each class of capital. In view of
this, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the payment of dividends, new share issues as well as the issue
of new debt or the redemption of existing debt as it sees fit and

appropriate.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the net gearing ratio.
This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net
debt is calculated as total borrowings (including amounts due to
non-controlling interests, bank and other borrowings, promissory
notes payable and convertible bonds (as detailed in notes 29, 30,
34 and 33 respectively)) less cash and cash equivalents (note
26(a)). Total capital is calculated as “equity” as shown in the

consolidated statement of financial position plus net debt, if any.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 4.
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(c)

S 55 J B A P % A ik R
(%)

Capital management (Continued) (c) BEAREH ()
The net gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2019 and W ENEFER F FREZN
2020 are as follows: =t—H o AEHEWTFEE AL
HINF -
2020 2019
SRORE A
HK$°000 HK$’000
T THE T
Debts (v 191,147 376,293
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (note 26(a)) W BA RIS EY
(B 32 26(a)) (57,157) (65,497)
Net debt BT 133,990 310,796
Total capital JEEN 132,813 207,520
Net gearing ratio FEEAMBILE 1.01 1.50

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to

externally imposed capital requirements.
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(d) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

@

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables present the fair value of the Group’s
financial instruments measured at the end of the reporting
period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level
fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair Value
Measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with reference to
the observability and significance of the inputs used in the

valuation technique as follows:

. Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the

measurement date.

. Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level
2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet
Level 1, and not using significant unobservable
inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which

market data are not available.

. Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using

significant unobservable inputs.

4. SR b A B % B A I B

(%)

(@) DAAPERHEZ BT E LA

g
@

LT Jg

R A G R o R
e RC VR S TR BB T
HAFE - A B AT ER &
R R YR A 135 A
HFE TR EZ AP E=/M
ZERE R EAT 0 I o AP (E R
T B R A K8 275 L
IECE VRN PN &3
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. AR ANE BRI —
B A R R R A F
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w06 R T
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. SRR (E DA TR
A SRR R APE
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 4. S R A B % B A I R
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) (%)
(d) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value d VUAFHEFIEZMBEEERA
(Continued) & (48)
(i) Fair value hierarchy (Continued) i) PR ()
Valuation process 1518 D
The Group’s finance department headed by the board of AR AR B B 5 b S A
directors is responsible for determining the policies and A M LR
procedures for the fair value measurement of financial B ECR LR )T o
instruments.
In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the AL EEE E e B fE 2 A PE
Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is R > 7 B2 [ ol P Tl 45 T B
available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the SRR o H MRS A — R
Group engaged independent professionally qualified A BRI > AL E
valuers to perform the valuation. The finance department S AR A (B T TAG (o
works closely with independent professionally qualified AR B ST B2 A AR A (E
valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques i B2 A - T A 8 A 1
and inputs to the model. The Chief Financial Officer Ty i MR i A B o R B
reports to the board of directors semi-annually to explain 5 A ) 3 O R
the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets or O kA A TE BB 2 R
liabilities. °
As at 31 March 2020 REFZRE=ZH=+—H
Fair value measurements as at Fair value as at
31 March 2020 categorised into 31 March 2020
“RORE
REBZREZ[Z4—H _H_+ H
BT A AT ZATE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
H—H I H=H
HK$000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HK$°000
T T# TH#T T
Recurring fair value A U Y
measurements
Financial assets: I
— Contingent consideration — FRMEC A
receivable - — 1,735 1,735
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao 7 Y 20 R W

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 4. E R B BE M A B R
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) (%)
(d) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value d UAFEFBEZMBEEERA
(Continued) & (%)
(i) Fair value hierarchy (Continued) i)  AFHEEH )
Valuation process (Continued) 1 (8 i B (A
As at 31 March 2019 REZR-NWE=ZA=+—H
Fair value measurements as at Fair value as at
31 March 2019 categorised into 31 March 2019
RZE—UE
AZE—JUE=A=+—H “H=+—H
BT A2 AR 2l
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
F—H 5 =M
HKS$’000 HKS$°000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000
T T T T
Recurring fair value H A N
measurements
Financial liabilities: WA
— Contingent consideration — SR AT A
payables — — 85,570 85,570
— Promissory notes payable — R R AT HEF AR
designated at FVTPL 11 5 7 0 35 - — 9,966 9,966
— Convertible bonds — WRERATHEARSE
designated at FVTPL 11 88 1 — — 172,742 172,742
— — 268,278 268,278
During the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2020, there W E —EF—JUE R EF
were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or FEZHZT—HIEFEE
transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to 55— A B 2 TSI i
recognise transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy % o TR MEGE = A B
as at the end of the reporting period in which they occur. ZAE WL o A A 1 B R R

Al 0 AR e R A ST (B A 2
fH % 400 1 % 7 Y R
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — & " FAFE = = — H ILF &

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 4.

CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)
(d) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
(Continued)

(ii)  Information about Level 3 fair value measurements
The valuation techniques and the quantitative information
about the significant (except for the information of
convertible bonds designated at FVTPL which are
disclosed in note 33(a) to these consolidated financial
statements) unobservable inputs used in Level 3 fair value
measurement at the end of the reporting period are as

follows:

As at 31 March 2020

S 5 T B 4 PR % B A e R
(%)
(@ UAFEEHRZMEEERA
15 (78)
() FHB=RA-FAREZ G
AR BB =R TEF
T 2 A (E A R R AR
B A MR 2 B AL R
(7% 55 A5G PP R I RE33(a)
I PR 4G R F A RE AR AR
14 AT 4 BB 2 EORLBR A1) A
T

R FEZAZ A

Fair value as at ~ Valuation  Significant Relationship of unobservable
Description 31 March 2020  techniques  unobservable inputs Inputs  inputs to fair value
RERZRE
SHEt-AR
fid AFE WEE EXATBEEABR BAME AWEEE AR EAF R #
HK$000
T
Contingent consideration 1,735 Income Expected net profit before HKS$6,135,000  The contingent consideration receivable is
receivable approach taxation determined by reference to the financial
statements of Leader Shine Group as defined
in note 21 for each of the years ended 31
March 2019 and 2020. As at 31 March
2020, it was estimated that a 5% increase or
decrease in the expected net profit before
taxation of Leader Shine Group while
holding all other variables constant would
not significantly affect the value of
contingent consideration receivable.
AL 1735 A T B B AR 6,135,000 7% AR ETIZHE B2 BT R 2 Leader
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Shine EEHE T NER-F_FE=
A= H RS AR B 0B i o
WEZZREZH=4—H - Leader Shine
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

f T S 955 A B ek

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE

CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(d) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
(Continued)

3ii)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

(Continued)

As at 31 March 2019

4.

S 5 L o A PR % A B
(%)
(@) DAAPERHEZ BT E LA

fi§ (%)
(i) HHE=ZRAFHGEZE
P (4F)

S L= VESE

Fair value as at ~ Valuation  Significant Relationship of unobservable
Description 31 March 2019  techniques  unobservable inputs Inputs  inputs to fair value
REZ—JUe
ZRAE-HE
fiiit MFE RS EAATEEHAUR WAYE AUBZRBABRRATEZHR
HK$000
T
Contingent consideration 85,570 Income Discount rate 6.7% It is estimated that a 5% increase or decrease in
payables approach the discount rate used while holding all other
variables constant would decrease or increase
the carrying amount of contingent
consideration payables by HKS$1,174,000 and
HKS1,195,000 respectively.
HAREN R 85,570 WA (3RS 6.7%  FHOTE 2 BB MR B D 5% TR

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited JE i B4 B (¥ %) A BR 2 )

Revenue for the period from

22 September 2018 to
21 September 2019
(“Revenue for Second
Period”)

“E-NEAACTZ
REZF—ELA
- M
(TR R R4S )

K2 EARAE > NRARTREZ R
T 58 20 L 36070 1,174,000 JC 88 A
1,195,000 7C

The revenue for the period from 22 September
2017 to 21 September 2018 is determined by
reference to the auditor’s certificate issued in
respect of the achievement of the First
Target of the ND Target Group as defined in
note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements. Since the Revenue for the First
Period was audited and concluded, no
sensitivity analysis for the year ended 31
March 2019 was disclosed for the respective
impact of change.
AZZ—tFNAZTZREZE AL
AR T35 % B
G & AT R M2 g RIND B 12
SEEREEELNEEEET AR
MBI s O AR B S Ol R
EEEWPERE T NEZAZ—
B IEAF B 0 BURRFE 2347 o
HK$26,342,000 It is estimated that a 5% increase or decrease in

Revenue for Second Period and NP for Third

Period while holding all other variables

constant would increase or decrease the

carrying amount of contingent consideration

payables by HK$4,278,000.

26,342,000 w4 AR B = M B AER

S 5% o TR Fofl g B A
SR MEAT A% (82 M (A 73 B s
478,003 ¢ °
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — & " FAFE = = — H ILF &

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 4.

CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(d) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

(Continued)
(ii)  Information about Level 3 fair value measurements
(Continued)

As at 31 March 2019 (Continued)

Fair value as at  Valuation  Significant

S 85 L o A P % A 9
(%)
(@) DAAPEE R EEEKA

i (#0)

(i) FHBZHAT ]2 BH
(47)
Mo AEZA=+—H
()

Relationship of unobservable
Inputs  inputs to fair value

BAME AWEZHAMREATEZAR

Description 31 March 2019  techniques  unobservable inputs
REZ—UE
ZHEF—H
i MFE ETE EXATEESANE
HK$000
T
Net profit for the period
from
22 September 2019 to

21 September 2020
(“NP for Third
Period”)

e Lol
Hz
SROEELR
ZA - R A
(=AM AR )

Promissory notes payable 1,673 Income Discount rate
arising from the approach
acquisition of Soul
Marketing Group
Limited (“Soul
Marketing”)
R T R S 1673 Ak fiB%
W wl (T 5%
W) it 2 e R
AR
Profit after tax for
the period from
23 December 2017 to
22 December 2019
“E-bEFTA
Zt=HE
e e
i gt 1 b
i

Additional e-payment
locations from
17 November 2017 to
22 December 2019

Y S v |
TEAEZE-NE
+ZAZ+ZHZ
BOME TR
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HK$20,863,000

20,863,001 7

7.7%  No sensitivity analysis is disclosed as the impact
is not significant to the Group’s profit or
loss.

77%  HEEAEEEEEERYE - SRR

JRE T -
Loss of
HK$2,735,000
52,735,000 7

3,732 locations

3,732 {f B



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 4.

Ak 7 Y % R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE

CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(d) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

S 5 L o A P % A B
(%)
(@) DAAPERH R MEEE LA

(Continued) & (#48)
(ii)  Information about Level 3 fair value measurements (i) FHE=HAFHITEZE
(Continued) B ()
As at 31 March 2019 (Continued) N2 —NWE=H=+—H
(#)
Fair value as at  Valuation  Significant Relationship of unobservable
Description 31 March 2019 techniques  unobservable inputs Inputs inputs to fair value
REZ—NE
ZAEtT—HH
fiit MFE ETE EXATEESANE WA AUBZBABRRATEZNR
HK$000
T
Promissory notes payable 8,293 Income Discount rate 6.7%  No sensitivity analysis is disclosed as the impact
arising from the approach is not significant to the Group’s profit or
acquisition of loss.
IAHGames
Hong Kong Limited
(“IAHGames”)
It B TAHGames Hong 8293 LA B % 6.7% MRHEAEERGEEKEE > Wl EREY
Kong Limited B -
([TAHGames )
EEZ KRS

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited JE i B4 B (¥ %) A BR 2 )

Revenue for the period from
1 January 2018 to
31 December 2019
“FNF-A-HE
SE
= R

Gross profit for the period from
1 January 2018 to
31 December 2019
ZE-E-A-HE
S
=t HBEZER

Earnings before interest,
taxes, depreciation and
amortisation for the
period from 1 January
2018 to 31 December
2019

“E-NE-A-RE
e
=Rz
FE - BH
I8 RS B A

HK$154,229,000

154,229,000 7C

HK$10,195,000

10,195,000 7

HK$5,229,000

5,229,000 7
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — & " FAFE = = — H ILF &

4.

170

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

4. E R B A BE M A B R

CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) (%)
(d) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value d VUAFHEFIEZMBEEERA
(Continued) & (48)
(ii)  Information about Level 3 fair value measurements (i)  HHFE=HALTEFEZEF
(Continued) (#8)
The movements during the years ended 31 March 2019 A N UNS Sl
and 2020 in the balance of these Level 3 fair value WRE —F— R

measurements are as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2020

A= IR AR E 2 )
LU

BREZRZREZA=Z+—H

IR
Financial assets 1o 5

Contingent
consideration
receivable
AR HE W AR A
HK$’000
T#L
At 1 April 2019 R E—JUEM] —H —
Net fair value changes included in profit or loss Fh TR A Y 2 1 (5 5 ) i 1,735
At 31 March 2020 REFZRE=H =1+ —H 1,735

Net fair value gain included in the profit or loss for HiiA A WIATFA 2 G st AH
assets held at the end of the reporting period i 2 3 PAE i 5 1 AR 1,735
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — % “FAE = = — H IL4F &

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 4. T R B AR PR R B K 4 R
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) (%)
(d) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value d UAFEFBEZMBEEERA
(Continued) & (%)
(ii)  Information about Level 3 fair value measurements (i) HHE=ZRAFHGEZE
(Continued) B )
For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Continued) BRE_FZ_FE=A=1+—
H k4 B (41)
Financial liabilities A R

Promissory ~ Convertible

Contingent notes payable bonds

consideration  designated at  designated at
payables FVTPL FVTPL Total

WEHATHE REHATH

A AHABER  EHABEM
JERHRME MRS TR At
HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000
T T# TH#T T

At 1 April 2019 AZF—UENA—H 85,570 9,966 172,742 268,278
Transferred to promissory notes 18 AT AT R 0 S0

payable (24,251) = = (24,251)
Redemption JeE ] = = (165,000) (165,000)
Payment obligations released B G b S AT (5,983) = = (5,983)
Net fair value changes included in A FF 4 2 A F-(H 2 8 {F 5

profit or loss (55,336) (9,966) (7,742) (73,044)
At 31 March 2020 MR EREZAZ+—H - — - -

Net fair value gain included in the B WA FH 2 & EEHA
profit or loss for liabilities held R 4% .2 /2 V-l it 45 1 38
at the end of the reporting
period 55,336 9,966 7,742 73,044
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — & " FAFE = = — H ILF &

4.

172

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(d) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

(Continued)
(ii)  Information about Level 3 fair value measurements
(Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2019

Financial liabilities

4. E R B A BE M A B R
(%)
(d) VIAPEREZWEEERA

Contingent
consideration

payables

15 (78)

() FHB=RA-FAREZ G
(#7)
BEZR-NUEZA=Z+—H
IR
T B R

Promissory Convertible
notes payable bonds

designated at  designated at
FVTPL FVTPL Total
HEMATH EERATH

g8 RPABER  SPARERN
MERICE RERTRLER RS At
HK$°000 HKS$’000 HK$000 HKS$’000
Tk T T Tk
At 1 April 2018 WZF—/NENA—H 177,519 10,578 310,510 498,607
Transferred to promissory notes YN ANRTES
payable (68,900) — — (68,900)
Transferred from contingent B AR
consideration payables — 12,395 — 12,395
Transferred to other payables 13N E A AT 308 — (6,000) — (6,000)
Repurchase of convertible bonds i o] ] 2 Ji fif 55 — — (90,000) (90,000)
Net fair value changes included in - AR 2 A F(HE B F 4
profit or loss (23,049) (7,007) (47,768) (77,824)
At 31 March 2019 REE—NE=A=+—H 85,570 9,966 172,742 268,278
Net fair value gain included in the —FEAHE MIAFFA 2 B fEFTA
profit or loss for liabilities held {848 2 AT A A
at the end of the reporting
period 23,049 7,007 47,768 77,824

(iii)  Financial assets and liabilities carried at other than fair
value
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments
carried at cost or amortised cost are not materially
different from their fair values as at 31 March 2019 and
2020.

Annual Report 2019/2020 4 #
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — % “FAE = = — H IL4F &

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other

key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period,

that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

@

(i)

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets with finite useful lives

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives
and related depreciation and amortisation charges for its property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets with finite useful lives.
This estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual
useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets of similar nature and functions. It could change
significantly as a result of technical innovations and competitor
actions in response to severe industry cycles. Management will
increase the depreciation and amortisation charge where useful
lives are less than previously estimated lives, or it will write-off
or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that
have been abandoned or sold. The useful lives of property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets are disclosed in notes 2(g)
and 2(i) respectively.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing its value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset, which requires significant judgement
relating to level of revenue and amount of operating costs. The
Group uses all readily available information in determining an
amount that is a reasonable approximation of the recoverable
amount, including estimates based on reasonable and supportable
assumptions and projections of revenue and operating costs.
Changes in these estimates could have a significant impact on the
carrying amounts of the assets and could result in additional
impairment charge or reversal of impairment in future periods. As
at 31 March 2020, the carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets amounted to HK$83,459,000
(2019: HK$91,764,000) and HK$3,668,000 (2019: N/A)
respectively.

.

B ¢ & a1 5t

il st A WY BT IR 3 A 32 A PR

" S SR AT B 0 2 5 B B
Rt ) 9 B AR - A
B 9 134 5 B RO (L
T S AP A TR 9 8 ) A

B

(i)  REGRAETFERYFE - B R
7 1 & JETE B 7 1 P A AE A
A% 4 B4 g P H B A A PR AT
Y R R RS
FEE AT 51 AT o8 ) ) T R R T
B BA L o LA R TIAR R TE M K
TR M 4 26 ~ R BRI H
ﬁ%%maﬁﬁﬁmﬁﬁfﬁmu
A 48 B8 T S o 000 A M T
Iﬁ W A7 S W0 T PR IR A7 B AT
A A 1A 5 R BOsE o i n (4R
Eﬁd»ﬁ&?ﬁﬁuﬁ5ﬁ+ﬂﬁfﬁﬂﬁ» & T
T T B B B S s A g R n]
FE 1% £ 52 5 ol H B S BRI b I
1 & 7 TR I SR W T LA RS S
oo W W TR T A E
B AT A AR 1A 43 R B R 2(2) 2 2(31)
Bl 5% o

(i) B~ BT 3R LRl
4 0 1E
A I AT A [ 4 R 2 FL P (E R
A A B A (E T R S 3 o
TS A A (A IR Al s R AR B4
LA T B R W B Iy i 5 N IRy
AR 8 1) P Ay % % 7 1) 2 LB
RIBLHT RGBSR » AEE 2 HEUE - g
SR A B A K T R KL AR 4
FERE B 1 R 0 B o A B S T i T
SRR A PR A O A 82 B e B
BT A R BE R AT 0 R > IR AR PR
G R A AR R A T AR
B 1 TR AE A BT o B2 AN BT
P 8 1)) W] B S A 2 A R T (B A AR
K2 > 3l W] BE A A A 0 [ 25 BOER
A R AE S B A ] o i F
TEEZA=Z+—H W WER
A LA R A R R R Y R T
7%583,459,0005 JC (=& — JL4F -
91,764,000 JC) J%3,668,000%5 JC (—
E—JE RN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — & " FAFE = = — H ILF &

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 5. B e E (8)
(CONTINUED)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued) fhaEAS W9 B R 2 a0 R AR IR (4)

(iii) Impairment of intangible assets with finite useful lives (i) R FRAE T EH 2 T 5 i

The Group tests whether the intangible assets which have finite
useful lives have suffered any impairment whenever there is any
indication that the intangible assets have been impaired. The
Group has made estimations and assumptions in relation to the
potential future cash flows of identifiable intangible assets. This
assessment involves estimations and assumptions relating to
potential future revenues, appropriate discount rates and the
useful lives of such assets. The recoverable amounts of these
intangible assets have been determined based on the value-in-use
calculations, which have been estimated using discounted cash
flow method. As at 31 March 2020, the carrying amount of
intangible assets with finite useful lives amounted to
HK$11,093,000 (2019: HK$37,189,000).

Impairment of financial assets

The loss allowance for financial assets are based on assumptions
about risk of default and expected loss rates. The Group uses
judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs
to the impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past history,
existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates
at the end of each reporting period. Details of the key
assumptions and inputs used are disclosed in the tables in note

4(b)(®).

Write down of inventories

The management of the Group reviews its inventories at the end
of each reporting period and write down the inventories to net
realisable value. Management estimates the net realisable value
for such items based primarily on the latest invoice prices and
current market conditions. The Group carries out an inventory
review on a product-by-product basis at the end of each
reporting period and make allowance for obsolete items. As at 31
March 2020, the carrying amount of inventories amounted to
HK$31,390,000 (2019: HK$29,065,000).

Annual Report 2019/2020 4 #

i A AT o] B 52 BRI B R 2
(B> A< 4 & 0 5 5L A BR 0 1 4
2T B E A A B o A
Tk T Gk ] T T TR R A B A i
A EE ZAREE o BCERAG  Rok
RAF B VB AR AR AN AR B
Bl R Af R AR BAE R Ah = AR o
5% MY 2 R i (e A AR BR
R 35 B 4 O R A BT 2 T (B R
BRE RN B BRE=H=+—
A B PR 8 2 8 & m
H THT (B 5 11,093,000 7C (& — L
4F 1 37,189,000% 9C) ©

BB EZ W

TP T M TR R T AR R AT B &
£ Ja B e TR IR ISR B R AR o Bt
AR SR R RO ~ W AT I A
IR AR TS ME A ] AR
V) T A A B g A el
R o T {6 P ) B S AR it B
T BRI AE B R 4(b) () Y 2

i -

17 B

A AR [ B T 45 A R A
148 > M7 B B B BFE - &
P 3= AR 5 A a0 0 AR S B
WRE T VLA T B IE B 4 AT S B
A AJE T 45 S A R 4 A L A
WEEAT A RO ET > Wt RS I E AR
B o MR -FHE=HA=1—H >
17 B 19 JE T {8 £531,390,0009 7T (=
F—JLA © 29,065,000% TC) o
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — % “FAE = = — H IL4F &

I3 o & wt Al vt (%)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(vi)

(vii)

Current taxation and deferred taxation

Judgement is required in determining the amount of the provision
for taxation and the timing of payment of the related taxation.
There are many transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course
of business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax

provisions in the periods in which such determination are made.

Deferred taxation relating to certain temporary differences and tax
losses are recognised as management considers it is probable that
future taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate, such
differences will impact the recognition of deferred taxation in the

periods in which such estimate is changed.

As at 31 March 2020, the carrying amounts of tax recoverable,
tax payable and deferred tax liabilities amounted to
HK$3,759,000 (2019: HK$105,000), HK$2,418,000 (2019:
HK$6,058,000) and HK$2,402,000 (2019: HK$36,316,000)

respectively.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on
an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of
the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) to which goodwill is allocated.
Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an
estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-
generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value of those cash flows. Where the actual future
cash flows are less than expected, impairment loss may arise. As
at 31 March 2020, the carrying amount of goodwill amounted to
HK$26,570,000 (2019: HK$199,879,000).

RNV E RS S

(vi)

(vii)

BT 1] 1 T J A A B

A 7 S O TR A4 < S A B B IE Y
AT W [T ZEAF BT o A H R
B AR P AFTE 2 T MR I B E R A
Bk 9 28 5 Bt B o A % S S IE Y
fi H 5 2 L BRL o ) W Bk ) B A
(] - Bl 5% 56 26 BRI 52 AT A T 7
E 3 ] F) A58 o A0 S o T HBE A

SEL T IR 25 i R B IR 4R B Y
A A 3 JE A2 JER I 0 2% R R AT T RiE
L R i A AR S %
I 25 % B T s 1 1 e < TR
SRR RUE il FHA 22 > A B
22 RROME R A R H B AR ) B 30T R
IR R AR SE B OA o

MEZEEZH = —H o e
o IE ~ JE AT o Y I R A1E 3 T 4 P R
T {123 Bl 3,759,000 76 (& — L
4F 1 105,000457C) ~ 2,418,00095 7T (—
F— LA 1 6,058,000%5 70) 52,402,000
WG (T —JUHF £ 36,316,000900) -

R 2 A

AR [ 3 DA R T R R B
TR AE o MR EAN FHE A e R 2 B
GEAREN ((Be kY] 2 F
FIAEAE o Ak 560 5 (A 22 ok A< 4 [
{51 B0 4 2 AR B 2 TE I R AR B 4
iR o IR A8 T B R D R L%
FU N EZBE - WERRKY
S AR T > R AT BEE AR E
iR ot R EFAEZH = A —
A - R TE (E £ 26,570,000 9 70
(—ZF—JUL4E @ 199,879,000 7€) ©
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J.

176

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
(viii) Estimated valuation of investment property

(ix)

x)

In determining the fair value, the valuer has based on property
valuation techniques which involve, inter alia, certain estimates
including comparable sales in the relevant market, appropriate
discount rates and expected future market rents. In relying on the
valuation report, management has exercised their judgement and
is satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective of the
current market condition. As at 31 March 2020, the carrying
amount of investment property amounted to HKS$3,500,000
(2019: HK$8,130,000).

Impairment of interest in an associate

Determining whether interest in an associate is impaired requires
an estimation of the recoverable amount of the associate.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell
and value in use. The recoverable amount of the associate is
determined based on the estimated value in use of the associate.
Management has evaluated the recovery of the investment based
on such estimates and is confident that the allowance for
impairment, where necessary, is adequate. During the year ended
31 March 2020, impairment losses of HK$28,071,000 were
recognised (2019: no impairment loss) in respect of interests in
an associate. As at 31 March 2020, the carrying amount of the
interest in an associate amounted
HK$47,283,000 (2019: HK$73,400,000).

to approximately

Fair value of contingent consideration receivable

The fair value of contingent consideration receivable was
determined by using valuation techniques. The Group uses its
judgement to select a variety of methods and make assumptions,
including the discount rates and estimation of future
performance. Changes in assumption used could materially affect
the fair value of the balances and as a result affect the Group’s
financial condition and results of operation. At 31 March 2020,
the carrying amount of contingent consideration receivable
amounted to approximately HK$1,735,000 (2019: Nil).
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PR BIERAETE Z aE
LU B G A 0 B B R R TE I R
AT 5 A A o AE A 4 B
I O R L B I 1 AN B
{8 7 15 e I W B R T L - A %
THEZA=Z+—H > HEWENIE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE

f T S 955 A B ek

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — % “FAE = = — H IL4F &

6.

Revenue from continuing operations represents the income from sales of

health and beauty supplements and products, provision of online

advertising agency business, online payment business and e-commerce

promotion business, net of returns, discounts, value-added tax and other

sales taxes for the year.

Disaggregation of revenue

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by major

products or service lines and geographical locations of customers from

continuing operations are detailed as follows:

L&

TR A 2 ) R A 46 0 B IR M T R A
i B - SR AEAR B RS AU ZETS - 4 L
SCATSERS B TR T R B BRI > 41
BRAFEAERIE ~ Pr4m ~ S BE B HAL S B -

e gk 43 %

LA 2 4 W SRR A T
B TR T B0y 15 1 B S & 4 2 g
AR AT

2020 2019
SEDRE SE
HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt THETT
(Restated)
(R 5)
Revenue from contracts with customers T 1 B 5 AT S ) 2 15 5% A I
within the scope of HKFRS 15: AR B AR IR
Health and beauty supplements and products PR A T 55 25l ity B 78 b 294,888 312,728
Online advertising agency business A bR AU RS 13,597 11,535
Online payment business B SR 2R 679 455
E-commerce promotion business T 7 2 8,966 7,487
318,130 332,205
Disaggregated by geographical locations % 7T e AL B B 4y
of customers:
Hong Kong (place of domicile) s (G b B 317,002 330,941
The PRC H 994 1,190
Taiwan =8 62 29
Others HoAb 72 45
318,130 332,205
Timing of revenue recognition: Wi 2 it g ]
Point in time 27 I 1] 26 315,625 323,067
Over time W IRs [H] 3% 2 2,505 9,138
318,130 332,205
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7.

OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER NET

INCOME

An analysis of other revenue and other net income from continuing

operations is as follows:

o Ath W g e L At e A 35 R

B 5 A A SE S 1 LA i B H A A
TR -

2020 2019
TRTRA SELE
HK$°000 HK$’000
T THs T
(Restated)
(K= 51])
Other revenue H A e 25
Bank interest income SRATALE A 8 14
Total interest income on financial assets T W B A w1 AR A Y
measured at amortised cost FILE e A 485 8 14
Marketing service income i OB A 1,884 2,892
Sundry income HETE A 1,222 1,175
Waiver of other payables HA At E A R 15 —
3,129 4,081
Other net income A e AR
Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries tH S A Ja 2 W) B4 ol i v AR - 4,090
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and LAY~ R BGEE  E 1R g AR
equipment (1,313) (147)
Net exchange gain e 52, 1 i V5% AH 141 89
Loss arising from termination of leases #e b E AR Y R 1R (18) —
Gain on early settlement of promissory notes P TR 465 AT IRE A 7R S8 SR R 1 i 4
payable (note 34(b)) (B 5E34(b)) 13,419 —
Gain on early settlement of convertible bonds - &5 {5 ] i J £ 25 14 U 25
(note 33(c)) (Fft5E33(c)) 3,748 —
15,977 4,032
19,106 8,113
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(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 8. BRBiHi (E1R) %Al
(Loss)/profit before taxation from continuing operations is arrived at PR ECE S 2 BRBLET (k548 T Bl TS 58
after charging/(crediting) the followings: BE GGEA) BAN £ A
2020 2019
TR TR —E -4
HK$°000 HK$’000
Tt THETT
(Restated)
(R HE )
(a) Staff costs: (a) HIHA:
Salaries, allowances, and other benefits B4~ Rl R HAb AR R
(including directors’ emoluments) (B35 I 4) 125,240 137,060
Contributions to defined contribution E FEALEOR AR T B 4K
retirement plans 3,880 3,863
Equity-settled share-based payments DB HE 46 B DA B S A 22 B S 7,100 37,007
136,220 177,930
(b) Other items: (b) HALEH :
Auditors’ remuneration % S i P 1,685 1,645
Cost of inventories B RA 73,392 71,272
Depreciation charge: e B 3
— owned property, plant and — WA - W5 R
equipment 7,673 7,968
— right-of-use assets — AR EE 5,577 —
Amortisation of intangible assets A TE B B 5,032 7,203
Total minimum lease payments for 0 AR 4 A Vs E ) 5 17 9
leases previously classified as R EREREZHEMN R
operating leases under HKAS 17 R B A sk g — 6,860
Research and development costs WFEE A (S8 A B Ah)
(other than amortisation costs) 3,962 4,543
Rent for special designated counters 5 R E M AR 42 51,884 52,860
Rental income from an investment A& B — HACE Y ZE AR Sl A
property less direct outgoings of TH B SCE R T
HKS$Nil (2019: HK$8,000) (= F—JLAF : 8,000 70) — (72)
Impairment losses/(reversal of WA G 4R (i (8 s TR 438 1)
impairment losses):
— property, plant and equipment — W WS R 677 —
— interest in an associate — A R N A R A 28,071 —
— intangible assets — mEEE 21,064 —
— goodwill — TR 35,375 —
— trade receivables — MEISCR (440) 862
— deposits — & 1,000 —
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8. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 8. BRBLHT OBH) A (4)
(CONTINUED)
2020 2019
CEORE CF M
HK$°000 HK$°000
T T L
(Restated)
(K H 1))
(¢) Finance costs: (c) MhERLA :
Interest on bank borrowings SRATAE ORI 1,147 846
Interest on other borrowings oAt A ORI 2,472 1,482
Interest on lease liabilities MEAEMNE 477 —
Interest on liability component of 2 HE B AR T A AT 0 IR R
convertible bonds measured at =R iDp DS
amortised cost 16,692 1,667
Interest on promissory notes payable T 6 AR w2 1) B AN 7K 5
measured at amortised cost =P8 ) R B 3,345 1,520
Total interest expenses on financial S I 4 A FE AR £5 09 BA B
liabilities not at FVTPL A AR FILE BA S A8 24,133 5,515
Interest on convertible bonds B H AT FH AR 55 1 AT
designated at FVTPL T A5 25 G ) B 13,090 15,240
Interest on promissory notes payable i 8 1 T EF AR 4 1 B AT
designated at FVTPL R S ZEHE I RIS — 213
37,223 20,968

180  Annual Report 2019/2020 4 #



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

f B S 955 it A B ek

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 9.
OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS

Directors” emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of

Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2020

AT B AR 4

MR 4 75 ik % |46 1) 55 383 (1) M Iz (A =) (3%
% M 1 R BB B A S
HMewr

BREZFRBEZA=ZHILER

Salaries,
allowances
and Equity-settled Retirement
benefits in  Discretionary share-based scheme
Fees kind bonuses payments  contributions Total
Fd - WK VAR 555 DAL N ]
ik egEayl WAL B2 itk ot
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
Tt T T T T T
(note vii)
(WfzEvii)
Acting chairman, acting chief — fCPLLIE  [CEfTRARNHTEF

executive officer and

executive director
Mr. Wang Xihua (Note i) E A (R — 1,678 — 424 18 2,120
Executive directors HITEF
Mr. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney ZaktE Sk (k)

(Note ii) — 1,650 3,000 583 28 5,261
Mr. Lai Wei Lam, William RS - 1,112 80 424 18 1,634
Independent non-executive B HATEF

directors
Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia A BE A 41 (Wi

(Note iii) 169 — — 26 — 195
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau Rt 240 - - 26 - 266
M. Tam Kin Yip el E S 240 — — 26 — 266
Mr. Leung Man Loon B RAE 240 - - 26 - 266

889 4,440 3,080 1,535 64 10,008
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9.

182

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 9. 3 RATBOERM e (B)
OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31 March 2019 KE_Z-NWFE=ZA=1T—HILEE
Salaries,
allowances
and Equity-settled Retirement
benefits in  Discretionary share-based scheme
Fees kind bonuses payments  contributions Total
B Wk DUBRRESS F LUK R B
ik WA WA B2z i3k ki
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt Tt Tt Tt Tt Tt
(note vii)
(Wt Rk vii)
Chairman, chief executive officer T/ » {THARNAITEE
and executive director
Mr. Chan Yan Tak (Note iv) BRI A (FifEiv) — 3,600 5,450 — 18 9,068
Executive directors AfFEF
Mr. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney Ly bt — 1,380 1,110 2,091 18 4799
Mr. Wong Ping Yiu (Note v) WA (Hsv) — 77 — — 2 79
Mr. Wang Xihua FHELE — 1,308 3,700 1,561 18 6,587
Mr. Lai Wei Lam, William RS — 965 690 1,561 18 3234
Mr. Liao Zhe (Note vi) BUEESEE (B akvi) — 1,262 — 5,783 6 7,051
Independent non-executive HLFBITEH
directors
Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia AfER L L 240 — — 603 — 843
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau RSt 240 — — 603 — 843
M. Tam Kin Yip R 240 — — 603 — 843
Mr. Leung Man Loon RS 240 — — 603 — 843
960 8,592 10,950 13,608 80 34,190
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE

3 AT BOE R 4 (A7)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 9.
OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(1) Mr. Wang Xihua has temporily undertaken the duties of the chairman of the
Board and the chief executive officer of the Group with effect from 1 April
2019.

(ii) Mr. Lee Chi Hang Sidney resigned as executive director of the Company on
25 February 2020.

(iii) Ms. Szeto Wai Ling Virginia resigned as independent non-executive director of

the Company on 13 December 2019.

(iv) Mr. Chan Yan Tak resigned as the chairman of the Board, an executive director

and the chief executive officer with effect from 1 April 2019.

(v) Mr. Wong Ping Yiu resigned as executive director of the Company on 4 May
2018.

(vi) Mr. Liao Zhe was resigned as the executive director of the Company on 4
October 2018.

(vii)  These represent the estimated value of share options granted to the directors
under the Company’s share option scheme. The value of these share options is
measured according to the Group’s accounting policies for equity-settled share-
based payment transactions as set out in note 2(w)(ii) and, in accordance with
the policies, includes adjustments to reverse amounts accrued in previous years
where grants of equity instruments are forfeited prior to vesting. The details of
these benefits in kind, including the principal terms and number of options

granted, are disclosed under the note 44.

During the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2020, no director of the
Company has waived any emoluments and no emoluments were paid or
payable by the Group to any of the directors as an inducement to join

or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office.

MERE -

@

(i)

(iii)

@iv)

)

(vi)

(vii)

74 5 e B A S
TR 2 TS > % JUAED A — H
H -

FEAEEAR SR EFET A S IH B
EARNFMATES -

AEER T LR E - UEF AT =
BHEA N AV AL BUATH R o

R ES A B TR - AT R AT
B AR U — B AR -

WP SRR % /R T A I H AT A
AFERATES -

\%}

B S TR — AR+ U H B AL
AATH S

T TR S AR PR AR N W 0 M IR RE T B T
0 J TROME 1) A B AR (T o % 5 R RE 1Y fe
R i BB G 2(w) (i) BT 81 A S [ A TR DA IR
ALV A2 S R BOR R & > A
S T A R B R A AR R 2 M A T
i B RIS R IR R o %S E AR I
FENG > LA T SR R IR O > R
GITA i FE44 o

WE T - NFERLFFFE=A =+ —
H Ak 4 BE > A4 ) #5548 41 i S AT T P
o T A SR [ S 0 16 A ] 2 o S A R A
FEATI & - A5 2% 055 I A A SR B = A AR
A2 8 R 1) 58 i 5 AfE W A L
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10.

184

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, none (2019: two)
are the directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 9, one (2019:
one) is an ex-director whose emoluments for the time being the director
of the Company are disclosed in note 9. The aggregate of the
emoluments in respect of an ex-director, Mr. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney,
after 25 February 2020 and other four individuals (2019: emoluments in
respect of an ex-director, Mr. Liao Zhe, after 4 October 2018 and other
two individuals) are as follows:

10. EH AL

BRI R # AL B (U
W) R WS mR R oMss » — 4
(ZF U - — ) BilEES > HE R
AT A 2 ) #  (0 IH  BR OBk R - A
B A AL B e R A S A (R =R AR T
H oI H2Z4%) Beos S 4 1 14
BB (& — JUAE - A BT R B S
R =& N+ HM B 248) X7 5w
AN LB ) I

2020 2019

CRIER SFE—IUE

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHsoo T

Salaries and other emoluments 4 K HAh N 4 20,313 5,732
Discretionary bonuses iy 15 A6 4L 6,200 4,560
Equity-settled share-based payments D) JBEHE 5 B DA 3 A 2 BH S 1,996 6,322
Contributions to retirement benefits schemes AR AR A F 1 101 43
28,610 16,657

The emoluments of individuals other than directors (including an ex-
director of the Company) with the highest emoluments are within the
following bands:

BEHA L (ROEEREAE SRR
R HAE ) B9 & A N SUAL A

2020 2019

TR —E U

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

A ¥ N ¢

HK$3,000,001 up to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 #5 7T % 3,500,000 7 7t 2 —
HK$4,000,001 up to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 % 7t % 4,500,000 70 1 —
HK$5,500,001 up to HK$6,000,000 5,500,001 % 7t % 6,000,000 5 JG 1 —
HK$6,000,001 up to HK$6,500,000 6,000,001 % 7T % 6,500,000 JC = 1
HK$8,000,001 up to HK$8,500,000 8,000,001 #5 7T % 8,500,000 7t = 1
HK$9,000,001 up to HK$9,500,000 9,000,001 % 7t 9,500,000 JG = 1
HK$12,500,001 up to HK$13,000,000 12,500,001 #5 7T % 13,000,000 7T 1 —

During the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2020, no emolument was
paid to the five highest paid individuals (including directors and other
employees) as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation of loss of office and no bonus was paid or payable by the
Group to the five highest paid individuals based on the performance of
the Group.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — % “FAE = = — H IL4F &

TAXATION 11. B
Income tax from continuing operations in the consolidated statement of SEA RS S H A A TH A RN I R A
profit or loss and other comprehensive income represents: RSB
2020 2019
RORE —EZ L
HK$°000 HK$’000
T#0 T#T
(Restated)
(R 1))
Current tax BV 31 50 I
Hong Kong Profits Tax B its R G B 6,806 9,852
(Overprovision)/underprovision in respect WAL GRBBAE)BEA R
of prior years
Hong Kong Profits Tax B its R G B (29) 57
PRC EIT H 12k 40 3 T 15 = 289
Deferred tax 9 4 B I
(Reversal)/origination of temporary T IRF £ B Y (5 1m0)
differences (5,268) 25
1,509 10,223
The Group is subjected to Hong Kong Profits Tax at a rate of 16.5% BE_FREZA =1 —HIEE > &

(2019: 16.5%) for the year ended 31 March 2020.

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed The
Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) which
introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed
into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on the following day.
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2,000,000
(2019: HK$2,000,000) of assessable profits of qualifying corporations
will be taxed at 8.25% (2019: 8.25%), and the assessable profits above
HK$2,000,000 (2019: HK$2,000,000) will be taxed at 16.5% (2019:
16.5%).

For the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2020, no provision for PRC
EIT has been made in the consolidated financial statements as the
Group has no assessable profits under EIT.

No provision for profits tax in the Cayman Islands, the British Virgin
Islands, Malaysia, Macau and Taiwan have been made as the Group has
no income or profit assessable for tax in these jurisdictions for the
years ended 31 March 2019 and 2020.

SEME16.5% (—F— LA 16.5%) WL
RN W RSB -

WoE—/HFE=H_+—H> %.5{%4«23@‘
R FE—LERLE (BRT) (R T75%) W6
TR (MERIFRE D) > 5IA RSB R
el R = F— E=ZH AN HEE
B M A B E R o R IR R
B AR > B B A 2R 1 2,000,00095 70
(= ZF—JUAF 1 2,000,000% 7C) MEFRBL i A
N4 8.25% (K —JLA © 8.25%) BB » i
82,000,000 7T (—F—JL4E : 2,000,000
W5 ) Y E R B i A I 4 16.5% (—ZF— L
1 16.5%) BB

WE T - NFEL T FE=A =+
HORAFEBE > JA &5 B 5 3 0 SR A oy o B

A%%%ﬁﬁ‘ﬁ AP 7 7 4 1 Sl e £ S
e 45 T 1 R i A

HRAAREERERE -~ UE R %
EZH = Bk AR I A B R
By~ DL R CRER - BV - WP KRB
SR ATAT AT B B WS R ) > K B
L 26 ) M LA o R A5 B A o
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11. TAXATION (CONTINUED) 11. BIE (4)
Reconciliation between tax expenses and accounting losses from TR RS S 2 Bl T B S B R B S5
continuing operations at the applicable tax rates: e R R E RN
2020 2019
TR —E—JUeE
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#t THETT
(Restated)
2«<$§U
(Loss)/profit before taxation BBl (ks 18) s A (55,481) 2,228
Notional tax on loss before taxation, calculated B il 548 A9 B s BLIH - 4476 Bl 2k
at the rates applicable to profits or losses in I 45 4 25 Y R [ Y
the tax jurisdictions concerned B RGA (9,715) (304)
Tax effect on non-taxable income I JE SR B U 10 B 5 2 (5,495) (703)
Tax effect on non-deductible expenses AR IR B S Y B R 2 15,128 5,473
Tax effect on share of profit of an associate JRE Ak W 2 ) i ) 1 T S s 2 (322) (561)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised o THE SRR T s 2 1) B S R 3,106 6,576
Tax effect of temporary differences recognised . HfE 52 B B 25 %A 1) Bi 5 52 28 164 194
Special tax deduction IR B T (217) (184)
(Overprovision)/underprovision in respect of AR B GBI A L
prior years (29) 346
Utilisation of tax losses not previously ) 1 o e SR B T i 18
recognised (1,113) (495)
Others oAt 2 (119)
Actual tax expense BRI S 1,509 10,223

186  Annual Report 2019/2020 4 #



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao 7 Y 20 R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE

12, CR IR RSS20 Koo Bk Fi
R B A S

. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND
DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD

FOR SALE

The breakdown of loss from discontinued operations is presented

B L A% Lk KR SE S 0 s R A AN TR

below:
2020 2019
SECRE SR
Note HK$°000 HK$’000
Wit 3 T#L THE T
Empire Access Limited and its subsidiaries Empire Access Limited }
(the “Empire Access Group”) HC Bt J& 2> 7] ([ Empire
Access2E [ |) (a) (61,281) (1,909)
Game distribution business AR AT 2
(the “Game Distribution Business”) ([EEBRIEATHEH ) (b) (33,396) (807)
(94,677) (2,716)
Attributable to: PLR AL -
Owners of the Company ENTNEIE ZEDN (89,185) (1,948)
Non-controlling interests IEPE I RE 45 (5,492) (768)
(94,677) (2,716)

The calculations of loss per share from the discontinued operations are

O A& 1k K878 S0 0 19 OB R ARDR T SO it

based on: wHA
2020 2019
TR TR —E U
HK$°000 HK$’000
T#T TH#ET
Loss M 18
Loss attributable to owners of the Company AAEHEA NEER A B &1
from the discontinued operations N 1R (89,185) (1,948)
2020 2019
SEORE CF A
Number of shares Bty ¥ H
Weighted average number of ordinary shares A A TR A A % R s 8 1% 3 I
for the purpose of basic and diluted loss per I HE - 25 980 (BT 14)
share (note 14) 2,364,154,919 2,123,002,150
Loss per share from the discontinued CAIE BB EE NS RIEE (D
operations (expressed in HK cents per A FIR)
share):
— Basic — &EA (3.77) (0.09)
— Diluted — (3.77) (0.09)
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12. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND
DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD
FOR SALE (CONTINUED)

188

(@

Disposal of Empire Access Group

On 27 March 2020 (the “Date of Disposal”), the Group disposed
of its entire equity interest in Empire Access Limited (“Empire
Access”) to an independent third party purchaser (the
“Purchaser”), Grand Spread Limited, for a total consideration of
HK$229,000,000.

Pursuant to the sales and purchase agreement dated 19 November
2019, first supplemental sales and purchase agreement dated 17
February 2020 and second supplemental sales and purchase
agreement dated 27 March 2020 (collectively known as the
“SPA”), the total consideration would be settled by:

(i) cash consideration of HK$68,800,000;

(ii))  the promissory notes issued by the Purchaser to the

Company in an amount of approximately HK$37,894,000;

(iii)  issuance of new promissory notes by the Purchaser to the
beneficial owners of Empire Access immediately before the
assumption of its ownership by the Company (the
“Original Owners”) in the principal amount of
approximately HK$62,306,000 in replacement of the
promissory notes issued by the Company to the Original
Owners on 5 October 2018 and 4 October 2019 in
connection with the acquisition of Empire Access by the

Company during the year ended 31 March 2018; and

(iv) releasing all obligations and liabilities in a maximum
amount of HKS$60,000,000 that shall be settled by the
Purchaser by way of assuming the payment obligations of
the Fifth Instalment owing to the Original Owners by the
Company in connection with the acquisition of Empire
Access by the Company during the year ended 31 March
2018.
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e EA S (M)

(@)

i 2 Empire AccessfE 4
MNEFEZEF=HEH (THE
AL - A 4 B i & H R Empire
Access Limited ([ Empire Access])
W2 R RE T s = BT ([ H]
FhHERARAR  HAEL
229,000,000 JG °

RIFEHWE —F—IFE+—H TR
HzHEE Wk DA ZF 24
TRATERZE B E
EHMA - E_RE=] " +LH
O Al T B ok (U [
Bk ) > AACAEDR L 2ty s £+

(i)  H41t168,800,000% T
(i) BEHFBETTALFMRLE
¥ & B4 537,894,000

5

&

(i) BE AT T BEALRRE
Empire Access T A HE A H i
EEmAE N (TR IR
N D) 08587 7K S8 SRR > AR
#)7562,306,000%5 7T » ALK
RARNFAEE ZF— )4 =
A=A — B 1L U Empire
Access M 1E —F—/\4E+H 1
HEZZ—Ju4E+ 1M A %
77 IR B AR LR
K
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Z—-NE=ZA=+T—HIL%
FE U M Empire  Access Ifii &5 K
SRR HEA NS AT Rz
5 3K BAT DAL B Bk B
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f B S 955 it A B ek

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE

12. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND
DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD
FOR SALE (CONTINUED)

(a)

Disposal of Empire Access Group (Continued)

Empire Access Group is principally engaged in the business of
provision of WeChat Pay cross-border solutions to Tenpay
Payment Technology Company Limited (“Tenpay”), an integrated
online payment platform, and the retail merchants in Hong Kong
(the “Disposed Online Payment Business”). The Disposed
Online Payment Business represented a major line of the Group’s
business in the online payment segment for segment reporting
and was regarded as a discontinued operation. The disposal
allows the Group to focus on the health and beauty supplement
and products business, streamline the Group’s existing business
segments and operations and sharpen the Group’s strategic focus

on its core business.

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited JE i B4 B (¥ %) A BR 2 )

12, CR IR RSS20 Koo Bk Fi
e NS (8)

(a)

i & Empire Access% M (4%)
Empire AccessfE B = A/ F 1 45 &
8L ST B B A ST RO TR
AE (THEAE ) R A i 2 2
BEBIAE ST I B M D 7 R 2 TS
([Tl ER LA EB]D - s
WS > S ER E AT EH S
A AR ST TR W R
LR OISR - hEF
TE 7 A 4F2 0 S0 R A T 92 2 Al
e il 2EHG - A A S B BLA R
SETS 4y HR AN A > 7 0 g A< 4 1
FoAZ 0 ZE TS () WM HE 0 T o
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12, CRIEFEZEH K B
e EA S (M)

12. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND
DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD
FOR SALE (CONTINUED)

(a) Disposal of Empire Access Group (Continued) (a) HEEmpire Access®: [H (4%)
CHER XM EBREE -F
—NFEZH=ZFT—HIEFE R %
—JUEN A —H E % E Y
ES VIR I

The results of the Disposed Online Payment Business for the year
ended 31 March 2019 and the period from 1 April 2019 to the

Date of Disposal are presented below:

Period from
1 April 2019 to

the Date of Year ended

Disposal 31 March 2019

SRS BEZLTUFE

WH—H#® =H=+—H

& H 1 JIKiey: 5

HK$°000 HK$’000

T T

Revenue I i 20,581 14,467
Cost of revenue W i AR (6,212) (7,792)
Gross profit EH 14,369 6,675
Other revenue and other net loss HoAh Wi A5 B HoAth s 18 1 B8 (485) (643)
Administrative expenses 1T B 2 (8,579) (7,955)
Finance costs il B AR (53) —

BRSO 3 2 i Rl
(5 18) 5,252 (1,923)

Profit/(loss) from the discontinued operation

Loss on disposal of the discontinued operation 8 B 4 IF 5845 275 2 50 (66,344) —
Loss before tax from the discontinued operation E #%¢ 1k #8745 275 2 bR B A
JiE5 18 (61,092) (1,923)
Taxation B IE (189) 14
Loss for the year from the discontinued O R R 2505 2 AF N 4R
operation (61,281) (1,909)
Attributable to: DL AN HEAS -
Owners of the Company EN/NEIE: DN (62,809) (1,402)
Non-controlling interests Ik $E B £5 1,528 (507)
(61,281) (1,909)
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12. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND

DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD e NS (8)

FOR SALE (CONTINUED)

(a) Disposal of Empire Access Group (Continued) (a) i Empire Access® [H (741)
The major classes of assets and liabilities of the Disposed Online W H I AR S A
Payment Business disposed of as at the Date of Disposal are as FEEE R ABENIT
follows:

Note HK$’000
B 5E Tt
Assets ¥ e
Property, plant and equipment W~ W K 16 371
Right-of-use assets i1 I R 18 786
Goodwill ik 20 113,373
Intangible assets MY E = 19 172,313
Trade and other receivables JREE A iR S A BB S K T 7,033
Cash and cash equivalents Bl KB EED 648
Assets disposed of O 294,524
Liabilities FA
Trade and other payables R AR B L At JRE AT 3 T (841)
Contract liabilities BHAR (503)
Lease liabilities iER=g =R (803)
Tax payable JEAH B I (259)
Amounts due to non-controlling interests JREAST JF 2 B 4 AT 27)
Deferred tax liabilities % 3 3 TH A R 36 (28,590)
Liabilities disposed of O 5 & i (31,023)
Net assets disposed of O 65 i 263,501
Non-controlling interests I PE R RE 45 (43,855)
Expenses incurred on disposal H B S IR AR B 173
Loss on disposal of the discontinued operation 8 £ % [F 8% £ b 15 (66,344)
Total fair value of consideration HARAE A F1E 153,475
Satisfied by: VL3 J5 &5 AT -
Cash B4 4,800
Fair value of cash consideration receivable JRE i B 4 A AE A A (B 65,831
Fair value of promissory notes receivable JE WA S0 SRR Y P {E 24 35,687
Fair value of contingent consideration payable C R SR ME AT AR 1 A T
released 32 5,983
Fair value of promissory notes payable released B %[5k JE A 2 58 5245 19 28 T 34(b) 41,174
153,475

12, CR IR RSS20 Koo Bk Fi
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12. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND
DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD

FOR SALE (CONTINUED)

(a) Disposal of Empire Access Group (Continued)
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in
respect of the disposal of the Disposed Online Payment Business
is as follows:

12, CRIEFEEIEH R B A
sHERMIEAS (8)

(a) HEEmpire Access®H ()
DB LSO ZER B4 &
BEeSEYRAFEINNE

2020

TRORAE

HK$°000

T# 7t

Cash consideration received* B i3 A A 4,800

Cash and cash equivalents disposed of BB S LB EEEY (648)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in H A R 2 D ) B A R B SR IR A AR AR

respect of the disposal of subsidiaries 4,152

* Partial cash consideration of HK$64,000,000 was settled by the principal
of convertible bonds redeemed by certain bondholders who are also the
beneficiaries of the Purchaser of an equivalent amount during the year
ended 31 March 2020.

The net cash flows incurred by the Disposed Online Payment
Business for the year ended 31 March 2019 and the period from
1 April 2019 to the Date of Disposal are as follows:

* WHEZREZA =S+ —HIE
AEJE > B B3 4015 64,000,000 75 7T
B & TERE AN R E T2
i ) R 52 A ) T 8 I i A 4
HEAT -

CHEREIMEBTRBE %
—JUHEZA S RIEE R OF
—JUEEPY A — H 2 8 H O
AR SR FER

Period from
1 April 2019 to Year ended
Date of Disposal 31 March 2019
SENE WECE U
WH—H® =H=+—H

A H O 1E4F B
HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt T
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating KAETREY (BT R, T 4
activities (e (1,237) 1,307
Net cash used in investing activities P T B) BT B v A (791) (243)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash B4 R &5EY 8,/
equivalents i A (2,028) 1,064
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE

12. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND
DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD
FOR SALE (CONTINUED)

(b)

Disposal group classified as held for sale of the Game

Distribution Business

In March 2020, the management of the Group intended to
dispose the Game Distribution Business as the Group would like
to streamline the Group’s existing business segments in order to
focus on health and beauty supplements and products business
and started looking for potential buyers. Further details of the
disposal of the Game Distribution Business after the end of the

reporting period are set out in note 48(c).

As the Game Distribution Business is considered as a separate
major line of the Group’s business, the corresponding operations
in the Game Distribution Business have been classified as a
intention of

discontinued operation as a result of the

management to dispose the Game Distribution Business.

The assets and liabilities attributable to the operations in the
Game Distribution Business, which is expected to be sold within
twelve months, have been classified as a disposal group held for
sale and are presented separately in the consolidated statement of

financial position.

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited JE i B4 B (¥ %) A BR 2 )

12, CR IR RSS20 Koo Bk Fi
e NS (8)

(b)

HRBATEE B AL E
iy B AL A
ROFEEREZH S AREEHEIE
{4 B AT B S > BRI
RS A A [ LA S B LA
TR e B 55 25 A o B 2 i
B G 5 $R VB TE E K - o AR
I IR BE AT ST I TR 22 WA SO B
F148(c) °

PR A0 S B AT SE 5 A o A A T 3
5 0 M8 S B S R AT 6
AR 56 9 IR0 L B o s A I
AT S 40 B H 1 AE 7 265

e BB AT B AL A R AR
(FE I 12408 A ) 220 30
PR B i i B LS - A0 R S
ARV M 3L 5
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — & " FAFE = = — H ILF &

12. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND 12, RIS B Ko AR
DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD SHER I EAS (8)
FOR SALE (CONTINUED)
(b) Disposal group classified as held for sale of the Game (b) HEERBITEBSBEAFENE
Distribution Business (Continued) MEEHE (5
The loss for the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2020 from the BE R - R REZ]
discontinued operation arising from the Game Distribution =+ — B ILE A G ST
Business are analysed as follows: M LB EFHBRSTNT
2020 2019
SRORE F
HK$°000 HK$’000
T THE T
Revenue We 2k 113,410 46,815
Cost of revenue WAt A (103,848) (45,357)
Gross profit EH 9,562 1,458
Other revenue and other net (losses)/income HAth i 2 K HoAth (F548) 7
WA R (171) 14
Administrative expenses AT 3 (2,595) (2,270)
6,796 (798)
Impairment loss on trade receivables R WA R Kk A 1 (30,002) -
Impairment loss on goodwill [ SR i (10,192) —

Loss before tax from the discontinued operation . #% 1k #8745 S8 2 bR Bl

Tl 15 (33,398) (798)

Taxation BLIH 2 9)
Loss for the year from the discontinued B IS S 2 N R

operation (33,396) (807)

Attributable to: AR AN HEAS

Owners of the Company EN/NEIE  Z SN (26,376) (546)

Non-controlling interests IE 122 1 1 4 (7,020) (261)

(33,396) (807)
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12. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND 12. OIS B Mo AR

DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD

FOR SALE (CONTINUED)
Disposal group classified as held for sale of the Game (b)

(b)

Distribution Business (Continued)

The major classes of assets and liabilities of the disposal group

classified as held for sale as at 31 March 2020 are as follows:

o B B AL ()

ﬁ@%ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%%@&%
i S LA ()
RoFZFES H T H
R0 0 o 5 AL i R
KA GPERT

Note HK$°000
B 5E Tt
Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment L/ E NS E ] 16 42
Goodwill (note (i) below) P (CF SO REG)) 14,369
Inventories Pty 542
Trade and other receivables JRRE A R R e L At R S K T 45,321
Cash and cash equivalents B4 T B4 S AE W) 672
Assets associated with disposal group classified BB A FrEH B B EAEH
as held for sale 1Y 60,946
Liabilities Ui
Trade and other payables FE AR R R T At AT R (61,876)
Deferred tax liabilities JE T TE A 36 (7)
Liabilities associated with disposal group BB R E GBS
classified as held for sale A B i A (61,883)
Net liabilities associated with disposal group B AR E GBS
classified as held for sale A B T AL (937)
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12. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND 12.

DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD

FOR SALE (CONTINUED)

(b) Disposal group classified as held for sale of the Game

Distribution Business (Continued)
Note:

(i) The movements of goodwill from the Game Distribution Business

(previously allocated to CGU D as defined in note 20) during the year

ended 31 March 2020 are as follows:

O A% Ik #8485 58 05 B o Tl M e A
e EA S (M)

(b) HEBREATHEG R
B AL A ()
W3k -

@) MEEZFFFE=H=+—HIE
AR PR ISR B AT S PR A Y AR
B E) (JoRT 0 R B e E R B AID
(F 78 "M E20)) WF -

2020

=

HK$°000

T-#0

At the beginning of the year TAAER) 24,561

Impairment losses recognised L e R (s 1R (10,192)

At the end of the year AR 14,369
During the year ended 31 March 2020, based on the results of the MEEF_FE=A=1—HIkL

impairment testing of the goodwill performed by comparing the

aforesaid aggregate carrying amount of the cash-generating units (the

“CGU”) from the Game Distribution Business with the fair value less

costs to sell, the Group recognised an impairment loss of
HK$10,192,000 on the goodwill. The fair value less costs to sell was

assessed by the management based on a valuation of the fair value of

total consideration of the proposed disposal performed by an

independent professionally qualified valuer.

The net cash flows incurred by the Game Distribution Business
for the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2020 are as follows:

AR o MR T RS SR AT
J7 ik By O bl e B 3 AT S B 4
AR B (1B 4 s 2k B ) Y AR
T {1/ B0 T (B B AR ) > A SR ]
il 2 P 2 i (5 4510, 192,000 75 T ©
ON ST (EL IR B A e I AR IR
ST BRSO A (R AT S R B A
FRAB A A V(B AT A A (1 A o

WBBEAT BN E —F—LER
SR COFEZHA =T HIREEE

AR BB EFHNT
2020 2019
CRIRE R
HK$°000 HK$’000
F#T T
Net cash used in operating activities K85 B T A B 4 v A (1,362) (8,324)
Net cash used in investing activities PTG S By 1 B 4 5 A (1) (63)
Net cash generated from financing activities 2K H Fil & 75 85 1) B 4 15 48 — 9,000

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash Bl e Bl 18

equivalents (W2 1 i A8 (1,363) 613
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE

13. DIVIDENDS 13. B8
The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the HERGARRRABE - NFE R _F
years ended 31 March 2019 and 2020. TAEZH =+ — H I AEE IR S -
14. LOSS PER SHARE 14. #REH
(a) Basic loss per share (a) EFREKREHE

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss for the
year attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted

average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

B IR AS R 4R ) H A F R A N HE
1 4F TRl 4R BR L AF 7R 2 34T 3 2 i
ik Sk S A

2020 2019
CTRORA SE L
HK$°000 HK$’000
T TH#TT
(Restated)
(R 5)
Loss i 15
Loss for the year attributable to owners of A A A N A A A
the Company i 45
— from continuing operations — R H R A T (50,505) (2,396)
— from discontinued operations — REAE IS LY (89,185) (1,948)
— from continuing and discontinued — K EH PR K
operations B#& 1 8 2B (139,690) (4,344)
2020 2019
TRORA ZE U
Number of shares e 8 H
Weighted average number of ordinary shares LR E TN f i
for the purpose of basic loss per share o IR T B 2,364,154,919 2,123,002,150
(b) Diluted loss per share (b) TR R

For the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2020, the diluted loss
per share is the same as the basic loss per share because the
effect of deemed issue of shares of certain outstanding share
options and convertible bonds of the Company would result in a

decrease in loss per share for the year.

WEFFR-F - FE=H
S b FRAEEE - I R
5 A SR ] A 4
T AT IR 2 T $ 0 (8%
L1 B 17 6 10 S B4
AR -
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15.

198

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Defined contribution retirement plan

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“the MPF
scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by independent trustees.
Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of

HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are members of
a state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated by the government
of the PRC. The subsidiaries are required to contribute a specified
percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the

retirement benefit scheme is to make the specified contributions.

Annual Report 2019/2020 4 #
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. Y3k ~ W Bk s

Leasehold land

and buildings
held for own use Furniture,
carried Leasehold Plant and  fixtures and Motor
at cost improvements machinery equipment vehicles Total
BT R
EER L 383
ER T =2 HEERE  Bom RS Bkl HH 5t
HK$’000 HKS’000 HKS’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tilkoo Tkt Tkt Tilkoo Tilkoo Tkt
Cost BAR
At 1 April 2018 HZF— WA —H 114,598 12,670 3,164 9,323 3,944 143,699
Additions through acquisition of subsidiaries BRI A AR B — 187 — 81 — 268
Additions wE — 411 385 4,157 1,077 6,030
Disposals i — (1,552) — (484) — (2,036)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 41(b)) 4 W ) (B 3E4L(b) (26,834) — — — — (26,834)
Exchange adjustments 5, 3 — (44) — (7) — (51)
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 REF-NEZAZ+—HR
ZE-NENA—H 87,764 11,672 3,549 13,070 5,021 121,076
Additions WNE — 1354 1,184 544 129 3211
Disposals i — (1,949) (38) (2337 — (4.324)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 12(a)) B A (R 12(a) — ) — (1,036) — (1,045)
Reclassification as held for sale (note 12(b)) FHB BTN E (3 1200) - - - (64) - (64)
Exchange adjustments [ 5, 7 4% - 47) - (15) - (62)
At 31 March 2020 REEZREZA=+—H 87,764 11,021 4,695 10,162 5,150 118,792
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses ES R YT
At 1 April 2018 BEZ— NEMA—H 8,237 5875 1,973 3,849 2,093 2,027
Charge for the year SR 3,088 2,065 654 2,094 884 8,785
Written back on disposals A AR ) - (543) - (141) - (684)
Written back on disposal of L — T 22 ) £ [

a subsidiary (note 41(b)) (FftiE41(b)) (808) — — — — (808)
Exchange adjustments EE 5, 3 — 6) — 2) — (8)
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 REF-AEZAZ+—HR

ZEJUENA—H 10,517 7,391 2,627 5,800 2977 29312
Charge for the year A I3 2,796 1,643 830 2271 821 8,361
Written back on disposals A A ) — (1,091) (38) (1,176) — (2,305)
Written back on disposal of subsidiaries (note 12(a)) A 2 IR I (B G 12(a)) — W) — (667) — (674)
Reclassification as held for sale (note 12(b)) TR BRI (3 1200) — — — (22) - (22)
Impairment 1 — 406 — 271 — 677
Exchange adjustments I b, i — (13) — 3) — (16)
At 31 March 2020 WEEDFE=ZH =T 13313 8,329 3419 6,474 3,798 35,333
Carrying amount I 1
At 31 March 2020 REFZREZA=+—H 74,451 2,692 1,276 3,688 1,352 83,459
At 31 March 2019 RZF—EZA=+—H 71,41 481 922 7,270 2,044 91,764

As at 31 March 2020, the Group has pledged its leasehold land and
buildings held for own use with carrying amount of HK$74,451,000
(2019: HK$77,247,000) to banks to secure banking facilities and

financial institutions to secure other borrowings granted to the Group

MNoEFEZFRFE=ZA=1—H AEECIK
O FRE BT 0 4 i R A (R T (B
574,451,000 7 (—F— JUAE : 77,247,000
WD) T—RET 1 AR EER AT

(note 30). Al AR AT B R T A A > (A
b £ 304 HE A0 5 (B 3E30) o
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17.

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. Y3k ~ Wb Bkt (48)
(CONTINUED)
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment W ~ W B A Ul A s 1R
Due to the expected deterioration of the future operating results H A A 1 9 AR R Mt — 3 i AR 2 JF AT
following the cancellation of the licensing agreement for acting as the REWh A% - T AR B SEEMAA 8
exclusive and sole advertising agent subsequent to the end of the 76 G RN RE20) 78 # 35 BA R 42 00 R A R 2K
reporting period under CGU A (as defined in note 20) of the Group, the Bl el AR E R TR =
Group recorded impairment of HK$677,000 on the property, plant and A=+ —H I FEREWE - BB s
equipment during the year ended 31 March 2020. There was no 677,000 7T o # 2 ZF — JLAE = H
impairment on property, plant and equipment for the year ended b — B IR - R B
31 March 2019. fH
Particulars of the impairment testing of the property, plant and AL B A AR AL AR RSB SO
equipment under CGU A of the Group are set out in note 20. AL T I S B 20
INVESTMENT PROPERTY 17. BEWE
2020 2019
e e 2.2 —E—LE
HK$°000 HK$’000
T#IC T T
At fair value AR R
At the beginning of the year T AEY) 8,130 —
Additions through acquisition of a subsidiary 4 [A] 27 i i Ji — [ BfF )85 22 =1 109
during the year (note 40) W (Fsk40) = 7,378
Fair value change NTESEE) (4,630) 752
At the end of the year AR 3,500 8,130
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17. BEEWE (M)

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement of investment property

(a)

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s
investment property measured at the end of the reporting period
on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair value
hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement.
The level into which a fair value measurement is classified is
determined with reference to the observability and significance of
the inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1

BB A PR
@ BFHE
DEEEIES T Fi3-C/F F4 S0

(B - 525 BOE W SR Al 0 R 4R 58
WA E T o S U A T BB
o 18 JU B 1358 A0 ST (B R T S E
R TE R o T R
I TG RR TR ST T AR (E T ik
Pt R 2 v B A R AR
E

SR AR TR — SR A R (D

inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in fhfE - JAFIE B A S R oA E
active markets for identical assets or AT B T By 2 oA A R
liabilities at the measurement date. {B) sHiE 2 A -
Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 o3 ﬁiﬁﬁ o5 AR A BE () 5fi
inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to fi{E : REREREE — 2z v BE W
meet Level 1, and not using significant }\%ﬁﬂfa ERIZS N K
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs BRI A BB EZ
are inputs for which market data are not R NN TR TN &
available. F T 5 O 2 i S
Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant 5 =5 i I RS WA i N B
unobservable inputs. flifl : HWRtEZAPE -
Fair value measurements at 31 March Fair value measurements at 31 March
2020 categorised into 2019 categorised into
RERZREZAEA—H REE-NEZA=Z+—H
DL T BN A P A FEDLF AR AT (B
Fair value at
31 March Fair value at
2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 31 March 2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
RoRRE W ZE— U
ZAZE+—H =A=+—H
MATE B BSH BER MATE  F-% %% H=H
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HKS$°000
T#x  T#x  T#x  T#x T Tix T Tl
Recurring fair value BN A R
measurement
Investment property: B
— Shop premise — Hong — i — A
Kong 3,500 = = 3,500 8,130 — — 8,130
During the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2020, there were no R ZF—JUE R R R

transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfer into or out of
Level 3. The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers between
levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting
period in which they occur.

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited JE i B4 B (¥ %) A BR 2 )

A=+ HILERE - 55— # s —
B2 [ MRS o IR MR S AR
B 2 D o AN A [ A UK R Y
i o U A W R - (L A 2 ]
REE AL 2 BRS
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement of investment property
(Continued)

202

(a)

(b)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The investment property of the Group was revalued as at 31
March 2019 and 2020. The valuation was carried out by an
independent firm of surveyors who have amongst their staff
members of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors with recent
experience in the location and category of properties being
valued. The management of the Group has discussions with the
surveyors on the valuation assumptions and valuation results
when the valuation is performed at each interim and annual

reporting date.

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

Valuation technique

17. & W% (4)
BE WA FEHHE ()

(a) ATHEFH )
AEEMBEY) R T~ AER
TOREZE A HEATEAS -
At (0075 b %8 S T B R AT AT > %A
ARy ET R A s TR
IS LR LR ERZE SiDDIEe RN
U AT 20T 0 ik (B AL B« i 45 T
T AR PR HOEAT AR (B - AR
VA L L0 Al M
At {EL &5 2R o

(b) HEHFE=HA Va2 EH

Relationship of
Significant unobservable  unobservable inputs to

and key inputs inputs fair value
T B i A
AR EEMASE ERATBEHANE  HATEZER
Investment property in Hong Kong
REEZ G E
— Shop premise Direct comparison method  Price per square foot, using A significant increase in the
assuming sale in its market direct market transaction prices
existing state and by comparables and taking used would result in a
making reference of into account location and significant increase in
similar nature properties other individual factors fair value, and vice
as available in the such as location, time, versa.
relevant market. frontage, building age,
size, floor levels and
layout, etc., which is
ranging from HK$50,000
to HK$61,000
The key input is: (2019: HK$111,000 to
Price per square foot. HK$165,000).
— A BRI BB SF ) R 50,000 T8 58 5 (8 A MR G i
Wit B2 H BT T E61,000% T (= L5 AR PNEEL ) I
PG ZREOERY T JUF 11,0008 RZIRA -
* 165,000 78) >

ERWARES - Ty
IR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (CONTINUED) 17. BEWE (4)
Fair value measurement of investment property BEY A VHEE 2 ()
(Continued)
(b)  Information about Level 3 fair value measurements b))  HRE=HAFEGFEZER (4F)
(Continued)
The movements during the year in the balance of these Level 3 N =R PR R A BRI 52 )
fair value measurements are as follows: B/
2020 2019
RORE TR U
HK$°000 HK$°000
T#0 T#IT
Investment property — shop premise BEWE — Wi — mB
— Hong Kong
At the beginning of the year ) 8,130 —
Additions through acquisition of a subsidiary A R 77 A S i — [ I 2 )
during the year (note 40) H s & (B 5E40) — 7,378
Fair value change INT(E A (4,630) 752
At the end of the year AR 3,500 8,130

f T S 955 A B ek

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE
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18.

204

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

18. fEHIHER B

Furniture,
Land and fixture and
building equipment Total
TRFL ~ He B R
b R g i At
HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000
T#IT T T T
Cost JR AR
At 31 March 2019 B FE-NFE=ZH=T—H — — —
B UCHE %‘P&ﬁﬁaﬁﬁﬁ‘—ﬂi‘ﬂﬂ
Impact on initial application of HKFRS 16 51655 1 5 2 13,194 78 13,272
At 1 April 2019 HZE—FENA—H 13,194 78 13,272
Additions NE 4,786 — 4,786
Termination of leases HILE (5,037) — (5,037)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 12(a)) B A W (B 12(a)) (1,313) — (1,313)
Exchange realignment JifE 5, 5 (153) — (153)
At 31 March 2020 Wo_EFE_RE=A=1—H 11,477 78 11,555
Accumulated depreciation e
At 31 March 2019 P E-NFEEH=+—H — — —
U RE FH A s B s A e
Impact on initial application of HKFRS 16 ESt A 5,244 13 5,257
At 1 April 2019 RFE—NFENA—H 5,244 13 5,257
Charge for the year SRR 3Z 6,260 16 6,276
Written back on disposal of subsidiaries (note 12(a)) S B A W) 2 B T (B R 12()) (527) — (527)
Termination of leases KR E (3.055) — (3,055)
Exchange realignment [if b, 3 (64) — (64)
At 31 March 2020 W_FE_FRFE=A=1—H 7,858 29 7,887
Carrying amount R VAT A
At 31 March 2020 B EEFE=ZH=+—H 3,619 49 3,668
Expense relating to short-term leases with lease terms end  FHL I 1 YR ME I 7 it S 15 S 7 e
within 12 months of the date of initial application of HIEE 1695 H & 1248 H "
HKFRS 16 ol TR S 1AL A R B S
— rented premises — B 336
Expense relating to leases of low-value assets, excluding PR (1 0 2 AL S5 4 R B S
short-term leases of low-value assets AN AL A A (2 e 3 L A 15
Total cash outflow for leases AH 6 B 4 00 AR 6,476
For the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2020, the Group leases various BE _LZ—-NFER_F_RF=H=+—

offices, warehouses, office equipment and carparks for its operations.
Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of one to five years.
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term
and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group
applies the definition of a contract and determines the period for which
the contract is enforceable.

As at 31 March 2020, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the
portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term lease expense

disclosed above.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19. EIEE &

Licensing
agreement Licensing
for acting as  agreement
exclusive for operation

Product and sole of online Sales
Club development advertising payment distribution  Customer
membership rights agent business Brand name channel relationship Total
it
WA R
WE— B AR R
Rz K2 B HE
MEMmesn ERMEE SPUHEER FTHEER  RHER o RFBR At

HK$000 HKS$000 HKS$000 HKS$’000 HK$000 HKS$000 HK$000 HK$’000
T#T Tt Tt T#T TET TET THT THX
(Note 1) (Note ii)

(Bf7ED (WfaEii)
Cost A
At 1 April 2018 RF— \FHHA—H 2,200 1,000 34,445 172,313 — — 2,758 212,716
Additions through BRI 2 R R E
acquisition of (Ht7E39)
subsidiaries (note 39) — — — — 6,560 6,179 — 12,739
At 31 March 2019 and REF— =R =10
1 April 2019 B=Z—=ENA—H 2,200 1,000 34,445 172,313 6,560 6,179 2,758 225,455
Disposal of subsidiaries I 2 R (R 12(2)
(note 12(a)) — — — (172,313) — — — (172,313)
At 31 March 2020 MR RFEZA=4—H 2,200 1,000 34,445 — 6,560 6,179 2,758 53,142
Accumulated amortisation and 3 &1 8 8 J W (H 5 11
impairment losses
At 1 April 2018 WEZE—\ENH—H — 591 5,809 — — — 150 6,550
Charge for the year R i — 143 5,781 — 374 352 553 7,203
At 31 March 2019 and REF—JUEZA =40
1 April 2019 RZZE—JUFEMA—H — 734 11,590 — 374 352 703 13,753
Charge for the year R — 143 1,791 — 1312 1235 551 5,032
Impairment W - - 21,064 - - - - 21,064
At 31 March 2020 WERZRE=ZA=1—H — 877 34,445 — 1,686 1,587 1,254 39,849
Carrying amount R T
At 31 March 2020 REF-FE=A=+-H 2,200 123 — — 4874 4592 1,504 13,293
At 31 March 2019 MF—NFEZA=1—H 2,200 266 22,855 172,313 6,186 5,827 2,055 211,702
Notes: [ 5E -
(i) Licensing agreement for acting as exclusive and sole advertising agent (i) B AT 18 5 T e — JRE 4 AR 2 3 AT R
On 11 March 2019, the contracted period of the licensing agreement in respect B ENEZA T —H o FREL T
of the rights to deal with gd.qq.com as the exclusive and sole advertising 0 5% B e — JB A AR A L o K A A
agency in Hong Kong for the operation of the online advertising agency B0 AR ST 2 RE R 2 AT RE B s 11
business was extended from 6 years to 15 years. As a result, the Group G H) I B 64F L = F1SAF o (R A i 5%
changed the estimated useful lives of such licensing agreement from 6 years to A T e AT A R 6 AR A TE 15
15 years, which could more accurately and appropriately reflect the changes in AT 5 I B T R R b S B A A
the Group’s expected consumption pattern of economic benefits embodied in B2 A O 2 RS ROR 4 TE I AR A L 2
this asset. ) o
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19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

206

()

(i)

(Continued)

The change in accounting estimates are implemented with effect from 11
March 2019. Effect of changes in useful lives is estimated to decrease
amortisation expense by HK$244,000 for the year ended 31 March 2019. The
effect of such changes in useful lives represents a temporary difference,
therefore it does not have any effect on the total amortisation expenses of the

asset during the asset’s live.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period and on 24 June 2020, the Group
received a notice of termination in respect of the licensing agreement for acting
as exclusive and sole advertising agent. The Group recognised full impairment
of HK$21,064,000 on the carrying amount of the licensing agreement for
acting as exclusive and sole advertising agent as at 31 March 2020.

Licensing agreement for operation of online payment business

The management of the Group have assessed the probability of termination or
non-renewal of the licensing agreement due to the occurrence of any non-
performance events and considered that the probability of occurrence of such
events is remote and the licensing agreement is expected to generate net cash
inflows for the Group with no foreseeable limit. As a result, the licensing
agreement is considered by the management of the Group as having an
indefinite useful life because they are expected to contribute net cash inflows
to the Group indefinitely. The licensing agreement has been tested for
impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that they may be

impaired.

Impairment loss on intangible assets

Due to the expected deterioration of the future operating results following the

cancellation of the licensing agreement for acting as the exclusive and sole advertising

agent subsequent to the end of the reporting period under CGU A (as defined in note
20) of the Group, the Group recorded impairment of HK$21,064,000 on the intangible
assets during the year ended 31 March 2020. There was no impairment on intangible
assets for the year ended 31 March 2019.

Particulars of the impairment testing of the licensing agreement for acting as exclusive

and sole advertising agent, the licensing agreement for operation of online payment

business, brand name, sales distribution channel and customer relationship for the years
ended 31 March 2019 and 2020 are set out in note 20.
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& E (4)
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a2 —E=A+—HH
WGEAT o AT AR D) > e % JUE
= A= B A B B SR AL
244,000 7T © [ A AT T AR 0 Y 52 15 Ja 10 ]
PEZESL > PRI HOR 6 2 A AT 4
303 7 i 60 B S AR

IR IR B B~ A
FI 7 9 05— o ¢
L2 T HEG VB < % =
St B AR B B O
S 2 W 0 O T 2 2 0
21,064,000 7t

() RCEH SRS 2w A B R

A S A B R TR AR ) R R A
TH] T3 A 1 BN B A9 T R e T RE A
Sz 58 7% B A A B R 2 AT R B R R AT
HE Th R TR 2% 7% S 1B ST e W) LR BEE 2 R
BLE R F AT o L > ARSI B 50 Ay T
TR e LA S R AT R AR DR R R AT
R T e TEL 30 20 RS0 2% A A BT RRCBE A
TR o 1947 RO B AT RE (A B G2 R 38 3 vl
R G AT W B -

ST % WA S 1R

H S % LR AT B K B o — J T AR T ORE I
1% > TH A B2 1) B 4 A A A 2 38 AL 52 20) 76
A AR 1 R A SR S B G AL > AR ER
B R DFAEZ A S A HIRAE B RS Y
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE

GOODWILL 20. w2
HK$’000
THE T
Cost AR
At 1 April 2018 R E— )NEN A —H 177,496
Acquisition of H365 Health Products Limited, CJ Pharmaceutical Wi fdt fE 365 {3 fd 72 i A PR A 7]
Limited and CV Virtue Limited (collectively known as 1 BESEAT RN W) S B AN A B W)
“H365 Group”) (note 39) (HL A [ 3652 1M 1) (Fff5E39) 22,383
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 N_FE—NFE=ZH=Z1—H K
ZE A A—H 199,879
Disposal of Empire Access Group (note 12(a)) &%Empire AccessZE [ (ff5E12(a)) (113,373)
Reclassification as held for sale (note 12(b)) BB FRE B (R 12(b) (24,561)
At 31 March 2020 e s =t = 61,945
Accumulated impairment losses BB H
At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 HE—NFELH—H -
SEESAS AR
ZEZ—JFEMH—H —
Impairment losses recognised 1 52 Ul (B A 18 35,375
At 31 March 2020 RoECERFEZA=A—H 35,375
Carrying amount R THI 1
At 31 March 2020 AZEZFIFE==+—H 26,570
At 31 March 2019 REF—NE=A=+—H 199,879
Goodwill has been allocated for impairment testing purposes to the T O ) e 58 DR B 4 A B DAAEAT
following CGUs: ERIEREINE
—  Online advertising agency business (“Division A™) — BREEEAREEE ((4HAD
—  Online payment business (“Division B”) — B EATER (4B
—  E-commerce promotion business (“Division C”) — ETMEBMEREES (4#Cc)
— Game Distribution Business (“Division D”) — WK AT NS ([ EBD )
—  Sales of healthcare products under H365 Group (“Division E”) — B R 36S LMY LRI REE 5 ([ 4330
EJ)
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20.

208

GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

The carrying amounts of goodwill (net of accumulated impairment
losses) as at 31 March 2019 and 2020 allocated to these units are as

20. 2 (#H)
CEUER B CEEEA =AY

PR R T (L (2 41 22 I (s 45) 20 T

follows: THEEEMWOT
2020 2019
CRIERE ZE U
HK$°000 HK$’000
Fusoo T
Division A IrEA — 31,214
Division B 7B — 113,373
Division C Fadiife 4,187 8,348
Division D D — 24,561
Division E 7 ERE 22,383 22,383
26,570 199,879

The basis of the recoverable amounts of the above CGUs and their

major underlying assumptions are summarised below.

Division A

For the impairment testing, goodwill arising from acquisition of Star
Root Limited (“Star Root”) and licensing agreement for acting as
exclusive and sole advertising agent classified as “intangible assets” are
allocated to the Group’s CGU A.

The recoverable amount of the CGU of online advertising agency
business has been determined by reference to business valuation
performed by an independent professionally qualified valuer on a value
in use calculation using cash flow projections which are based on
financial forecast approved by the senior management covering a period
of five years, and at a pre-tax discount rate of 15.3% (2019: 17.8%).
Cash flows after the five-year period were extrapolated using 2.5%
(2019: 3%) growth rate in considering the economic condition of the

market.

Annual Report 2019/2020 4 #

et B < A B TR ] < R A
E AR R R 0

4 ERA

UK WIEM F > Yk i Star Root Limited
(['Star Root ) T 15 M & J o3 B [ T8 &
JBE | 2 AT M R B o — R 4 A 2 B T M
Tih el S o Bl B AN AR 1) 2 B A A B A -

B R A R 2 S 2 B 4 i R R 2 T
[5] 5 RE T 408 22 BB ST A AR S A (L R A
12 ERAG AR > 8 B 407 2 1 W0 %
i R (R O AR T B A R TR AR
5 10 A% L I 9 7 2 AT [ 2 A BT
Ho HABLRTAE BL%15.3% :ﬁ?#nﬁ‘
17.8%) 5t o TAF MR 2 Bl & )

% i T B SR > #2.5% ( Jx‘?*jv#
3%) ¥4 R FBAMEH -



20.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fo 1 S0 % e % B

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — % “FAE = = — H IL4F &

GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Division A (Continued)

The determination of the recoverable amount of CGU A was
particularly sensitive to changes in the following key assumption for the
years ended 31 March 2019 and 2020:

— As at 31 March 2020, no sensitivity analysis is disclosed as the
increase/decrease in the recoverable amount is not significant to
the Group’s profit or loss.

— As at 31 March 2019, if the pre-tax discount rate had been
increased/decreased by 1% and all other variables were held
constant, the recoverable amount of CGU A would decrease by
HK$3,748,000 or increase by HK$4,300,000. Neither the increase
nor decrease in the pre-tax discount rate would cause the
carrying amount exceed the recoverable amount of CGU A.

The following describes each key assumption on which the management
has based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of
goodwill:

i) Budgeted revenue
The budgeted revenue is based on the projected revenue
generated from the online advertising agency business.

(ii)  Budgeted gross margin
The basis used to determine the value assigned to the budgeted
gross margins is the average gross margins achieved in the year
immediately before the budget year, having adjusted for expected
market development.

(iii)  Discount rate
The discount rates used are before tax and reflect specific risks
relating to the online advertising agency business.

(iv) Business environment
There will be no major changes in the existing political, legal
and economic conditions in Hong Kong.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, based on the results of the
impairment testing performed by comparing the aforesaid aggregate
carrying amount with the value in use of the CGU, due to the expected
deterioration of the future operating results following the notice
received by the Group in respect of the cancellation of the licensing
agreement for acting as exclusive and sole advertising agent in Hong
Kong for the operation of the online advertising agency business
subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Group recognised an
impairment loss of HK$31,214,000, HK$21,064,000 and HK$677,000
on the goodwill, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment
respectively arising from CGU A. Further details of the cancellation of
the licensing agreement for acting as the exclusive and sole advertising
agent are set out in note 48(b).

20. & (H)

6} iIIIA Al\g
REE_E - LFERL F ZFE =R
= BB  fEE B E R AL AR

T g ] < R AR 52 DT T AR ) S T
&

— RIEFZEREZA=F B
192 BUIRRE 20 A > TR T o [ R IE Y
Bhm, D S AR S T Y 4R A 3l R
* o

— R SEF-AE=ZA=Z+—H o B
I B 280, Bk D 1% Fe BT AT HoAt
SRR HAeEAHMAN
AT i [8] 4 %8 14 3 3,748,000 75 T B
14 1114,300,000%5 JC © B /i il B 2 1
B8 ¥R G SR T AR A B
4 7 AR A ARG AT i (] 4 o

B AT T (L T ol T T R
BUTIRE 2 A IHE RS

(i) Hit s
SRR ETPNE Y TN R AL E Y
FEA 2 R ER RO -

(i)  Hit BFIE
R DA B TE BRI R A 2 R A

BB T 4 2 i — 4 BT A 1
¥y % DR300 T 45 6 1T 4 T
s -

(i) B
TR B B 5 A B B R 7 e
B BAAE b R AP RS 2 4 R o

(iv) PR
Froule B BOIG - 35 R A TR
N ERE -

BWEZ-RE=H =1+ HILFE R
P LR 4 7 A B 2 bl AR T (B
FE (AT W TR 2 455 > AR 3
A WA AR T2 B A L A 4 L R
A TS VAT & i M R O — JE 50
Z FEATRER R A A AN AR TE R A A 2
Sl e Eile > MAREERE & ELEBEMA
BRI T I E A RS Gk
A 43 91 e R W9 (H S 131,214,000 IG

21,064,000 JC 5 677,000 JC - # 1 1&E 4T
R K ME— Eiﬁﬁz#T%%mMEz
NG O M EE48(b) ©

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited JE I BB (¥ HR AW 209



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao 1 S8 205 A Pl

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — & " FAFE = = — H ILF &

20.
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GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Division A (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2019, based on the results of the
impairment testing performed by comparing the aforesaid aggregate
carrying amount with the value in use of CGU, the management
determined that the recoverable amount of the CGU is estimated to be
more than the aggregate carrying amounts of net assets directly
attributable to the CGU, goodwill and licensing agreement for acting as
exclusive and sole advertising agent. No impairment losses in respect of
goodwill and intangible assets of CGU A are recognised in profit or
loss during the year ended 31 March 2019.

Division B

For the impairment testing for the year ended 31 March 2019, goodwill
arising from acquisition of Empire Access and licensing agreement for
operation of online payment business classified as “intangible assets”
are allocated to the Group’s CGU B.

As at 31 March 2019, the recoverable amount of the CGU of online
payment business has been determined by reference to business
valuation performed by an independent professionally qualified valuer
on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections which are
based on financial forecast approved by the senior management
covering a period of five years, and at a pre-tax discount rate of 17.5%.
Cash flows after the five-year period were extrapolated using 3%

growth rate in considering the economic condition of the market.

The determination of the recoverable amount of CGU B was
particularly sensitive to changes in the following key assumption for the
year ended 31 March 2019:

— As at 31 March 2019, if the pre-tax discount rate had been
increased/decreased by 1% and all other variables were held
constant, the recoverable amount of CGU B would decrease by
HKS$18,774,000 or increase by HK$21,624,000. Neither the
increase nor decrease in the pre-tax discount rate would cause the

carrying amount exceed the recoverable amount of CGU B.
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GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Division B (Continued)

The following describes each key assumption on which the management
has based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of
goodwill for the year ended 31 March 2019:

i) Budgeted revenue
The budgeted revenue is based on the projected revenue

generated from the online payment business.

(ii)  Budgeted gross margin
The basis used to determine the value assigned to the budgeted
gross margins is the average gross margins achieved in the year
immediately before the budget year, having adjusted for expected

market development.

(iii)  Discount rate
The discount rates used are before tax and reflect specific risks

relating to the online payment business.

(iv)  Business environment
There will be no major changes in the existing political, legal

and economic conditions in Hong Kong.

Based on the results of the impairment testing performed by comparing
the aforesaid aggregate carrying amount with the value in use of the
CGU, the management determined that the recoverable amount of the
CGU is estimated to be more than the aggregate carrying amounts of
net assets directly attributable to the CGU, goodwill and licensing
agreement for operation of online payment business. No impairment
losses in respect of goodwill and intangible assets of CGU B are

recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 31 March 2019.

On 27 March 2020, the Group completed the disposal of its entire
equity interest in Empire Access. Further details of the disposal of

Empire Access are set out in note 12(a).
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GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Division C

For the impairment testing, goodwill arising from acquisition of Soul
Marketing and customer relationship classified as “intangible assets” are
allocated to the Group’s CGU C.

The recoverable amount of the CGU of e-commerce promotion business
has been determined by reference to business valuation performed by an
independent professionally qualified valuer on a value in use calculation
using cash flow projections which are based on financial forecast
approved by the senior management covering a period of five years, and
at a pre-tax discount rate of 18.3% (2019: 18.2%). Cash flows after the
five-year period were extrapolated using 2.5% (2019: 3.0%) growth rate

in considering the economic condition of the market.

The determination of the recoverable amount of CGU C was
particularly sensitive to changes in the following key assumption for the
years ended 31 March 2019 and 2020:

— As at 31 March 2020, if the pre-tax discount rate had been
increased/decreased by 1% and all other variables were held
constant, the recoverable amount of CGU C would decrease by
(i.e. additional impairment losses of) HK$511,000 or increase by
(i.e. reduction of impairment loss of) HK$580,000.

— As at 31 March 2019, if the pre-tax discount rate had been
increased/decreased by 1% and all other variables were held
constant, the recoverable amount of CGU C would decrease by
HK$1,321,000 or increase by HK$1,510,000. Neither the increase
nor decrease in the pre-tax discount rate would cause the

carrying amount exceed the recoverable amount of CGU C.

The following describes each key assumption on which the management
has based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of

goodwill:
(i) Budgeted revenue

The budgeted revenue is based on the projected revenue

generated from the e-commerce promotion business.
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GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Division C (Continued)

(ii)  Budgeted gross margin
The basis used to determine the value assigned to the budgeted
gross margins is the average gross margins achieved in the year
immediately before the budget year, having adjusted for expected

market development.

(iii)  Discount rate
The discount rates used are before tax and reflect specific risks

relating to the e-commerce promotion business.

(iv) Business environment
There will be no major changes in the existing political, legal

and economic conditions in Hong Kong.

As at 31 March 2020, based on the results of the impairment testing
performed by comparing the aforesaid aggregate carrying amount with
the value in use of the CGU, the Group recognised an impairment loss
of HK$4,161,000 on the goodwill arising from CGU C due to the
unfavourable changes in the market circumstance ever since the
outbreak of novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”), which resulted in a
decrease in sales of CGU C for the year as compared to the budget and

a corresponding decrease in expected future cash flow of CGU C.

As at 31 March 2019, based on the results of the impairment testing
performed by comparing the aforesaid aggregate carrying amount with
the value in use of the CGU, the management determined that the
recoverable amount of the CGU is estimated to be more than the
aggregate carrying amounts of net assets directly attributable to the
CGU, goodwill and customer relationship. No impairment losses in
respect of goodwill and intangible assets of CGU C are recognised in

profit or loss during the year ended 31 March 2019.
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GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Division D

For the impairment testing for the year ended 31 March 2019, goodwill
arising from acquisition of IAHGames is allocated to the Group’s CGU
D.

As at 31 March 2019, the recoverable amount of the CGU of Game
Distribution Business has been determined by reference to business
valuation performed by an independent professionally qualified valuer
on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections which are
based on financial forecast approved by the senior management
covering a period of three years, and at a pre-tax discount rate of
20.4%. Cash flows after the three-year period were extrapolated using

3% growth rate in considering the economic condition of the market.

The determination of the recoverable amount of CGU D was
particularly sensitive to changes in the following key assumption for the
year ended 31 March 2019:

— As at 31 March 2019, if the pre-tax discount rate had been
increased/decreased by 1% and all other variables were held
constant, the recoverable amount of CGU D would decrease by
HK$2,171,000 nor increase by HK$2,437,000. Neither the
increase or decrease in the pre-tax discount rate would cause the

carrying amount exceed the recoverable amount of CGU D.

The following describes each key assumption on which the management
has based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of
goodwill for the year ended 31 March 2019:

(i) Budgeted revenue

The budgeted revenue is based on the projected revenue

generated from the Game Distribution Business.
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GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Division D (Continued)

(ii)  Budgeted gross margin
The basis used to determine the value assigned to the budgeted
gross margins is the average gross margins achieved in the year
immediately before the budget year, having adjusted for expected

market development.

(iii)  Discount rate
The discount rates used are before tax and reflect specific risks

relating to the Game Distribution Business.

(iv)  Business environment
There will be no major changes in the existing political, legal

and economic conditions in Hong Kong.

Based on the results of the impairment testing performed by comparing
the aforesaid aggregate carrying amount with the value in use of the
CGU, the management determined that the recoverable amount of the
CGU is estimated to be more than the aggregate carrying amounts of
net assets directly attributable to the CGU and goodwill. No impairment
losses in respect of goodwill of CGU D is recognised in profit or loss
during the year ended 31 March 2019.

In March 2020, the management of the Group intended to dispose the
Game Distribution Business and started looking for potential buyers.
Following the management’s intention to dispose the Game Distribution
Business, the assets associated with the Game Distribution Business
were reclassified as held for sale. Further details of the disposal group

classified as held for sale are set out in note 12(b).

20. & (H)

SED (48)

(i) HF EBFE
LA S TE AT BRI SR A (2 S
PR TE B AT 2 R — 4R BT BT
P)EA R T8RN

i -

(i) A BIE
ST R B B A B H G R R 3 S i
A I e I8 AT 2 2 R AR o

(iv) PR
T B BOA ~ T SRR
N HE RS o

AR BB A B 2 A R (B
il PR (A AT WA B ol 2 5 2R A LI
SE B 4 7 A L 2 AT i el e A R R B
e i B T B < A LA B R ) N (L
ZHIRHHE - REE_Z - LE=N
b b A R S 4 i A T R B <
HERAID 2 B IR R

A TR TR ] AR [ L B L
WREEATESS > WG IRBEER - &
T 46 L O AT AR BB AT
EHABNEE TR EARENE - 4
JE B R B 00 B A 0T 2 RIS O
B 12(b) ©

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited JE & BB (FB0) AR A 215



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rk 7 S 2% R B

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — & " FAFE = = — H ILF &

20.

216

GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Division E

For the impairment testing, goodwill arising from acquisition of H365
Group and the brand name and the sales distribution channel classified

as “intangible assets” are allocated to the Group’s CGU E.

The recoverable amount of the CGU of the sales of healthcare products
under H365 Group has been determined by reference to business
valuation performed by an independent professionally qualified valuer
on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections which are
based on financial forecast approved by the senior management
covering a period of five years, and at a pre-tax discount rate of 16.5%
(2019: 13.0%). Cash flows after the five-year period were extrapolated
using 2.5% (2019: 3.0%) growth rate in considering the economic

condition of the market.

The determination of the recoverable amount of CGU E was
particularly sensitive to changes in the following key assumption for the
years ended 31 March 2019 and 2020:

— As at 31 March 2020, if the pre-tax discount rate had been
increased/decreased by 1% (2019: 1%) and all other variables
were held constant, the recoverable amount of CGU E would
decrease by HK$3,263,000 (2019: HK$4,249,000) or increase by
HK$3,785,000 (2019: HK$5,205,000). Neither the increase nor
decrease in the pre-tax discount rate would cause the carrying

amount exceed the recoverable amount of CGU E.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE

GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Division E (Continued)

The following describes each key assumption on which the management
has based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of
goodwill:

i) Budgeted revenue
The budgeted revenue is based on the projected revenue
generated from the sales of healthcare products under H365
Group.
(ii)  Budgeted gross margin
The basis used to determine the value assigned to the budgeted
gross margins is the average gross margins achieved in the year
immediately before the budget year, having adjusted for expected
market development.
(iii)  Discount rate
The discount rates used are before tax and reflect specific risks
relating to the sales of healthcare products under H365 Group.

(iv) Business environment

There will be no major changes in the existing political, legal
and economic conditions in Hong Kong.

Based on the results of the impairment testing performed by comparing
the aforesaid aggregate carrying amount with the value in use of the
CGU, the management determined that the recoverable amount of the
CGU is estimated to be more than the aggregate carrying amounts of
net assets directly attributable to the CGU, goodwill, brand name and
sales distribution channel. No impairment losses in respect of goodwill
and intangible assets of CGU E are recognised in profit or loss during
the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: no impairment losses).
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INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 21. 7 — R BB 2 w) i B g
2020 2019
SEOFE CF U
HK$’000 HK$’000
T Tibt
Cost of investment in an associate, unlisted PG RE N A JE BT 70,000 70,000
Share of post-acquisition profit B A i B 455 s ) 5,354 3,400
Less: Accumulated impairment losses W BN AR (28,071) —
47,283 73,400
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21. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (CONTINUED)
On 10 May 2018 (the “Acquisition Date”), Shunten Entertainment
(Asia) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into a sale and purchase agreement with an independent third party
vendor, pursuant to which the Group acquired 45% equity interest in
Leader Shine International Limited (“Leader Shine”), a company
incorporated in BVI with limited liability, at a cash consideration of
HK$70,000,000 (subject to downward adjustment in respect of the profit
guarantee as described in note 25). Leader Shine and its wholly-owned
subsidiary incorporated in Hong Kong, Royal Kaiser International
Limited (collectively referred to as the “Leader Shine Group”) are

principally engaged in the consignment sales of jewellery and precious

metal ornaments. The transaction was completed on 23 May 2018.

Details of the Group’s associate at the end of the reporting period are

21. 7 —[H i 2 2 v B RE 4 (%)

REFE—EHEATA (BRERYD - &
N ) 2 4 [} 8 /A 7 Shunten Entertainment
(Asia) Limited 58— 2 M 57 25 = 7 & Jr#T 50
EE R o ARPE R Wk o A [ —
W B I L BE R RE A ST 2 A BRA
Leader Shine International Limited
([Leader Shine]) 45% 2~ f % » Bl & 018
£570,000,000 ¥ 7T (78 M43 B 5 25 2l ¥ )
LR N W) o Leader Shine S H it Fits
FE A ST 2 A B B s T B K S E I A
PR 2> 7] (%058 £ [ Leader ShinefE [ |) & 57
G R O S i - M S B
TR ERAZ T ZHEM

T AR - AR B I A R RERT AN

as follows:
Percentage of
ownership
interest
Place of Principal attributable to
Name of entity incorporation place of business the Group Principal activity Note
A 4R [ AR
REE:g &)
A A S T S Bl BTEE B 5k
Leader Shine BVI Hong Kong 45% Investment holding (i)
L Ja B T T 45% BLEREM
Note: Ff 5k
(i) During the year ended 31 March 2020, in view of the financial performance of (i) BEZFTAEZH = —HIEERE > Bk

Leader Shine Group, the Group has performed impairment assessment on
investments in Leader Shine Group whereby the recoverable amount of
HK$47,283,000 of Leader Shine Group was determined based on value in use
calculation, with reference to the estimated cash flows in the coming five years
and cash flows beyond five years were extrapolated by assuming 2.5% growth
rate using pre-tax discount rate of 16.6%. As at 31 March 2020, in view of the
continuous weakening of the retail market in Hong Kong due to the decline in
tourist arrivals following the emergence of domestic social unrest ever since
June 2019 and the COVID-19 pandemic ever since January 2020, which led to
a significant decline in the operating performance of the consignment sales of

jewellery and precious metal ornaments, the Group recognised an impairment

loss of HK$28,071,000 on the investment in Leader Shine Group.

No impairment on the investment in Leader Shine Group was made for the

year ended 31 March 2019.
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INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (CONTINUED)  21. 7 — [ B 2 2 w) i B 25 (%)

Summarised financial information of the associate Wk g 2 W) 2 B 25 R M
Summarised financial information of the Leader Shine Group, adjusted e R BOR BRI 25 SR iR > 3 E
for any differences in accounting policies, and reconciled to the T A T B i 2 e Y R T (B ME AT A B Y
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed Leader Shine % [E [ %5 & RHIE 9 #5 40 T -
below:
Leader Shine Group Leader ShineZE /3]
2020 2019
SEOBE B
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#0 T T
Gross amounts of the associate’s Tk oy w BB
Non-current assets IF B & 2,702 4,011
Current assets T B 23,250 37,499
Current liabilities i B=R (2,762) (22,662)
Revenue I %5 17,783 35,991

Profit for the year/period from the Acquisition R B H B E T U
Date to 31 March 2019 ZHZ=+—HY %R 4,342 7,556

Other comprehensive income for the year/period — 4F[A, B Yl H 1 & =T — JLAF
from the Acquisition Date to 31 March 2019 = H =+ B A A T
e i — _

Total comprehensive income for the year/period RN B RS H R R JUAR
from the Acquisition Date to 31 March 2019 = A =+— 0 HAH A Y AR
i) 4,342 7,556

Group’s share of profit of an associate for the IR AU H IS U4
year/period from the Acquisition Date to =H = AR A A A
31 March 2019 T 285 o ) ik 1,954 3,400
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — & " FAFE = = — H ILF &

21. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (CONTINUED)  21. & — [ ¥ 2wl /B %5 (%)

Summarised financial information of the associate kg A W) 2 BB R REZE (A8
(Continued)

Leader Shine Group (Continued) Leader Shine & [#] (#)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the b SR 2 A R B £ A BA TS R T
carrying amount of the interest in an associate recognised in the FRBA T T FDRE £ 2 R T (R0 B AR

consolidated financial statements:

2020 2019

SHCEE O

HK$°000 HK$’000

T T T

Net assets of Leader Shine Group Leader Shine%E [# 2 & & F(H 23,190 18,848
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in A4 [ it Leader ShineE [#] 2 fit

Leader Shine Group A HE A L4 45% 45%

10,436 8,482

Goodwill 7 64,918 64,918

75,354 73,400

Impairment loss IEREN 7! (28,071) —
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in Leader 7<% [ i Leader ShinefE [# 2 R

Shine Group fi 2 R T E 47,283 73,400

The associate is accounted for using the equity method in the AR BB R RN WA W LARE 45 74 31

consolidated financial statements. I o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE

22. INVENTORIES 22. 1+ &
(a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial position (a) LA MBSIR RN A & LI -

comprise:

2020 2019

SECEE SR

HK$’000 HK$°000

F#T THs T

Raw materials JEM Rk 19,038 22,005

Finished goods BB 12,352 7,060

31,390 29,065

(b)

The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an expense

from continuing operations and included in the consolidated

(b)  CHERE 2 R ALACHE SE W B SR A
R R A SOH Al 2 T R R A

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income is as BRI -
follows:
2020 2019
CRIORA ZE L
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T U5
(restated)
(R 5)
Carrying amount of inventories sold &R IR w (E 71,882 71,176
Write-down of inventories o AT & 3,157 1,950
Reversal of write-down of inventories (note 1) ¥l 77 £ 18 [0 (B k1) (1,647) (1,854)
73,392 71,272
Note: Bt &E
(i) The amount was resulted from the utilisation of obsolete inventories that (i) AT 4 B B R A A A RE

were written down in prior years.

BB A7 E
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — & " FAFE = = — H ILF &

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

23, TR sk B L A E Wk JH

2020 2019
TRORA SR
HK$°000 HK$’000
T THsTT
Trade receivables JRE WA K 48,027 78,075
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts Tl c R R A A (1,357) (2,879)
46,670 75,196
Other receivables HoAh R iR H 2,515 3,796
Financial assets measured at amortised cost 2 6 A B Y RS 49,185 78,992
Prepayments A A A 9,602 8,334
Utility, trade and other deposits KEE - B o N HAbE & 12,429 25,345
Right-of-return assets B HE 194 217
Less: allowance for doubtful debts W R R A (1,000) —
21,225 33,896
70,410 112,888
2020 2019
SECRE CF
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T

Analysis of trade and other receivables: JARE WA PR B L A ol 35 T 43 A

mr

Non-current portion I ik By F A 2,139 5,369
Current portion Vit Bl Ay 68,271 107,519
70,410 112,888

The amounts of the Group’s utility, trade and other deposits and
prepayments expected to be recovered or recognised as expense after
one year are HK$1,139,000 (2019: HK$4,860,000) and HK$1,000,000
(2019: HK$509,000) respectively. All of the other trade and other

KA K EE - B 5 R HAbYE & K FEAT
K TE TR A — 445 i e e R 2 B 52 00 T
1,139,000 7 (% — JL4F : 4,860,000 45
J6) % 1,000,000 7 (—F—JL4F 1 509,000

receivables are expected to be recovered or recognised as expense W TT) o TEHA T A JH A R i TR A B L At g
SRR VL 7 — 47 1A o ] s i R 5 B S

within one year.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

Ageing analysis

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade
receivables based on the date of revenue recognition and net of

allowance for doubtful debts were as follows:

23. WOk B Lt 1 WGk S (%)

R W o A
TR A A o R R A Wi i e R A
T AT AR B A 1R A0 MR 2 M A T

2020 2019

SRORE CEF N

HK$°000 HK$°000

T# 0 T

0-30 days 0%30H 34,531 40,697
31-60 days 31%260H 7,070 21,836
61-90 days 613290 H 438 7,892
91-180 days 91% 180 H 1,189 3,347
181-365 days 1813365 H 2,504 1,388
Over 365 days 365 H 938 36
46,670 75,196

The normal settlement terms of trade receivables arising from online
payment business are one day after trade date. Trade receivables arising
from businesses other than online payment business are normally due
within 0-90 days from the date of billing. Further details of the
Group’s credit policy and impairment assessment of trade and other

receivables are set out in note 4(b)(i).

43 b S S 7 AR 0 E MR BRI IE &5 A
WAEXGHWME—H - EA AR
W5 LAAI 2 ZE TS 1 IE AL Rk — g i 3 5% )
HFF0Z 90 H N H ] o 7 4R [ {5 & BUK D
T JRE e 2 s e L A JB g 3 T 22 Dok B WA 1Y
25 FEAE HOR R 4(0)() -
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — & " FAFE = = — H ILF &

24. PROMISSORY NOTES RECEIVABLE

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had a promissory notes receivable with
principal amount of HK$37,894,000, which is unsecured, carries
interests of 10% per annum and will mature on 26 September 2020.
The promissory notes receivable formed part of the Group’s
consideration receivables in relation to the disposal of the entire equity
interest in Empire Access during the year ended 31 March 2020 as set

out in note 12(a) to these financial statements.

24.

JRE WA A B SR R
MRoECREZ =+ REEAAR
4% 537,894,000 7T HY M UK 2 E
H B SRR ~ HAE R R 10% 518 B —
T FAESLHA AN H BN - BEOR 52
B ARERRNERE T T4 = A
= B 1L B Empire Access 2 7B
RE VS ) AR AB A — 58 0 > A B 75 e 35
FE12(a) AT K -

2020
SRR
HK$°000
T

Fair value of promissory notes receivable at A2 Tt R I T MSOR S8 SRR A TE (B RE 12(a))
initial recognition (note 12(a)) 35,687
At 31 March 2020 W oFEREZH =+—H 35,687

At initial recognition, the fair value of the promissory notes receivable
in an amount of HK$35,687,000 was measured based on the present
value of their expected future cash flows. In obtaining the present
value, a risk-adjusted discount rate of 24.18% per annum was applied to
the promissory notes receivable. The risk-adjusted discount rate was
estimated based on the valuation carried out by an independent
professionally qualified valuer by referring to the interest rates of note
issuers with similar credit rating of the purchaser. Subsequently, the
promissory notes receivable was measured at amortised cost by using

the effective interest method.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE

ok 2% JE W 4K 1

CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION
RECEIVABLE

The fair value of the contingent consideration receivable represented the

profit guarantee in relation to the adjustments to the consideration from

the acquisition of 45% equity interests in Leader Shine (refer to note
21) during the year ended 31 March 2019 as detailed in note (i) below.

Contingent consideration receivable is measured at fair value at the end

of the reporting period. The movement of the fair value of contingent

consideration receivable is as follows:

25.

R E N A TEAREEE -F
— LA = H =+ — H 1k 4F B Uk [ Leader
Shine [1145% B (2Bt EE21) 19 RE TR
P AL B s R AR AR o S SO T ST
FEG) o BUAR ME I ARAB T A 15 R 1 AT
(Hil 2 o BRI REN AT EZB T

2020 2019
TRORA SR
HK$°000 HK$’000
T T oC
At fair value: AP
At the beginning of the year AR - -
Fair value change A 1,735 —
At the end of the year JAAER 1,735 —
Note: B 5T -
(i) Adjustment to the consideration (i) SR A 1 o

According to the sale and purchase agreement dated 10 May 2018, the vendor
has provided a profit guarantee (the “Profit Guarantee”) that the audited
consolidated net profit before taxation of Leader Shine Group for each of the
years ending 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2020 (each a “Guaranteed
Period”) shall not be less than HK$10,000,000 (each a “Guaranteed
Amount”).

If the audited consolidated net profit before taxation of Leader Shine Group of
each Guaranteed Period is less than the amount of HK$10,000,000, the vendor
is required to pay 45% of the shortfall between the relevant Guaranteed
Amount and the actual audited consolidated net profit before taxation of
Leader Shine Group of each of the Guaranteed Period to Shunten
Entertainment (Asia) Limited.

As at 31 March 2020, the fair value of the contingent consideration receivable
are based on the valuation performed by an independent professional valuer not
connected with the Group. Details of fair value measurement are set out in
note 4(d).

As at 31 March 2019, based on the projection of the financial performance
performed by the management of Leader Shine, the directors of the Company
assessed that the Profit Guarantee will unlikely to be exercised and the fair
value of the Profit Guarantee is considered to be insignificant.

WEHM A - — /FHH+HOEEH
ko BT ORI AR R (AR D)
HlLeader Shinef M # % % —JLF=H
St HERCECEE A ST AR
AERE (5 By TARRB IR ) 1O SR 4 A TR
il A A1 A G R 10,000,000 85 T (45 4 [ R84
) o

fiLeader Shine 5 [H] i 45 1 7 10 [H] 1) 4% 25 %
G4 R BL Al 40 A K 10,000,000 G » HIl 5
J5 78 A 4% PR 7 1 i Leader Shine £ [ H
R 78 4 B BT PR A A AR A R BL T A A 2
[H] 25 i/ 45% T Shunten Entertainment (Asia)
Limited °

R oECEEZA =+ —H > SERBEIRE
B ST (B 7 R 05 B 7S 4 (95 ARE A0 [ 22 14 48 57
BN RRF  o AT (BT 1% O
sE4(d) o

ATE—JUEZH = — H o SR Leader
Shine & #L & 15 H 19 B4 5 2 BLAY T > 284
O E SRR > SR AT AR R e
K i Vi R AR a8 ) 2 P (E A 2 R K -
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26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

20. e kBReFHY LEME 2

OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION =g e
(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (a) BlE&RBE&EEYEE
2020 2019
CRIOBE R LA
HK$’000 HK$’000
TF¥Ho0 T
Cash at bank and on hand SRAT M TSI 4 57,157 65,497
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated it %5 & WA 5K UL & 1) Bl 46 K
statement of financial position Iﬁ%%@ LY 57,157 65,497

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank

deposit rates. Deposits with banks are made depending on the

immediate cash requirements of the Group and earn interest at

the respective deposit rates.

(b) Reconciliation of the consolidated statement of cash (b)

flows

The above figures reconcile to the amount of cash shown in the

consolidated statement of cash flows at the end of the reporting

period as follows:

AT B R g FARAT AR R e 4
TF BRI S, o A 52 25 R F B I
B 4B R 1 ERAT A7 3K Sl A% A B A
EiES 30 e DS

HEBeREREK

bt U B B R AR
IR B R Bl e A BHIR N R

2020 2019

RO SR

HK$’000 HK$’000

Fusoc Tt

Balance as above a4 4k 57,157 65,497

Bank overdrafts (note 30) BRAT % 3 (K EE30) (981) (39)
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated — A&F A Bl & &R B4 K

statement of cash flows 4% EY 56,176 65,458
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE

26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(o)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities

The table below details the changes in the Group’s liabilities
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities
for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as
cash flows from financing activities.

For the year ended 31 March 2020

26. Bi& ABleFEY RIS
& &R ()

Interest
payable on
liability Interest
component of payable on
convertible Interest  convertible
bonds payable on bonds
Bank Other  measured at other  designated at
borrowings'  borrowings amortised cost  borrowings FVTPL
BB REHn ‘HE
FELEES HERLEL]

fornfnas AR EHTRE

()

Contingent
consideration
payables

A ) o A R R

T 2R A A T RO ) T AR A
iz 58 W - 4 Bl M Ik Bl G
o MEEETELEBEAHER
O R A B I A R A S
S B4 it B 2R A 4 2 BT )
ZIEéEmLEZ:%%o

g%:?iifﬁzﬁ =+ —Hi4

Liability
component of

Promissory ~ Promissory ~ Convertible  convertible
notes payable  notes payable bonds bonds
designated at ~ measured at  designated at  measured at

FVIPL  amortised cost FVIPL  amortised cost Total

RERATH  GRERK RERATH  RBERK
it A R GARER AT R

Affeae Rfs MERAE  RARR BRAE RBEARE ENRLER EHRLEE  WEREE ERAESL At
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
Tibn Tibn T T T T T T T T T
(note 33(b)
(note 30) (note 30) (note 27) (note 27) (note 27) (note 32)  (note 34(a))  (note 34(b))  (note 33(a)) %d 33(c))
(H7E33(b)
(H3E30) (Hiks0)  (Wsk27) (Htik27) (Htik27) (Wil (WaEd)  (KaEsdm)  (WEE33a) &33(0)
At 1 April 2019 REZ-WERA—H 39,017 26,500 = 1,623 5,114 85,570 9,966 37,543 172,742 89,259 467,334
Changes from financing cash &AM 25T «
flows:
Repayment of bank RAA
borrowings (3,410) = = = = = = = = = (3,410)
Repayment of other BRI 5
borrowings - (40,000) = = = - - - - - (40,000
Proceeds from other new ﬁ'ﬂ?ﬁ iR
borrowings FH - 73,000 - - - = = = - - 73,000
Proceeds from issuance of BHTRREET
convertible bonds, net f% ?}\Iﬁ 'TU 3
of transactions costs = = = = = = - = = 178,055 178,055
Repayment of promissory fﬁﬁmﬁ M%
notes payable = = = = = = = (10,000) = = (10,000)
Tnterest paid EftFIE (662) - - (2936) (18,204) - - (546) - (2,648) (24,9%)
Redemption of convertible o B R
bonds — — - - - - - - (165,000) = (165,000)
Repurchase of convertible B e
bonds = = 1,033 = = = = = = (22,033) (21,000)
Total changes from financing RERSHEL Y
cash flows g 407) 3,000 1,033 (2,936) (18204) - - (10346) (165,000) 153374 (13351)
Changes in fair value et ] = = - (214) - (55,336) (9,966) - (7,742) - (73,258)
Other changes: Hi g
Transferred from other Wg‘ L] ﬂ
payable = = = = = = = 24,251 = = 24,251
Transferred to other # /\ﬁ o 55
payable = = = = - (24251) - - - = (24251)
Interest expenses HER% 662 - - 2951 13,09 - - 3345 - 16,692 36,746
Conversion of convertible LEOE
bonds = = = = = = = = = (92,088) (92,088)
Allocated to convertible PHEEMRBES
bonds equity reserve fE iRk = = = = = - - - - 8.271) 8.271)
Allocated to accumulated SHEE Bat R
losses = = = = = = = = = 869 869
Payment obligations TAE R &
released upon disposal BAFGRR
of subsidiaries = = = = = (5.983) = (@L,174) = (61,088) (108,243)
Gain on carly settlement fEREE 7 i - - - - - - - (13419 - (3,748) (17,167)
Increase in trade and other (¢ veeil
payables FEdsE - - 347 - - - - - - - kAT
Total other changes Libzaan 662 - 3,147 2957 13,09 (30,234) - (26,997) - (147,634) (185,009)
At 31 March 2020 RZFZFE=R
=t-H 35,607 59,500 4,180 1430 = = = = = 94,999 195,716
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — & " FAFE = = — H ILF &

26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 26. Bl B HY KB &
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION Ui 5 B R (78)
(CONTINUED)

(¢) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (c) RMEIEEIRTAELSAMZHIR
activities (Continued) (%8)
For the year ended 31 March 2019 BEZ-NWE=ZHA=Z+—H L4
&
Interest Liability
payable on component of
Interest  convertible Promissory ~ Promissory ~ Convertible ~ convertible
payable on bonds Contingent  notes payable notes payable bonds bonds
Bank Other other  designated at  considerati designated at ~ measured at ~ designated at  measured at
borrowings*  borrowings  borrowings FVTPL payables FVTPL amortised cost FVTPL amortised cost Total
BERAFHE

At AR SERATH  REENA ERATH BN
HERTEN  REMATHR FARGER AHRE SEARGE SRR

BETfERe R BIHE BHEAE SREMRE EMRGLEE BRI TRREE RIS At

HK$"000 HK$"000 HK$"000 HK$"000 HK$"000 HK$"000 HK$"000 HK$"000 HK$"000 HK$"000

T T T T T T T T T T
(note 30) (note 30) (note 27) (note 27) (note 32)  (note 34(a))  (note 34(b))  (note 33(a))  (note 33(b))

(M0 (MkeEso)  (ME2n) (WREE2D) (BGE3D) (MR (WEE34e)  (WEE33@)  (HERE33()
At1 April 2018 R=F—EMA—H 28119 5,500 165 7126 177,519 10578 - 310510 - 539517
Changes from financing cash flows: MERSR 28 :
Repayment of bank borrowings R (3,102) - - - - - - - - (3,102)
Proceeds from new bank borrowings ST ff AR 3K
H 14000 - - - - - - - - 14000
Proceeds from other new borrowings HOMRT 5 B 15 3%
i - 21,000 - - - - - - - 21,000
Proceeds from issuance of convertible BT W B 55
bonds, net of transaction costs R M
25 A - - - - - - - - 103,184 103,184
Repayment of promissory notes URRER R ]
payable — — — — — — (20,000 — — (20,000
Tnterest paid EHAL (846) - 37 (17252) - - 482) - - (18817)
Repurchase of convertible bonds e At - - - - - - - (90,000) — (90,000

Total changes from financing cash flows ~ FEB LR HHE

) 10,052 21,000 (237) (17.252) - - (20.482) (90.000) 103,184 6,265
Changes in fair value ATHEEH - - - - (23,049) (7.007) - (47768) - (17.824)
Other changes: Hfbss
Transferred to promissory notes EIN SIS
payable - - - - (68.900) - - - - (68.900)
Transferred from contingent A SRR
consideration payables & - - - - - 12,395 56,505 - - 68,900
Transfer to other payables BASBRERFOR - - - - - (6,000) - - - (6,000)
Interest expenses FER% 846 — 1,695 15,240 — — 1,520 — 1,667 20,968
Allocated to convertible bonds equity ARETHB G
reserve AR - - - - - - - - (15.592) (15.592)
Total other changes Hibgaa s 846 — 1,695 15,240 (68,900) 6,395 58,025 — (13,925) (624)
At 31 March 2019 REZ-WEZR
=t 39,017 26,500 1,623 5114 85,570 9,966 37,543 172,742 89,259 467,334
# Changes in the Group’s bank overdrafts are excluded as they are not # RET AL RATIE L 2 528 > )i
classified as financing activities in the Group’s consolidated statement SR I R A AR A B
of cash flows. G ERS B ARG -
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE

27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

27, AT MRk B L fib JE £ K JH

2020 2019

TR TR —E U

HK$°000 HK$’000

T T#E 7T

Trade payables JRE AT R 3K 3,038 16,251

Salary and welfare payables JREAS 37 4 B A A 15,028 23,388

Accrued advertising expenses JEFT B 4 BH S 5,899 5,187

Other payables and accruals A JRE A 3 T e RS 13,014 26,041

Interest payable on bank and other borrowings  MEAT 8847 Kz Ho Al 3k F1 B 1,430 1,623
Interest payable on convertible bonds 6 78 H2 N ST R AR i 19 7 6 %

designated at FVTPL T 25 A 1L, — 5,114
Interest payable on liability component of TR AR wH R A AT R R 2R A

convertible bonds measured at amortised cost {55843 1Y FEAH 1) B 4,180 —

42,589 77,604

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade

TR A IR - HEAST R ARHE A 85 5 I R

payables based on invoice dates were as follows: BT
2020 2019
SECEE CFEOUF
HK$°000 HK$’000
TG Tt
0-30 days 0%30H 1,486 8,304
31-60 days 31&260H 685 2,226
61-90 days 61290 H 248 721
91-180 days 91%180H 8 4,627
181-365 days 181%365H 170 4
Over 365 days 365 H 441 369
3,038 16,251

All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled or

recognised as income within one year or are repayable on demand.

TEUI T A AT SR R B FE At R AT S5 A I —
A TR 5 A BRSO B SR R
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — & " FAFE = = — H ILF &

28. CONTRACT LIABILITIES HRAE
2020 2019
TR R —JUEE
HK$°000 HK$°000
T#0 TH#IT
Short-term advances received from customers:  [i] & /7 YT B e 7 14 # TH
Sale of health and beauty supplements and S B LR (8 S 95 5 A &?E i
products — 96
Online advertising agency business A1 AR 283 880
Online payment business B b ST 2ES 21 558
E-commerce promotion business T B A R S 313 99
Game distribution business W EkBE AT ETS — 42
617 1,675
Contract liabilities which include short-term advances received to sale of G A0 B R G 0B A T BB A I T i
goods and rendering of services are expected to be settled within the TR 607 A LA S T A A A1 ) E R
Group’s normal operating cycle and classified as current liabilities. S A N B AT B JE R T ) A
Revenue recognised in the reporting period that was included in the A B R ST AR & A B R
contract liabilities balance at the beginning of the year was HK$633,000 Wi 4 2% 633,000 70 (—F — JLAF © 315,000
(2019: HK$315,000). #IT)

29.

230

AMOUNTS DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING 20, JE £} JE 52 I BE 45 3% 0

INTERESTS

The amounts due to non-controlling interests are unsecured, interest-free JEEASE I 2 JB AR i R T 2 JEHE AT~ Ao B R A

and have no fixed terms of repayment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

f T S 955 A B ek

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE

30. SRAT K Hth i 5k

2020 2019
SEo®E CE
HK$’000 HK$’000
T THETT
Bank borrowings: AT -
Bank overdrafts (note 26(b)) AT S (M 5E26(b)) 981 39
Bank loans, secured (note (a)) SRATE R > A (B k@) 35,607 39,017
Other borrowings: oAb AR 3 36,588 39,056
Unsecured notes (note (b)) I 2R (B R (b)) 26,500 26,500
Other borrowings, secured (note (c)) o2k > A I (B E ) 33,000 —
59,500 26,500
Total bank and other borrowings SRAT T FA 18 3R A8 7 96,088 65,556
The bank and other borrowings are repayable as follows: JH T AE R 2 ARAT SO A T
2020 2019
—Ro®E SEF AR
HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt THs o
Bank borrowings: AT
Within 1 year or on demand — AN B R R 36,588 39,056
36,588 39,056
Other borrowings: H Al 3K
Within 1 year or on demand — A N B R 59,500 —
After 1 year but within 2 years — BB E N — 26,500
59,500 26,500
Total bank and other borrowings BRAT Lo HoAth A 2k AR A 96,088 65,556
Less: Amounts shown under current liabilities i : i 5 & {5 T /8 4 %8 (96,088) (39,056)
Amounts shown under non-current liabilities IE I B A5 T s A = 26,500
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — & " FAFE = = — H ILF &

30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)

232

Notes:

(a)

(b)

Certain banking facilities are subject to the fulfillment of covenants. If the Group
were in breach of the covenants, the drawn down facilities would become
repayable on demand. In addition, all of the Group’s banking facility letters
contain clauses which give the lender the rights at its sole discretion to demand
immediate repayment at any time irrespective of whether the Group has

complied with the covenants and met the scheduled repayment obligations.

The Group regularly monitors its compliance with these covenants and does
not consider it probable that the bank will exercise its discretion to demand
repayment so long as the Group continues to meet these requirements. Further
details of the Group’s management of liquidity risk are set out in note 4(b)(ii).
As at 31 March 2020, none of the covenants relating to drawn down facilities
had been breached (2019: Nil).

All of the bank borrowings, including amounts repayable on demand, are

carried at amortised cost.

As at 31 March 2020, the bank borrowings of the Group are secured by the
leasehold land and buildings with carrying amount of HK$74,451,000 (2019:
HK$77,247,000) (note 16).

As at 31 March 2019 and 2020, the Company had the following outstanding

unsecured notes:

(i) In August 2017, the Company issued unsecured notes of HK$5,500,000.
The unsecured notes carry coupon rate of 5% per annum, payable
annually in arrears. The principal amount of unsecured notes is

repayable in August 2020.

(ii) In August 2018,
HK$11,000,000. The unsecured notes carry coupon rate of 10% per

the Company issued unsecured notes of

annum, payable annually in arrears. The principal amount of the

unsecured notes is repayable in August 2020.

(iii) In September 2018,
HK$10,000,000. The unsecured notes carry coupon rate of 10% per

the Company issued unsecured notes of

annum, payable annually in arrears. The principal amount of the

unsecured notes is repayable in September 2020.
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30. SRAT B HoAth 4 5k (%)

BT

(a)

(b)

A T SRAT AR ZUBRAT 25 o s AR PR
ST > BRI G R SR R - et
A G B 2 AR AT B AR B BF AR R > KT TR
NAHER BB IR 2R 17 2R RN R - T3
A B AT 5 ST B TR A ) R AT 2R AR
R

7% B [ 7 0 A L A S R S S IR
Ty A A S B A8~ % S R 1 R DT 4R
ATAS AT BB AT ot R SR s ko AR S B4
U B A 1 2B R O B EE4(b)
() M E - ERE=ZA=1+—H &EH
NI 2R A R T R R I R (—F— L
AR o

JIF AT SRAT A (G 45 25 3% oK B A9 )
T $E e 8 FRAS AR @

ROFECFEZAZ A REEMRIT
E R AT B b S R A - R AT (7
74,451,000 76 (= F — JLAF © 77,247,000 45
Jt) (F5E16) °

AR —JUE R FZREZ A= —H
AL Al PUR MR SRR AT 225 -

0) e e ol AN = BRI N/ B &
5,500,000 G 2 MEAL A ST o 5% M
JEAR S8 2 B E 4R 5 5% > JHA AR
A o MR SR 2 A BN —F
TR H AR o

(ii) e AN AN = IR N/ B &
11,000,000 G 2 MEALH 5105 © 3% 1
HEAT SR 0E 2 220 4F B 5 10% - H
AR o SRR AT SR 2 A
FHAR )\ E R -

(i) A E - NAEJLA - RN AT
10,000,000 7 7G 2 AL 5145 © 3% 4
HEAT SR 0E 2 220 4F B 5 10% - H
AR o SRR AT SR 2 A
T T IUERE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

f T S 955 A B ek

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE

30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(c) As at 31 March 2020, the Group had the following outstanding secured other
borrowings:

(i) On 30 March 2020, the Group entered into an agreement as the borrower
for a revolving credit facility up to HK$10,000,000 with a financial
institution as the lender. The revolving credit facility is secured by the
leasehold land and buildings with carrying amount of HK$35,521,000
and bear a fixed interest rate at 8% per annum for the first three
months and subsequently at 18% per annum for the remaining ten
months. Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Company
had early repaid the revolving credit facility.

(ii) On 31 March 2020, the Group entered into an agreement as the borrower
for a term loan of HK$10,000,000 with a financial institution as the
lender. The term loan is secured by the leasehold land and buildings
with carrying amount of HK$35,521,000 and bear a fixed interest rate
at 36% per annum. Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the
Company had early repaid the term loan.

(iii) On 31 March 2020, the Group entered into an agreement as the borrower
for a term loan of HK$13,000,000 with a financial institution as the
lender. The term loan is secured by the leasehold land and buildings
with carrying amount of HK$35,521,000 and bear a fixed interest rate
at 18% per annum.

(d) The Group has un-utilised banking facilities of HK$1,092,000 as at 31 March
2020 (2019: HK$4,167,000).

31. LEASE LIABILITIES

30. SRAT B HoAth 4 sk (%)

P aE - (280

() MOFE RS = H o AREE N
R A AT AR ST

@) AR CFFEZ A= AER
(FF 26 18 3N B — [H] 465 il A M (1
£ BN 3 3% 85 2% 10,000,000 7T
4G 3R A5 B0 Rl T L TR o IR IR (T
ARl b R T (1 2% 35,521,000 45 TG 1
LR -t B A 5 G A B = A
4 [ 7 A R 3R 8% w1 K A TR B+
8 7% 55 4E 18% L o i 4 0 i
HERAE > AN T AR AT BRI ER (S
BRI -

() MOEFEFE=ZHA=+H K&
[ (FE J £ 3 ON) B — ] 4 il b 1
(1 5 £ 3 N 5110,000,00075 I 1)
E WA B GHT 7 Wk o o I R R
T {8 £ 35,521,000 75 JC A LT 1 4 S
A HIC L 42 ] 7 A R 2R 36 % 5T
Bt M sz . ALRE
A0 R A o

(iii) ATERCBEZHA =4 —H o ARE
(R F 1 B ON) B — ] 4 il i R
(fF B £ 3 ) 513,000,000 TG 19
T (5 £435,521,000 %5 7G (19 FH 15 44t 2
L A 4 1 4[] 28 4F B R 18 % =t
S

(d) AZECREZA S0 AEEZ R
&) 4R AT A& £51,092,0009 76 (—F — L
4F 1 4,167,0007 70) -

31. HEA6H

2020
=
HK$°000
T# 0
Lease liabilities payable: JRE A HL B R -
Within one year —4ER 3,513
Within a period of more than one year but not 24 i —4= DL & > {H A 48 /i 4F
more than two years 199
Within a period of more than two years but not /4 AR 4FE L F > {H R i 1 4F
more than five years 18
3,730
Less: Amount due for settlement with 12 months ¥ : Ji8) & 6 /R i - 0 A 8 #4555 2 3K H
shown under current liabilities 3,513)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months FF i By A P R A AR A AR B AE E 2 R
shown under non-current liabilities 217

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited JE i BB (F i) AR AW 233



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rk 7 S 2% R B

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — & " FAFE = = — H ILF &

32. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION PAYABLES

234

32. BRAR AT AR

2020 2019
SRORE A
HK$°000 HK$°000
T#0 TH#IT
At fair value: WNTE -
At the beginning of the year AR 85,570 177,519
Transferred to promissory notes payable 13 A B A 7R 50 S B
(note 34(a) and (b)) (B 5E34(a) & (b)) (24,251) (68,900)
Fair value of payment obligations released upon & Fff & A 7 1% £ % %
disposal of subsidiaries (note 12(a)) AT EAT WA TE (K 5E12(a)) (5,983) —
Fair value change A THEE) (55,336) (23,049)
At the end of the year YRR — 85,570
Less: Amounts shown under current liabilities 8 @ i B & & /R & %8 — (37,878)
Amounts shown under non-current liabilities FE B B R & — 47,692

The contingent consideration payables of the Group represented the
following:

®

The contingent consideration arrangement arising from the
acquisition of Empire Access during the year ended 31 March
2018 to be settled in the form of promissory notes to be issued
by the Company depending on the achievement of the target
revenue and/or net profit of the subsidiaries of Empire Access, N
Dimension Limited (“N Dimension”) and Hoi On Technology
Limited (“Hoi On”) (collectively referred to as the “ND Target
Group”) for each performance year from 22 September 2017 to
21 September 2021 as defined by the supplemental sale and
purchase agreement dated 15 September 2017 in relation to the
acquisition of Empire Access by the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, based on the auditor’s
certificate issued in respect of the achievement of the Second
Target of the ND Target Group, the Fourth Instalment of the
consideration for the acquisition of Empire Access as detailed in
note (a) below was concluded to be HK$33,365,000. The
respective promissory notes in total principal amount of
HK$33,365,000 was issued on 4 October 2019. The fair value of
the contingent consideration payable was HK$24,251,000 as at 4
October 2019 based on the valuation carried out by an
independent professionally qualified valuer and the balance was
transferred from “contingent consideration payables” to
“promissory notes payable” in the consolidated statement of
financial position.
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ALE [ 2 SOOR E AT AU 3 R A4

®

R E T NF=H=1+—HIk
A JE W Empire Access T & A 2 DA
AN B AT 2 K L EEPE IR T A
AT 2 SR E PR AU
%Z%E%E/;\Empire Access Z [t & 2
A > T AR B A B A R (T 4R
1) Ml ZHMARAR ((E])
(#iF A INDHEEHR ) 5 %L
ENLAZTZHEZZZ—4F LA
ZH—AARBUEE CERAA AR
75 Al B Empire Access H i 25 — %
—LAENH I HZHiEE R
TR B H AR 5 K S

REE-F-FE=A=+—HI
AERE > ARPEAZ BT REND H R 4E E
R AR B AU R i
Empire Access 55 MHIARE GEF R
T SCH R (a)) B & E £533,365,0007
JC o A4 MR 533,365,000 35 TT Y A
BIRSLESE O A T — UE T A
HET - R _F—JUFETHIA »
AR 5 98 37 B 26 B AR A (R R HEA T 1Y
il {H > BRSK HE AT AR 1 A T (E 5
24,251,000%5 7C > &5 8% i 455 B SR
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — % “FAE = = — H IL4F &

32. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION PAYABLES
(CONTINUED)

®

(ii)

(Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2019, based on the auditor’s
certificate issued in respect of the achievement of the First Target
of the ND Target Group, the Third Instalment of the
consideration for the acquisition of Empire Access during the
year ended 31 March 2018 as detailed in note (a) below was
concluded to be HK$56,258,000. The respective promissory notes
in total principal amount of HK$56,258,000 was issued on 5
October 2018. The fair value of the contingent consideration
payable was HK$56,505,000 as at 5 October 2018 based on the
valuation carried out by an independent professionally qualified
valuer and the balance was transferred from “contingent
consideration payables” to “promissory notes payable” in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Following the disposal of the entire equity interest in Empire
Access by the Group on 27 March 2020, all obligations and
liabilities in respect of the Fifth Instalment of the consideration
for the acquisition of Empire Access during the year ended 31
March 2018 (as detailed in note 32(a)(v) below) were released.
The payment obligations of the Fifth Instalment were taken up by
the Purchaser as partial settlement of the consideration of the
disposal of Empire Access. Further details of the disposal of

Empire Access are set out in note 12(a).

The formula in respect of the adjustments to the consideration
from the acquisition of Empire Access during the year ended 31
March 2018 are detailed in note (a) below.

On 4 May 2018, the contingent consideration payables in respect
of the acquisition of IAHGames at the fair value of
HK$12,395,000 was transferred to “promissory notes payable”
following the issuance of promissory notes as detailed in note

34(a)(ii).

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited JE i B4 B (¥ %) A BR 2 )

32. BRARMEATCTE (4)

®

(ii)

(#8)
WEEEF - NLFE=H=1—H
1E4F B AR R A% BORT BEND B AT 4R
] 2 30w A B A T R R
WHE F-NF=H=1+—H
1F 4 JE Jg B Empire  Access ] £ =
HARAE (GRS T SCH BE () e &
FE £556,258,0007 IC o A& M B
56,258,000 5 JC (1) FH B 7K S0 55 95 20
SR =NETHHH ST o R F
—JAETATH > REERES
A A R R A AT 0 A (> ORI AT
RAE YA FE 25 56,505,00095 7C > &5
Bk B 45 A AR DL R 1 T SR B AT AR
T ] g = TR A R S ER R D o

AEE R A= B
B Empire Access 1) 2 e 1%
HERSE - NE=ZH=+—
H 1k 4 BE W Empire Access B 5
B R LR SCHEEE32()(v)) Y
ST AT KA O Rl - AT
HIRENETC B E T RE > B
&5 A5 8 Empire Access #5401t
& o & Empire Accessi) 2 FE 1%
OB K EE12() ©

ARREE - FE - NFZH =+ —
H 1E4F B2 Y Empire AccessfUfE 1Y
R EEF UL T ST R (a) ©

W E—AETLAMH > R B TR
WERIEAR A B TAHGames A7
{8 %5 12,395,000 75 7T 1Y 5 & EAF AR AE
g 5 [ MBS AR OL IR ] > WIS O
B 53 34(a) (i) °
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f B B 955 A B
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32. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION PAYABLES

(CONTINUED)

Note:

(a) Adjustment to the consideration arising from the acquisition of Empire
Access

Pursuant to the supplemental sale and purchase agreement dated 15 September
2017 in relation to the acquisition of Empire Access, the consideration is stated

as follows:

(i) HK$5,000,000 as refundable cash deposit (“First Instalment™);

(ii) HK$55,000,000 cash consideration (“Second Instalment”);

(iii) a maximum of HK$60,000,000 or such adjusted amount (the “Third
Instalment”) by the issue of the promissory notes provided that the
revenue in the ND Target Group for the First Period is more than or
equal to HK$8,000,000 (the “First Target”);

(iv) a maximum of HK$60,000,000 or such adjusted amount (the “Fourth
Instalment”) by the issue of the promissory notes provided that the
revenue in ND Target Group for the Second Period is more than or
equal to HK$43,000,000 (the “Second Target”); and

) a maximum of HK$60,000,000 or such adjusted amount (the “Fifth
Instalment”) by the issue of the promissory notes provided that the net
profit in ND Target Group for the Third Period is more than or equal
to HK$23,000,000 (the “Third Target”).

236  Annual Report 2019/2020 4 #}

32. BRAREATACIE (4)

Wit
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[H] 2 4l R 2 7 5555 17 23,000,000 7G
([BE=MEEED -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

f T S 955 A B ek

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE

32. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION PAYABLES 32.
(CONTINUED)

Note:

(a)

(Continued)

Adjustment to the consideration arising from the acquisition of Empire
Access (Continued)

The third instalment, fourth instalment and fifth instalment of the consideration
to be settled in the form of promissory notes based on the performance of the

ND Target Group are adjusted in the following manner:

A. Meeting the Targets for the First Three Periods
In the event that the revenue in the ND Target Group for the First
Period is less than the First Target and the revenue in the ND Target

Group for the Second Period is more than the Second Target:

ok 2% A X E (78)

Ff&E (4D
(a) W Empire Access s A 2 AR 2 # 2 (4)

FEHAND A 4E B 2 B DA R 50 S8 45 5 0 5
=0T~ B A B A RO AR B R AR DL
A

A. HEH =MA 2 H
A ND H R4 B0 ) i i 2
I B R ND B ERAE F A
LN ETE I s (T RER

Revenue in ND Target Group for the First Period

Third Instalment ND [ #7577 16 97 1 9 1 i HK$60,000,000
. = X [T
£ HKS$8,000,000 60,000,000 7T
8,000,000 7
Revenue in the ND Target Group
for the Second Period minus HK$43,000,000
Fourth Instalment HK$43,000,000 HK$60,000,000 ND F 5 5 = (2 19 HKS$60,000,000
50 B ( 43.000.000i75 60,000,000 7 ) " ( ¢ 2 343,000,000 7C * 60,000,000k 72 )
HK$43,000,000 HK$8,000,000
43,000,000 ¢ 8,000,000 ¢

In the event that revenue in the ND Target Group for the First Period
is more than the First Target and the revenue in the ND Target Group

for the Second Period is less than the Second Target:

AiHND B AR 8 S 1M A Wi B 2 I
AR F R ND F BEAE FA AR
s A A B AR E R

HK$8.,000,000
Third Instalment 8,000.0007& ¢ HK$60,000,000
=0 - HKS$8,000,000 ¥ 60.000,000% 7¢
8,000,000 7
Revenue in the
Revenue in the ND Target Group
ND Target Group for the First Period minus
for the Second Period HK$8,000,000
I:ounh Instalment _ ( ND A 1245 5] R HK$60,00({,OO£) ) . ( ND H 4 ] R HK$60,000\,OO£) )
R = 60.000,000 72 2 e 5 60,000,000 7t
e ait 48,000,000 7C
HK$43,000,000 HK$43,000,000
43,000,000i# 7T 43,000,000/ 7
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32. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION PAYABLES 32.
(CONTINUED)

Note: (Continued)

(a) Adjustment to the consideration arising from the acquisition of Empire
Access (Continued)
A. Meeting the Targets for the First Three Periods (Continued)
In the event that the revenue in ND Target Group for the First Period
is less than the First Target and the revenue in the ND Target Group

for the Second Period is less than the Second Target:

o A8 AT AR E (%)

P &E (4D
(a) e i Empire AccessE 4 2 R 2 i 5% (44)

A. EHE =HIFZ A B (5
ik ND A 42 5 40 ] i i 2 7
i R BND H R A A
DRV EnEep N st (T RER

Revenue in the ND Target Group for the First Period

Third Instalment ND A B4 [ A (A P 9 i HK$60,000,000
=00 - HKS$8,000,000 X 60,000,000 7C
8,000,000/ ¢
Revenue in the ND Target Group for the Second Period
Fourth Instalment ND F E7AE [R5 (0 P 1 i HKS$60,000,000
S5 43 - HK$43,000,000 * 60,000,000 7C
43,000,000/ 7

The aggregate sum of the Third Instalment and the Fourth Instalment
shall be capped at HK$120,000,000 in any event.

In the event that the net profit in the ND Target Group for the Third

AT AT UL 5 = 301 B 55 1 0k
HAH 5 120,000,00095 J6 2 B

s ND F A 42 B 55 = {8 ) ] g i ) 2>

Period is less than HK$23,000,000: J7423,000,0003 JC
Net profit in the ND Target Group for the Third Period
Fifth Instalment ~ ND H 155 5] 55 = 118 4] 141 19 24 7 HKS$60,000,000
G B HK$23,000,000 60.000.0007 JC
23,000,000 7T
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32. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION PAYABLES 32. 8% FEATHCHE (&)

(CONTINUED)

Note: (Continued) Fff 1

i

(a) Adjustment to the consideration arising from the acquisition of Empire (a)
Access (Continued)
B. Catching-up in the Fourth Period
(i) In the event that the sum of the revenue for the Third Period and the
Fourth Period is more than HK$231,000,000, the following portion of
the Third Instalment and the Fourth Instalment which have been
adjusted downward pursuant to point A above shall become payable in

the following order:

(aa) the following portion of the Fourth Instalment which has been
adjusted downward pursuant to point A above shall become

payable first:

L (A

W Empire Access s A4z Z A 2 973 (41)

B. TR S 1 8 ] P 2

@) A0 55 == A1 3 T 5 S5 W R S0 1 0 o 2
HUHH £ 72 231,000,0009 76 > B % -
SCAH ] A 5 0 R
FRIANY LA 00 2 T IR S A

(an) O b SCAH I R A9 L
N 45 D0 WY IR R R S T
Ao

Revenue in ND Target Group for the Third and Fourth Period minus HK$231,000,000

ND H 5 ] 55 = 1] 2 75 V4 1 147 1]
A4 &t 231,000,000 7C

HK$60,000,000

HK$43,000.000
43,000,000/ 7¢

(bb) if the sum of the revenue for the Third Period and the Fourth
Period remains in excess of HK$231,000,000 after allocating
the surplus to meet the Second Target, the following portion of
the Third Instalment which has been adjusted downward

pursuant to point A above shall become payable:

Revenue in the ND Target Group for the Third and Fourth Period
minus HK$231,000,000 minus HK$43,000,000
ND [ B 55 = 11 J2 55 P 181 497 TR 19 04 2k
231,000,000 7€ 1# 43,000,000 7C

60,000,000 7T

(bb) 15 =18 A [ % 5 DL 18] 3 B
B4 i 4 BCRE LE 43 T 28 0 LA T
SR A BB AE S R
231,000,000% 76 » HIl L 4% -
SCAHN 1R #E A = K
TE ) AR #4326 T DA AT -

HK$60,000,000
60,000,000 &

HK$8,000,000
8,000,000 7

(i) In the event that the net profit for the Fourth Period is more than
HK$49,000,000, the following portion of the Fifth Instalment which has
been adjusted downward pursuant to the point A above shall become
payable:

Net profit in the ND Target Group for the Fourth Period minus HK$49.000,000
ND H RS 1] 25 1 {64 1] 19 45 7 349,000,000 75

(i) i 565 170 {1 1 ] 149 40 F1) 22 712 49,000,000
W IT o B % b SCAR R SRR A
T FIE Y LA R 55 E T LA

HK$60,000,000

HK$23,000.000
23,000,000/ 7

The aggregate sum of the Third Instalment, the Fourth Instalment and
the Fifth Instalment shall be capped at HK$180,000,000 in any event.

60,000,000 7&

AT IS B R 48 =0 - S50 R 5
T K IE 48 % L 180,000,000 IC £
ERR -
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32. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION PAYABLES

240

(CONTINUED)
Note: (Continued)
(a) Adjustment to the consideration arising from the acquisition of Empire

Access (Continued)

C. Early Achieving the Targets
In the event that the ND Target Group can fulfil the revenue of
HK$51,000,000 and the net profit of HK$23,000,000 in a financial
year subsequent to the acquisition date and before the end of the Third
Period, any amount of the Third Instalment, the Fourth Instalment and
the Fifth Instalment which has been reduced by adjustment will
become payable by the Company to the vendors in proportion to their

shareholding in Empire Access.

Where:

“First Period” means the period from 22 September 2017 to 21 September
2018;

“Second Period” means the period from 22 September 2018 to 21 September
2019;

“Third Period” means the period from 22 September 2019 to 21 September
2020;

“Fourth Period” means the period from 22 September 2020 to 21 September
2021;

“Revenue” means the amount of revenue (as defined under and calculated in
accordance with the relevant HKFRSs) generated by the ND Target Group for

the relevant period; and

“Net Profit” means the amount of net profit (as defined under and calculated in
accordance with the relevant HKFRSs) generated by the ND Target Group for

the relevant period.

The fair values of contingent consideration payables as at 31 March
2019 and 2020 are based on the valuation performed by an independent
professionally qualified valuer not connected with the Group. Details of

fair value measurement are set out in note 4(d).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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33. CONVERTIBLE BONDS 33. A %R
2020 2019
SEo®E SF
HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt Tt
Liability component ﬁ R & 45
Convertible bonds issued on 12 October 2017 AZE—LAETH T ZHETIE
designated at FVTPL (note (a)) FEFR NS TERE AR 45 09 A] R
55 (Ffft(a)) — 172,742

Liability component of convertible bonds issued & —ZF— JLF = H T = H #174#%
on 13 February 2019 measured at amortised 0 68 AR 0 T 4 I R S A

costs (note (b)) R (HEE (D)) — 89,259
Liability component of convertible bonds issued & — & — JL4F + H U H 17

on 4 October 2019 measured at amortised T B B A wH R Y AT 4R

costs (note (c)) & BB (KEE()) 94,999 —
Total liability component of convertible bonds 1 4 I {5 5 & & # /> #5H 94,999 262,001
Less: Amounts shown under current liabilities ¥ : ¥ B & & T /R & 4 = (262,001)
Amounts shown under non-current liabilities B R B = K= 0 o 94,999 —
Equity component RE2S T 43
Equity component of convertible bonds issued i —ZF—JLFE " H T = HEETH

on 13 February 2019 (note (b)) Tfﬁ%ﬁxfa#% B (B E (b)) — 15,592
Equity component of convertible bonds issued & . ZF— JLAFE+ H 0 H #4711

on 4 October 2019 (note (c)) A A R A 75 M 4 E 0 (B GE () 4,942 —
Total equity component of convertible bonds R AR I AR R i TS 0 AL 4,942 15,592
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33. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (CONTINUED) 33. AR 2 (4)

Notes: FRF5E -
(a) Convertible bonds issued on 12 October 2017 designated at FVTPL (“CB (a) WoF—LETH T HBITIREHA T
20177) A RH AR 25 W TR A S ([ =% — B4R
BB
On 12 October 2017, the Company issued 6% per annum unsecured R oE—EFE+H T H  RAF RASLE
convertible bonds with a principal amount of HK$265,000,000 to six SLER = AT AR 48 15 265,000,000 75 5T M 4

242

independent third parties which will mature on their second anniversary on 12
October 2019 following the issue of CB 2017. The bondholders have the right
at any time during the conversion period to convert, the whole or any part of
the outstanding principal amount of the CB 2017 into the ordinary shares of
the Company at HK$4.65 per conversion share (adjusted to HK$1.1625 per
conversion share due to share subdivision that took place at 5 December 2017)
provided that, if the conversion price in force on the date falling on the first
anniversary of the issue date of the CB 2017 is more than HK$4.00 per
conversion share (adjusted to HK$1.00 per conversion share due to the
abovementioned share subdivision), the conversion price of the CB 2017 shall
be reset on that date so that it is equal to HK$4.00 per conversion share
(adjusted to HK$1.00 per conversion share due to the abovementioned Share
Subdivision). The conversion period commences from 45 days after the date of
issue and ending on the maturity date. The CB 2017 bears interest from the
date of issue at the rate of 6% per annum on the principal amount of the CB
2017 payable by the Company semi-annually in arrears on 12 April and 12

October in each year.

Unless previously redeemed or converted or purchased and cancelled as
provided herein, the Company shall redeem the CB 2017, which remains
outstanding on the maturity date with an one-off lump sum equal to the
aggregate of the outstanding principal amount of the CB 2017 to be redeemed
plus an amount that would make up an aggregate return on the outstanding
principal amount of the CB 2017 of 8.5% per annum (for the avoidance of
doubt, the aggregate return shall take into account all interest accrued and paid
on the CB 2017 and all cash flow received by the bondholders from the date
of issue of the CB 2017 and up to and including the maturity date, but
excluding any default interest, other expenses and indemnified amounts
received or receivable by the bondholders in respect of the CB 2017), together

with payment of any accrued but unpaid interest, if any.

Any bondholder may require the Company to redeem any part of the CB 2017
held by the bondholder in event of the occurrence of any events of default
defined in the instrument of the CB 2017 dated 12 October 2017 (the
“Instrument”), in which event the CB 2017 so redeemed shall become due
and repayable on the date falling 21 business days after the date of such
notice. Upon such redemption, the Company shall pay the bondholders 120%
of the outstanding principal amount together with any accrued but unpaid

interest, if any.

Annual Report 2019/2020 4 #

BB 6% 3 #5  BE AT A — L A AT R A
B AR G —F—UFET A= H) 3
A0 AR AT R RS S o B RE A A A HER
e B30 1 o TRt — A T R R R R
A AT 0T 5 43 0 A R A B IR 4R R
e tird.65WC (B —F — L4+ HIH
HEAT 2 I A A A T AR R A R R A R
11625 70 ) f 48 F AR 8 ) 5 78 e > M i 7
TF— LR R R E S BT AR S —
AT H A R R R O A R AR R B 443 4.00
5T (T I 0 P 0734 40 7 S o o O 480 g i
31,005 70) > 2 — LA Al R AR R 1 4
A 5% H EE R > DABUCHL SR N 9 iR
JE 8 1534.00 35 76 (K] L %t J8 £33 400 1 o 4 2
A B A B R 091,006 7)o 6 B 30 R 347 HI
A4S HAE R R W H E - & — LA
i %5 i 34T A R 44 =B — BRI
JB M8 5 A S R 6% w1 B, > 3l 28 AR N\ A
R A A KA AR AR A
#U/—\— o

Wk I 5 T D ] s A0 A i 7 R S
BeREat o 73 AR 24 R A — YO A8 A (A
SEA S T M 2 T — L AR R R R
R B AR B L I R AR S B RT BE 2
SE LR AR R WA EIR A S 2 R
I 0 2 4 AR A AR (5 S BT > ARl O R
B =T —LAE W R A 25 2 T A ERE R 2
MR N B & —LAF i
B 84T B =B B (BHEaZ H)
e 2 T AT B > M A ELAR AR T A0
B AP S B AR A =% — 4]
B AT L o R i A 1 ) ) R
o] 18 LR S AL, (A A) 22 ARk 3 T
B H R R 2 —F LA R

WEEE AN - F-LETA AN
T LA AT R AR IR SO (T30 )) T 5
AR AT AT > AR SRR A AT ER
EA L IR AL SR NG ik SR e 1
T LA RS > TEULUL T > JRULIE
] 2 = 2 — L A R R o e A B
N H 2 LA 2 B T
R o AT Hh A R [T IR - A2 R 1 0
FE A NSO R R AR 8 2 120% > ]
AT ] HEFHEL R S AT 2 FLE () o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

f T S 955 A B ek
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33. Al fE I ()

33. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(a)

(Continued)

Convertible bonds issued on 12 October 2017 designated at FVTPL (“CB
2017”) (Continued)

Also, any bondholder may require the Company to redeem any part of the CB
2017 held by the bondholder in event of the occurrence of any change of
control event defined in the Instrument and after such change of control event
the closing price of the shares of the Company quoted on the Stock Exchange
falls below the conversion price of 5 consecutive trading days of the Stock
Exchange (provided always that the exercise of conversion rights by the
bondholders individually or collectively into conversion shares that result in
30% or more of the voting rights of the issued share capital of the Company or
the reduction of the voting rights of the issued share capital of the Company
held by the existing controlling shareholders to below 30% shall not constitute
or be taken as a change of control event), in which event the CB 2017 so
redeemed shall become due and repayable on the date falling 21 business days
after the date of such notice. Upon such redemption, the Company shall pay
the bondholders an one-off lump sum equal to the aggregate outstanding
principal amount of the CB 2017 to be redeemed plus an amount that would
make up an aggregate return on the outstanding principal amount of the CB
2017 of 8.5% per annum (for the avoidance of doubt, the aggregate return shall
take into account all interest accrued and paid on the CB 2017 and all cash
flow received by the bondholders from the date of issue of the CB 2017 and
up to and including the date of redemption, but excluding any default interest,
other expenses and indemnified amounts received or receivable by the
bondholders in respect of the CB 2017), together with payment of any accrued
but unpaid interest, if any.

The Company may redeem all the outstanding CB 2017 at any time on and
after the first anniversary of the issue date of the CB 2017 and prior to the
maturity date, by the Company serving a 30 days’ prior written notice to the
bondholders, provided that no such redemption may be made unless the closing
price of a share of the Company for any 25 consecutive dealing days on which
dealings in the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange took place, the
last day of such 25-dealing day period falling within five dealing days prior to
the date upon which notice of such redemption is given, is at least 130% of the
then conversion price. Upon such redemption, the Company shall pay the
bondholders a lump sum equal to the aggregate outstanding principal amount of
the CB 2017 to be redeemed plus an amount that would make up an aggregate
return on the outstanding principal amount of the CB 2017 of 8.5% per annum
(for the avoidance of doubt, the aggregate return shall take into account all
interest accrued and paid on the CB 2017 and all cash flow received by the
bondholders from the date of issue of the CB 2017 and up to and including the
date of redemption, but excluding any default interest, other expenses and
indemnified amounts received or receivable by the bondholders in respect of
the CB 2017) together with payment of any accrued but unpaid interest, if any.
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33. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(a)

Convertible bonds issued on 12 October 2017 designated at FVTPL (“CB
2017”’) (Continued)

Also, the conversion price is subject to adjustments from time to time
regarding certain events described in the Instrument. The CB 2017 include a
conversion option that will or may not be settled other than by the exchange of
a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the
Company’s ordinary shares and accordingly the conversion option does not
meet the definition of an equity instrument. Further, as described above, the
CB 2017 include early redemption options exercisable by the Company or the
bondholders.

With these embedded derivatives that are not considered closely related to the
host debt component, management of the Company decided to designate the
CB 2017 as a whole as at financial liabilities as at fair value through profit or

loss on initial recognition.

In subsequent periods, such CB 2017 are measured at fair value with changes
in fair value being recognised in profit or loss. Transaction costs relating to the

issuance of the convertible bonds are charged to profit or loss.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company repurchased part of CB
2017 with a principal amount of HK$90,000,000 at a consideration of
HK$90,000,000. The repurchase was completed on 21 February 2019.

On 12 October 2019, CB 2017 became mature and hence the entire
outstanding balance of CB 2017 with principal amount of HK165,000,000 was
redeemed and cancelled in full upon maturity, in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the CB 2017.

244  Annual Report 2019/2020 4 #

(a)

33. vl i 5r ()

B - (20

R -LETH S HBITRERAT
AR AR S W B (T =% — LA
Blesit sz ) (80

T35 o B AE R SO Tt 2 2 T A AN I
T LT o = F—LAE AR O G
AT L A < B < S — JH BB R S
ol WO 2 Aoy B e 2 T SR A 2
HRIHE > SOf BB HEAR TR & A T A
ZAEFE o MeAb o N Bl > T —LAR AR
JBe A 25 L A O W B 5 A N AT AT 2
312 LI [ R A -

7 S R S B RS S 4 I 4 ) B
AR A RT A TR > A2 R W PE
02 e 8 Wl — 2 — AR AT R i O A
5 J 1 08 (B RS AR ik AR 2 B 5 £ M8 o

AR A7 B =% — L AR TR SR T
e oy P (8 5 B) W AR B AR 2 A P (AT
SR AT T A A B A 2 5 A A 4R
FHER o

BEE-NE=ZH=+—HIF4EE » AN
) J ] A% 42 % £ 90,000,000 9 70 2 #4r — &
— L AF AR R AR 25 > ARE 490,000,000 95
TG W E R S E-NEA ST HE
JY o

AZE—NETAT A ZF LA R
ISR E o G ARPE T — B AR TR
IR I S et > A4 %155 165,000,000 7
TG I T — L A T R AR A A 1 o R
A ) 0 158 2 O [ B A



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao 7 Y 20 R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE

33. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(a)

33. Wﬁﬁ&fﬁ#(ﬁ‘é)

(Continued) B EE - ()
Convertible bonds issued on 12 October 2017 designated at FVTPL (“CB (a) WoF—LETH T HBITREHAT
2017”") (Continued) R AR A B it ([ — LW
A1) ()
The movements of the CB 2017 for the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2020 CE - LEA IR RE SRR E F U
are set out below: KRB ZFFE=ZH = —HIEFEZ#H
IR
HK$°000
T
At 1 April 2018 A/ UENH—A 310,510
Repurchase of the convertible bonds during the year A R 1R T 4R IR B S (B T (B )
(measured at fair value) (90,000)
Fair value change recognised in profit or loss in respect of 545 (A T4 i [] v 46 JI% 5 75 it 18 4 W R 2 201 52 )
the convertible bonds repurchased during the year (2,774)
Fair value change recognised in profit or loss in respect of i #l &% 4F AR ATl o] #6 JI 5 25 A 48 7 fEGR 2 A {22 )
the convertible bonds outstanding as of the end of the
year (44,994)
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 RoE-AFEZA= A&
“E—NFEMA—H 172,742
Fair value change recognised in profit or loss in respect of 41 [ i [|] frY w6 J {5 5 8 25 il 58 2
the convertible bonds upon redemption during the year NS EEL U (7,742)
Redemption of the convertible bonds HEE [ T 468 35 25 (165,000)
At 31 March 2020 AECFAEZAZt —
For the year ended 31 March 2020, the net fair value gain on the convertible BECFCFEZA = HIEEE > R
bonds recognised in profit or loss comprises the fair value gain of convertible it W R 1) T 468 R 5 5 T A 0 T (RN 45V AR
bonds redeemed by the Company on maturity date of HK$7,742,000. A A 20 /) B0 B[] Y w40 1 5 A
PRI 7,742,000 8 I o
For the year ended 31 March 2019, the net fair value gain of the convertible BEZF—NF=A=+—HILFE - B
bonds recognised in profit or loss amounting to HK$47,768,000 comprises (i) T il 58 1) 2 B047,768,000 %5 TG 11 ] 46 11 5 %5
the fair value gain of the convertible bonds on the repurchase date of 1 28 T (L M i 1 R 455 (1) T 408 TR AR 5 A I
HK$2,774,000 and (ii) the fair value gain in respect of the convertible bonds Il H 1Y 2 7 (B U 452,774,000 % 76 2 (i) B
outstanding as at 31 March 2019 of HK$44,994,000. B = F— U = H =+ — H Rl nl it

JBE AR5 1 2 P Wi 25 44,994,000 ¢
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33. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

246

(a)

Convertible bonds issued on 12 October 2017 designated at FVTPL (“CB

2017”’) (Continued)

CB 2017 are measured at fair value using Monte-Carlo simulation method at

the time of repurchase by the Company and at the end of the reporting period

based on the valuation undertaken by an independent professionally qualified

valuer. The inputs into the model on date of repurchase and as at 31 March

2019 are as follows:

33. Al fE I ()

FEGE = (A1)

(a)

R -LETH S HBITRERAT
R AR W B ([ =% — LA
BB (8D

TF B AR AR R R )G 4 R M e
Al L R AEE AT 9 i (0 88 S 2 W AR 2 A Il
I i #2455 IR 2 24 (B DA 52 b AR
WA e R AR = F - UE =
= HRR R A BT

At

21 February 2019

(the date of

At repurchase by

31 March 2019 the Company)

o

RE-F—JLE “HZ+—H

SHEFR R EERH )

Share price (HK$) e (0 0.49 0.49
Conversion price for the first anniversary year (HKS) S AR I E (e oT) 1.16 1.16
Conversion price for the second anniversary year (HKS) 55 AR Z BB (s oT) 1.00 1.00
Expected volatility (%) T 0 (%) 61 61
Remaining life (years) HBED (F) 0.53 0.64
Risk-free rate (%) AR A 2 (%) 141 1.27
Discount rate (%) B2 (%) 12.5 13.5
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33. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(a)

(Continued)

Convertible bonds issued on 12 October 2017 designated at FVTPL (“CB
2017”’) (Continued)

The fair value of the CB 2017 as at 31 March 2019 is categorised as Level 3
under the fair value hierarchy set out in HKFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement”.
The below is a narrative description of the sensitivity of the fair value

measurement to changes in unobservable inputs to the fair value measurement:

Relationship of unobservable

33. mﬁg&fﬁ#(ﬁﬁ)

FFGE = ()

(@ AEF-LETATZHABRGREEAT
R AR S BT B R (T =% — LA
Bl stz D) (80
R LRS- LE=A
Z A Z AU T BB R
WSS 13 9E [ AP HR BT 2 AP (18
IR 25 =8 o T AFEG R #A
P {E RS T AR A O A ) 2 U
At -

Significant unobservable inputs inputs to fair value Sensitivity analysis
RN A BLGE i A\ SR AR BEW AR B A TR FR U AT
Discount rate (+/—1%) The higher the discount rate, As at 31 March 2019, if the discount rate increases by 1%, the

the lower the fair value
of the CB 2017, and vice versa

B2 (+,/~1%) BB A & LA R
I AP EEME 2%

fair value of the CB 2017 would decrease to HK$171,890,000.
If the discount rate decreases by 1%, the fair value of the CB
2017 would increase to HK$173,495,000.

REE-RE=ZA =R IR R N% o —F—+L
AT AR I3 2 3 P (E A B8l D 25171,890,000 3 7T © i St B
HWA1% » T LA AR R A S5 2 A S B &
173,495,000%5 7€ °

2019
TER-LE
HK$°000
T
Cumulative change in fair value attributable to changes in credit risk recognised  4F KT 58 2 {5 £ Jal b 5 8 FE A 2
during the year (note i) ZEHATE ) (D) 876
Difference between carrying amount and contractual amount at maturity: SRTHE BB & AR M2
FH
CB 2017 at fair value TR R —F— LA
B SEes 172,742
Amount payable at maturity ) R A T 183,150
(10,408)
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33. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(a) Convertible bonds issued on 12 October 2017 designated at FVTPL (“CB

2017”) (Continued)

Note:

(i) The change in fair value attributable to change in credit risk is calculated
as the difference between the change in fair value of the CB 2017 and
the change in fair value of the CB 2017 due to change in benchmark
interest rate curve alone. The change in fair value of the CB 2017 due
to the change in benchmark interest rate curve was calculated based on
the benchmark interest rate curve as at the end of the reporting period
and holding credit spread constant. The fair value of the CB 2017 was
estimated by discounting future cash flows using benchmark interest
rate curve as at the end of the reporting period and on estimated credit

spread with reference to the lender quotes for borrowings of similar

maturity.

(b) Convertible bonds issued on 13 February 2019 containing liability and

equity component (“CB 2019”)

On 13 February 2019, the Company issued CB 2019 with an aggregate
principal amount of HK$106,000,000. CB 2019 bears interest from the date of
issue at the rate of 5% per annum on the principal amount and payable by the
Company semi-annually in arrears. During the year ended 31 March 2019, the
Company incurred transaction costs of HK$2,816,000 for the issue of CB

2019.

The major terms of CB 2019 are as follows:

(i) The bondholders of CB 2019 have the right to convert all or any portion
of CB 2019 into shares of the Company at the conversion price of
HK$0.29 (subject to anti-dilutive adjustments). The conversion rights
can be exercised at any time on or after 90 days from 13 February
2019 up to on the second anniversary of the date of issue.

(ii) The bondholders of CB 2019 have the option to require the Company
to redeem any part of the convertible bonds held by the bondholders in
event of the occurrence of any events of default by the bondholders
serving written notice to the Company, in which event the bonds so
redeemed shall become due and repayable on the date falling 21
business days after the date of such notice. Upon such redemption, the
Company shall pay the bondholder 115% of the outstanding principal
amount together with any accrued by unpaid interest, if any (“Holder’s

Redemption Option™).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE

33. Al fE I ()

33. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(b)

(Continued)

Convertible bonds issued on 13 February 2019 containing liability and
equity component (“CB 2019”) (Continued)

(iii) The Company may at any time purchase the convertible bonds on the
open market or otherwise and at any price. All bonds so purchased
shall be cancelled and may not be reissued or resold (“Issuer’s

Redemption Option”).

The CB 2019 contain two components, the liability and equity components.
The initial fair value of the two components was determined based on gross
proceeds at issuance. The initial fair value less allocated transaction costs of the
liability component was estimated to be HK$87,592,000 as at 13 February
2019 (date of issue) using the Monte-Carlo simulation method, taking into
account the terms and conditions of the CB 2019, based on the valuation
undertaken by an independent professionally qualified valuer. The fair value of
the Issuer’s Redemption Option and the Holder’s Redemption Option on the
date of initial recognition are considered insignificant based on the valuation
results. In subsequent periods, the liability component is measured at amortised
cost using effective interest rate method. The effective interest rate of the
liability component of the CB 2019 is 15.89% per annum. The residual amount
less allocated transaction costs representing the value of the equity component
of HK$15,592,000, was presented in equity under the heading “convertible

bonds equity reserve”.

As at 31 March 2019, the outstanding principal amount of CB 2019 was
HK$106,000,000.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the bondholders fully converted the CB
2019 with aggregate principal amount of HK$106,000,000 at a conversion price
of HK$0.29 per share into 365,517,237 ordinary shares of the Company.

Details of which are disclosed in note 37(b)(iii).

FFGE = ()

(b)

PEF-IEZA TS BT AE AR

RERE 8 23 R TR A 2 ([ R — AT it

et Zx ) ()

(i) ARy T LB I S 2 B T 35 0 L At
A A A M B T R B
I A B M R B ELR A R
AT EO A (TRAT AN ) -

T U TR B S A MRS 4 o B
B RHE 35 B4y o T A B4y 2 W) Bh A T
TH PR AT G T 9 BOE AR o i F
— VAT =H (BT HE) o i EE
ST LG A AL A AT IO AN (B > PRS2
b B AR AR T I R R — LA T
A& F5 2 Mk B > BT 2 AR A
ST{E R 43 i 2 A2 B AR A T 25 87,592,000
WG o ARIRAGEASE - #47 AW XA
NS HE A 0 A e w8 F I I S
Koo AWM - AR TR ERRAR
A A T o S — JUAE AT A 1
I BAE T 2 BRI 15 15.89% - 6k
G RV 43 T 2 58 T AR 4 2 (8
(815,592,000 ¢ > J% 1 HE 45 1A [ 1] 46 % 1
S it ) N 25 e

RoF—NE=A=+—0> _F—IHE
] $f5 R A 5 1 A R AR 42 %8 £ 106,000,000
HEIT -

HE R RE=H =+ —HIEFE > H
TR A A A B 1B 0. 20 HE TR AR 4 8B
106,000,000 JC 19 — % — JUAF 7] ff Jit 18 35
S 55 365,517,237 I A 4 w3 I o
WG IR A B RE37(b) (i)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — & " FAFE = = — H ILF &

33. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (CONTINUED) 33. AR 2 (4)
P EE - (4

Notes: (Continued)

(b) Convertible bonds issued on 13 February 2019 containing liability and
equity component (“CB 2019”) (Continued)

The movement of liability component and equity component of CB 2019 for
the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2020 is set out below:

(b)

BB A S E R AR
25 51 0 T 0825 (T % — LA T4
Refit%1) (0
BEF-NER E EEZA=
FIILAEE - % JUAE T S 0 2
5y B 5 ) S B 5

Liability Component Equity Component
(At amortised cost) (Residual Amount)
=Lgpis HE 258 43
(e 3 35 AR ) (F i &80
HKS$’000 HK$’000
T T
At 13 February 2019 (date of issue) i FE—JUE - H+=H
(4T H D) 87,592 15,592
Interest accrued at effective interest rate 2 B R S 5T A E ST RLE 1,667 —
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 MoE—JE=H = —H &
ZE—JUFENHA—H 89,259 15,592
Interest accrued at effective interest rate 0 B A S ST S0 JE A S 5,477 —
Interest paid B A FLE (2,648) —
Conversion iR (92,088) (15,592)
At 31 March 2020 WRoERFE=A=1—H — —
() Convertible bonds issued on 4 October 2019 containing liability and equity (© W R JUAE A H Y H AT B £

component (“CB 2020”)

On 4 October 2019, the Company issued CB 2020 with an aggregate principal
amount of HK$180,000,000. CB 2020 bears interest from the date of issue at
the rate of 10% per annum on the principal amount and payable by the
Company semi-annually in arrears. During the year ended 31 March 2020, the
Company incurred transaction costs of HK$1,945,000 for the issue of CB
2020.

The major terms of CB 2020 are as follows:

(i) The bondholders of CB 2020 have the right to convert all or any portion
of CB 2020 into shares of the Company at the conversion price of
HK$0.432 (subject to anti-dilutive adjustments). The conversion rights
can be exercised at any time on or after 12 months from 4 October

2019 up to the second anniversary of the date of issue.

250  Annual Report 2019/2020 4 #}

75 T4 AT e i g (T AR vl
% 1)

MoE—UETANE - AARETAGHE
#H 180,000,000 762 & AT B
I o SE A AR IRAE St 31T A HE
AEREAREHN10% S > A28 AN 76
XM o ABEEBE=H = —
FORAERE > AR AT =% A ik
18 25 7 HE 58 b I A 1,945,000 7€ ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE

33. Al fE I ()

33. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(©)

(Continued)

Convertible bonds issued on 4 October 2019 containing liability and equity
component (“CB 2020) (Continued)

(ii) The Company may at any time from the issue date to the maturity date,
having given not less than 14 days’ notice to the bondholders, redeem
all or some of the convertible bonds on the day fixed for redemption at
such amount equivalent to 100% of the principal amount of the
outstanding bonds together with all accrued but unpaid interest, if any
(“Issuer’s Redemption Option™).

The CB 2020 contains two components, the liability and equity components.
The initial fair value of the two components was determined based on gross
proceeds at issuance. The initial fair value less allocated transaction costs of the
liability component was estimated to be HK$168,691,000 as at 4 October 2019
(date of issue) using the Monte-Carlo simulation method, taking into account
the terms and conditions of the CB 2020, based on the valuation undertaken by
an independent professionally qualified valuer. The fair value of the Issuer’s
Redemption Option on the date of initial recognition are considered
insignificant based on the valuation results. In subsequent periods, the liability
component is measured at amortised cost using effective interest rate method.
The effective interest rate of the liability component of the CB 2020 is 13.94%
per annum. The residual amount less allocated transaction costs representing the
value of the equity component of HK$9,364,000, was presented in equity under
the heading “convertible bonds equity reserve”.

As at 31 March 2020, the outstanding principal amount of CB 2020 was
HK$95,000,000.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Company partially redeemed
CB 2020 in the aggregate principal amount of HK$23,000,000 and
HK$8,000,000 on 11 May 2020 and 17 June 2020 respectively.

The movement of liability component and equity component of CB 2020 for
the year ended 31 March 2020 is set out below:

FEGE - (A8

(c)

Liability Component
(At amortised cost)

R JUAE MY AT £ R
2o T B R (T % R AR TR
1) (D

Gi) AT AR EEAT B F A
Wi I 38 30 1) i o BRI R D
14 H 50 B 10 E B S 2
B A 3B B 4 ml B 5 S - A AR
S5 A B R R AR A #1009 #E 7]
A HEFHE R SR RLE () (38
TN ERE]) -

T AR AL R S B R 4 o B
0 T RE 4 B 43 o T A H 4> 2 ) e S TE
oM PREEAT G T 19 ROE AR B - Y S F
— U A AT A 4% B 8 ST
B G A BT AT A5 (8 > PR AT S b
FEBBEL R R T AR R
& 2 W AR BAER I 2 G AT
(B W18 43 e 2 28 5 LA 51 2 168,691,000
W0 o MARAG (B A5 R - 84T A I RER 125
TERE H I 2 P A TR o R AR R
BT S TY BR P R R R 32 4 4 B AR
e DECTENHRRMES QGRS E
[ 4F 1| 2 5 13.94% o T i 42 %5 o 1 43 L 2
32 By A 48 HE 4 HB 4 2 18 (59,364,000 %5
TG o T A HE g5 1 T AT S B 5 5 HE 25 Gl ) T
2 -

AR REZA =0 ZFFAE
] 0 AR 5 1 I A 7R AR 2 % £595,000,000
HETT ©

WA - AAT AR B R
A+ —H k=R FRENHA L A
[l 7% 4 48 % 4y Hl 523,000,000 o6 K&
8,000,000 7C ) =& — AR ] 4 i 5 o

WE T RS S I
T A A U8 2 R 0 T2
SEB TR F

Equity Component
(Residual Amount)

ARG RIS AS)  RERR T 4 (AR &%)
HK$’000 HK$’000
T oT T#T
At 4 October 2019 (date of issue) WZE—NAFETHIMH

(BEATH D) 168,691 9,364
Interest accrued HEFHFRE 11,215 —

Fair value of convertible bonds early redeemed J& V7L ] Y T 4 IR A5 2 1Y
ARSI (81,159) (4,422)
Gain on early settlement (note 7) PR AR (B EE7) (3,748) —
At 31 March 2020 R FFEZA =+ —H 94,999 4,942

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited JE i B4 B (¥ %) A BR 2 )

251



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rk 7 S 2% R B

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — & " FAFE = = — H ILF &

34. PROMISSORY NOTES PAYABLE

252

34. FEAE & E B

2020 2019
TR TR —E -
HK$°000 HK$°000
Tt TH#IT
Promissory notes payable designated at FVTPL 3§ 2 #% /A (B 5F A 48 25 19 A

(note (a)) ARG (M 5E(a) = 9,966

Promissory notes payable measured at T B AR AS o 1 B A R L SR R
amortised cost (note (b)) (Fff 5 (b)) — 37,543
Balance at the end of the year AR A R — 47,509
Less: Amounts shown under current liabilities i @ I B & & i /R &4 = (9,966)
Amounts shown under non-current liabilities FE B B TR & — 37,543

Notes:

(a) Promissory notes payable designated at FVTPL

Wi -

(@) TP AR R Ao RE A R S0

2020 2019
TR TR ZE—JUE
HK$°000 HK$’000
Fson T 7T

At fair value: AP
At the beginning of the year TR 9,966 10,578

Fair value of initial principal amount of

promissory notes on issue date AT H R USRI IR AR & e 2 A E — 12,395
Transferred to other payable 88 L Al 1 AT 3K = (6,000)
Fair value change NS EIEG 1] (9,966) (7,007)
At the end of the year RAER — 9,966
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE

34. WEAT A& 5 IR ()

34. PROMISSORY NOTES PAYABLE
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(a)

Promissory notes payable designated at FVTPL (Continued)

The promissory notes payable designated at FVTPL of the Group represented

the following:

@

(i)

On 22 December 2017, the Company issued two promissory notes of total
initial principal amount of HK$4,800,000 (subject to downward
adjustments in accordance with the conditions as stipulated in the sale
and purchase agreement and supplemental agreements) in respect of the
acquisition of Soul Marketing. The promissory notes bear interest of
10% per annum and payable annually in arrears. The promissory notes
with initial principal amount of HK$2,400,000 and HK$2,400,000 will
mature on the first and second anniversary from the date of issue of the

respective promissory note.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the promissory notes were
matured. Based on the unaudited management account and confirmation
by the management of Soul Marketing, the Company and the
noteholder mutually agreed that the performance targets stipulated in
the sale and purchase agreement and supplemental agreements in
respect of the acquisition of Soul Marketing during the year ended 31
March 2018 were not achieved. The principal amount of the

promissory notes was therefore adjusted downward to Nil.

On 28 February 2018, the Company issued a promissory note of initial
principal amount of HK$5,520,000 (subject to downward adjustments
in accordance with the conditions as stipulated in the sale and purchase
agreement and supplemental agreements) in respect of the acquisition
of IAHGames. The promissory note bears interest of 10% per annum
and payable annually in arrears. The promissory note will mature on

the second anniversary from the date of issue of the promissory note.

On 4 May 2018, the Company issued two promissory notes of total
initial principal amount of HK$11,760,000 (subject to downward
adjustments in accordance with the conditions as stipulated in the sale
and purchase agreement and supplemental agreements) in respect of the
acquisition of TAHGames. The promissory notes bear interest of 10%
per annum and payable annually in arrears. These two promissory

notes will mature on 28 February 2020.

BT

(a)

(50

TR 5 NPT AR 25 B RE A 7R S SR ()
ARSI 2 A8 2 1N T E R AR AR I R AR
SRR AIA IR

@

(i)

MWoF—tEF+ A+ " A&
7 ) A I v T 5 R M AT W AL A
H AR 4x 485 554,800,000 I (1] R
5 W R el T W R T T Mk
T LA i) 2R 502558 o 7R 50 SRR
F 4 R 2 10% 518 > 3l 28 i B 4F 52
5F o 425 A% 4 %6 452,400,000 7T K
2,400,000 %% JG 2 7K 50, S5 A 45 7K
VLR PE AT H O RS — R
AEFN ] o

BE-Z-FHE=A=+—H 14
JE o R PEE B o ARYE B
TR (14 o 408 5 4% 5 PR B HL A B
J& I WERE > AN W KRR R N
FEE R E FE - NE=A
= H R R A T SR 1Y
LT e B Al 70 B e A R T A I R B
A R R AR o UL > 7R S0 SRR I
AEBETHESE -

e SN Sl & e oI = BRI N/
Ak IS TAHGames 3817 9045 78 4 58
145,520,000 76 (7] MR 9% ' i &
Tl 75 W s BT T O 22 A LA R )
RSB o R SE SRR AR R R
10% 5t KL > 3 8 A 45 4F 34 o 7R
SEPR IR SRR AT H A
TEAEE ] o

A= AR AV A > ARk
W HETAHGames S5 47 W1 25 4 43 7
FHH511,760,0009 7t (7] 1R 95 E 2 1)
ke A TE 1 R T ST W A T AR
W) Z AR SRR o R SR IR AR 2R
10% 51 &, > 3 28 1 4 4F AT » 3% W
R SIS —F A A
s RN E [
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34. PROMISSORY NOTES PAYABLE
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

254

(a)

Promissory notes payable designated at FVTPL (Continued)

(i)

(Continued)

Pursuant to the supplemental sale and purchase agreement dated 25
January 2019, the maturity dates of the promissory note issued on 28
February 2018 with initial principal amount of HK$5,520,000 and the
portion of promissory note issued on 4 May 2018 with initial principal
amount of HK$6,000,000 was further amended as follows:

(i) Portion of HK$1,200,000 of promissory note issued on 4 May
2018 will mature on 25 January 2019 or the 5th banking day
after the performance target is proved to be achieved,

whichever is earlier;

(ii) Portion of HK$4,800,000 of promissory note issued on 4 May
2018 will mature on 30 April 2019 or the 5th banking day
after the performance target is proved to be achieved,

whichever is earlier; and

(iii) Promissory note issued on 28 February 2018 with initial
principal amount of HK$5,520,000 will mature on 27 February
2020 or the 5th banking day after the performance target is

proved to be achieved, whichever is earlier.

On 25 January 2019, the noteholder requested for early repayment of a
promissory note issued on 4 May 2018 with initial principal amount of
HK$6,000,000 due to the early achievement of performance target.
Based on the auditor’s certificate issued on 22 February 2019 in
respect of the achievement of the performance targets stipulated in the
sale and purchase agreement and supplemental agreements in respect of
the acquisition of TAHGames, the performance target was concluded as
achieved and the promissory notes with principal amount of
HK$6,000,000 was transferred from “promissory notes payable” to
“trade and other payables” in the consolidated statement of financial

position on the same day.

On 29 May 2019, the Company and the noteholder mutually agreed to
waive the interest of 10% per annum for the all promissory notes

issued in relation to the acquisition of IAHGames.
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34. WEAT A 5 9% (4)

Wi

(a)

i

C (4D

$6E F A A FE AR 25 00 HE A 2RO SRR (4D
(i) (#)
WAL —F—LF—H T8
Hiol e B s ik - =% — /UE

ZH = NH AT R & #
5,520,000 %% I 119 7K 58 ZE 4% Joih — %
— /\AE R A A AT A e
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE

34. PROMISSORY NOTES PAYABLE
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(a) Promissory notes payable designated at FVTPL (Continued)
(ii) (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the promissory notes issued on
28 February 2018 and 4 May 2018 with initial principal amount of
HK$5,520,000 and HK$5,760,000 respectively were matured. Based on
the auditor’s certificates issued on 11 June 2020 and 15 June 2020, the
performance targets stipulated in the sale and purchase agreement and
supplemental agreements in respect of the acquisition of TAHGames
during the year ended 31 March 2018 were not achieved and the
principal amount of the promissory notes was adjusted downward to
Nil.

Since the promissory notes payable is relatively immaterial to the Group’s
financial position as at 31 March 2019 and 2020 and the Group’s results for
the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2020, details of the achievement targets of
Soul Marketing and IAHGames which may lead to downward adjustments of

the promissory notes payable are not disclosed in these financial statements.

The fair values of promissory notes payable as at 31 March 2019 are based on
the valuations performed by an independent professionally qualified valuer not
connected with the Group. Details of fair value measurement are set out in
note 4(d).

34. WEAT A& 5 IR ()

T F AP RE AR 2% I HEA AR S8 528 (40)

(i) (%)
BECEZ FE=ZH =+ HI4E
BE o R M H A VH &
TR A H Y H TR A A 4
O Al 545,520,000 JG & 5,760,000
TG R SRR B o AR
e 2 A [ il £ ke e < 2
AN H B ERE A
R E R NE=H =+ —H1k
AEBE IR TAH Games i~ B 55 1 ik Sl
75 1 oA HT WA R B A R R R
B AL SRR AR SR IR EE o

H A MEAH 7R S8, SRR AR S A SR i —F — L
ERCECREZH =+ — HZ BRI
BALEBMBE T — F R T _FIFE=
H =4 —H IR 2 S 4500 5 i R K
WIS o 7 A4S 4 75 S 6 B 0% T R S 0B A+
SESRE R #R 2 v T 5 SR & S TAHGames 2 4
HBERENG -

R FENEZA = —H o R E
2 SR T T B AR G T B
S EARAG EATEAT 25 o AR
PR R O B R 4(d) ©
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34. PROMISSORY NOTES PAYABLE
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

256

Promissory notes payable measured at amortised cost

The movements of the promissory notes for the years ended 31 March 2019

and 2020 are set out below:

34. WEAT A 5 9% (4)

FERE - (F8)

(b)  TEHES A ET B AT AR LS R
WE LT -NER_FFRFE=A=1—
H kA7 B 2 R S SR 0 S B 1 T

2020 2019

ZROFE ZE-NE

HK$°000 HK$°000

T T T

At the beginning of the year AR 37,543 —

Fair value of promissory notes on issue date BEAT H ) K 50 28 N S E 24,251 56,505

Interest accrued at effective interest rate i H R R RE A R 3,345 1,520

Interest paid 2 At LS (546) (482)

Repayment [t d (10,000) (20,000)

Fair value of payment obligations released upon £ i Ji 2 ] I O 2 14 32 A 35 45 A 28 - (8 (41,174) -
disposal of subsidiaries (note 12(a)) (Bt 55 12(a))

Gain on early settlement (note 7) PR B g (K EET7) (13,419) —

At the end of the year TR — 37,543

The promissory notes payable measured at amortised cost of the Group

represented the following:

()

On 5 October 2018, the Company issued promissory notes with an
aggregate principal amount of HK$56,258,000 for settlement of the
Third Instalment of the consideration for the acquisition of Empire
Access during the year ended 31 March 2018. The promissory notes
are unsecured and denominated in HKS$. The promissory note is
bearing interest at fixed rate of 8% per annum and is payable in five
years from the date of issue. The Company may at its option early
repay the promissory notes at 100% of its face value together with
outstanding interest accrued on the principal amount of the promissory
notes by giving the noteholders not less than three days’ prior written

notice.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the promissory notes is
determined based on the present value of the contractual stream of
future cash flows discounted at 7.89% per annum based on the
valuation carried out by an independent professionally qualified valuer

not connected with the Group.
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34. WEAT A& 5 IR ()

34. PROMISSORY NOTES PAYABLE
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

Promissory notes payable measured at amortised cost (Continued)

@

(i)

B &E - (A8

(by  FEHEST AT B A HE AT AR LR B ()

(Continued) (i) (#8)
The promissory notes recognised in the consolidated statement of WAL WERRIRE - A SR A S IR DL 2R
financial position at initial recognition are as follows: WERR AR SE 2R INT -
As at
5 October 2018
e S AN S
+HREH
HK$’000
TH#EIC
Fair value of promissory notes at 5 October 2018 RGN —F— /NET A EH A TE 56,505

The fair value of promissory notes was transferred from “contingent
consideration payables” to “promissory notes payables” following the

issuance of promissory notes on 5 October 2018.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Company early repaid part
of the promissory notes with principal amount of HKS$10,000,000
(2019: HK$20,000,000). As at 31 March 2020, the outstanding
principal amount of the promissory notes measured at amortised cost in
respect of the Third Instalment was Nil (2019: HK$36,258,000).

On 4 October 2019, the Company issued promissory notes with an
aggregate principal amount of HK$33,365,000 for settlement of the
Fourth Instalment of the consideration for the acquisition of Empire
Access during the year 31 March 2018. The promissory notes are
unsecured and denominated in HK$. The promissory note is bearing
interest at fixed rate of 8% per annum and is payable in five years
from the date of issue. The Company may at its option early repay the
promissory notes at 100% of its face value together with outstanding
interest accrued on the principal amount of the promissory notes by

giving the noteholders not less than three days’ prior written notice.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the promissory notes is
determined based on the present value of the contractual stream of
future cash flows discounted at 14.00% per annum based on the
valuation carried out by an independent professionally qualified valuer

not connected with the Group.

(i)

i F— NAE T H TR L
A% o R SLIRAR A P [ ek
AR et 2 T A TR LR o

BE-FE-FEZ =+ —HIR4E
JE o A A BT R AR RS
10,000,000 JG ( =& — JL4F -
20,000,000 7C) 14 #5437 58 5L 4% o
W oE T =H = —H o B
SWIEIET S 8 AT R
RN RERAGHEAE (ZF
— JLA © 36,258,000 7C) ©

HoFEVETAME - AN E
AT 445 #848.33,365,000 7 70 1 7K 5,52
o A E 2 — E= A
=+ — H LA JE W Empire Access
B 55 IO 30T AR AE o R S0 R 4 2 SR 4K
5 300 DA TCEHE o 7K S0 5 9 i
SEAEFIR 8% BN ZE [ 34T H AL
FLAE N AEE o AL R AT SR A )
B SRR DN S N SN 5
FTABR - BT R LR 100%
T 228 [ AR 4 310 A A I T 1L
TLAMER -

T HERB I K SL IR A (H
e R A BL 4 U R0 5 A U BLAE A
SE o AR B B 42 T NG 0 e ) B
SEBUZE G RS A (BRI AT B A5 (8 D
AEFF14.00% 0 B
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34

35.

258

PROMISSORY NOTES PAYABLE
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(b) Promissory notes payable measured at amortised cost (Continued)
(ii) (Continued)
The promissory notes recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position at initial recognition are as follows:

34. WEAT A 5 9% (4)

FEGE = ()

(b)  FRHE G A G Y M A AR SRR (D)
(ii) (#)
AW TERR IR - i A IS IR IR
TE GR A 7R S8 SR I T

As at

4 October 2019
S
+HMH
HK$°000
T#T

Fair value of promissory notes at 4 October 2019 HROUEIEIN %

—JLAE A H A 24251

The fair value of promissory notes was transferred from “contingent
consideration payables” to “promissory notes payables” following the
issuance of promissory notes on 4 October 2019.

As at 31 March 2020, the outstanding principal amount of the
promissory notes measured at amortised cost in respect of the Fourth
Instalment was Nil.

Following the disposal of the entire equity interest in Empire Access by the
Group on 27 March 2020, the obligations and liabilities in respect of the Third
and Fourth Instalment of the consideration for the acquisition of Empire
Access during the year ended 31 March 2018 in an aggregate principal amount
of approximately HK$59,623,000 was assigned to the Purchaser of Empire
Access. Further details of the disposal of Empire Access Group are set out in
note 12(a).

REFUND LIABILITIES

B FE - JUAE A A T H B TR G
ﬁ%fi %bﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂ’] V(B d [ SR
AP AR i 2 T A R LR ] o

AR CREZA =+ —H B
S8 1030 AR L 2 48 0 AR i R
SLEE MR ERA AT -

AEFPR _F_RFE=Z - LHBE
Empire Access /2 IHER - A BIRHZE —
F— A= H =+ — H 1k 4 i Empire
Access 155 =109 J 55 DU A (4= & A3 A
59,623,000 JC) K B X H AL O ## T
Empire AccessJ5 J5 o {11 % Empire Access
ST 0 5 2 R O B RE 12(a) ©

35. B A E

2020 2019
R R ZE U
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT Tt
Refund liabilities BECA
Arising from right of return B RERE 1,258 1,394

As at 31 March 2019 and 2020, refund liabilities represented the
present value of the director’s best estimate of future outflow of
economic benefits that will be required under the Group’s obligations
under the goods return policy. The estimate has been made by reference
to historical goods return rate.

The Group cannot reliably estimate the amounts that may eventually be
settled after more than 12 months from the end of the reporting period.
Thus, the whole amount was classified as current.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE

36. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

(a)

(b)

The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the years ended
31 March 2019 and 2020 are as follows:

36. ¥& AL BiJEH A {5

(a) @Lﬁtﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ
FHEZA=Z+—HILEER

474

ST -

Accelerated tax

Fair value
adjustment on
intangible
assets upon

acquisition of

ZERILER

depreciation subsidiaries Total
WA i I Ji 2 )
1% M8 &
AR XA PR st
HKS$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
Tt Tt T
At 1 April 2018 W FE— EMHA—H 311 33,904 34,215
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 39) Wi 8 A 2w (B E39) — 2,102 2,102
Credited to profit or loss A& 1,481 (1,482) (1)
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 ATE—JUE=HA=1T—H
K= FE—JUEMHA—H 1,792 34,524 36,316
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 12(a)) Hh B R S F (B R 12(a)) (158) (28,432) (28,590)
Reclassification as held for sale (note 12(b))  HL#r /04 A& 1F i &
(Bt &E12(b)) (7 — 7
Credited to profit or loss AR f (1,034) (4,283) (5,317)
At 31 March 2020 R FFRAEZHA =+ —H 593 1,809 2,402
Deferred tax assets in respect of the unused tax losses carried (b) A7 B & 8 o Sl 5 s 5 119 30 A i

forward are to be recognised to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the unused

tax losses can be utilised.

At 31 March 2020, the Group has not recognised deferred tax
assets in respect of accumulated tax losses of HK$53,536,000
(2019: HK$72,778,000) as it is not probable that future taxable
profits against which the losses can be utilised will be available
in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity. The tax losses do not
expire under current tax legislation except for the balances of
HK$4,601,000 (2019: HK$1,558,000) which can only be carried

forward for five years under the laws of the relevant jurisdiction.

T O AR AT 00 R i A
EREISEENINETE Y el

FH 7 A A I B ik A AS K AT RE T AE
G 8 A AR B B w] A I R B
N R AR A B AR — %
TR Z A = — Bk &R BUEE
1653,536,000% o0 (—F — JL4F -
72,778,000 Jt) i 58 UK 4t Bl I A
FE o MRPEBLAT R > Bl IE S R0 R
B 1A > M AR PR AR B ] v M ks
I Ik 5 4 T AE 2 45 674,601,000 7T

— L5 1 1,558,00095 7T) BRAL
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36. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

(CONTINUED)
(c) Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards.

At 31 March 2020, temporary differences relating to the
undistributed profits of subsidiaries amounted to HK$89,000
(2019: HK$254,000). Deferred tax liabilities of HK$9,000 (2019:
HK$25,000) have not been recognised in respect of the tax that
would be payable on the distribution of these retained profits as
the Company controls the dividend policy of these subsidiaries
and it has been determined that it is probable that these profits
will not be distributed in the foreseeable future.

37. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

(a)

260

Reserves

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of
each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of the

36. %€ B IE G0 (4)

()

A i 8 908 2 A JE 4 £

AR08 b S T A B b A
A F R E AR ] — H R
BT i 5 9 1) e AR T

MRoFE-FE=ZA=+—H > HH
B T8 2 71 2R 43 R Sk ) BT 7 A G BT Iy
25 %6 55 89,000 G (L FE — JLAE ¢
254,000%5 JC) © % ZE B TEH £ 159,000
W0 (& — JUAF & 25,0005 0C) 1

AR 23 UR % S AR B i R IR R AT 1Y
BLIH T DARERD > R 2 A A W] REH 42

il A B B & W RO IR BLECR - HE
il 5 % 45 AN K AT RE A T LI 2R
IR o

37. WA K Gk 5

(a)

il i

A B [ A7 5 4 25 TR 0 9 AR 40D B
AF R A 3 MR O £ 4 HE AR 2 )
o AN T HE £ ) 25 AR R 2 A AR

changes in the Company’s individual components of equity PEFNIET S e R I
between the beginning and the end of the year are set out below:
The Company A ]
Convertible
Share Contributed Share option bonds equity Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total
BE 3 e
B i EvN I LW HE Bl 1 Hihi At
HK$000 HKS$°000 HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
T T T T Tt TiT T T
(note 37(c)(i)) (note 37(c)(ii))  (note 37(c)(vi)) (note 37(c)(vu))
(HsE370)G)  (BEE3T()GE))  (BFRE3T(c)(vi)) (B R 37(c)(vii))
At 1 April 2018 REFE—/EMA—H 161,116 38,541 29,290 — (127,529) 101,418
Change in equity for 2019: “RONEEGEE
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year — 4F X fi5 8 & 2 1f 5 i 44 48 — - — — (14,296) (14,296)
Equity-settled share-based payments LA 45 37 LA J&f’?iﬁz 53 — — 37,007 — — 37,007
Share options lapsed EES1 1< — — (21,920) — 21,920 —
Recognition of equity component of convertible a2 i # fRL i % HE 43 75 43 - 411
bonds, net of related transaction costs A 5 A — — — 15,592 — 15,592
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 BEFE-WEZAZF—H R
ZE-NENA R 161,116 38,541 44377 15,592 (119,905) 139,721
Changes in equity for 2020: ZRCRERE D)
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year 4 (A 5 8 S 2 i s #5140 4 — — — — (236,019) (236,019)
Equity-settled share-based payments UL PR HE 45 5 DB 5 5 2 B — — 7,100 - — 7,100
Share options lapsed 2K — — (31,261) — 31,261 —
Shares issued upon exercise of share options under HR4% It &t 17 5 9 M A 45 1
the share options scheme (note 37(b)(ii)) ELBEAT O (BAF RE37(b) i) 15420 — (3.917) — — 11,503
Recognition of equity component of convertible i iJ # M i 75 43 4523 > 1B
bonds, net of related transaction costs M2 5 A (BE33(c)
(note 33(¢)) — — — 9,364 — 9,364
Shares issued upon conversion of convertible i R 1R AT IR
bonds (note 37(b)(iii)) (W 3E37(b) i) 106,766 — — (15.592) — 91,174
Redemption of convertible bonds (note 33(c)) M [ W] e M1 %% (BiF 3k 33(c)) — — — (4.422) (5.431) (9.853)
Shares issued upon completion of placing T B o LR BT IR
(note 37(b)(i) (Hf337(b)(0)) 9.942 - - - — 9,942
Transaction costs attributable to issue of new & i 517 ¥ L 4 L HE A (1) 22 55
ordinary shares from placing A (HEEE37(0)())
(note 37(b)(i)) (222) — — — — (222)
At 31 March 2020 RoR-BEZH=—H 293,022 38,541 16,299 4942 (330,094) 2,710
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37. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

37. WA B Gt fls (%)

(CONTINUED)
(b) Share capital (b) AR
Nominal value Number Share
per share of shares capital
B IR T i J& 4y B H JBe A%
HK$ HK$°000
[P TH#T
Authorised: WE
At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019, AT E— UEH — A -
1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020 SR -AFEZHA=ZT A
TEJUEMH —H &
ZERCEFE=ZA=1—H 0.0025 4,000,000,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: CEITRME ¢
At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019 ATFE—/FEOH—H -
and 1 April 2019 ZE-NFEEH=ET—H K
ZE—JUFEIA—H 0.0025 2,123,002,150 5,308
Shares issued upon completion of placing A 5E I B AR B AT R (B RETD
(note 1) 0.0025 23,391,813 58
Shares issued upon exercise of share options R 75 Jiff FREHE 51 1) 17 (11 e A 72 %
under the share options scheme (note ii) A7 e 4y (B 5 0.0025 43,000,000 108
Shares issued upon conversion of convertible i 46 n] 46 i fif 75 1% 5547 % 0%
bonds (note iii) (B ki) 0.0025 365,517,237 914
At 31 March 2020 MR RE=A=1+—H 0.0025 2,554,911,200 6,388

The owners of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as

declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share

at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally

with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

Notes:

®

On 25 April 2019, the Company entered into a placing agreement (the
“Placing Agreement”) with Kilmorey Securities Limited, the placing
agent, to procure not less than six placees who are independent third
parties to the Group to subscribe up to 58,000,000 placing shares at the
placing price of HK$0.4275 per placing share (the “Placing”).

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement dated 20 May 2019, all
conditions of the Placing Agreement fulfilled. The Placing was
completed on 20 May 2019 and 23,391,813 placing shares were
successfully placed by the placing agent to not less than six placees at
the placing price of HK$0.4275 per placing share. The gross proceeds
from the said placement amounted to approximately HK$10,000,000
and the related directly attributable expenses were approximately
HK$222,000).

ELRiE HEWNE R NGRS RN
IR AR AN ARG E L —
e — AT R DL o BT @ A
R 28RN B A T S
A e

(i) R FEJUEMA R E AR
i) B B (G 4 7R A IR FRT
S R (R ok ) o ARGl
DGR ARBLN (¥ By 7R 42 [ 8 T
=) R E TR AR
0.4275% 7C 78 I i 2 58,000,000 1% it
E ey (TR HIE D -

REANF A ZF—LFERA
T B A TR R T
PR B - B FER —F—
AR A F S AU B B A T
A5 4 B T 5 B 10,4275 7 JT 1) R
DTS R B B B 23,391,813
Je T 5 B A o Ik L 2 TE T A5 3K
THAHR A 9 10,000,000 45 7T - 1 AH B
B IR AN B S 49 £5222,000 950G ©

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited JE & BB (£ AR AW 261



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

% T U 5 A M G

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — & " FAFE = = — H ILF &

37. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

(CONTINUED)
(b) Share capital (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(ii) During the year ended 31 March 2020, share options were exercised to
subscribe for 43,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company at a
consideration of HK$11,611,000, of which HK$108,000 was credited to
share capital and the balance of HK$15,420,000 was credited to the
share premium account. HK$3,917,000 has been transferred from the

share option reserve to the share premium account.

(iii) During the year ended 31 March 2020, the CB 2019 with aggregate
principal amount of HK$106,000,000 were converted into 365,517,237
ordinary shares at conversion price of HK$0.29 per share, of which
HK$914,000 was credited to share capital and an aggregate amount of
HK$91,174,000, representing the difference between the carrying
amount of the liability component of convertible bonds being
converted on the date of conversion and the nominal value of the
shares issued, was credited to the share premium account.
HK$15,592,000 has been transferred from the convertible bonds equity

reserve to the share premium account.

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

37. WA K Gt fhs (%)

(iii)

BEZEZF=A=F+—HI
AERE AT I RE LR AR A
7] 43,000,000 % % 46 & o 10 1E 5
11,611,000% 5C > H #1108,000% 7T
FEABEAR I 45 6515,420,0009 6 RFA
J A3 T 5 H% - 3,917,00095 T 1E I B
PREE ft A 2 070 ik A G

HE_EZREZH =+ —HILFE
FE > AR 4 H5 £5106,000,000 8 TC

— JUAE AT 46 B 5 4 S A
J80.29# JC 5 ¥ £5365,517,237 1
W > HF1914,0009 TCFHAREA K
HEEA91,174,000% JT (B A 4% A 31
400 AT 46 PSR 5 1 A 003 1Y R T
(B B 2L AT 073 14 1 (L2 [ 1) 25 %)
FEA B i A AR - 15,592,0009 TC4E
T i A S R i Gt A 00
IR -

(c) filfhi 2 M R i

®

The share premium represents the difference between the
nominal value of the shares of the Company and proceeds
received from the issuance of shares of the Company.
Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
share premium account of the Company is distributable to
the shareholders of the Company provided that
immediately following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company would be in a
position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the

() PO AEFE AN ) i (i
BEATAS N R A WS B B
IEZFHEJE"J%%E o *Eﬂ%gﬁ?&ﬁ%
OENE S AR B i fE R T
GIURT AR F R > e BB

R IRE AR - AN
JEATRE S TE A o e R R

O E B -

ordinary course of business.

(ii))  Contributed surplus represents the difference between the
nominal value of the ordinary shares issued by the
Company and the net asset value of subsidiaries acquired
through an exchange of shares pursuant to the group

reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s shares

on the GEM of the Stock Exchange.
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37. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES
(CONTINUED)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(iii)

@iv)

)

(vi)

Merger reserve represents the difference between the
nominal values of the ordinary shares issued by the
Company and the share capital of subsidiaries acquired
through an exchange of shares pursuant to the group
reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s shares
on the GEM of the Stock Exchange.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Group’s PRC

subsidiaries and relevant statutory regulations,
appropriations to the statutory reserve fund were made at a
10% of profit after taxation determined in accordance with
the accounting rules and regulations of the PRC. When the
balance of statutory reserve fund reaches 50% of
registered capital of each relevant PRC subsidiary, any
further appropriation is at the discretion of the
shareholders of this subsidiary. This reserve fund can be
utilised in setting off accumulated losses or increasing
capital of the subsidiaries provided that the balance after
such conversion is not less than 25% of their registered

capital, and is non-distributable other than in liquidation.

Translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with
in accordance with the accounting policy set out in note
2(aa).

The share option reserve represents the fair value of the
actual or estimated number of unexercised share options
granted to directors of the Company, employees of a
subsidiary and all other eligible participants recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy adopted for equity-

settled share-based payments set out in note 2(w)(ii).

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited JE i B4 B (¥ %) A BR 2 )

37. WA B Gt fls (%)

(c) flfEZME KME (4

(iii)

i)

)]

(vi)

B B 45 24 L BT O
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2 S 5 12 0 5
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AR 45 A 412 190 v (2 R A /D
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37.

38.

264

SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES
(CONTINUED)
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(vii) The convertible bonds equity reserve represents the equity
component (conversion rights) of convertible bonds issued
by the Company on 13 February 2019 and 4 October
2019. If the convertible bonds are not converted by the
convertible bondholder or redeemed by the Company at
the maturity date, the convertible bonds equity reserve will

be reclassified to accumulated losses.

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organised by
business lines (products and services). In a manner consistent with the
way in which information is reported internally to the board of
directors of the Company, being the Group’s chief operating decision
maker (“CODM”) for the purposes of resources allocation and
performance assessment, the Group has presented the following

reportable segments.

— Development, manufacturing and sales of health and beauty

supplements and products
— Online advertising agency business
— Online payment business

— E-commerce promotion business
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SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group disposed of its
business of provision of WeChat Pay cross-border solutions in Hong
Kong which was included in the online payment business segment
during the year ended 31 March 2019. Since the Disposed Online
Payment Business represented a major line of the online payment
business segment, the Disposed Online Payment Business was regarded
as a discontinued operation in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. Accordingly, the
related financial information of the Disposed Online Payment Business
was not included in the segment information from the continuing
operations and the comparative information was also reclassified to

conform with the current year’s presentation.

In March 2020, the management of the Group intended to dispose the
Game Distribution Business as the Group would like to streamline the
Group’s existing business segments in order to focus on health and
beauty supplement and products business and started looking for
potential buyers. The Game Distribution Business which is expected to
be sold within twelve months was regarded as a discontinued operation
in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations. Accordingly, the related financial information
of the Game Distribution Business was not included in the segment
information from the continuing operations and the comparative
information was reclassified to conform with the current year’s

presentation.

38. bRy (%)
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38. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

266

(a)

Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on operating segment profit/
(loss).

consistently with the Group’s loss before taxation from

The segment profit/(loss) before tax is measured

continuing operations except for unallocated other revenue and
other net income, share of profit of an associate, impairment loss
on interest in an associate, fair value change of contingent
consideration receivable, fair value change of contingent
consideration payables, fair value change of promissory notes
payable, fair value change of convertible bonds, fair value
change of an investment property, equity-settled share-based
payments, unallocated finance costs and unallocated corporate
expenses.

Segment assets exclude tax recoverable, investment property,
interest in an associate, promissory notes receivable, contingent
consideration receivable, unallocated intangible assets,
unallocated cash and cash equivalents, other unallocated
corporate assets as these assets are managed on a group basis,
assets associated with disposal group classified as held for sale

and assets related to discontinued operations.

Segment liabilities exclude deferred tax liabilities, tax payable,
unallocated bank and other borrowings, contingent consideration
payables, promissory notes payable, convertible bonds, amounts
due to non-controlling interests, other unallocated corporate
liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group basis,
liabilities associated with disposal group classified as held for

sale and liabilities related to discontinued operations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

f T S 955 A B ek

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — % “FAE = = — H IL4F &

38. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

(@)

Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities
(Continued)

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as

38.

provided to the Group’s CODM for the purposes of resources

allocation and assessment of segment performance for the years
ended 31 March 2019 and 2020 are set out below:

@

Segment revenue and results

Development,
manufacturing and

g3 b A (A1)

(a) ZrEbuEs - A R R
(#8)
HEE R E EE S
St FRARE - BRSO G B A
{53 30 2 BT B2 46 4 S 1 2 2 2
MY # 2 R T 2 A 2
B T

G) A E At R AL

For the year ended 31 March 2020
REZZBEZN=H—HILEE

sales of health and Online E-commerce Total from
beauty supplements advertising Online payment promotion continuing
and products agency business business business Elimination operations
Bt R R AR R E AN f#l ETHH BHRE
(68 B SR o T 18 B/ S i e i EB A
HK$°000 HKS$000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HKS$000 HK$’000
T T T T T T
Segment revenue: Sl :
Revenue from external customers R AMDEF R 294,888 13,597 679 8,966 - 318,130
Inter-segment revenue Lt - - - - - -
294,888 13,597 679 8,966 = 318,130
Segment results VL ES | 2,072 (47477) (2,684) (4,584) — (12,673)
Unallocated other revenue and RO R A
other net income FlA 16,550
Share of profit of an associate R 2 4 ) i 1,954
Impairment loss on interest B A A A 2
in an associate BlEER (28,071)
Fair value change of contingent RRABRREZ A TEED
consideration receivable 1,735
Fair value change of contingent RRAEMRELATHED
consideration payables 55,336
Fair value change of promissory notes M 7K S0 545 2 /A T-(E 4
payable 9,966
Fair value change of convertible bonds [ 555 2 4 T-{E % 8 7,142
Fair value change of an investment REWELATHES
property (4,630)
Equity-settled share-based payments DATRRE 45 57 DA 5 2
53 (7,100)
Unallocated finance costs F 3N (37,135)
Unallocated corporate expenses RO FER L (59,155)
Loss before taxation Xl 3 (55,481)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — & " FAFE = = — H ILF &

38. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED) 38. 43 #R R (4H)

(a) Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities (a) sr¥bicas ~ 4G BEIARE
(Continued) (%)
@) Segment revenue and results (Continued) (i) Vw1 & VET UG

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE-Z-NEZA=t—ALEE

268

Development,

manufacturing and

sales of health and Online E-commerce Total from
beauty supplements advertising  Online payment promotion continuing
and products  agency business business business Elimination operations
BE - R RAER B ERE 8 BRI FRRE
(e B A i R IR S s e T i T
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$°000
T Tt T#T T Tt T#T
(restated) (restated)
(B (&)
Segment revenue: S
Revenue from external customers A ESNERE F A 312728 11,535 455 7487 - 332,205
Inter-segment revenue Jh b - - - - - -
312,728 11,535 455 7487 — 332,205
Segment results S ER 57,134 (6.841) (2,394) (3.732) — 44,167
Unallocated other revenue and other FA R R A
net income A 4,580
Share of profit of an associate FE AV A A i 3,400
Fair value change of contingent RRAEMREZATEED
consideration payables 23,049
Fair value change of promissory notes & fif 7 5. 24 2 A TS
payable 7,007
Fair value change of convertible bonds [ 42t (% 2 /A 1[5 ) 47,768
Fair value change of an investment RENEZ A THED
property 52
Equity-settled share-based payments DARRRESS B AR S ff 2
B (37,007)
Unallocated finance costs FORMERA (20.968)
Unallocated corporate expenses FORAERL (70,520)
Profit before taxation BB AT A 2028
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE

38. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED) 38. Jr EB e (4H)

(a) Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities (a) sriBicas - 4L BERARK
(Continued) (%)
(ii)  Segment assets and liabilities (i) HEEEREE
As at 31 March 2020
REZZZEZAZ4—H
Development,
manufacturing and
sales of health and E-commerce
beauty supplements Online advertising ~ Online payment promotion
and products  agency business business business Total
BB
Rt i
TR LR ik EFHE
R i I SR i At
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
Tt T Tt T T
Assets i
Segment assets R E 141,350 4,678 2467 12,071 160,766
Tax recoverable Al B LR 3,759
Investment property RENE 3,500
Interest in an associate T 4 A Y 47,083
Promissory notes receivable RER S 2 9% 35,687
Contingent consideration receivable SRR 1,735
Unallocated intangible assets RO R G 2,200
Unallocated cash and cash equivalents A ERH 4%
(4] 56,141
Unallocated corporate assets FARAEGRE 66,840
Assets associated with disposal group AR BN E
classified as held for sale ARG 60,946
Total consolidated assets A YR 438,857
Liabilities A
Segment liabilities & fE 21,310 1,004 94 2,948 25,356
Deferred tax liabilities EREBEA R 2,402
Tax payable TERTBR 2418
Unallocated bank and other borrowings R RRAT BRI (3 95,107
Convertible bonds W 94,999
Unallocated corporate liabilities FRRAEA R 23879
Liabilities associated with disposal group AERE BT E
classified as held for sale AAMHEA K 61,883
Total consolidated liabilities BEAAK 306,044
Shunten International (Holdings) Limited JE W& BB (¥ HR AW 269



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rk 7 S 2% R B

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — & " FAFE = = — H ILF &

38. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

270

(@

Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities
(Continued)

(i)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

38. > Ek e (4)

(@)

sriRas - AT

(%)
(i)

2 S R R ()

As at 31 March 2019

REF-NEZAZ1-H

R AR

Development,
manufacturing and
sales of health and E-commerce
beauty supplements ~ Online advertising ~ Online payment promotion
and products  agency business business business Total
R ERIE
YIS I BERE RE BFHH
R RIEEHR ST BT st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000
Tt T Tt T Tt
(restated) (restated)
(BHEF) (BEH)
Assets HiE
Segment assets ARG 160,287 60,557 3,007 14,116 238,167
Tax recoverable T R 105
Investment property e % 8,130
Interest in an associate T A fE 73,400
Unallocated intangible assets RO R G 2,200
Unallocated cash and cash equivalents AR S RHE%
24 59,036
Unallocated corporate assets FARAEERE 73,589
Assets related to discontinued operations HHE &R ERN
B 337,803
Total consolidated assets BEAERE 792,430
Liabilities A
Segment liabilities s 24,177 1,063 598 1223 27,061
Deferred tax liabilities RAERIE A 36,316
Tax payable JERT B 6,058
Unallocated bank and other borrowings RO RRAT RILH (5K 65,556
Contingent consideration payables SRR 85,570
Promissory notes payable JE & SRR 47,509
Convertible bonds MR 262,001
Amounts due to non-controlling interests TEAT 9 1 e £ 30 1,227
Unallocated corporate liabilities FRbEA R 42,587
Liabilities related to discontinued operations KHC& LB
Atk 11,05
Total consolidated liabilities B s 584,910
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — % “FAE = = — H IL4F &

38. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED) 38. Jr EB e (4H)
(a) Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities (a) sriBicas - 4L BERARK
(Continued) (%)
(iii)  Other segment information i)  H B

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BREZZZRESR =1 HREE

Development,
manufacturing and
sales of health and E-commerce
beauty supplements Online advertising ~ Online payment promotion
and products  agency business business business Total
B
&
RERM R B LEEE N BTHH
e i s S i i
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000
T T T T T
Other information B
Additions of property, plant and equipment REWE - BR R 2959 7 - 78 3,044
Additions of unallocated property, plant and WERMRDE  HF R
equipment B4 | 167
Total additions of property, plant and equipment 7 B3 ~ B R4 3211
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #13% ~ B Rt fifn & 4448 263 700 2 5439
Unallocated depreciation of property, P EN T
plant and equipment e 2234
Total depreciation of property, plant and VER VG iRk
equipment 7,673
Impairment of property, plant and equipment VERY VL 1A - 677 - - 671
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EmESENE 2,461 393 143 517 3514
Unallocated depreciation of right-of-use assets 7/t {f il f ¥ A 47 ¢ 2,063
Total depreciation of right-of-use assets MG R AR 5,517
Amortisation of intangible assets Y B 2,690 1,791 = 51 5032
Impairment loss on intangible assets WY EEHEER - 21,004 = = 21,064
Impairment loss on goodwill 2 A — 31,214 — 4,161 35,375
Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment loss) on  HEUTIRFU S (B 1R/ (4
trade receivables BB 4 (646) - 202 (440)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — & " FAFE = = — H ILF &

38. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

(a) Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities (a)
(Continued)

(iii)  Other segment information (Continued)

38. 43 #R R (4H)

S Es ~ A
(#8)

(i) H AL B (A

R AR

For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE-F-EZN=T—HIEEE
Development,
manufacturing and

sales of health and E-commerce
beauty supplements ~ Online advertising ~ Online payment promotion
and products  agency business business business Total
- R
RS ERE )
REAH R EAN Kl AT ,
Tt R SR RS st
HKS$'000 HK$°000 HKS$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000
T Tt T Tt T
(restated) (restated)
(BEF) (BEF)
Other information Hp R
Additions of property, plant and equipment other [ 15 B 22 7 A S 9
than through acquisition of subsidiaries HRRENE KER
i 939 46 3,849 90 494
Additions of unallocated property, plant and BRI RER 22 ] DS
equipment other than through acquisition of HARERMEYE
subsidiaries R Rt tfs 91
Addition of property, plant and equipment REARERIEEEERD
related to discontinued operations VEN T 315
Total additions of property, plant and equipment B 7 48 i Y /4 7 LLSMEY
other than through acquisition of HARENE - KRR
subsidiaries iR 6,030
Additions of property, plant and equipment ERUCENE L AR E
through acquisition of subsidiaries VEM T | 147 - - - 147
Additions of unallocated property, plant and BRI A R E
equipment through acquisition of FATIE - BF R
subsidiaries it 121
Total additions of property, plant and equipment I M & A )7 &
through acquisition of subsidiaries* VER TR 268
Additions of intangible assets through acquisition % % i W 8 /A vV B
of subsidiaries B 12,739 — - — 12,739
Additions of goodwill through acquisition of BRI 2 R
subsidiaries 22,383 — - — 22,383
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #15%  FkJ5 Kal i i 3,049 266 565 4 4122
Unallocated depreciation of property, plant and AN » W7 Kk ffi
equipment e 3,846
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment B L4 I 864 650 1)
related to discontinued operations % BRI E 817
Total depreciation of property, plant and VERY S iy T
equipment 8,785
Amortisation of intangible assets TV S 869 5,781 — 553 7,203
Impairment loss on trade receivables TR L s - 862 - — 862
Impairment loss on trade receivables related to I
discontinued operations 1,013
Total impairment loss on trade receivables FEMUR KB B R A A 1875
* Including the business combinations and acquisition of assets * U 5% T B 5E 39 )

and liabilities through acquisition of subsidiaries as detailed in
notes 39 and 40 of these financial statements respectively.

404 BT IEER - WG A
A TS0 375 34 ST U g 2 )
B R AR -
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38. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

(b)

(0

f T S 955 A B ek

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE

38. 7 Ek e (4)

Geographical information (b) Hbl R

The Company is domiciled in Hong Kong. The Group’s
operations are mainly located in Hong Kong, the PRC and

Taiwan.

The revenue information below is based on the location of the

A m LR A s o AR 2 6B

AT i i R TS LA AR 48 BT A b 7

operations. #E o
2020 2019
S i “E
Revenue Revenue
from from
continuing  Non-current continuing ~ Non-current
operations assets operations assets
RS Fefgses
EHWE  JRREEE KWW B E
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T T T T
(restated)
(K8 F)
Hong Kong (place of domicile) i (G302 318,068 179,876 332,173 589,580
The PRC t = 36 19 664
Taiwan =R 62 = 13 —
318,130 179,912 332,205 590,244
Information about major customer (¢ FEEERFMER
Revenues from external customer contributing 10% or more of ik A 4 (] 4 2E AR 10% 5K D TR
the total revenue of the Group is as follows: H AN & F i s T
2020 2019
SESEE CF U
HK$°000 HK$’000
T#0 T#7T
Customer A* KFH 152,437 150,137

* The revenues were derived from the development, manufacturing and

sales of health and beauty supplements and products.

* A B AR T U B R R R
DR Ak T 92 2 ) it B E i
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39. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS 39. A b
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the AEE R NFE=HA =+ — B IR
subsidiaries acquired during the year ended 31 March 2019 as at the WS B Jig A D ) T sk L e R A i
date of acquisition are set out below: ERUTUPASSIER 27K A
2019
—FE
H365 Group
i FE365%
Note HK$’000
B 31 T#IT
(note (a))
(Bt 3E(a))
Non-current assets I By e
Plant and equipment L& 147
Intangible assets MY & e 19 12,739
Current assets it B
Trade and other receivables JARE Az B T S L A R g ik A 1,793
Cash and cash equivalents B4 e Bl S E ) 931
Inventories T 3,593
Tax recoverable A g [ A I —
Current liabilities it B £ 6
Trade and other payables JRE A B 3 S L Al R 5] 3k A (363)
Shareholder’s loans R B R (3,912)
Tax payable JHE A 5t (121)
Non-current liabilities I B A
Deferred tax liabilities R A T JE £ £ 36(a) (2,102)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value N P B F T 0 R B A A 12,705
Goodwill arising on acquisitions o5 E A Y T 20 22,383
Non-controlling interests TE £ M 4 —
Assignment of shareholder’s loans to the Group 598 S AR G A A [ 3,912
Total consideration A A% 39,000
Consideration satisfied by: RATDL T 5105 AT -
Cash consideration paid CAT Bl 39,000
39,000
Net cash outflow arising from the acquisitions: WIS T A P B A -
Cash consideration paid BT ER el (39,000)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired ST S ) B 4 % B AR 931
(38,069)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE

39. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

Note:

(a)

Acquisition of H365 Group

On 28 November 2018, Golden Challenge Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into a sale and purchase agreement with an
independent third party vendor to acquire the entire equity interest of H365
Group, companies incorporated in Hong Kong, together with the shareholder’s
loans of H365 Group, at a cash consideration of HK$39,000,000. H365 Group
are principally engaged in the sales and distribution of healthcare products. The
management considers that such acquisition will provide an excellent
opportunity for the Group to expand and grow its main business in health and
beauty supplements and products. The acquisition was completed on 17
December 2018.

The transaction costs of HK$517,000 have been excluded from the
consideration transferred and included in “administrative expenses” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the
year ended 31 March 2019.

The goodwill arising from the acquisition of H365 Group is attributable to the
future growth and profitability in relation to the sales of healthcare products
under H365 Group. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be

deductible for income tax purpose.

39. ¥ 6 0F (H)

(a)

WL £ 36548 E
WZFE—NF+—H+/N\H » ARFZ
4% [} & 22 7] Golden Challenge Limited 548
SEES Z0T HE T TOLE E hk  WO  s
FE A BT 22 7 T B 365 5 I 1) 4 40 A A
0[] fik e 365 42 [ 1 A A 3k > Bl AU
7%539,000,0007 G - fd FE365 5 M 3 1E F
P 0 B O B o A PR R S a2l
i TE IS 2 A A T R R £k % 2 25 Al
T b 7 B M R R T L R o X
WHHEED ) —F - AFE+ A+ EHSE
e

P A E A SR ARE L=
H = — B R 55 A 18 o S A A T
Wi i 2 v AT BB 3 ) 119 38 5 AR 517,000 95
JG ©

S i ek e 365 412 I T 7 21 1 78 B [ 7 B
5 e B 365 48 ¥ % (il 78 i A1 R 2 R AR R
e FLAGE Ty o M8 06 il 0 2 i 2 A mT )
FEUBR IR A5 8L
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40. ACQUISITION OF ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES THROUGH ACQUISITION OF A

276

SUBSIDIARY

The fair values of the assets and liabilities acquired through acquisition

of a subsidiary during the year ended 31 March 2019 as at the date of

acquisition are set out below:

40. 7% 38 W s — ] P i 2> ] Wi s

B M fE

RHE -F—NFE=H =T —HILFEES
A — ] A J 2 ) B B ) I LR

T W B F B AP T

Able One Limited

(“Able One”)
HEEA MRAH
([ gl
Note HKS$’000
B Tt
(note (a))
(K 5E (a))
Non-current assets I
Investment property Eg-L/E S 17 7,378
Property, plant and equipment L/ER ] 121
Current assets it B
Deposits and prepayments i 4 B TEAN RO 6
Cash and cash equivalents B4 K B4 S AE ) 36
Current liabilities i RS R
Shareholder’s loan JB R K (461)
Deposits received Bt 4 (40)
Bank overdrafts RATIB X (1)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value F O VAT 0 R R R A R A A 7,039
Assignment of shareholder’s loan to the Group B BRAE A AE 461
Total consideration A 48 % 7,500
Consideration satisfied by: RAEDL T 5105 AT -
Cash consideration paid CAT B & 7,500
7,500
Net cash outflow arising from the acquisitions: WIS T A A B A i -
Cash consideration paid OB A e fE (7,500)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired ST A 1) B 4 B B4 A5 E W) 36
Bank overdrafts RATIE XL (1)
(7,465)
Note: P 5
(a) On 4 May 2018, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement with an (a) A TE— NAETLH VY H > A B2 (8 Bl — 42 Ji T
independent third party vendor to acquire the entire equity interest in and the W= E R L E ek o SO RER 2
shareholder’s loan of Able One for a total cash consideration of WERE M B AR > %ﬁﬁﬁ@HISO0,000%
HK$7,500,000. Able One is principally engaged in property investment. The JG o HRE R FY LG - G TR
transaction was completed on 10 May 2018. This acquisition has been F—/NFEHH T HER o sZUWUEC AR 5
accounted for as an acquisition of assets and liabilities through acquisition of a 75 A I R 2 D o A A
subsidiary.
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41. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(@)

(b)

f T S 955 A B ek

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — % “FAE = = — H IL4F &

41. HEHE A ¥

Disposal of entire equity interest of Empire Access (a) HEREmpire Access /)2 &
B HE
On 27 March 2020, the Group disposed of its entire equity MN_F_FE=H L H A%
interest in Empire Access. Further details of the disposal of 9] B H i Empire Access ) 2
Empire Access are set out in note 12(a). HE - ‘LUE.EEmpire Access 1Y Z 7E 1%
WA B EE12(a) ©
Disposal of the entire equity interest and the (b) i Super ValueZ 2 B A
shareholders’ loan in Super Value RE 25 B i R K
On 25 July 2018 and 18 December 2018, the Group entered into e S ANCA B i & Ry ol T = [ e
a provisional sale and purchase agreement and sale and purchase —/NEHZH T NH > A5 —
agreement respectively with an independent third party whereby S =07 43 B ET 7 g IR R 1
the Group agreed to dispose of its entire equity interest and the il SR Wh R o R A AR [ R R
shareholder’s loan in Super Value for a consideration of 131,000,000% JC 2 18 & & H ik
HK$31,000,000. Super Value is principally engaged in property Super Value It 4 ¥l i A 4 K R
investment. The transaction was completed on 18 December 3K > Super Value & Z A/ 4 K%
2018. KX Hn_F—-N¥+_H
TNHER °
HK$°000
T#E 7T
Net assets disposed of: S A
Property, plant and equipment W~ B Kt 26,026
Accruals MEFT 2 H (27)
Shareholder’s loans R B (25,635)
Net assets disposed of attributable to owners of AN A N REAN B A
the Company 364
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: H B — [ B )8 A w2
Consideration received in cash LB Sl i 2 AU E 31,000
Expenses incurred on disposal B A 2 B 921)
Net assets disposed of attributable to owners of AN A AT N AN B
the Company (364)
Sale of shareholder’s loans B AR K (25,635)
4,080
Net cash inflow on disposal of a subsidiary: A — R J A W] 2 B A A
Cash consideration received B i 3 A0 31,000
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41. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 41. & 2w (4)
(CONTINUED)
(c) Disposal of 65% equity interest in Max Excel (c) H 5 mi M E AT R 2 W] ([
Corporation Limited (“Max Excel”) W) Z65% I A HE 2%
On 22 November 2018, the Group disposed of 65% equity W_E-NEF+—H_+ZH &K
interest in Max Excel to its non-controlling shareholder for a 4 B LA 6,500 95 7T ] H: I 2 I i
consideration of HK$6,500. The transaction was completed on 22 SR Y 65% R RE 25 o %
November 2018. By _F—/NFt+—H_+_H
SEH -
HK$’000
T
Net assets/(liabilities) disposed of: W EE (AR FE -
Amount due from a non-controlling interest JE A I 42 R RE 45 3KCIA 4
Accruals FE=T 2 (2)
2
Net assets disposed of attributable to FE e A 7 A LB R
non-controlling interests 5)
Net liabilities disposed of attributable to owners of A</ Fl BE A AME AL H & & 5 1 58
the Company (3)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: H B — [ B A w2
Consideration received in cash DB 4 I 2 A 7
Net liabilities disposed of attributable to owners AR AT N EAG B A TR AR
of the Company 3
10
Net cash inflow on disposal of a subsidiary: B — PR B A W) 2 B TR E
Cash consideration received B A 0 7
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE

42. COMMITMENTS

(@)

(b)

Capital commitments
As at 31 March 2019 and 2020, the Group had capital
commitments contracted but not provided for in the financial

statements as follows:

ARG

O R Nid = =t L =¥
S B AEEA TR AN
SRR M A AR 10 AR

2020 2019
TRORA SE L
HK$°000 HK$’000
T TH# T
Contracted for ERT4Y
— Property, plant and equipment — W3~ WU Rkt 157 188
Operating lease commitments g R gAY
As lessee 1ERARRIN
At 31 March 2019, the Group had total future minimum lease AR -NE=ZA=1T—0 KE
payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling due as B 7% O AT ARG K€ AL 49 TH T A R LA

follows:

I 40 TR R 2 AR A o AT L £ A AR
%
2019
R
HK$’000
T

Within one year —4E N
—AEBHEHTAENR

After one year but within five years

8,546
4,843

13,389

The Group is the lessee in respect of a number of warehouses,
office premises and carparks held under leases which were
previously classified as operating leases under HKAS 17. The
Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective approach. Under this approach, the Group adjusted
the opening balances at 1 April 2019 to recognise lease liabilities
relating to these leases (see note 3(b)). From 1 April 2019
onwards, future lease payments are recognised as lease liabilities
in the consolidated statement of financial position in accordance

with the policies set out in note 2(k).

AR B By AR PR A s gt RIS 179
SRl AR E A B AW
Z B R s Y AT E
AR o AR 0 AR AE W90 W)
TR T A BB i HE R 16
BE o R UL Ty i > AR ET RN
T JUEN H — H B A gk > M
TERR AT B % S AL T A AR B B o (B
iE3(b)) - B =% —JLFEM A —H
A R AR A AR B E20k) B
2 BN £ WP R DL R TR
HEAR-
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MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these
financial statements, the Group had the following transactions and

balances with its related parties during the year:

(a) Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group,
including amounts paid to the Company’s directors as disclosed
in note 9, highest paid employees as disclosed in note 10 and

other senior management of the Group are as follows:

43. R AR S

I 7 7S B 5 0 2 L 3 0 40 8 1) 22 5 M 4
BRAN > A 4 [ B BE 3 O 0 A TR 58 B S
fRE -

(a)

T BN B H W

AR AR A PN B A A B
O T 48 i A AR 2 D ) R I R
FE 10 57 i 55 A A 4R [ 5 i 7 0 A
T A s A% PG RO SO - 8
B

2020 2019

ZRIRA SE L

HK$’000 HK$’000

T THE T

Short-term employee benefits 55 IR B AR 20,579 43,027
Post-employment benefits o Rk 1% A ) 154 185
Equity-settled share-based payments DA RS RE 55 55 LAy S AN 2 Bl S 2,808 22,896
23,541 66,108

Total remuneration is included in “Staff costs” (see note 8(a)).
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43. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 43. KB TR 5 (8
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(b) Transactions with related parties (b) HBHBEGTRG
2020 2019
TR R U
HK$°000 HK$°000
T#0 T T
Rental expenses paid to Sunex Limited A 3 A T B A BR A H
(note i) (B 5E1) — 208
Acquire right-of-use asset from Sunex T B AT PR ) s 0 P R
Limited (note ii) 2 (P &Eii) 407 —
Finance cost paid to Sunex Limited (note ii) [A] & A BRZA & 3245 Bl & R A
(Bf T i) 12 —
Legal and professional fee paid to BB EEA TEEER
Sidney Lee & Co. (note iii) FifT = 85 T (B G i) 300 307
Rental expenses paid to Power Trendy T4 AT 7 A BR A T
Limited (note iv) (B 5Eiv) — 9
Rental expenses paid to Mega Linker 4 AT T EREARAF
Limited (note v) (Bt 5Ev) — 9
Rental expenses paid to City Scene Limited  #H 4 3¢ H A4S S 3ok A R 23
(note vi) (B 3Evi) — 9
Rental expenses paid to Sunny Viewer T4 AT T B A BR A T
Limited (note vii) (Bff 5% vii) — 9
As at 31 March 2019, the Group had total future minimum lease W oEFE—NFE=H=1T—H
payables to related parties under non-cancellable operating lease FUs GRS 1798 > AEB R
under HKAS 17 falling due as follows: FI B A E TR A T T A A AT WA [
Jih I 2 A A IR A B B 2 A AR AH <5
A
As at
31 March 2019
W EE U
=H=+—H
HK$’000
T
Within one year — 4R 197
After one year but within five years —ERETEN 125
322
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43. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

282

(b)

Transactions with related parties (Continued)

Notes:

(&)

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

v)

The rental expenses were paid to Sunex Limited, a company wholly-

owned by Ms. Wong Chui Lan, senior management of the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group acquired a right-of-
use asset from and paid finance cost to Sunex Limited, a company
wholly-owned by Ms. Wong Chui Lan, senior management of the

Group.

The legal and professional fees represents legal service fees charged by
a barrister via Sidney Lee & Co., a registered solicitors’ firm in Hong
Kong controlled by Mr. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney. Mr. Lee Chi Hang,
Sidney resigned as the executive director of the Company on 25
February 2020 and ceased to be a related party of the Group following
his resignation as director of the subsidiaries of the Company on 31
March 2020. Sidney Lee & Co. provided such service to the Company

on a complimentary basis.

The rental expenses were paid to Power Trendy Limited, a company
wholly-owned by Mr. Chan Yan Tak. Mr. Chan Yan Tak resigned as
an executive director of the Company on 1 April 2019 and ceased to
be a related party following his resignation of all of the position of the

subsidiaries of the Company on 31 March 2020.

The rental expenses were paid to Mega Linker Limited, a company
wholly-owned by Mr. Chan Yan Tak. Mr. Chan Yan Tak resigned as
an executive director of the Company on 1 April 2019 and ceased to
be a related party following his resignation of all of the position of the

subsidiaries of the Company on 31 March 2020.
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43, ERBM AR 5 (#)

(b)

@

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

)

S A 5 22 5 ()

Wi -

e T EMARAR - K5
— I AR e A L £ R B
EREHWAR AR -

REE-F-FEZHZT—A L
A S S I ) AT R WO
{0 W T LA R
] 2 S 5 0 R E R
ES R

R TR — A KA R
R S A T A 7 o I A
i 1T 2 A T 5 T U i
MeHs B - e —F F
AEA O BHE A A AT
HoMmp —F_FE=A=+—H
BHEA LA ME AR EHER > OA
THA AR T 2 B 7 o 2%k 1E A
ST T G B 1 AR AR P S

e A PR RARAR - HA
—Hm R AL
Al o BB T — JLAE I A
—HEBEALFRRATES > TR
FOREZA = ABHEALT
FEf J 2 7190 A s 4% - ©ASFE 2 A
SR Z BT o

TS TEMBARAR - K
—H R R AN
Al o BRBESE AR R — JLE A
—HEHEA A RRATEDS > R
FOREZA =T H o BHEAL
AW o F BT B AR > ©OR
AAEW 2 BT
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43. BRI L B (4])

43. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

Transactions with related parties (Continued) (b) BEPBRE R 5 (48)

Notes: (Continued) B EE - ()

(vi) The rental expenses were paid to City Scene Limited, a company wholly- (vi) T4 S A T IR A ) H S
owned by Mr. Chan Yan Tak. Mr. Chan Yan Tak resigned as an —MHEREEESEHEAENA
executive director of the Company on 1 April 2019 and ceased to be a A o PR SR Y R — JUAE Y A
related party of the Group following his resignation of all of the - H BT A 2wl AT EE S i
position of the subsidiaries of the Company on 31 March 2020. FEREZH = HBAL AL A

BB 2 WA BB AR > ©OR A
S By

(vii)  The rental expenses were paid to Sunny Viewer Limited, a company (vii) &L BAT TEBEARAR > HA
wholly-owned by Mr. Chan Yan Tak. Mr. Chan Yan Tak resigned as - PR R R A
an executive director of the Company on 1 April 2019 and ceased to ) o BRBEAE A R — JUE I A
be a related party of the Group following his resignation of all of the — HBEA LN ABATE S > Tk —
position of the subsidiaries of the Company on 31 March 2020. F_FE=ZA =T —HBEALA

Bif g 2 W BT B BB A% > E AN A AR
W2 By

Balances with related parties (c) BRIy &5k

The Group leases office premises from related parties under 7 A T R 4 B R 2 7 ) AR A A %2

operating lease arrangements with lease terms of one to three PEHEZ AW S 2 =4 -

years. The terms of the leases require the Group to pay rental T4 6 B B SR AR A B A B 4% 4

deposits to the lessors. The balances of the rental deposits as at THMBEA- R ZF—JLFEZA

31 March 2019 and 31 March 2020 are detailed as follows: Z=t—HR-FoFRE=A=4—

FI 0L 4 2 B W 90 A
As at As at
31 March 2020 31 March 2019
ROERIRE R EFUE
=A=+—H =A=+-H
HK$°000 HK$’000
T#0 T#E 7T
Sunex Limited B A A 36 36
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EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS

Pursuant to a written resolution of the Company passed on 24
September 2013, the Company has conditionally adopted a share option
scheme, which has been taken effect on 11 October 2013 (the “Share
Option Scheme”). The Share Option Scheme remains effective
following the Transfer of Listing subject to certain immaterial
amendments to the share option scheme and implemented in full

compliance with the requirements of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

A summary of the Share Option Scheme of the Company is as follows:

Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to motivate the eligible
participants to optimise their performance and efficiency for the benefit
of the Group and attract and retain ongoing business relationship with
the eligible participants whose contributions are or will be beneficial to

the Group.

Eligible Participants
Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include:

(a)  any director, employee or officer of any company in the Group
(whether full time or part time) (“Employee”), consultant,
professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or
contractor to the Group or a company in which the Group holds

an interest or a subsidiary of such company (“Affiliate”); or

(b) the trustee of any trust the beneficiary of which or any
discretionary trust the discretionary objects of which include any
director, Employee, consultant, professional, customer, supplier,
agent, partner or adviser of or contractor to the Group or an
Affiliate; or

(c) a company beneficially owned by any director, Employee,
consultant, professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner,

adviser of or contractor to the Group or an Affiliate.
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A HLE E M -

AN T I BEHE R WA R
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EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Total number of ordinary shares available for issue under
the Share Option Scheme and the percentage of the

issued share capital that it represented as at 31 March

2020
232,580,775 ordinary shares, being 10% of shares in issue on 19
August 2019 (i.e. the date of approving the refreshment of the share

option scheme mandate limit).

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the Share
Option Scheme

The maximum entitlement of each participant under the Share Option
Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue of the Company in

any 12-month period.

Any grant of further share options above this limit shall be subject to

the approval of the Company’s shareholders at general meeting.

Period within which the shares must be taken up under a
share option

A period to be determined by the Board and notified to the grantee,
which shall not exceed 10 years from the date of grant of such share

option.

Minimum period for which a share option must be held
before it can be exercised

Unless otherwise determined by the Board and notified to the grantee,
there is no minimum period for which a share option must be held

before it can be exercised.

Amount payable on acceptance
HK$1.00 for each lot of share options granted.

Period within which payments/calls/loans must be made/
repaid
Not applicable.

44. DL RE &5 S DA Ay S AT 2 B

(%)

R4 S e AR it 3l T 36 3 AT A 3 e
BRI R RE=A
=+ HMEBITBRATE

232,580,775 B¢ 54 A > R — & — JLAF\H

U B (L 5 R T B R R
HH) B 3T M1 10% o

Sl J AR 3 % 22 SR Y e g G
I A - 2 B ) B i LA 74 R
A2 TR AT+ (8 A 011 AT A )

1%

HE 25 5 R A R PR ) U B M ZEL 1 0 R
FOR B AL 7 R HE -

R0 i 5t B 0 B A ) 0 PR
YRR 2 5 e N R IR o mR
RESZ B I RS AR 4 o

Jii JE AR AT AT {8 I ZE R A e A PR
Wik H o g5 8 55 47 b 0 ORI SN 5
JREARE O] A7 (50 iR ZE R A A AR -

2 40 WRe 2 B0 W 3K 0

AL E I I RE1.00% G -

RV ¥ Vs VRV T -5

fy 307 R
R -
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EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Basis of determining the exercise price

The exercise price for any share under the Share Option Scheme shall
be determined by the Board and notified to the grantee and shall not be
less than the highest of:

(a)  the closing price of a share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of grant of the share option, which

must be a trading day;

(b)  the average closing price of a share as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five business days

immediately preceding the date of grant of the share option; and

(c)  the nominal value of a share on the date of grant of the share

option.

The remaining life of the scheme

The Share Option Scheme will be valid and effective until 23
September 2023, after which no further share options will be granted
but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full
force and effect in all other respects. Options complying with the
provisions of the Listing Rules which are granted during the duration of
the scheme and remain unexercised immediately prior to 23 September
2023 shall continue to be exercisable in accordance with their terms of
grant within the option period for which such share options are granted,

notwithstanding the expiry of the scheme.
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EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Movements of share options
Movements of the share options during the years ended 31 March 2019

and 2020 are listed below in accordance with Chapter 17 of the Listing

(%)

44. DL RE &5 S DA Ay S AT 2 B

e L = = SV ES
FUILAF B A0 1 BLR 017 3 R Bt

Rules: BTEN P W A R S B A T
For the year ended 31 March 2020 MEEZFFE=H="1T—HI-FE
Number of share options
i FB e B
Outstanding Reclassification Outstanding
as at of categories Exercised Lapsed as at
Category 1 April 2019 of grantee during the year during the year 31 March 2020
QR S K S /e a2 5
MH—H 4 =A=+—8H
-yl ARATHE AR NS AERATRE AR RATHE
(Note viii) (Note ix)
CFff 3 i) (B iEix)
Directors #
Mr. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney e 17,000,000 (8,000,000) (3,000,000) (6,000,000) =
Mr. Wang Xihua ENUE a0 12,000,000 — — (4,000,000) 8,000,000
Mr. Lai Wei Lam, William TR 12,000,000 = = (4,000,000) 8,000,000
Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia Al fE L 2,500,000 — — (2,500,000) =
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau &k 5e4: 2,500,000 — — (2,000,000) 500,000
Mr. Tam Kin Yip AL {2 e e 2,500,000 = (500,000) (2,000,000) =
Mr. Leung Man Loon PSR 2,500,000 — (500,000) (2,000,000) —
Subtotal INEF 51,000,000 (8,000,000) (4,000,000) (22,500,000) 16,500,000
Continuous Contract REAHRE
Employees 193,500,000 8,000,000 (39,000,000) (48,500,000) 114,000,000
Total HEE 244,500,000 = (43,000,000) (71,000,000) 130,500,000
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PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

The remaining life of the scheme (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2019

44. DA RE %5 5 DA Ay S A 2 B 52
(%)

w3 R 5 A BOW (480)
BEFRNAFEZA = IS

Number of share options

TRIBERA
Outstanding ~ Reclassification of Outstanding
as at categories  Granted on  Granted on Granted on Lapsed as at

Category 1 April 2018 of grantee 20 April 2018 26 April 2018 3 December 2018 during the year 31 March 2019

= RoF-AF ROB-AF ROFAR e S

MA—H B MAZTE MAZHAH ToA=H ZA=1-H

i KA RS il it gt FERER Kt
(Notes i, ii and v) (Note iii) (Note iv) (Note vi)
(M3 ~ i) (i 3Eiii) (f3Eiv) (Fi3Evi)

Directors #

Mr. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney kT B 6,000,000 — — — 11,000,000 — 17,000,000

Mr. Wong Ping Yiu FTRE 4,000,000 (4,000,000) - - - - -

Mr. Wang Xihua FRERE 4,000,000 - — — 8,000,000 — 12,000,000

Mr. Lai Wei Lam, William B 4,000,000 - - - 8,000,000 - 12,000,000

Mr. So Kevin Hoi Chak Hslig e 4,000,000 (4,000,000) — — — — —

Mr. Liao Zhe B 20,000,000 (20,000,000) - - - - -

Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia AfEEA Lt 2,000,000 — — — 500,000 — 2,500,000

Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau PP 2,000,000 — — — 500,000 — 2,500,000

Mr. Tam Kin Yip BRERE 2,000,000 - - - 500,000 - 2,500,000

Mr. Leung Man Loon B 2,000,000 - - - 500,000 - 2,500,000

Subtotal it 50,000,000 (28,000,000) — — 29,000,000 — 51,000,000

Continuous Contract Employees BARHER 97,300,000 28,000,000 13,000,000 37,000,000 134,000,000 (115,800,000 193,500,000

Total it 147,300,000 — 13,000,000 37,000,000 163,000,000  (115,800,000) 244,500,000

Notes: FRF5E -

(i) 4,000,000 share options held by Mr. Wong Ping Yiu has been reclassified under @) PSS A TR 2 4,000,000 173 B RAE i
the category of “continuous contract employees” following his resignation as an A TR AR Y H BT AR W AT
executive director of the Company with effect from 4 May 2018. FE B E R A AR B 1B -

(ii) 4,000,000 share options held by Mr. So Kevin Hoi Chak, former director of the (ii) AAF AT EF OB RAE A Z
Company, has been reclassified to the category of “continuous contract 4,000,000 %3 M B HE th Hit —F— N4E A
employees™ following his resignation on 13 February 2018. TERBEREN MBS HEER ]

A o
(iii)  The validity period of the share options is from 20 April 2018 to 19 April 2020 (i) MEREZHZMH —F - NFIHAZ+H

(both days inclusive). All of the share options will be vested on 20 April

2019. The exercise price of the share options and the closing price of the
shares of the Company immediately before the date on which these share
options were granted was HK$1.15 and HK$1.15 respectively.
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EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)
The remaining life of the scheme (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

@iv)

)

vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(x)

The validity period of the share options is from 26 April 2018 to 25 April 2023
(both days inclusive). All of the share options were immediately vested. The
exercise price of the share options and the closing price of the shares of the
Company immediately before the date on which these share options were
granted was HK$1.15 and HK$1.12 respectively.

20,000,000 share options held by Mr. Liao Zhe, has been reclassified under
category of “continuous contract employees” following his resignation on 4
October 2018.

The validity period of the share options is from 3 December 2018 to 2 December
2020 (both days inclusive), in which 81,500,000 share options and 81,500,000
share options will be vested on 3 June 2019 and 3 December 2019
respectively. The exercise price of the share options and the closing price of
the shares of the Company immediately before the date on which these share
options were granted was HK$0.27 and HK$0.265 respectively.

115,800,000 share options were lapsed following the resignation of certain
directors and employees during the year ended 31 March 2019.

8,000,000 share options held by Mr. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney has been reclassified
under the category of ‘“continuous contract employees” following his
resignation as an executive director of the Company with effect from
25 February 2020.

43,000,000 share options granted to continuous contract employees were
exercised during the year ended 31 March 2020. The weighted average share
price at the date of exercise was HK$0.50.

The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case of
rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

44. DL RE &5 S DA Ay S AT 2 B
(%)

s B B4 R A 28O0 (D)

BEZFNFEZH=A— HIEEE (4)
WHEE - (%0

(iv)  WEBHEZ AW E T FE - EH AR
AZE-F-=4FNH - +EA (AEEREW
K)o BT AT BB T ST BN BT o BMETRAE 2 AT
6 {0 B B e 4 1 o 5 W ORE 5 B AT A )
Ry 2 Wi 8 20 Al 2 11598 08 S 1,129 G ©

(v) B e A BT A 220,000,000 175 1 R AE H H:
i F AR A Y H BT A
TR & 40 B B -

(viy ERMEZARME -F - E+H=H
FOFECRFETATH (AFERWA)
H H181,500,000173 il 1 H#E 12 81,500,000 13 iff
JEREN S Bk —F—WVFEAH=H R =%
—NET A= B - W AT
R B 2 5 T R RE i AR A R R
Z W AE 43 Al £ 0.27 5 I 220,265 5 G ©

(vi)  RETHEFREAREE % F=A
=t H IR RHTAZ 115,800,000 63 /i
HERI -

(vill)  ZF A S AT 28,000,000 473 1 11 A
MO FE A R A BIEAL A
TTHERR BSR4 5 180 -

(ix) 43,000,000/ #% T 4 & 401 8 2 1§ A
WE T TE A = B E AT
i o AT B2 0 RE P 35 A 750,50

IG °

() M IBCHEAT 1 8 ZF0RE A R R B BB AT AL B
AR T R AS B HG A TR A ) 1 A A
# o
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290

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Movements in the number of share options outstanding and their
weighted average exercise prices for the years ended 31 March 2019
and 2020 are as follows:

44. DA RE %5 5 DAy S AF 2 B 52

(%)

I I SIS Sl St =
:+¥a¢¢x *ﬁﬁ%&%ﬁﬁ&ﬁ
- 27 0 2 S )

Weighted Number of
average shares issuable
exercise price under options
per share granted
A48 i 452 1

REBMBE BB T BR AT
P AT Z A ¥H

HK$
S
At 1 April 2018 W E— NEWNH—H 1.69 147,300,000
Granted on 20 April 2018 HE—/FENH ZH HERS 1.15 13,000,000
Granted on 26 April 2018 RFE—NFERA AN HEG 1.15 37,000,000
Granted on 3 December 2018 AT FE—/FE+ " H=ZHEZH 0.27 163,000,000
Lapsed during the year AR R 1.54 (115,800,000)
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 AZE—NAE=A =T —H R
ZER—JUENA—H 0.71 244,500,000
Exercised during the year ENITE 0.27 (43,000,000)
Lapsed during the year A AR AL 1.74 (71,000,000)
At 31 March 2020 MEoEFEE=H=+—H 0.29 130,500,000

As at 31 March 2020, there were 130,500,000 share options that were

outstanding and exercisable (2019: no share options outstanding were

75/\\4

171l 2 Bt B HE /75 130,500,00017 (

THREZHAZA—H o RATHE R

EA

exercisable).

The options outstanding as at 31 March 2020 had an exercise price of
HK$1.15 or HK$0.27 (2019: HK$1.70, HK$1.16, HK$1.15 or
HK$0.27) and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 0.88
years as at 31 March 2020 (2019: 1.61 years).
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EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value of share options and assumptions

The fair value of the share options granted during the year ended 31
March 2019 were estimated by an independent firm of professionally
qualified valuers using the binomial lattice model taking into account
the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The

following tables listed the inputs to the model used:

44, DLISERESS DA 32 4 Z B %
(%)
i JE HE 2 P-4 B AL
WRE_Z—NFE=ZH=+—H IR
B 5% W SR 2N ST-(EL ) B S S AR
Al {1 BT AT 58 2 JE 452 L 6 PR A T 4 4% 22 Ak
R A A% R IR QB R R A 5t o R 3R
1) WA B (7 PR TR ) o A Bl

3 December 26 April 20 April

2018 2018 2018

&)\ E N\ A

Grant date B HY +ZH=H WHIZ+RH WH—=+H

Share price on date of grant (HK$) R F O R AE (s T) 0.265 1.12 1.15

Exercise price (HK$) AT (o) 0.270 1.15 1.15

Expected life of share options (years) TELHA U PR M B (4 2 5 2

Expected volatility T HA U 73.52% 55.24% 50.27%

Dividend yield RE% N/AT T JT] N/A R N/A R

Risk-free interest rate i J g ) 2.10% 2.06% 1.67%
Fair value per share options granted to (HK$) % T ¥ A\ L4 03 B HE 2 A~F(H (H0)

— directors — #H 0.102 or0.104" N/A 3 i) N/AA 3

— employees — EA 0.085 org%0.096* 0.36 0.32

The fair value of HK$0.102 per share option granted and HK$0.104 per share
option granted will be vested on 3 June 2019 and 3 December 2019

respectively.

# The fair value of HK$0.085 per share option granted and HK$0.096 per share
option granted will be vested on 3 June 2019 and 3 December 2019

respectively.

The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility (calculated
based on the weighted average remaining life of the share options),
adjusted for any expected changes to future volatility based on publicly
available information. Changes in the subjective input assumptions

could materially affect the fair value estimate.

B A5 © 432 1L 0 IBEHE 2 1 (BL0.1025 7T I 54y
B 452 4 5 B A T (0. 10495 TT 1% 40 7l s —
F-NAEANAZARZFE - UET A=
A& -

# B3 45 1L FEHEE 2 SF-(B0.085 5 JC M A5
B 52 H I 1B A/ 1 5.0.096 75 T8 43 I s —
F—EANAZA L -E—EF A=
H 558 -

TEJUD e MRS T 2 S R S R (A S AR 2
RET- 2 R AE ISH D) > AR AR EOR
AP NE AL S B 1 % -
A B R 2 S AL T REB T B R
MR R R B -
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45. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 45. FEHE A H

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2020 are as ATECREZA=ZA4—H FERBA
follows: Al ZFEEWR
Place of
incorporation/ Particulars of
establishment issued and
and operation Class of paid-up capital Percentage of equity
Name kR 3 shares held B8 47 K B2  attributable to the Company Principal activities
4 AR R ety B3 BeAwESE AAWBEAERT A EERE
Direct Indirect
H#% %
% %
Able One Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 1 ordinary share — 100 Property holding
HRARAR i L1l el /ESEE]
Best Billion Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 10,000 — 100 Provision of general administrative services
ordinary shares
EEA AR i L1l 10,000 3% 48 It Pt — AT B
CJ Pharmaceutical Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 1 ordinary share — 100 Sales and distribution of healthcare products
B ERA AT Eik g R 4 A S Ty SH IR (e E
CV Virtue Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 1 ordinary share — 100 Provision of administrative support to the H365
Group
HINARAR Eik g R 4 A Rl 365 5 M ER AT BOCH
Creation Chance Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 1 ordinary share — 100 Sale of health and beauty supplements and products
and provision of general administrative services
KA RAT Eik g R 4 A SH DR B 2 i B i 4R Ut — AT B
CULegend Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 1 ordinary share — 100 Trading of products under the proprietary brand of
“LEGEND”
MEFRPERRERAT i g R 4 A B[R R A S
Eastern Bright (Asia) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 1 ordinary share — 100 Provision of management services to other Group
companies
HAE GEM) HRAT Eik g R 4 A 1) A AL 2 ) i 442 PR RS
Giant Bloom Holdings Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary 1 ordinary share — 100 Property holding
AR A R i L1l il /ESEE]
Golden Challenge Limited BVI Ordinary US$1 — 100 Investment holding
HEELHE  RE IS Erd it
Good Wealth Trading Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary 10,000 — 100 Trading of health supplements
ordinary shares
IR 5 A IR ik Wil 10,000 8 3% 4 ¢ B PR A
H365 Health Products Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary 1 ordinary share — 100 Sales and distribution of healthcare products
f HE365 PR E i AT PR i L1l U M B R S IR A
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (£ — % “FFE=H =+ —H ILFE

45. FEMHE 2w (4])

Place of
incorporation/ Particulars of
establishment issued and
and operation Class of paid-up capital Percentage of equity
Name REM AL, shares held C#TRHE  attributable to the Company Principal activities
T AL R R R B0 AR ARAVEMNERE AL EEER
Direct Indirect
H# 4%
% %
Health Proof International Hong Kong Ordinary 1 ordinary share — 100 License holding
Company Limited
i R A R it gl Vi i FRAT IR IR
Hong Kong Ever Spring Hong Kong Ordinary 1 ordinary share — 100 Manufacturing and sale of health and beauty
Medicine Factory Limited supplements and products
BN ENERARAR B gl VB i P T B O A 3R A O
IAHGames Hong Kong Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary 2,536,357 — 69.75 Game distribution
ordinary shares
it - 2,536,357/ AT
T K
Junten Technology Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 6 ordinary shares — 100 Online payment business
TS BLEA RA 7 it - (2%l B bSO R
Kiwi Lab International Hong Kong Ordinary 1 ordinary share — 100 License holding
Company Limited
AR B A R A it - VB i FRAT IR IR
Medalist Limited BVI Ordinary US$1 — 100 Trademark holding
EEELEE  E IESTH AR
Power Regal International Hong Kong Ordinary 1 ordinary share — 100 Property investment
Limited
E B A R Eik T R A LES 3
Rich Sunny Investment Limited ~Hong Kong Ordinary 1 ordinary share — 100 Property investment and investment holding
HHEREARA A it gl VB i R R
RM Group Holdings Limited BVI Ordinary US$11 100 — Investment holding
5 S M A IR R EEELEE  E 11%£5% Era it
Royal Medic Chinese Medicine Hong Kong Ordinary 3 ordinary shares — 100 Provision of Chinese medical consultation services
Clinic Limited and trading of health products
HEFFRPEGHFRAT &l T 3 ¥ A8 PRt e 2 A RS B R A E 0
Royal Medic (Holdings) Hong Kong Ordinary 100 — 100 License holding
Limited ordinary shares
e (PR HIRA R Eik T 1005 3% 78 i FA R
Royal Richly (Hong Kong) Hong Kong Ordinary 1 ordinary share — 100 Property investment
Limited
e (Fils) HRAF Eik T 4 A W E
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45. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

294

45. B AW (4)

Place of
incorporation/ Particulars of
establishment issued and
and operation Class of paid-up capital Percentage of equity
Name LR, shares held CB7 B2  attributable to the Company Principal activities
A RIS R R et B0 WA AATEMERES L REER
Direct Indirect
H# fil %
% %
Star Root Limited BVI Ordinary USs$1 100 — Investment holding
ERELRE HE IESH Ed il
Soul Marketing Group Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary 15,708 — 80 e-commerce promotion
ordinary shares
17355 R A A PR ) & gl 15,708 1% 3% 4 i CRRCE E
Super Pioneer Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 1 ordinary share — 100 Provision of management services to other Group
companies
ASEEEARAR & Lgil U8 1) A 5 AL i 482 R
Tenfok Asia Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 10,000 — 65 Online advertising agency
ordinary shares
T 5 AT PR ) wi Lgil 10,0005 1% 4 i B AR
Wisdom Come Medical Group ~ Hong Kong Ordinary 101 ordinary — 100 Investment holding
Limited shares
5 B B A A R A & Lgil 101 158 48 i Edsidls
Wisdom Health Products Hong Kong Ordinary 2 ordinary shares — 100 Trading of health and beauty supplements and
Company Limited products, provision of health food processing
services and investment holding
LR R R A A it W 2 i RIS b S 5~ SRR A I T
TR A R
e O (L) AR The PRC Registered HK$6,000,000 — 60 Sales of health and beauty supplements and
G products
il gkt 6,000,000 ¢ S R 2 o B
kit 2 (RIS ARA R *  The PRC Registered HK$8,000,000 — 60 Sales of health and beauty supplements and
products
il gkt 8,000,000t ¢ R 2 o B
* Registered under the laws of the PRC as a wholly foreign-owned enterprise. * MR b B M By RSN E A o
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POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR
THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has
issued a number of amendments, new standards and interpretations
which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 March 2020 and
which have not been adopted in these financial statements. These
include the following which may be relevant to the Group.
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts®
Amendments to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions®
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business'
Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture*

Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material?
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 9,

HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform?

! Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which the
acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period

beginning on or after 1 January 2020

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020

46. BRE_ZFZ_FH=H=1+—H
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Tl BT 56 3
[/TIES

T U A A S RS 1058
B s g st A 508 %8
BRI A

s Gt RS 15 R A i
GRHERIE BT A

Fis G99« Fibs
B EHE A5 309E LA
B A S 55758
BRI A

B4 42

20193 R 75 7 5 4R I 10
GG

FHMER

[ES S TEx

! Mg E WA R R FE— A — A 2%
B e 7 A A B 0T T B o R 2 A% 1 SE T
B Pk B B A

2 T TR — B 2 1% B AR

ST A 2

: T AR A H B AR B G AR

SR A 2

¢ TR A A ) B2 A A R 4 32 ) ) 2 2k

s B E RN H — A B2 E B R A

) A= L

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited JE i B4 B (¥ %) A BR 2 ) 295



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao 1 S8 205 A Pl

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ % — & " FAFE = = — H ILF &

46.

296

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
MARCH 2020 (CONTINUED)

In addition to the above new and amendments to HKFRSs, a revised
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting was issued in 2018. Its
consequential amendments, the Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards, will be effective for

annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the
directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all other new
and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the

consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of
Material

The amendments provide refinements to the definition of material by
including additional guidance and explanations in making materiality

judgments. In particular, the amendments:

. include the concept of “obscuring” material information in which

the effect is similar to omitting or misstating the information;

. replace threshold for materiality influencing users from “could
influence” to “could reasonably be expected to influence”; and
. include the use of the phrase “primary users” rather than simply

referring to “users” which was considered too broad when

deciding what information to disclose in the financial statements.

The amendments also align the definition across all HKFRSs and will
be mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on
1 April 2020. The application of the amendments is not expected to
have significant impact on the financial position and performance of the
Group but may affect the presentation and disclosures in the

consolidated financial statements.
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POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW 4.

STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR
THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
(CONTINUED)

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 (the
“New Framework’) and the Amendments to References to
the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards

The New Framework:
. reintroduces the terms stewardship and prudence;

. introduces a new asset definition that focuses on rights and a new
liability definition that is likely to be broader than the definition
it replaces, but does not change the distinction between a liability

and an equity instrument;

. discusses historical cost and current value measures, and provides
additional guidance on how to select a measurement basis for a

particular asset or liability;

. states that the primary measure of financial performance is profit
or loss, and that only in exceptional circumstances other
comprehensive income will be used and only for income or
expenses that arise from a change in the current value of an asset

or liability; and

. discusses uncertainty, derecognition, unit of account, the reporting

entity and combined financial statements.

Consequential amendments have been made so that references in certain
HKFRSs have been updated to the New Framework, whilst some
HKFRSs are still referred to the previous versions of the framework.
These amendments are effective for the Group’s annual periods
beginning on or after 1 April 2020, with earlier application permitted.
Other than specific standards which still refer to the previous versions
of the framework, the Group will rely on the New Framework on its
effective date in determining the accounting policies especially for
transactions, events or conditions that are not otherwise dealt with

under the accounting standards.

BE_F_FH4=A=1—H
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47. COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 47. 2\ JE Y BB IR I %

FINANCIAL POSITION

2020 2019
TRTRAE ZZ—JUE
Note HK$°000 HK$’000
fif ik T T
Non-current assets I i Y e
Investments in subsidiaries T B JES 2 7 % 38,571 304,751
38,571 304,751
Current assets L
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables AT FIE ~ 4% 4 Jo oAt 1 e 3 TE 438 830
Amounts due from subsidiaries i3 NGIE e 155,656 292,257
Cash and cash equivalents Bl R BLa S EY) 32,257 8,194
Promissory notes receivable JRE MR 7 5, S 4 35,687 —
224,038 301,281
Current liabilities i R=Ri
Accruals and other payables JRETT 2 F R HAth B A5 T 11,565 21,948
Bank and other borrowings SRAT B H A 3K 60,500 14,000
Contingent consideration payables R HE A AR — 37,878
Convertible bonds ] i % 5 = 262,001
Promissory notes payable JREAST 75 5, S 4 — 9,966
Amounts due to subsidiaries JREAST 6 i 2 ] kT 66,447 3,475
138,512 349,268
Net current assets/(liabilities) FRBE e, (A1) 85,526 (47,987)
Total assets less current liabilities A 7 D ) £ 124,097 256,764
Non-current liabilities I i Y £ £
Contingent consideration payables o SR IR A AR AE — 47,692
Promissory notes payable JRE AT 75 5, S 4 — 37,543
Other borrowings oA 3K o 26,500
Convertible bonds A4 B 2 94,999 —
94,999 111,735
Net assets & 29,098 145,029
EQUITY Rz
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 72> &) #E A A\ ME A6 £2
Share capital e A% 37(b) 6,388 5,308
Reserves it i 37(a) 22,710 139,721
TOTAL EQUITY HE 25 4880 29,098 145,029

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29 June

2020.

Wang Xihua

REE G —F ZFAENA LA

B A7 HEBE A o

Lai Wei Lam, William

EEYUTE PIEREYON
Director Director
HH HH
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48. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(a) After the outbreak of COVID-19 since early 2020, a series of
precautionary and control measures have been and continued to

be implemented across the globe, causing disruption to business

and economic activities. Given the dynamic nature of the
COVID-19 pandemic and unpredictability of future development,

the directors do not consider it is practicable to provide a
quantitative estimate of the potential impact of this outbreak on

the Group up to the date of these financial statements. The
Group is paying close attention to the development of the
COVID-19 pandemic and will continue to monitor the situation
closely and actively respond to the impacts on the Group’s

financial position and operating results.

(b)  On 24 June 2020, Tenfok Asia Limited (“Tenfok Asia”), an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company that is
principally engaged in the online advertising agency business of
the Group, received a notice of termination from Guangdong
Huacheng Information Technology Co., Ltd. (“Huacheng”) in
relation to the termination of the exclusive rights to use and sole

advertising agency in Hong Kong with effect from 1 July 2020.

(¢)  On 26 June 2020, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Ultra
Land Group Limited (“Ultra Land”) as vendor, and Pearl (Hong
Kong) Properties Limited (“Pearl HK”), an independent third
party purchaser, entered into a sale and purchase agreement
pursuant to which Ultra Land agreed to dispose to Pearl HK of
its 69.75% equity interests in IAHGames at a total consideration
of approximately HK$18,235,000. The disposal has not yet

completed as at the date of these financial statements.

49. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The comparative consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income has been represented as if the operations
discontinued during the current year had been discontinued at the

beginning of the comparative period (note 12).

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019. Under the
transition methods chosen, comparative information is not restated.
Further details of the changes in accounting policies are disclosed in
note 3(b).

48. b WIR 2 HIH
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% X (SR (o i i | N7 =
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by A EEAENHFMNHE RS
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B AR RIS

JE SR A5 B R B A RS A (3

W) AL LB WA B
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() WM FEFEENHANH > AL
A & &Kt & /A ®lUltra Land  Group
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49, LB bR
e AR A 1R 25 M LAt 2 T i 75 R © T
B> WEUNAAE B B4 1 267 B EL a4
#k (HfFE12)

AEEMO R ZF - JUE T — H )25 1
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

it 755 Bt 2

RESULTS e
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
TE-RNE E-BE SR NFE CE U ZE2EE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000  HK$°000
T Tt Tis 7 T T-#0
(restated)
(& 51)
CONTINUING OPERATIONS: HR#{&&¥EH -
Revenue i 2 189,958 220,853 264,451 332,205 318,130
Profit/(loss) before taxation o Bl 7 96 A1) (ks 48 14,735 15,640 (142,056) 2,228 (55,481)
Taxation BiIH (4,314) (3,817) (2,692) (10,223) (1,509)
Profit/(loss) for the year from FRf s 2
continuing operations FE XA () 10,421 11,823 (144,748) (7,995) (56,990)
DISCONTINUED ORI 28 B0 -
OPERATIONS:
Loss for the year from BB ET
discontinued operations N — — — (2,716) (94,677)
Profit/(loss) for the year AL (R 10,421 11,823 (144,748) (10,711) (151,667)
Profit/(loss) for the year AN F HEA N EAG
attributable to owners of SENEHL(EE)
the Company
— from continuing operations — R ARERE
EH 10,421 12,746 (139,217) (2,396) (50,505)
— from discontinued — R P& IR
operations Evis — — — (1,948) (89,185)
10,421 12,746 (139,217) (4,344)  (139,690)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES & KA
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
TER—RNFE ZE L 22— ) ZFZ-IFE ZRIRE
HK$’000 HKS$°000 HKS$’000 HK$000  HKS$°000
T o0 Tk o0 T o0 T o0 R
Total assets A 234,460 266,084 769,778 792,430 438,857
Total liabilities RS =R (55,080) (52,460) (603,043) (584,910) (306,044)
Total equity HE 25 A8 %8 179,380 213,624 166,735 207,520 132,813
Equity attributable to owners of — AS/2A " HEA A MEAS
the Company HE 4 179,380 212,044 114,791 161,968 142,713
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